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ABOUT
MINMETALS ILAND
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Minmetals Land Limited is a subsidiary and the
sole listed real estate flagship of China
Minmetals Corporation in Hong Kong. Minmetals
Land Limited’s principal business includes real
estate development and specialised construction.
Currently, its real estate development business
covers the Pearl River Delta, Yangtze River Delta
and Pan Bohai Rim regions; while the specialised
construction business that based in Shanghai
and Hong Kong has coverage in fifty provinces
and cities in the country
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Minmetals Land was awarded “The
Best Responsibility Property
Enterprises”
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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REVENUE g A

(HK$'000) (T8 7T)
For year ended 31 December #E+=-A=+—BI-FE

11,261,431

} 10930,824
1 11,935,505
1 11,576,345

2019
2018
2017

2016

2015

B 7253000

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR & Ei#F

(HK$'000) (T4 7T)
For the year ended 31 December BLZ+=A=+—HILFE

TOTAL ASSETS EE# 5

(HK$'000) (F& 7T)
As at 31 December R+ =—A=+—H

48,961,365

2019
47,252,777

2018
2017

2016

1 40,862,081
B 06377

2015

NAV PER SHARE B R&EE ¥ &

(HK$) (& TT)
As at 31 December R+ ZA=+—H

J 49,018,381

1,352,583

2019
2018
2017 1 1,448,801
2016

1 997,179
T o0

2015

2019

1,747,143
2018

2.75

P
} 250
ys

2017 250
2016 1 197
2015 | RN

BASIC EARNINGS PER
SHARE
BRELXER

(HK cents) G&{L)
For the year ended 31 December

HE+T-—A=+t—RHLFE

2019

2018

2017

2016

2015

For the year ended 31 December

BE+-A=t—RILEE

Percentage
2019 2018 change (%)
—E-hF —T-N\F BALLEE (%)
Revenue (HK$ million) WA (EBET) 11,261 10,931 +3.0%
Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company ARARRERFE AEGE ZRT
(HKS million) (BE&EET) 943 935 +0.9%
Basic earnings per share for profit attributable to RRTRAERE ARG RN Z
equity holders of the Company (HK cents) EREGREF (B 28.17 27.94 +0.8%
Dividend per share (HK cents) SRS GBI 8.0* 8.0 —
Dividend payout (%) iR B S AF (%) 28.4% 28.6% —0.2%**
Total assets (HK$ million) EERBE(BBET) 48,961 47,253 +3.6%
Net debt (HK$ million) HEFE(BEER) 12,861 11,246 +14.4%
Net gearing ratio (%)* AL E (%) 79.1% 75.9% +3.2%*
*  Subject to Shareholders’ approval at AGM o FRRRBERBERE LESB
*  Change in percentage points »* RESHNES
# (Total borrowings — Cash and bank deposits) L (EFkumsE - Be RBITHER)
Net gearing ratio = FEELE = = =

Total equity

n

REMERRAR = FFH

Net asset value attributable to equity holders of the Company

M R

ARRRERBEARBEEFE



HONOURS AND AWARDS

REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT EBihERRE

Minmetals Land Limited

° 2019 Top 100 China Real Estate Brand Value Enterprise

° 2019 Top 30 China Investment Value Real Estate Enterprise

China Minmetals Tower
o Five-Star Managed Property
Hallstatt See

° Green Community
(Ministry of Ecology and Environment of Huizhou)

Minmetals Land Properties Services Guangdong
o China Service Contribution Award and

2019 5C Quality Alliance Award

(China Golden Key Alliance)

Riviera Royale & Laguna Bay

o Nanjing City Property Management Excellent Society Security
Community

Riviera Royale

° Well-being Community
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
—E-hEFE ZE-N\F =ZZE—tF ZEZ—RF =ZZT—hF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET FET FET FHET
Results E
Revenue A 11,261,431 10,930,824 11,935,505 11,576,345 7,253,266
Operating profit R A 2,079,235 3,425,762 3,530,528 1,823,934 1,051,661
Finance income BRI A 221,744 189,019 147,039 241,362 162,809
Finance costs B 7% A AR (26,739) (137,524) (114,674) (55,669) (57,511)
Share of results of associates ~ LB & N B ¥4 (3,761) (10,531) (2,495) (12,135) 16,442
Share of results of joint DhEEREIEE
ventures (10,380) (3,3310) (2,610) — —
Profit before tax B B4 AT e 2,260,099 3,463,416 3,557,788 1,997,492 1,173,401
Income tax expense FEHiAx (907,516) (1,716,273) (2,108,987) (1,000,313) (553,794)
Profit for the year REFRF 1,352,583 1,747,143 1,448,801 997,179 619,607
Profit attributable to: w A EEER
Equity holders of the IN/NECTY g
Company BEA 942,689 934,964 712914 512,058 278,156
Holders of perpetual capital KAEBARLER
instruments BEA 219,089 184,362 1,303 — —
Non-controlling interests FEEAR AR SR 2 190,805 627,817 734,584 485,121 341,451
Assets and liabilities EERERE
Non-current assets ERBEE 5,875,617 5,322,165 5,287,308 4,156,994 4,096,367
Current assets MEVEE 43,085,748 41,930,612 43,731,073 36,705,087 35,525,010
Total assets BEMRE 48,961,365 47,252,777 49,018,381 40,862,081 39,621,377
Capital and reserves KATRERFEA
attributable to equity holders — FEAE 2 & 7K K (&%
of the Company 9,193,845 8,367,708 8,352,677 6,582,124 7,357,221
Perpetual capital instruments K ABART A 3,803,647 3,854,289 2,393,903 — —
Non-controlling interests FEIER IR R 3,269,226 2,588,454 2,855,958 1,967,748 4,289,672
Total equity s B 16,266,718 14,810,451 13,602,538 8,549,872 11,646,893
Non-current liabilities FnBEE 9,723,554 14,172,783 10,938,718 11,446,325 8,222,962
Current liabilities mEAE 22,971,093 18,269,543 24,477,125 20,865,884 19,751,522
Total liabilities BERE 32,694,647 32,442,326 35,415,843 32,312,209 27,974,484
Total equity and liabilities BEakaEeE 48,961,365 47,252,777 49,018,381 40,862,081 39,621,377

AR EERA T
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
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DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

In 2019, as a result of the lagging effects of tightening monetary
policy, global trade setback and increased uncertainties in geopolitics,
global economy continued to stagger downward and various economic
indicators fell to historical lows. The US economic growth engine
weakens as monetary-easing starts to slow down. Due to sluggish
global demand, persisting trade tensions and uncertainties arising from
Brexit, the Eurozone sees fainting production capability. The Sino-US
trade war entered into a stage of strategic stalemate, adding to the
gloom of the already decelerating global economic growth.

Emerging economies were by no means immune against such a
backdrop. As major emerging economies, including China, witnessed
declining growth rates, fiscal and monetary easing policies were
introduced. During the year, despite strict regulatory curbs and
suppressing industry trend, Minmetals Land maintained a modest
growth pace while the Company adopted a quality growth model and
transformed itself into a comprehensive urban development service
provider. We continued to push for the development of high quality
business, improvement of internal management and deepening our
presence in cities where we have established footprint, leveraging on
our regional advantages and thus achieving a stable growth in
business performance.

INDUSTRY AND BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year under review, China’s macroeconomic control
measures followed through as planned at the beginning of the year,
“reform” continued to be a priority, risk control measures continued to
be in place and mid-to-long term economical structural transformation
became the main focus. Although a long-awaited phase one Sino-US
trade deal was signed in early January 2020, but the impact of trade
war on China’s gross domestic product ("GDP") had already been made
over the past two years, dragging the GDP growth rate to 6.1%. With
respect to economic stimulus, the government has adopted a more
cautious easing policy amidst the economic downturns to avoid
economic overheat from excessive stimulus. Despite the increased
downward economic pressure in the second half of the year, national
policies continued to focus on restraining speculative real estate
investments, with strengthened regulatory measures for real estate
financing put in place.
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Based on the principle of “houses are built to be inhabited, not for
speculation”, the property market was under continued policy
regulation, resulting in a slower industry growth with ongoing market
uncertainties. The land market saw a brief recovery in the second
quarter of 2019 before financing channels were tightened in the
second half, prompting real estate companies to acquire lands in a
rational manner. The Company paid close attention to the market pulse
and investment opportunities during the year and captured the less
heated land market window towards year-end by acquiring four land
parcels in Chengdu, Shenzhen, Changsha and Nanjing in just over a
month. Most of these land parcels were acquired at the floor price or
with minimum premium, which was a testament to the Company’s
targeted key investment strategies and its ability to make investment
decisions with acute market sense.

Looking forward to 2020, we expect real estate companies will remain
cautious about land acquisition. With long-term policy regulation
mechanisms on property market continues to influence the land
market, land price will be maintained at a steadily low level. Taking into
account of our funding adequacy, we will strive to secure more
premium land parcels at lower costs and replenish our land reserve for
the Company's sustainable development in the future. As at the end of
2019, the Group's land bank amounted to 4.35 million square metres in
which approximately 70% of the land reserve (in terms of value) was
situated in first-tier and core second-tier cities.

During the year, the Company optimized Minmetals Land’s strategic
planning and carried out a detailed plan for duty assignment and
division based on the current situation of business development. For
operation management, we launched a consultation project for
standardising operation, and enhanced the overall operation
management of the Company with reference to industrial standards.
Meanwhile, we actively implemented each of the decision and
arrangement made by the State and the Group in respect of safety and
environmental management. We adhered to the principle of safety
development, facilitated fulfillment of duty, improved the management
system and carried out routine supervision and inspection for hidden
risks on an on-going basis. During the year, in order to retain talents for
the sustainability of the Company, we organized a series of targeted
management training campaigns, and kept nurturing young elites and
those of strategic value to our Company.

|
HEMERRAT —T— LFFH

ERFROTFENDINEERIES - BORHA
ERHE  TTRIBERME - MBS THEE LA -
THWETH —T-AF_FELHTS
RHIREEOR BT T¥F ERERE
FEWENERT Bt EFEEYE - 2
AEFAEZENEINTSRBERKERS &
B FEA LM I5E O SRR - £—
8% A AR B AR ER - R/ &
RERER - BZBO0RE AEERIRE
wEEE - LEARBEHARAM AR ERE &
RHEILETSRBORERK -

RE-_ZF_ZTF BMABRFELESEHRTE
MEREEESFRERE FHETSR
MAERGBEEE LIS EEER - +
whiEtheRaERERLET - LAKRE
EFESBR @ERMREHBZOMTHL
WIS - FRABERAEREZBE
iR - BARRRAFERRB T L IRHE
BE-_T-NFE ARE RGN R435
B¥ K LWEER - Q970%8 L EA R
— R R AT AR o

FAR ARARBEENKLEERLY  ARTH
i E B AR BB TIE - W ARBIRS R Bl
EETTHANESEE D RO® - HES
EETH BB TELFELCHERER  HR
IRFERF - 2EHEFAREEEIEKF -
REEBEREREZERRMNEE QR L E2RR
EENTHRRBE  RELT2ERES - &
LEEERE RE2EERR HERRRIH
CHEBRE - RARAKEERFRAS R
AT  HEFRETT —RIBHEENE
BIRIES  HRAREEFEEE  BEIUA
THEITHEEE -

011



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
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During the year under review, all staff of the Group spared no efforts to
achieve steady development of the Company’s business and
continuous management improvement amidst complex market
conditions. Among others, the consolidated revenue in 2019 was
HKS$11.3 billion and the profit for the year was HKS$1.35 billion. Profit
attributable to equity holders of the Company was HK$943 million and
basic earnings per share amounted to HK28.17 cents (2018: HK27.94
cents). The Board of Directors recommended a final dividend of HK8.0
cents (2018: HK8.0 cents) per share for 2019.

PROSPECTS AND DEVELOPMENT
Policy and Industry Outlook

Over the past year, in view of strengthened domestic financial
regulations, ongoing policy controls, slowing industry growth and
tremendous market uncertainties, prudence and stability became top
priorities in property developers’ strategic formulation. Compared to
previous years, the real estate industry experienced a significant
slowdown in growth, overall sales target completion rate declined
year-on-year and the number of property companies entering into the
100 billion annual sales club also slumped. Looking forward, while
destocking pressure still persists, it appears that a market environment
which entails a sustainable and stable long-term development is
underway, and it is expected that the overall scale of growth will
remain steady in 2020. However, the industry will remain polarized and
extremely competitive, leading towards the Matthew Effect of “the
strong becomes stronger” as the sector centralises and segregates. As
the market becomes more concentrated, market share will quickly
gravitate towards leading property developers. Intense industry
competition will prompt property players to enhance its organizational
and operational capability. As opposed to the pursuit of increasing sales
scalability, many property developers and investors began to place
more emphasis on the quality of growth module, in which
geographical layout, branding recognition, project quality and product
design will become integral parts forming a property developer's core
competitiveness.
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From a macro perspective, although the agreement on the first-phase
trade deal for the Sino-US trade war has been reached, trade tensions
will remain in place in the long run. After two years of sparring
between the two countries, the Central Government will place greater
importance to structural adjustment in the future and develop its
economy in an organic, steady and sustainable manner by the
improvement of labor productivity with technological innovations and
government policies. It was clearly highlighted in the Central Economic
Work Conference convened in December last year that a moderate
rather than an overly easing monetary policy should be adopted in
2020 to direct adequate liquidity into the real economy, rather than
towards the finance and property sector as property policy making shall
revolve around the key tone of “stability”. As local municipal
governments are focusing on the key issues of environmental
protection, deleveraging, employment data and curbing asset bubbles
to achieve economic growth targets and a balanced social dynamic,
the stability of the real estate industry has become increasingly crucial
in upholding the soundness of public finance. Against the backdrop of
the increasing financial burden on the municipal government level and
to ascertain top priorities of “targeted poverty alleviation” and
“maintaining employment ratio” simultaneously, some cities may
introduce respective easing policies as a “city-specific and differentiated
housing policy” continues to be in effect. However, we are not
expecting to see any wide-spread major policy loosening as we did in
the past.

We estimate that the land market will continue to diverge. With
economic and demographic advantages, first and second tier cities as
well as core third tier cities will capture more attention from property
developers. With the introduction of the Guangdong-Hong Kong-
Macao Greater Bay Area and the Yangtze River Delta Integrated Pilot
Zone, the market value of these region will be further enhanced as
these cities attracts more spotlight from property developers.
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With respect to funding source, domestic property developers actively
carried out fund raising activities throughout the second half of last
year to the first quarter of this year. A number of medium to large-
sized property developers captured market conditions to actively raise
funds through the issuance of medium to long-term bonds and
executed equity placements given share price rally. In January 2020,
with the active participation of 18 international and local banks, the
Company successfully restructured a 4-year syndicated loan of HKS6
billion, with a subscription amount exceeding HK$12.8 billion and more
favourable interest rate compared to the existing loan. Since property
developers with high rating becomes the preferred investment target,
these developers will possess greater advantage in future land
acquisitions. As property developers experience funding squeeze both
from the financing and the cash collection side, it is expected that the
financing environment may become more challenging towards the
second half of this year, during which period property developers will
be more scrupulous in land acquisition. We will pay close attention to
the conditions of real estate market and strive to lower excess
inventories and strictly monitor our cash collection rate through
multiple measures.

Business Prospects

Based on a comprehensive analysis of the economic and industrial
environment in the PRC as well as our Company's internal situation, we
plan to focus our development on improving quality and efficiency.
Amongst which corporate strategic positioning, organisational control
and brand building will become priorities in enhancing our overall
capability in the future. 2020 is a year full of challenges and a pivotal
year for completing the “Thirteenth Five-year Plan”, during which the
Central Government will adopt a holistic approach in planning and
coordination, making further breakthroughs and implementing
accountability plans, in order to ensure various development initiatives
are being realised. As the economic growth continues to face
downward pressure, sector curbing measures show little signs of
easing, property prices has remained at a high level for a stretched
period of time, altogether resulting in slower growth and intensified
industry competition and differentiation. We will focus on our long-
term development and spare no effort in taking more arduous steps by
setting higher strategic objectives, such as intra-group consolidation
and improvement of business operations.
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For this year, we will accelerate our strategic upgrade from a “property
developer” to an “urban operator” in pursuit of a differentiated and
quality-oriented growth model. We are pleased about our acquisition
for the first batch of land in the Chengdu Dayi Future Eco-City in
February 2020, a successful showcase of the Company's Industrial City
Development strategy, a strategy which is replicable and of lasting
significance. Under the backdrop of comprehensive cooperation
between China Minmetals and the Chengdu Municipal Government to
implement new urban development modules, and leveraging on China
Minmetals’ extensive industrial resources and urban construction track
record, the Company is working together with the Dayi County
Government to build a new industrial city, a win-win cooperation
which will be highly synergetic in terms of resources allocation. In the
meantime, the Company aspires to make new breakthroughs in
performance targets by exploring every possible means to maximise
revenue and reduce cost. We will accelerate the progress of project
development in order to improve turnover, achieve higher revenue
recognition ahead of schedule for designated projects and achieve
greater efficiency by cost reduction measures. We will adopt a prudent
investment approach with a focus on core cities and be highly
selective. On one hand, we will leverage on our existing footprint in
favorable regions such as Nanjing and Changsha and reach out to
surrounding quality cities. On the other hand, we will keep up with
national key area development schemes and further our expansion in
the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area, Chengdu-
Chongging metropolitan area and other new regions. As for property
sales, we will execute inventory destocking to prompt inventory
turnovers and optimise sales pace. As a number of projects will launch
debut sales in the second half of 2020, we will strictly control the
development timeline and pay close attention to operating efficiency
to ensure project launch date. In terms of financial management, we
will adhere to prudent financial management and closely monitor our
gearing ratio and operating expenses. We will also implement
appropriate annual supply chain financing according to our budget and
cash flow arrangements. Moreover, we also aim to strengthen our
funding capability and optimise capital structure by fully utilising the
capital raising capability in our Hong Kong listed platform.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
BV 8

In addition, the unforeseen outbreak of the novel coronavirus epidemic
early this year has taken a toll on the real estate sector, bringing
property sales in China to its knee since the end of January. Many real
estate developers have launched online sales platforms to battle
against the situation, and Minmetals Land also launched our own
online sales platform “HHE4FE" We are of the view that once the
epidemic is gradually brought under control, the real estate sector, as
one of the pivotal industries, will benefit from the economic stimulus
policies. It is also expected that with the easing of and adjustments to
future fiscal policies, the market would make a recovery when the
epidemic becomes less severe. As Minmetals Land only has two
projects located in Wuhan which are not large in scale and partially
sold, our risk exposure is under control. Once the epidemic situation
stabilizes, the Company will make every effort to secure operating
revenue. For real estate companies, the epidemic presents an
opportunity to attach higher priority to and reflect more on their
investment portfolio, construction management and risk control, as well
as capital and financial management. For people who want to buy their
own homes, they would put more weight and consideration on factors
such as the overall quality of municipal governance, accessibility of
social resources, as well as the branding and quality of property
management of their housing purchase. For years, the Company has
been closely engaging in community service and actively participating
in social charity work. We benchmark ourselves as an environmentally
friendly enterprise with positive social awareness through our quality
products and property management services. With everyone across the
country fighting against the epidemic together, we will, as always, fulfill
our social responsibility as a state-owned enterprise and serve the
community and give back to the society.
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CONCLUSION

Over the past year, all our staff strived to improve our management
capability and operation efficiency, which helped the Company achieve
a steady business growth. We have also laid a solid foundation for the
Company’s sustainable development in the future by reviewing various
internal control systems and improving management level. Looking
forward, although the uncertainties over the downward pressure of
macro-economy and greater market differentiation still loom large, we
strongly believe that with the strong support from our controlling
shareholder, the ever-growing influence of our brand and the
improving operation management level of our Company, all members
of our Company are well-prepared to face new challenges, with a view
to creating even greater value for the Shareholders and achieving
stable and quality growth for the Company.

He Jianbo
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2020
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B o i S o0 A

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group's consolidated revenue increased 3.0% to HK$11,261.4
million compared to HKS$10,930.8 million of last year. Real estate
development segment recorded a revenue growth of 4.1% to
HK$10,329.1 million (2018: HK$9,918.7 million) as increased areas was
completed and delivered to buyers. Specialised construction segment
recorded a revenue decline of 82% to HK$864.6 million (2018:
HK$941.7 million), which was primarily attributed to intense market
competition. The revenue from property investment segment also
recorded a decline of 3.8% to HKS$67.7 million (2018: HK$70.4 million).

Segment Revenue

5% B B

REBRLER A A E11,261,400,00078 7T » 2=
F #910,930,800,00078 70 _EF+3.0% ° B - Fith
EERODB2RAREETKIEZFHER 2
Y2 EFEIE AN = FH4.1% % 10,329,100,0005 7T

— T — )\ : 9,918,700,000/8 7T) : BT H
MEHR BEREES I 2 WA TES2%E
864,600,0007 7L (= & — J\ 4 : 941,700,000/
L) MERE B2 WAL THEISNE
67,700,000/ 7T (= — J\4F : 70,400,000/ 7T ) °

7 B A

For the year ended 31 December

BE+t-HA=1+—HLFE

2019 2018 Year-on-
—E-NF —E-)N\F year change
HK$ million HKS million REED
BHESBR % BEBTT % %
Real estate development =it & 25 & 10,329.1 91.7 9,918.7 90.7 4.1
Specialised construction R 864.6 7.7 9417 8.6 (8.2)
Property investment MERE 67.7 0.6 704 0.7 (3.8)
Securities investment BHIEE — — = = =
Total @t 11,261.4 100.0 10,930.8 100.0 3.0

Segment Results D EPELR

For the year ended 31 December
BE+-HA=+—HLEE

2019 2018 Year-on-
—E-hF —T-N\F year change
HK$ million HKS million BREBE
BEEET % B&ET % %
Real estate development FEiiE#%RE 2,044.6 88.9 33718 92.8 (39.4)
Specialised construction ~ EEEEEE (11.6) (0.5) 16 00 N/ATEAR
Property investment YR E 2155 94 191.8 53 12.4
Securities investment BARE 50.7 22 69.1 1.9 (26.6)
Total #at 2,299.2 100.0 3,6343 100.0 (36.7)
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As the majority of recognised revenue came from lower-margin
products of land parcels acquired since 2016 which were affected by
pricing restrictions during sales, overall gross profit margin slid from
35.6% to 23.7%. Due to the decline in dividend income and
management fee income, the Group’s other income also declined
17.9% to HK$103.6 million (2018: HKS126.2 million). In addition, the
Group's selling and marketing expenses increased 37.9% to HKS$242.0
million (2018: HK$175.5 million) as a large number of projects under
development are either new projects with debut sales launch or
undergoing early stage marketing over the year. Due to a HK$41.2
million increase in inventory impairment, the administrative and other
expenses increased by 52% to HK$567.1 million (2018: HK$539.1
million). When excluding this one-off provision, the administrative and
other expenses slid 2.7% compared to last year.

During the year under review, mainly due to interest received from
loans provided to an associate and a joint venture, the Group's finance
income increased 17.3% to HK$221.7 million (2018: HK$189.0 million).
As a result of large amount of loan interest being capitalised, finance
costs charged to the profit or loss recorded a decrease of 80.6% to
HK$26.7 million (2018: HK$137.5 million). Furthermore, given real estate
development projects of associates and joint ventures are still in their
initial stage of construction, loss from share of results of associates and
joint ventures recorded a slight increase of 2.2% to HKS$14.1 million
(2018: HK$13.8 million). Profit attributable to equity holders of the
Company increased slightly to HK$942.7 million (2018: HK$935.0
million), representing a basic earnings per share of HK28.17 cents (2018:
HK27.94 cents) for the year.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group's total assets increased slightly by
3.6% to HKS$48,961.4 million (2018: HKS$47,252.8 million) whilst net
assets increased 9.8% to HK$16,266.7 million (2018: HK$14,810.5
million). The increase in net assets is mainly due to two reasons, firstly
the increase in fair value for financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income and secondly, the increase in non-controlling
interests due to introduction of partners in several real estate
development projects. The financial position of the Group remain
healthy with gearing ratio (total liabilities/total assets) of 66.8% (2018:
68.7%); net gearing ratio of 79.1% (2018: 75.9%).

REMEBRAT — = LFFH

EERARNATSERER_Z—FXR
BAZHE  WEHESBEF —BEIREK
RITFE  EEFMERE ANEEBEBENEX
FA356% N/EZE23.7% c ARREW =R ERE
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REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT

Pan Bohai Rim & )2))& i [&
Yangtze River Delta & = A&

Central China ZEH i [& Chengdu B2
Pearl River Delta Tk = /it [& i
Current Real Estate Project

RERMEEE

Guangzhou, Foshan, Shenzhen, Huizhou
BN - gl w9 = RAR

Contracted Sales”

In 2019, the Group's total contracted sales increased approximately
26.8% to RMB8,644 million (2018: RMB6,818 million) whilst the gross
floor area (“GFA") contracted for sale rose approximately 3.1% to
459,000 (2018: 445,000) square metres. Total number of units sold
during the year slid 15.9% to 4,568 (2018: 5,430) units and the average
selling price ("ASP") increased 22.9% to RMB18,800 (2018: RMB15,300)
per square metre approximately. The majority of the contracted sales
was derived from Tier 1 and Tier 2 cities.

022

FHEERR

ﬁ Yingkou & O
Beijing 651§D

€9 Langfang ER¥H
Tianjin XJ&

¢ Nanjing B3R

Wuhan EZE
2]

Changsha &4

@

Hong Kong & /&

BRHEHE

RZE—NTF AEB2HFNHEERTIER
#726.8% % 8,644,000,000;Tt AR ¥E(ZZF— N\
F : 6,818,000,0007T ARHE) + BHAHEBLER
HiE ([BEEEE]) EF43.1%ZF 459,000 (=
T — J\4F 1 445,000) FHK » BLHEEMEK
= N BE159%F 4,568 (=F — )\ F : 5430) {HE
fil - FHEB(FHEE]) EANNUNEE
T KA R18800T ARBE(ZE — J\F ¢
15300 ARE) REBRZAHEREZR
B—@gkzb_GHmeEEZRIER -
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The table below provides an analysis of contracted sales by project for

the years 2018 and 2019:

TE - N\FRCE-NFZENHERRRA
BEDMDTRIIMT

Year ended 31 December

BE+=-A=t—HLEE

2019 2018
=F-NF —F-N\F
Contracted Contracted

amount Contracted ASP amount Contracted ASP

BHEHE GFA FHEE ¥k GFA FHEE

(RMB  ZHHHABHE (RMB per (RMB  FH#maiEm (RMB per

million) miE sq.m.) million) mi& sg.m.)

(AR# (sq.m.) (BFHK (AR (sq.m.) (BFHK

Projects B gE| BET) (FFF3K) ARMT) BET) (FEFAK) AR®ITT)

Beijing Fortune Garden? e 16 5,450 2,945 1,387 25,537 54,318

Yingkou Platinum Bay EORE.AGE 301 47,612 6,321 430 65,071 6,600

Langfang Harrow Town? BR SRS & /N A 35 2,883 12,268 19 2,379 7,968
Tianjin Minmetals REFEABEEBEAE

International 13 1,676 7,850 = = =

Nanjing Sello Royale* MRAE - LNEA* 64 6,560 9,782 45 1,891 23,503

Nanjing Academic Royale FRERE - RS 63 1,301 48,639 192 4,069 47,188

Nanjing Yan Shan Ju MR L/E 39 804 48,060 160 3,154 50,827

Nanjing Enchanté Oasis B R AL - R AR AT R 3,003 97,822 30,698 521 17,156 30,369

Nanjing Enchanté Cove B R AL - R 5 1,622 59,242 27,376 850 31,483 26,990

Nanjing Jiang Shan Da Jing R RUT I AR 60 1,997 30,298 — — —

Changsha LOHAS International &> 1 - B /& BIBR

Community* Pl 32 1,756 18,378 195 6,987 27,913

Changsha Scotland Town ROEE /A 10 966 10,467 41 4,409 9,375

Changsha Qin Royale RYRE LE S 230 24,023 9,578 1,895 198,816 9,533

Wuhan Enchanté Crest RZERE - R EE 350 26,830 13,027 270 21,263 12,708

Wuhan Scenery Cove RIZERKE 554 41,658 13,291 — — —

Huizhou Hallstatt See BN AW - B EER 858 97,041 8,845 556 55216 10,077

Foshan Academic Royale B ATE - X2 937 33,794 27,721 190 6,768 28,018

Guangzhou Greenery Terrace  EMNE#M & 308 4,245 72,578 67 1,013 65,671

Guangzhou Langyun Garden M EAZETEE 149 3,636 41,001 = = =

Total ast 8,644 459,296 18,820 6,818 445212 15313

* "Contracted Sales” means sales contracts entered into between the Group and purchasers

pursuant to the Administrative Measures on the Sales of Commuodity Buildings

promulgated by the Ministry of Housing and Urban-rural Development on 4 April 2001

and implemented on 1 June 2001. Sale of commodity buildings included both pre-

completion sales (pre-sale) and post-completion sales, and included sales from

residential, commercial and car park units.

* The difference in contracted ASP for 2018 and 2019 was mainly due to the change in

product mix.
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Project Profiles

HE BN

GFA held for
Estimated GFA GFA under future
Attributable GFA completed  develop development
interest to Site Area BA B%IT BET BEAERRE
the Group HwEER LREER CEEER 2CEEER ZAEEER
AEME (sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.)
Location/Project 2 THB Frih s (FHK) (£FK) (F£FK) (FHK) (£FK)
Pan Bohai Rim RESihE
1. Beijing Fortune Garden bl 51.0% 139,000 414,000 414,000 = =
2. Yingkou Platinum Bay EOAE.HEE 100.0% 396,000 391,000 332,000 59,000 —
3. Langfang Harrow Town BB Lh e %/ NE 50.0% 550,000 1,180,000 284,000 — 896,000
4. Tianjin Minmetals International REFERABEEHEARE 100.0% 21,000 183,000 183,000 — —
Yangtze River Delta R=AME
5. Nanjing Sello Royale ARARK - NEA 100.0% 179,000 270,000 270,000 — —
6. Nanjing Academic Royale ARAERE . ZXEH 100.0% 136,000 482,000 482,000 — —
7. Nanjing Yan Shan Ju AR=lE 100.0% 91,000 203,000 203,000 - —
8. Nanjing Enchanté Oasis ARER . REAR 100.0% 95,000 255,000 242,000 13,000 —
9. Nanjing Enchanté Cove R A BB 100.0% 68,000 148,000 148,000 — —
10. Nanjing Jiang Shan Da Jing FMRTILAE 39.8% 83,400 285,000 45,000 240,000 —
11. Nanjing Amber Court AR &R 33.9% 43,000 233,000 — 233,000 —
12. Nanjing Jiangning Project* MRIEEA* 100.0% 61,000 128,000 — — 128,000
Central China EhiE
13. Changsha LOHAS International RO AR EEEBME
Community 100.0% 643,000 1,084,000 1,084,000 — —
14. Changsha Scotland Town ROIEHE/NE 100.0% 333,000 442,000 442,000 - -
15. Changsha Qin Royale RORE OESH 100.0% 150,000 560,000 314,000 198,000 48,000
16. Changsha Nanhu Project* RYOBEMHEE* 100.0% 22,000 131,000 = = 131,000
17. Wuhan Enchanté Crest RERE . REEE 100.0% 61,000 178,000 - 178,000 =
18. Wuhan Scenery Cove REBSEKE 100.0% 52,400 215,000 - 215,000 -
19. Chengdu Qingyang Project* R#EFEB* 100.0% 22,000 55,500 — — 55,500
Pearl River Delta K=AME
20. Huizhou Hallstatt See BN FLHE - R I 100.0% 918,000 1,440,000 272,000 416,000 752,000
21. Foshan Academic Royale BLAE . RXEH 100.0% 42,500 214,000 - 214,000 -
22. Guangzhou Greenery Terrace BEMEfa 100.0% 30,600 29,000 29,000 — —
23. Guangzhou Regent Heights BMAEREE LS 51.0% 14,000 73,000 - - 73,000
24. Guangzhou Parc One BMARE .-E26 51.0% 72,000 252,000 = 16,000 236,000
25. Guangzhou Langyun Garden BIMBAEIEE 10.0% 57,000 133,000 - 73,000 60,000
26. Shenzhen The Greenville* I R AT 100.0% 31,000 118,000 - — 118,000
27. Hong Kong Yau Tong Project EAMEEE 100.0% 10,500 53,000 - 53,000 -

* new project of 2019
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PAN BOHAI RIM

B it b [

BELJING

FORTUNE GARDEN

tRaE

Project Fortune Garden

BHEEH an

Location Xibeiwang Town,

b 25 Haidian District, Beijing,
the PRC
A B b RO R PR L
A $R

Usage Residential

A& =

Site area Approximately 139,000

A EIE square metres

#7139,000F 75 K

Gross floor area

Approximately 414,000

RIEEEE square metres
#1414,000F 5 2K
Group's interest 51%
REBFTIG R
Construction 2018
completion date AN
BETRTKEEH
i

REMEBRAT — = LFFH

Fortune Garden is a residential
development project located at
Xibeiwang Town, Haidian District,
Beijing. It occupies an aggregate site
area of approximately 139,000 square
metres and has an aggregate gross
floor area of approximately 414,000
square metres. Fortune Garden
received the “International Award”
granted by the British Association of
Landscape Industries in recognition of
its outstanding landscape design. So
far, 100% of the gross saleable floor

Y

. ? Ih 8
)
F‘T¢f 
| (1 ﬂ A : )4 ‘

Y

area was sold. In 2019, this project
achieved a contracted sales of 5,450
square metres.

1N E &6 R dE 5Us E B F AL A

EZEERREE  BHEMBENS
139,000 F F K- BEEEBLN A

414,000 F F K - HEHEH B XS
& B R AN 3E T g AR B[ B R
#0325 ZIEHBE H100%48 7]
EEEEE - R-_Z— & - ZIEH
IR A EMIEA5450F 7K o
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PAN BOHAI RIM
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YINGKOU
PLATINUM BAY

EOHE.HEE

Platinum Bay is a residential development
project comprises villas and apartments
located at Liaoning (Yingkou) Coastal
Industrial Base, Yingkou City, Liaoning
Province. It occupies an aggregate site
area of approximately 396,000 square
metres and has an aggregate planned
gross floor area of approximately 391,000
square metres. The project is divided into
seven phases. The first six phases have
been delivered to buyers. Phase VI is
comprised of middle and high-rise units,
which is currently under construction and

026

presale was launched in late 2019. In
2019, this project achieved a contracted
sales of 47,612 square metres.

hiE-HEBERBEERIERATEMN
ZE%E‘XJEIEE UREELEOM

B(E0O)NEBEEEN - BBE
ﬁ,m%396,ooo$ﬁﬁ% B EEER
HTE4) 4391000 5K - sZIHB £
tHRE e APERNER £t
HATEESEMN RENEREE -
BERZZE—NERFAHBEE - N_F
—NF ZEENRNEERRES
47612F K o

Project Platinum Bay

B E B niE. 388

Location Liaoning (Yingkou)

1 2 Coastal Industrial Base,
Yingkou City, Liaoning
Province, the PRC
e ﬁﬁé EOHEE
(&0) HFEFEEM

Usage Residential

i FE

Site area Approximately 396,000

AR EE square metres

#9396,000F 75 K

Gross floor area

BBEEE

Approximately 391,000
square metres

#9391,000°F 77 K

Group's interest

AEBE SRR

100%

Expected
construction
completion date
JEHZETE
FERK E H

4Q 2021
T -FENF
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LANGFANG
HARROW TOWN

BB 5 & /N R

Project Harrow Town

A AW & MR

Location Jiangxintun Town,

3t B Xianghe County,
Langfang City, Hebei
Province, the PRC
o T 30K B T B
B A

Usage Residential

A F=E

Site area Approximately 550,000

b 85 AR square metres

#9550,000F 75 K

Gross floor area Approximately

EIETE E R 1,180,000 square
metres
#1,180,000F 75 2K

Group's interest 50%

REE T R

Expected High-rise units of

Phase Il in 2017
E_HMsEEM
—E—+tF

The rest of the project
is currently under
planning

BB AT E ER R
#5 &I [ Bx

Construction
completion date
EETIR5TH A H

Harrow Town is a residential development
project comprises villas and high-rise units
located in Jiangxintun Town, Xianghe
County, Langfang City, Hebei Province. It
occupies an aggregate site area of
approximately 550,000 square metres and
has an aggregate planned gross floor area
of approximately 1,180,000 square metres.
Phase | and high-rise units of Phase Il of
the project have been delivered to buyers.
The rest of the project is currently under
planning and the overall completion date
of the project has yet to be determined. In

2019, this project achieved a contracted
sales of 2,883 square metres.

BERNEABERNERREEMNZ
FEFHEREER - AT E RS
BB FTE RWEBEMEBENA
550,000 5K - EAREIBIEREIE
#751,180,000F 52K ° :ZTE B £ —Hi
MERFE_HSEENERIMNER
BT ERNIESIFEE - ZHBEE
ST BT ARET -R_F— N
FZBEBMNRAHEEMIEH2883
FHK o
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TIANJIN
MINMETALS
INTERNATIONAL

REDE AR
B KE

Minmetals International is a mixed
commercial and residential development
project located at the east of Yingbin
Main Road and south of Tuochang Road,
Tanggu District, Tianjin. This project
comprises office space, apartments, retail
stores and car-parking spaces. It
occupies an aggregate site area of
approximately 21,000 square metres and
has an aggregate gross floor area of
approximately 183,000 square metres. So
far, 98% of the gross saleable floor area

REMEBRAT — = LFFH

was sold. In 2019, this project achieved a
contracted sales of 1,676 square metres.

FTRABEBAEAESHAE A
B mEkEEAZERTREERA
BRIEE - MR REREGENENE
AR RBEIZE AR - R EIEL A
21,000F 5K  AEBEEBELN A
183000 F 5 K245  ZBEEES
Hosn @ EEEAE - RZZT—
FZEEBNFENHEEEEA1676
K e

Project Minmetals

HE AW International
TEABEEEAE

Location At east of Yingbin Main

I B4 Road and south of
Tuochang Road,
Tanggu District, Tianjin,
the PRC
mp B K% R O (& 8
FEREUR K5 E
LARS

Usage Commercial and

A& residential
EEREE

Site area Approximately 21,000

A% T R square metres

#921,000F 75 2K

Gross floor area Approximately 183,000

BIEEEE square metres
#183,000F 75 2K

Group's interest 100%

RNEE PG R

Construction 2011

completion date —T——fF

HEETIRTK AR

027
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NANJING
SELLO ROYALE

HMRAE. L EA

Project Sello Royale

RS .- NEBE

Location At south of Hongjing

3t 2 Main Road, Science Park,
Jiangning District,
Nanjing, Jiangsu
Province, the PFLC
FEIHREERIER
B2 E LT ABIATE

Usage Residential

liikes =

Site area Approximately 179,000

HARE & square metres

#9179,000F J5 K

Gross floor area Approximately 270,000

Sello Royale is a residential development
project located at the south of Hongjing
Main Road, Science Park, Jiangning
District, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province. This
project comprises villas and low-rise
apartments. It occupies an aggregate site
area of approximately 179,000 square
metres and has an aggregate gross floor
area of approximately 270,000 square
metres. The project was awarded the
"Best Residential Development in 2014
(East & Central China)” at the first China
Property Awards held by Ensign Media.
The project is close to fully sold. In 2019,

this project achieved a contracted sales
of 6,560 square metres.

hE- NEE AN IHERA/LE
ERNEBRILEABUBZEFEER
BE  BEEPERER)SEEAML
42 3 3% T FE 49 179,000 75 K - 4B
12 FE 4 5270,000F 75K o £
Ensign Media= #¥ 2 & — J& [ China
Property Awards]® + 3% T B #i# B
[2014F R BZER RERMERE
FEHEE| -ZEEEEOEZHE
e RZT—NF - ZIHBENELH
EHEFE A6,560F 75K o

..........................................................................................................................................................

REEEE square metres
#9270,000°F 75 K

Group's interest 100%

REE PR

Construction 2014

completion date = Z—PU4

EETRTKBES

ACADEMIC ROYALE
MRER - RXEH

Project Academic Royale

HE AT B RIS

Location At Tian He Road,

B Jianye District, Nanjing,
Jiangsu Province, the
PRC .
PEDT#E R EH
I 2R ] B

Usage Residential

jiB=S =

Site area Approximately 136,000

AR A square metres

#9136,000°F 7 K

Gross floor area Approximately 482,000

RIEEEE square metres
#9482,000F 77 K

Group's interest 100%

AREE P R

Construction 2Q 2019

completion date —E-NEFE=F

BETRETKAH

028

Academic Royale is a residential
development project located at Tian He
Road, Jianye District, Nanjing, Jiangsu
Province. It is located approximately 5
kilometres from the Nanjing Olympic
Sports Centre. The Hexi New Town,
where the project is located, is the
development focus of Nanjing Hexi
New City Zone, with planning to build
an ecologically livable new city. It
occupies an aggregate site area of
approximately 136,000 square metres
and has an aggregate planned gross
floor area of approximately 482,000
square metres. This project is designed
as a low-density high-end residential
areas over four phases, which have

been delivered to buyers. So far, 99% of
the gross saleable floor area was sold. In
2019, this project achieved a contracted
sales of 1,301 square metres.

AlE - SN EWMAMR T L R RE
¥m RN 2 EERRIER - EBEERE
REMEZEERLLSNE - ZH
B FTER F A FERT R - AR SO Fa T
HEREEL - REAERAELEERE
i o 7ZIE B B AR E ALY A 136,000
ERRK BEHEBERERELNR
482,000 F 75K - REIBEEE SmE
EE o ZEE XU HER
NER 15 %ZEBEBEE How%E
AEREEE RN-T—h&E - %ZHE
BMEAEEEERIZ01FELK -

Minmetals Land Limited Annual Report 2019



NANJING

YAN SHAN JU

MREWE

Project Yan Shan Ju

BB AH 2WE

Location At Zhong Ling Jie,

3 Xuanwu District,
Nanjing, Jiangsu
Province, the PRC
ET#HEERER
& EE A

Usage Residential

A& T

Site area Approximately 91,000

A E S square metres

#991,000F J7 K

Gross floor area

Approximately 203,000

RIS EE square metres
#7203,000°F 5 3K

Group's interest 100%

REE P R

Construction 2018

completion date AN

EETETK A S

REMEBRAT — = LFFH

Yan Shan Ju is a residential development
project located in the traditional high-
end residential area at the southeast of
Zijin Mountains in Nanjing Xuanwu
District, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province where
land supply is limited. It occupies an
aggregate site area of approximately
91,000 square metres and has an
aggregate gross floor area of
approximately 203,000 square metres.
There are well developed transportation
facilities and the project is in close
proximity to the Ninghang Expressway
and Subway Line No. 2. It also enjoys
excellent surrounding environment and
neighbours a number of educational and
research institutions. It is designed as a
high-end low-density residential

community comprises low-rise
apartments. So far, 98% of the gross
saleable floor area was sold. In 2019, this
project achieved a contracted sales of
804 square metres.

SEAURNTIHAE R ZRE R
LINEBREAINEEREER (&
g EEEERNERR NE
El@ - R4 8 EE 4 &91,000F 5
K ARIETE EFE L A203,000F 75
K o 5% IR B B BT A B AN Hb 8512 5%
o RAEERN - ARREEE  BE
BHETEE BB OHE KB
% REAABEE ) SENSHERE
FEE - 125  ZIHB B & H 8% 8
AEREEE  RN-E—NF - %8
BEMERLEEEERB04F R K -

o
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NANJING

ENCHANTE OASIS
MRER . WA R

Project Enchanté Oasis

EH AW & WEAER

Location At the junction of

It B4 Shuanglong Main Road
and Xuelindong Road,
Jiangning District,
Nanjing, Jiangsu
Province, the PRC
PEUIHE A RULE
&SRB EBEMR
BE 325}

Usage Residential

P& r=

Site area Approximately 95,000

o A48 [ 1R square metres

#995,000F 75 2K

Gross floor area

Approximately 255,000

HLEmEE square metres
#9255,000F 77 K

Group's interest 100%

NEE PTG RE R

Expected 2Q 2020

construction ZTETFE=F

completion date
EERETR
FERK B H

030

Enchanté OQasis is a residential
development project located within the
core centre of Zijin Technology
Entrepreneurial Special Zone and at the
junction of Shuanglong Main Road and
Xuelindong Road, Jiangning District,
Nanjing, Jiangsu Province and to the
west of Shangginhuai Wetland Park, the
largest wetland park in China. It
occupies an aggregate site area of
approximately 95,000 square metres
and has an aggregate planned gross
floor area of approximately 255,000
square metres. The project is divided
into two phases. Phase | commenced in
the second quarter of 2017 where the
multi-floor portion was delivered to
buyers in the second quarter of 2019
and the high-rise portion was delivered
to buyers by the end of 2019. Phase |I
commenced in the first quarter of 2018
where the multi-floor portion was
delivered to buyers in the fourth quarter
of 2019, the high-rise portion is
expected to launch for sale in the

second quarter of 2020 and will be
delivered to buyers by the fourth
quarter of 2020. In 2019, this project
achieved a contracted sales of 97,822
square metres.

hiE - RRIAR AN TEAERE AT
ERRPPRAEFEEERNBEHR
BHRERTR 2 (EEHEER - RA
SHMEERANKAREAR —
FELREAR  LZEEEAARR
IR B AR TS 49 /95,000 F 75 K
B R 214812 E A 1R 49 4255,000F 5
Ko ZIBE HOMEARME - E—HRN
T tFFEFHT - HPZES
RIBAER S —AFE M
BR  aBER-Z - NFEFEXfS
BER:FE_HR T N\EE—ZF
T BEHRZESKRIMEHIER=ZZT—N
FEMNEIMNER 8 EBARZE
TEFE_ZHBRHEEIN =T =
TZFEFNERINFER -RZZF—N
F - ZIBE MR LN EETEA97,822
TR e

Minmetals Land Limited Annual Report 2019



NANJING
ENCHANTE COVE

MR AE . WA W

Project Enchanté Cove
BHEEH FERBLA W
Location At the junction of Fanggian
b B Meain Road and Wushi
Road, Jiangning District,
Nanjing, Jiangsu Province,
the PRC
PRI #HER T ER
A BERERTR
Usage Residential
A& =
Site area Approximately 68,000
b 85 AR square metres

#968,000F J7 K

Gross floor area Approximately 148,000

AT E TR square metres
#9148,000°F 77 K

Group's interest 100%

REE PR

Construction 2Q 2019

completion date —E-hEFE=F

BETRTKBEH

Enchanté Cove is a residential
development project located at the
junction of Fanggian Main Road and Wushi
Road in the Jiangning University Town at
the south-eastern corner of Fangshan,
Jiangning District, Nanjing, Jiangsu
Province. It occupies an aggregate Site area
of approximately 68,000 square metres and
has an aggregate gross floor area of
approximately 148,000 square metres. The
project that commenced in the second
quarter of 2017 was delivered to buyers in
the second quarter of 2019. In 2019, this

project achieved a contracted sales of
59,242 square metres.

&R LRI ERE E L
ZRGILREALENSHR TR
REHEBERIRZEEHRER -
U AR TEAEA) 68000 7K - 4818
[ E & 4945148000 75 K - 2 1H B
RoT—LFE-FHT  BER-T
—NEFEFRXMER - RZZE—N
F - ZIEBRLHEEER59,242
FHAK e
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NANJING
JIANG SHAN DA JING

A FUIILRE

Project Jiang Shan Da Jing

P piipe: 4

Location At the junction of

3B Guangming Road and
Lixin Road, Pukou
District, Nanjing, Jiangsu
Province, the PRC
PENIHE R RO
& Yt BR B B 37 B B 22
7

Usage Residential

jiB2S F=E

Site area Approximately 83,400

L BE AR square metres

#983,400F 77 2K

Gross floor area Approximately 285,000

RIEHEEE square metres
#9285,000F 75 K

Group's interest 39.8%

RS E P AL M AR

Expected 3Q 2020

construction —ECRFE=F
completion date

EHEATE
sek A H

REMEBRAT — = LFFH

Jiang Shan Da lJing is a residential
development project located at the
junction of Guangming Road and Lixin
Road, Pukou District, Nanjing, Jiangsu
Province with close proximity to Metro
Line No. 10 Yushan Road Station. The
district is equipped with well-
established facilities. It occupies an
aggregate site area of approximately
83,400 square metres and has an
aggregate planned gross floor area of
approximately 285,000 square metres.
The project commenced construction in
December 2017 and started sales in the
third quarter of 2019. The low-rise
garden house portion was completed
for delivery in the fourth quarter of
2019, and the rest of the project is

expected to be completed in the third
quarter of 2020. In 2019, this project
achieved a contracted sales of 1,997
square metres.

TILAB AN IHEE DR
HARETHEIAZFEERIE
B - ERiTiniE 105R AR ILBE L - A
RERMmTE AMWBREEN A
83400 oK - EREIBEEMEBELN
£5285000F F K - ZTHB R ZZ
—tF+ AT R NEFE
=ZHIREE  HPEEFEERZ
T—NFENFR TR BFEE

BRIBOBNR T _ZTFE=FK
T -R-ZF-NF ZHBORDH

EmEA1,997F K -
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NANJING
AMBER COURT

MREEF

Project Amber Court

BB A k4535

Location At the junction of

3t B Yanshan Road and
Shuiximen Jie, Gulou
District, Nanjing, Jiangsu
Province, the PRC
BT #E B REE
[ e 1L B B K FEPI K
R

Usage Residential and

A% commercial
FEREX

Site area Approximately 43,000

A E S square metres

#743,000°F 5 2K
Approximately 233,000

Gross floor area

AN E R square metres
#1233,000F 5 3K

Group's interest 33.9%

REE P R

Expected 4Q 2020

construction —E-TFENF
completion date
TAREEETIR

seAk A 5

..........................................................................................................................................................

NANJING
JIANGNING PROJECT

BMEIEIEE

Jiangning Project is a residential
development project located in Nanjing
Jiangning District, to the east of the
Nanjing Jiangning high-tech park
Zhengfang Main Road and south of
Shimeng Road, which is in the
Fangshan University zone with close
proximity to the Fangshan Recreational
Park. With a superior natural scenic
surrounding environment, it will be
developed into a quality residential
community for upgraders. It occupies
an aggregate site area of approximately
61,000 square metres and has a

032

Amber Court is a residential and
commercial development project located
at the junction of Yanshan Road and
Shuiximen Jie, Gulou District, the
northern part of Hexi, Nanjing, Jiangsu
Province where it enjoys an array of
transportation, commercial and
educational resources. It occupies an
aggregate site area of approximately
43,000 square metres and has an
aggregate planned gross floor area of
approximately 233,000 square metres.
The project commenced in the third
quarter of 2018 and is expected to be
completed and launch for sale in the

maximum developable gross floor area
of approximately 128,000 square metres.
The project is currently under planning.

BRIEER AN IHEERT
BEEHMEESNENAR - F2ENU
m o~ A IR RN 2 (EEERE
B -ZBEBBRILALRSE - Q%%
REW  FE T EKNER SR

& o aﬁawmﬁﬁﬂﬁ%&wo
FHRARK e EZEEEENA
128,000 F 5K BRI B HIERKR
KR BIREER -

fourth quarter of 2020 and delivered to
buyer in the fourth quarter of 2021.

TREF /LR

0T & & R P48 B

R NEEKAMRRERAZ

FENEEHREIAL
BENHE LR ERN
430 SR TR B 4 543,000 75 K

A3

CBRARETEE

M

| 4B 12 A 4 A233,000F 7 K o

WEBR =

NEF

=FHI &

AR E_TFEFONFTRTIIRRA
HE R-_ZT_—FEOFXMNE

=

% o

Project Jiangning Project

HE & IEEA

Location East of the Nanjing

I 24 Jiangning high-tech
park Zhengfang Main
Road and south of
Shimeng Road,
Jiangning District,
Nanjing, Jiangsu
Province, the PRC
Bl L5 B SO B
I = 57 [E] LE 75 K38 LA
RAIFZ AR

Usage Residential

A i T

Site area Approximately 61,000

AR IR square metres
#)61,000F 75 K

Maximum Approximately 128,000

de\f\opable GFA square metres

SE A REHEEE 4128000 75 K

Group's interest 100%

REE PTG REE

Expected The project is currently

construction
completion date
TREARREE T2
e E HR

under planning as it
was acquired at the
end of 2019

ZHEAR -Z-NF
REA - BAY Jzﬁﬁf‘ﬁ

EllEE

Minmetals Land Limited Annual Report 2019
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CHANGSHA LOHAS
INTERNATIONAL
COMMUNITY

iR EBERHLE

Project LOHAS International

R Community
IR EEBERLE

Location At Gaoyun Road,

I Bh Muyun Town,
Changsha, Hunan
Province, the PRC
PE A KD TE
EHERER

Usage Residential

A FE

Site area Approximately 643,000

b 85 AR square metres

#9643,000F 75 K

Gross floor area Approximately

LOHAS International Community is a
large-scale residential development
project with ancillary facilities such as
clubhouse, shops, car-parking lots,
schools and landscaped garden.
Located at Gaoyun Road, Muyun Town,
Changsha, Hunan Province, the project
occupies an aggregate site area of
approximately 643,000 square metres,
including a private lake of 30,000
square metres, and has an aggregate
gross floor area of approximately
1,084,000 square metres. So far, 99% of
the gross saleable floor area was sold.

In 2019, this project achieved a
contracted sales of 1,756 square
metres.

E- AR L R AR EEEE
HE - AHe - B B BR
MEMIEEEZ AR ERE © AL
ARSI TEEESZE  Atam
EH B643,000FE 5 K(EF BIE
30,000 7 KA ABCH) - RIEEE
TEH) £1,084,000F 75K © 25 + %78
BESHOO%BEA SEEMEE - R
T-NF - ZBEERNENHEERREAS
1,756 F 5 K ©

..........................................................................................................................................................

4 N2 T A 1,084,000 square
metres
#71,084,000F 75 2K

Group's interest 100%

REE PR

Construction 2018

completion date AN

BETIZSTA A

SCOTLAND TOWN
RIDEE /R

Project Scotland Town

EEES K/ E

Location At Yuntang Village and

bk Yuetang Village, Muyun
Town, Changsha, Hunan
Province, the PRC
FEPEE RS T E
ZHETEN R AEN

Usage Residential

5ik=S =

Site area Approximately 333,000

AR ETE square metres

#9333,000F 75 K

Gross floor area Approximately 442,000

RIEHEEE square metres
#7442,000F 75 K

Group's interest 100%

RS E P AL M AR

Construction 2013

completion date —T—=F

EETR7TKEE

REMEBRAT — = LFFH

Scotland Town is a residential
development project located at Yuntang
Village and Yuetang Village, Muyun
Town, Changsha, Hunan Province and is
adjacent to LOHAS International
Community. It occupies an aggregate
site area of approximately 333,000
square metres and has an aggregate
gross floor area of approximately 442,000
square metres. So far, 99% of the gross
saleable floor area was sold. In 2019, this

project achieved a contracted sales of
966 square metres.

B NEAMRN A REARDTESZHE
EENMAENZEEEREEE @ B
AETE - R B AR AR
497/5333,000F 5K - EEEEEL A
442000 F 5K © 125 0 ZIEEEEH
VR ERHEBEE - R_F— L
F - ZEBEENELHEHERE AT
FoK o

033



CENTRAL CHINA
3 v 3 i

CHANGSHA
QIN ROYALE

ROEREHDEEH

Project Qin Royale
BE A B OB S
Location At Fu Yuan West Road,
i Bh Kaifu District,
Changsha, Hunan
Province, the PRC
o E R A ) TR
8318 T R
Usage Residential and
A% commercial
EEREHE
Site area Approximately 150,000
A TE TS square metres

#7150,000F 75 K

Gross floor area Approximately 560,000

RIS EE square metres
#1560,000°F 5 3K
Group's interest 100%
REBME#EE
Expected Phase IV residential
construction units in 1Q 2021
completion date FHBMEE: =T
TAREEE TR ——FE—F

seRk A 5

034

Qin Royale is a residential and
commercial development project
located at Fu Yuan West Road, Kaifu
District, Changsha, Hunan Province. It
locates in the ecologically livable area
of the government’'s master plan,
adjacent to the administrative function
centre of Kaifu District. It occupies an
aggregate site area of approximately
150,000 square metres and has an
aggregate planned gross floor area of
approximately 560,000 square metres.
Whilst the residential portion of the
project will be developed into a quality
residential community for first home
buyers and upgraders, the commercial
portion will be developed as an
entertainment complex with a studio
in the centre of the development
surrounded by office buildings, hotel,
shopping malls, and food and
beverage facilities. The project is
divided into four phases. Phase |
comprises villas and selected high-rise
units and it was completed and
delivered to buyers whilst Phase Il was
delivered to buyers in the fourth
quarter of 2019. The first part of Phase
[II' commercial development was
opened for business in December 2018
and the remaining part is currently
under planning. Development of Phase
IV residential units commenced in the

second quarter of 2018 with pre-sales
began in the third quarter of 2018. It is
expected to be completed in the first
quarter of 2021 and delivered to
buyers in the fourth quarter of 2021. In
2019, this project achieved a
contracted sales of 24,023 square
metres.

A LEERAMNNBEE RS
HERETABZEEREmERRE
HE @ MERNBREIFHNELERER
@ BtAPRAEEITEERRE R O - Bl
B T8 49 £150,000F 5K - B R El
48 1% TH] T F& 49 560,000 F 77 K ° 3%
HEFEDBOBERABUEE - X
BEEATHNSEXFERE  BEIH
Bl BIR LR BT A 08 - B BIEAR
AT R RAOES  UKERZ
PWAKE BIE - BH BRI -
ZIBH Lo EAFE - F—ERREHE
FEREESEAESEME R TI
RVTER: EHERZZ—NEE
NEIMNER: F=HMEZRPH
BEAXSER=_ZE—NE+_AHK
BE RTREESDIEERBIPEE
FNHEEECR T N\FE -
ZHT  AFE=FFHKRTEE - Eit
RZEBE-Z—FEFE—FRITIN_F
T FENERIMNER - RZE—N
F - ZIABMERYIEEMIEA24,023
K e

Minmetals Land Limited Annual Report 2019



CHANGSHA
NANHU PROJECT

RAOmMHIEE

Nanhu Project is a commercial
development project located in the
central business district of Xiangjiang
Riverbank area, south of Baisha Road, in
between Xiangjiangzhong Road and
Shuyuan Road, Tianxin District,
Changsha, Hunan Province. The project
is conveniently situated at the core of
Changsha city hub, along the
Xiangjiang riverbank scenic esplanade,
to the eastern side of Juzizhou Island,
whilst surrounded by an array of
transportation options with close
proximity to Metro Line No. 1 and No. 4

..........................................................................................................................................................

WUHAN
ENCHANTE CREST

RERRE. ABEHE

Enchanté Crest is a residential
development project located at the
junction of Songjiagangdong Road and
Huayun Road, Panlongcheng Economic
Development Zone, Huangpi District,
Wuhan, Hubei Province. It occupies an
aggregate site area of approximately
61,000 square metres and has an
aggregate planned gross floor area of
approximately 178,000 square metres.
This project is designed as a high-end
residential community comprises low-rise
apartments for first home buyers and
upgraders. The project commenced in
the fourth quarter of 2017 and pre-sold
in the third quarter of 2018. It is
expected to reach completion and

REMEBRAT — = LFFH

stations. It occupies an aggregate site
area of approximately 22,000 square
metres and has a maximum
developable gross floor area of
approximately 131,000 square metres.
The project is currently under planning.

mMIEE AR MEE KD T AL
&AL —fRER TR A B AR

MIREERERE2EZAEERRE
IHE o 2B EBHAMTENT « IR
BTMNBERRETE @ BKR%E
@@ﬂﬂﬁﬁﬁf@i SRAR R ASR AR

BT AZ OB © 3278 B 481D
Eﬁ%m%zz 000 2K » &xm A
Eﬁﬁiﬂﬁz 1,000 75 K B
AT %8 H EBRREBIPEE -

7

Project Nanhu Project

RS mHEE

Location Within the central

I 24 business district of
Xiangjiang Riverbank
area, south of Baisha
Road, in between
Xiangjiangzhong Road
and Shuyuan Road,
Tianxin District,
Changsha, Hunan
Province, the PRC
FEAEERATR
D& TR O — AR ERT
% 315 5 20 B A R HT
g R E B i 2

Usage Commercial

A [

Site area Approximately 22,000

b 4% AR square metres
#)22,000F 75 2K

Maximum Approximately 131,000

developable GFA square metres

Re A ZEEEE  4£131,000F 5K

Group's interest 100%

REE PR

Expected The project is currently

construction
completion date
TAREEETIR
TR B AR

under planning as it
was acquired at the
end of 2019
ZBEERZZ—NF
REA - BATERA

I P Bt

delivery by the third quarter of 2020. In
2019, this project achieved a contracted
sales of 26,830 square metres.

AE-CRUEE AN HILE R ET
%@iﬁﬁ%"éi&ﬁéﬁﬁrﬁ%‘éﬁ%%ﬁ%
PREETEEIAZFERRIEE - 4
iﬂzﬁﬁﬁ/}?% L000F 752K E%ﬁ%ﬂ
ARIEE E AR 4 A178,000F 77 K © 5%
I,EE BERBAEE  BERERFPAE
NeEE I\ aEEER BER_-Z
—+EENEH IR T \FF
“ZRHAEE BN ZT=TFE

ZEFERIRRMNER -R_F—N
F - ZIBAB WKL HEMETE 26830
SF)?/\ °©

Project

ECE

Enchanté Crest

K- WREE

Location

bk

At the junction of
Songjiagangdong Road
and Huayun Road,
Panlongcheng
Economic
Development Zone,
Huangpi District,
Wuhan, Hubei
Province, the PRC
FEDAILERET &
[ 7R 5K o SR B R EE R
& 22 57

Usage
jiBaS

Residential
F=

Site area

B

Approximately 61,000
square metres

#961,000F 77 2K

Gross floor area

HIBEER

Approximately 178,000
square metres

#9178,000F 75 K

Group's interest

AEEMEER

100%

Expected
construction
completion date
BHEATE
sk B A

3Q 2020
—ERFE=F

035
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WUHAN

SCENERY COVE
KEBHEKRF

Project Wuhan Scenery Cove

BEEH REBEKE

Location Between Third Ring

B South and Fourth Ring
South, Wuhan, Hubei
Province, the PRC
BB A BOE T R
ZIREFHIRZH

Usage Residential

liikes T

Site area Approximately 52,400

HARE & square metres

#952,400F 77 K

Gross floor area

HIBEER

Approximately 215,000
square metres

#9215,000F 5 K

Group's interest

AEEMEEE

100%

Expected
construction
completion date
TEHEETIE
STk B Hf

4Q 2021
T —FEME

Wuhan Scenery Cove is a residential
development project located between
the south of Third Ring and Fourth Ring
of Wuhan, Hubei Province with close
proximity to Huangjiahu University
Town and the 2019 Military World
Game Stadium. It is well equipped with
transportation and community facilities,
including the nearby Metro Line No. 8
Stadium Station. It occupies an
aggregate site area of approximately
52,400 square metres and has an
aggregate planned gross floor area of
approximately 215,000 square metres.
The project commenced in the second
quarter of 2018 and was pre-sold in the
second quarter of 2019. It is expected

to reach completion and delivery by the
fourth quarter of 2021. In 2019, this
project achieved a contracted sales of
41,658 square metres.

REBEKEAMNAILERETE
SIRERIR B2 EEEEIEE
MEEZFAARBRE —F—NFHR
BEAEHZIGE  RBRUEELEER
MESEE + B4R Hb 821855 AR B B AT Uk
481 AR T 15 49 552,400 F 5 K - B4R
B EE S 5215000 F 5K ° %
HEERZZE—N\FE_FFHT ' ¥
ZE-NFE_ZHBREE - BFR
FNERTERMNER o
RZZE—NF  ZEENEOHEER
& A41,658F 7K o

—

..........................................................................................................................................................

CHENGDU

QINGYANG PROJECT
FERE FIHHE

Project

Qingyang Project
=

HE A 5 ¥1HAE

Location Wenjiajie Road, Qingyang

3 District, Chengdu, Sichuan
Province, the ERC
I | B EE LR
BFERRXKEE

Usage Residential

& r=

Site area Approximately 22,000

o 48 1R square metres
#)22,000F 75 3K

Maximum Approximately 55,500

developable GFA square metres

oA EEEMEE 4955500 70K

Group's interest 100%

AEBIEEE

Expected The project is currently

construction
completion date
TRHZETE
e H E

under planning as it
was acquired at the
end of 2019
HRERE-Z—1
FAREA - BATER
35 81 B R

036

Qingyang Project is a residential
development project located on
Wenijiajie Road in the Wanjiawan area
of Qingyang District, Chengdu, Sichuan
Province, within 1 kilometre radius
from Metro Line No. 4 Zhongba Station
and Caigiao Station, and 2.5 kilometres
from the Chengdu West Railway
Station. The site is surrounded by
excellent educational and medical
facilities and well equipped with
transportation and community
facilities. It will be developed into a
quality mid-rise residential community
for upgraders. It occupies an aggregate
site area of approximately 22,000

square metres and has a maximum
developable gross floor area of
approximately 55,500 square metres.
The project is currently under
planning.

EFXFHEBUANIEKBEFES
RERMXREGE B B4R
PRI UL MBI 1 A B R A EB P4 2.5
PE FABHREEREE - BERE
B JBREERERES  BEE
ARENSRE ) SEBEELE ° Z
TH B 8 AR H A5 49 522,000 75 K -
T ] B E & 4 A&55,500F 75
Ko BAT ZEE ERRRBIFEER -
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PEARL RIVER DELTA

BR= 4 M [

HUIZHOU
HALLSTATT SEE

MR - RHEE

Project Hallstatt See

EEELE FE - B ESR

Location Mai Tian Ling, Boluo

3B County, Huizhou City,
Guangdong Province,
the PRC
TREREEMTE
EBRERSE

Usage Residential

jibS =

Site area Approximately 918,000

b 85 AR square metres

#9918,000F 75 K

Gross floor area Approximately

4 N2 T A 1,440,000 square
metres
#1,440,000F 75 K

Group's interest 100%

REE TR

Expected High rise of Phase IV in

construction 4Q 2021

completion date FENHSERS

TEHIZETIE —E-—FENE

se Rk B 53

REMERRAR —%

—NEFR

Hallstatt See is a large-scale residential
development project located at Mai
Tian Ling, Boluo County, Huizhou City,
Guangdong Province with close
proximity to many amenities such as
golf course. Surrounded by hills and a
lake of approximately 174,000 square
metres. It occupies an aggregate site
area of approximately 918,000 square
metres and has an aggregate planned
gross floor area of approximately
1,440,000 square metres. The project
received 4A tourist attraction rating by
China National Tourism Administration,
and was given an award for its
innovative cultural and resort real
estate model in the 10th Annual Real
Estate Billboard event hosted by China
Commercial Real Estate Commission.
The project is divided into seven
phases. Development of Phase | and
part of Phase Il was completed and
delivered to buyers. Construction of the
majority of Phase Il and Phase Il was
completed and the high rise portion of
Phase Il is expected to complete and
deliver to buyers in the fourth quarter
of 2020. Pre-sale of the high rise
portion of Phase IV was launched in

the third quarter of 2019 and it is
expected to deliver to buyers in the
fourth quarter of 2021. The villa portion
of Phase IV has launched presale in the
fourth quarter of 2019. In 2019, this
project achieved a contracted sales of
97,041 square metres.

hlE - BiEEEAMREREZIMNT
BREEEHE s AEEERER
ML BRLZUNEBAIKRSEE AR
M BRI K 49174,000F 5 K Z 8
JHIRAE - B AR 1 40 918,000 F
FAR BHRIEBEAERED A
1,440,000 F 75K o 5% I8 H BEF BIE R
KRR BB RIARIKE =R & -
ITRE2ETEBEERS SRR
FrEHEREZERE FEE L ER
EERMERRAIFTALE] - ZEE
HAOtHBR:  F—HURBLFEZ
HERTIRRNER £ ZHKX
HHERTRELTN  F_HaE
HOBEAR_E_TFEMERLT
WRHER - FUBHEEXSIERZ
T-NFE=FMIRTAEE B =
T —FENEXNER : HBEERR
5% PER-_ZE—NFNEERSA
TEE - RZE—NF - ZHEBEWNEY
HEEE A97,041F 5K o
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PEARL RIVER DELTA

IR =4 M %

FOSHAN
ACADEMIC ROYALE

BILFE . EXEH

Project Foshan Academic
R Royale
BILATE . RXEH
Location Lujingdong Road,
3 B Chancheng District,
Foshan, Guangdong
Province, the PRC
P B SR A LA
Usage Residential
A F=
Site area Approximately 42,500
b 85 AR square metres

#942,500F J7 K

Gross floor area

e

Approximately 214,000
square metres

#9214,000°F 77 K

Group's interest 100%

REE LR

Expected
construction
completion date
TAREEETIR
seAk B Ef

2Q 2021
—E-—FE=F

Foshan Academic Royale is a residential
development project located at
Lujingdong Road, Chancheng District,
Foshan, Guangdong Province. Being
situated in the Guangzhou-Foshan
Urban Integration Development Region,
the project is located at the junction of
the Central Nanhai District and
Chancheng District, within half an hour
drive to Guangzhou and the core
districts of Foshan. It occupies an
aggregate site area of approximately
42,500 square metres and has an
aggregate planned gross floor area of
approximately 214,000 square metres.
The project is divided into two phases
with mainly high-rise buildings. It will be
developed into a high-quality high-rise
residential area for first-home buyers
and upgraders. Phase | commenced in
the first quarter of 2017 and was pre-
sold in the third quarter of 2018. It is
expected to be completed and
delivered to buyers in the fourth quarter
of 2020. Phase Il commenced in the
second quarter of 2018 and pre-sale
was launched in the fourth quarter of

2019. It is expected to be completed
and delivered to buyers in the second
quarter of 2021. In 2019, this project
achieved a contracted sales of 33,794
square metres.

HBILARE . XS BN ERE G
LRk [ AR SR RS 2 (E £ RIAR -
3 BR 38 LU T AR 0 O [ B R R AR
F o BEGRMESL - £ EEEE
HBEZOREE RWBEBELH A
42,500 5K - BAREIBEEEELD
A214000F K - ZBEBERS
LEE BREFAXTNESERRE
FERE - ZEEXDWEARE : F—
HR—_ZE—+tFE—FHITIR =
T-N\FE=FEE BIR=ZZ=
TEENFRTRRINER: FH
RZZB-—NEFEZHT  WN=F
—NFENEFRE ' Bith=ZE——
FE_FTBRIIRIMNER -RN=_F
—NF ZBEENRYNEEMRES
33,794F 75K o
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GUANGZHOU
GREENERY TERRACE

BEMNEHME

Project Greenery Terrace

GRS BiA

Location Xingnan Main Road,

It B4 Nancun County, Panyu
District, Guangzhou,
Guangdong Province,
the PRC
FRERLENTE
BERNEAEEAE

Usage Residential

A i T

Site area Approximately 30,600

AR E TR square metres

#930,600F 75 2K

Gross floor area Approximately 29,000

RIEZEEE square metres
#)29,000F 75 K

Group's interest 100%

REEFTIHE R

Construction 4Q 2019

completion date —E-NEFFENF

AT 2SR H

038

Greenery Terrace is a residential
development project located at
Xingnan Main Road, Nancun County,
Panyu District, Guangzhou within the
Huanan New Town Zone in Guangdon
Province. Being one of the few low-
density sites located in the Huanan
New Town Zone, the close proximity
to Metro Line No. 7 and the various
developments and facilities in the
Wanbo Commercial district in the near
future will add tremendous value to
the project. The project occupies an
aggregate site area of approximately
30,600 square metres and has an
aggregate planned gross floor area of
approximately 29,000 square metres. It
will be developed into a high-end low-
density villa area. The project
commenced development in the third
quarter of 2017 and presale was

launched in the third quarter of 2018.
It reached completion and
commenced delivery to buyers in the
fourth quarter of 2019. In 2019, this
project achieved a contracted sales of
4,245 square metres.

BEMEANNEREENTER R
FANEERE B 2 (EEREEE it
BERHBIRR  BEMHELENER
EH 3R - FRIT A B 7SR AR R E1E R
BeEIEEER&E B EZ%E
HIANERED - %A B BHBRERE
49430600 F FK  EREREEE
TEH 29000 75K - R A=K
RRERER - ZBER=_Z—LF
F=FHT N_E—N\EE==H
HRIBE  R-E—NFENFRTI
FIARNER - R-ZF—N4E - %E
BRRAIEERMESB4245F FK »
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GUANGZHOU
REGENT HEIGHTS

EMNEREEELE

Regent Heights is a residential
development project located at
Maogang Road, Huangpu District,
Guangzhou, Guangdong Province. The
project strategically positioned at the
pivotal intersection between Huangpu
Yuzhu Port Economic Zone and
Guangzhou International Financial City,
the second central business district of
Guangzhou. It is conveniently located
with close proximity to the planned
Metro Line No. 13 and equipped with
quality educational, healthcare and
transportation facilities. It occupies an
aggregate site area of approximately
14,000 square metres and has an
aggregate planned gross floor area of

GUANGZHOU
PARC ONE

BEMNARE.EEAR

Parc One is a residential development
project located at Changling Road,
Huangpu District, Guangzhou,
Guangdong Province. It is 8 kilometres
northeast to the Huangpu District
municipal government office and 23
kilometres from Guangzhou
International Financial City, the second
central business district of Guangzhou.
The project is conveniently located
with close proximity to the planned
Huangpu Tram Line No. 1. The district
is equipped with quality educational,
healthcare and transportation facilities.
[t occupies an aggregate site area of
approximately 72,000 square metres
and has an aggregate planned gross

ERBEEBEEBEN RT3 00077  mm@ETHE
K BERATHLESEIMLRE - % kA

£ F—FHT A
ﬁﬂ_ﬁ ﬁﬁh_ RFEESE R
TR FFENFRIRRIMNER -
floor area of approximately 252,000 Project Parc One
square metres. The project will be BEAW ER-FEE
developed into a mid-end quality Location Changling Road,

. . ) . 3t Huangpu District,
high-rise community. The project Guangzhou,
commenced construction in the third Ghuag%gong Province,

t
quarter of 2019 whilst pre-sale is Epeg%aéﬁgﬂ\ﬁ%
expected to commence in the third R R B
quarter of 2020, and is expected to be Usage Residential
. ) i =

completed and delivered to buyers in

Site area Approximately 72,000
the fourth quarter of 2023. e T square metres

REMEBRAT — = LFFH

approximately 73,000 square metres. It
will be developed into a mid-end
quality high-rise community. The project
commenced construction in the first
quarter of 2020 and pre-sale is expected
to commence in the third quarter of
2020. The project is expected to be
completed and delivered to buyers in
the fourth quarter of 2022.

IEAEBELUR RN EREEM
mEERFMEEETERER @
BREHERIKGELERMEMNE
“AERLE — BEMNERS RN

ErEE @A - WERAE RS/
B3R FTERUHE R E Fﬁﬁ
e RBREGREESHEEZR °

T8 B B R E i

#)7514,000F 772K

Project Regent Heights

RS HREEERLS

Location Maogang Road,

I B4 Huangpu District,
Guangzhou,
Guangdong Province,
the PRC
PREREEMTE
1 & 5 R

Usage Residential

P& T

Site area Approximately 14,000

AR EE square metres

#914,000F 77 K

Gross floor area

Approximately 73,000

RIZAEE square metres
#)73,000F 75 2K

Group's interest 51.0%

REEFTIHER

Expected 4Q 2022

construction
completion date

T CHEENF

hiE - SEEAVREREEMNTR
BEREECEEHRER - BEH
BEFRIETSAE BEME—F
¥hhE — BMNEESEH3A
B UWEROEHENESEIRE AT
Jﬁﬁuibﬂ&ﬁfuiﬁﬁﬁ' 5_&
EEREREE 2 o %E B A Em
BHAAE72,000F 7K - EREIRER
M 78 %) 5252,000%F 5K - iR &
PimmEEELE - ZEHER -
—hWEF=ZFHT  BFHR_Z_F
FE-ZRARE  RNZT=_=F%
ZHRTRERTER -

#972,000F 75 2K

Gross floor area

Approximately 252,000

HLEmEE square metres
#9252,0005F 5 3K

Group's interest 51.0%

REEPTIEER

Expected 4Q 2023

construction
completion date
FARARREE T2
Fe % H £

—E-ZFFENF

.|
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PEARL RIVER DELTA

IR =4 M %

GUANGZHOU
LANGYUN GARDEN

RN E

Project Langyun Garden
EEEL BRETEE
Location At Airport Expressway,
ih 4 Baiyun District,
Guangzhou,
Guangdong Province,
the PRC
o E R M T
TE 5 R R A
Usage Residential
ik =
Site area Approximately 57,000
H AR A square metres

#)57,000F 15 K
Approximately 133,000

Gross floor area

Langyun Garden is a residential
development project located at Airport
Expressway, Baiyun District, Guangzhou,
Guangdong Province. The project
location is 2.5 kilometres northwest to
the Baiyun New Zone and 8 kilometres
from the Guangzhou Railway station. It
is equipped with a wide array of
transportational network with easy
access to the airport and the
Guangzhou central district, and is
situated with a well-established business
atmosphere. It occupies an aggregate
site area of approximately 57,000 square
metres and has an aggregate planned
gross floor area of approximately
133,000 square metres. It will be
developed into a mid to high-end
residential community that comprise
villas and high-rise blocks. The project
commenced construction in the third
quarter of 2018 and launched pre-sale

in the fourth quarter of 2019. It is
expected to be completed and
delivered to buyers in the fourth quarter
of 2021. In 2019, this project achieved a
contracted sales of 3,636 square metres.

HEXEAUNEREENTASE
B RAK EEHRIEE - B
BRuRABEFMAILAL2SAE E
BEEM NESA B - IR RS
BiE - AIRBRBAEIS P OHE
BAEEESFERE - ZHEE SiEm
#5700 F 75K - EREIRER
HETEA A133,000F 5K @ 3R A
FammErRE e EFEE o
ZEAER - \FE=FFHT
RZZE—NFENZERMAEE ' it
RZEBEZ—FEEOERTRERINE
R NZZE—NF  ZIEENRLHE
EHER3636F T K-

..........................................................................................................................................................

RIEEEE square metres
#9133,000°F 75 K

Group's interest 10%

REEPh R

Expected 4Q 2021

construction T —FENE

completion date

BERETE

e A B

THE GREENVILLE
R E WA

The Greenville is a mixed-use
development project located in
Maluan Subdistrict, Pingshan District,
Shenzhen, Guangdong Province, with
close proximity to Pingshan Bus
Station, Shenzhen Overseas Chinese
Town East, as well as the Shenzhen
Metro Line No.14 Shahu Station and
Metro Line No. 16 Pingshanwei Station,
which are both currently under
construction. The site is surrounded by
multiple residential complexes and fully
equipped with various facilities. It will
be developed into a quality high-rise

040

community for upgraders. It occupies
an aggregate site area of approximately
31,000 square metres and has a
maximum developable gross floor area
of approximately 118,000 square metres.
The project is currently under planning.

B AURERERIIFTILES
®ATE - AR IL R, - REPERS
B DA RTEERDRII M 145845 008
VA6 SRARSEILE v, - AREZEE
EER  BFERERE  SEEEK
#o BIENSRERSREREFER
tTIE o F27H B B A T A 49.531,000
THRA e EEEEENA
118,000 F 75K > BHI ' #21H B I[F &
R EIPEER o

Project The Greenville

THE A BT

Location Maluan Subdistrict,

3 Pingshan District,
Shenzhen, Guangdong
Province, the PRC
= EE R LRI L
B HEAE

Usage Residential and

& commercial
EEREE

Site area Approximately 31,000

A TR square metres
#)31,000F 73 K

Maximum Approximately 118,000

developable GFA square metres

e ZEEEE  £9118000F 5K

Group's interest 100%

AN 52 P A 1 2

Expected The project is currently

construction
completion date
BHEETE
T B

under planning as it
was acquired at the
end of 2019
ZHEAR -Z—-NF
REA - BAl &%E"%ﬁ
s
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HONG KONG
YAU TONG PROJECT

&HBMEEE

Project Yau Tong Project

BEEH Sh¥EE A

Location Yau Tong Inland Lot

I Bh No. 44 at the junction
of Shung Shun Street
and Yan Yue Wai, Yau
Tong, Kowloon, Hong
Kong
EENERERES
BCFERANME
4455

Usage Residential

jibS =

Site area Approximately 10,500

b 8% AR square metres

#910,500F J7 K

Gross floor area

Approximately 53,000

BIEEEE square metres
#)53,000F 75 K

Group's interest 100%

REE P R

Expected 1Q 2023

construction ZEZ=F¥—F

completion date
BERAETRE
STk B Hf

REMEBRAT — = LFFH

Yau Tong Project is a residential
development project located at the
junction of Shung Shun Street and Yan
Yue Wai, Yau Tong, Kowloon, Hong
Kong. With idyllic and unobstructed
view of the Victoria Harbour, the
development offers stylish and relaxing
living environment. It occupies an
aggregate site area of approximately
10,500 square metres and has an
aggregate planned gross floor area of
approximately 53,000 square metres.
The project comprises four high-rise
blocks with 688 units, which are mostly
small to medium-sized. It aims to meet
owner occupier and upgrade demand
from single and expanding families. It
also provides three and four-bedroom
units for self-use and upgrade demand.
Construction of the project commenced

in the fourth quarter of 2017 with pre-
sale scheduled to commence in the
fourth quarter of 2020. This project is
expected to complete in the first
quarter of 2023.

MIBEEE BUREBEBNEBRERE
HHRCOCFERAZEEERIAR B
EHRBUERAN®EEE  REEL R
AT AERFT o :Z7A B R ETE
#9510500F 5K - EREIBEER
FEH) A53,000F K » BEliReE
E= 1244 Hess B &R - AR/
FAURZE - LUREES AT R/IK
FEERAMRMET R - FFBREE= -
HEEBEMNEEE A RBRETER - ZIEEB
ER=ZZ—LFENFHT » BN
—ETFFNERFAERE RZZ
Z=FE-FRT -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B o i S o0 A

Land Bank

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had a developable gross floor area
(“landbank”) of approximately 4.35 million square metres across 27 real
estate development projects in 13 cities, namely Beijing, Yingkou,
Langfang, Tianjin, Nanjing, Changsha, Wuhan, Chengdu, Huizhou,
Foshan, Guangzhou, Shenzhen and Hong Kong.

New Land Bank Acquisition

Throughout the year of 2019, the Group added 4 new projects to its
real estate development portfolio and thus the landbank increased
approximately 432,500 square metres. The total cost and average cost
for the newly acquired land bank amounted to approximately
RMB6,193 million and RMB14,300 per square metre respectively.
Nanjing and Changsha are the regions where the Group has already
established a solid footprint and the new acquisitions will further
advance the Group's leading position in the respective regions. The
Group's debut entry into the Shenzhen and Chengdu markets will
further enhance our brand’s penetration in the Greater Bay Area and
Chengdu-Chongging region and continue to promote rapid expansion
of the Group.

T b

R-ZT—AE+-_A=+—8 KELEEET
VEEHERRER HfitR &0 K
HeoRE-ERRYD - HE - RE - BN
BBl BN ORINREEF 3@ T - &3]
FIEt M B mmiE ([ LR ) 854358 F
FokK e

LS L b R B

RZE—NF  AEBEFENERFMERE
TH B - 487 5242 M m A A im 42 0 £9432,500
oK o BTG A R 2 A 4D A61.9318 7T
ARE - EHRANBEFE T R14300T AR
# o R R RDHIE AR B EE - 378
+ i REE S B R A BIE B B 4B S L
mEEARIEREBTSEE - PRAR
RIERNEER KRBT EN@EZE N BE
HEQRMIRRER -

Average land

cost
Attributable Estimated GFA Total (RMB
interest to the Site area (sq.m.) land cost* per sq.m.)
Group (sq.m.) #4  (RMB million) 35+ RA Acquisition
Location/Project Property type rEH 1 3t T 78 HEEEE AR (BEHXK date
e EH b:up0 % il FriG &z (FHXK) (FHEXR) (AR®BEBT) AR#TT) BABH
1. Nanjing Jiangning Project Residential 100.0% 61,000 128,000 1,880 14,700 13/11/2019
BMRIEEE Fx
2. Shenzhen The Greenville Residential and 100.0% 31,000 118,000 2,560 21,700 22/11/2019
R EHEAT commercial
EEREE
3. Chengdu Qingyang Project Residential 100.0% 22,000 55,500 833 15,000 28/11/2019
KEBEFEE FE
4, Changsha Nanhu Project Commercial 100.0% 22,000 131,000 920 7,000 3/12/2019
RYOEMEE [EES
Total $t & 432,500 6,193 14,300
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SPECIALISED CONSTRUCTION

The Group is engaged in the business of specialised construction
mainly encompassing the services of design, production and
installation of curtain walls system and associated metal works via
Condo Shanghai for the PRC market and Condo Hong Kong for the
Hong Kong market. In 2019, in light of continuing fierce market
competition, revenue derived from this operating segment dropped
8.2% to HKS$864.6 million (2018: HK$941.7 million). As cost of certain
contracts was higher than budgeted and recovery of cost has yet to be
confirmed by relevant contract parties, its operating results, net of
intra-group transactions, recorded an operating loss of approximately
HKS$11.6 million (2018: operating profit of HK$1.6 million).

Condo Hong Kong's active participation in both private development
and public sector over the years has earned itself positive market
recognition within the construction sector, which has led to an
increase in project bidding invitation. In view of the shortage of skilled
labour, rising trend in direct and indirect costs, Condo Hong Kong
implemented a relatively conservative bidding strategy and underwent
tight risk management measures. In 2019, Condo HK secured new
tenders amounting to approximately HK$100 million with projects on
hand amounting to approximately HK$400 million as at 31 December
2019. Condo Shanghai has prioritised itself over operational risk
management. It secured new tenders amounting to over RMB150
million with projects on hand amounting to approximately RMB490
million as at 31 December 2019.

|
HEMERRAT —T— LFFH

EXEE

REBEFZBRKN LG BEFEMSEER) &
MBS (BEBREMEER) L& K -
B NTEREER BT CEHEEREE -
RZE—NF BEHFEIZNOTEHRFRK
WL R AR D EE R UL T 6 8.29% == 864,600,000
I (ZZ— )\ : 941,700,000/ 7C) * EHR
BRI BEKABRIEMKFEAEFEBEED
FRERMNE  EHNREEADBR ZHEOLE
HEERISRS A E B8 4911,600,0008 L (=&
— \EF &% F1,600,00078TT) °

InMBBOFERZ EBRRFRLATIZER
ETARRITREFAME EINTHRAFZE
RIZOHEE - A - S TER - AN T
FRARLERERIBEANBERAT  WNEEE
BAR LRI T AR T RIRR KRS - W9
Rk EEEE R T —NF  WHNEERF
MEAETIREHN REEFHEANSERY
RAUBBTT - ERIHM LG - BIAKERRE
BIEREEMN - RZT—NF - WM EEN
FEREISBTARKIREEGH RFEFHE
BRSENRIVETARE -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B o i S o0 A

PROPERTY INVESTMENT

The Group's investment property portfolio in Hong Kong comprises two
commercial office buildings, namely China Minmetals Tower in
Tsimshatsui and LKF 29 in Central, together with four residential units,
all of which are located in Hong Kong with a total gross floor area of
15,826 square metres. The uncertain global macro environment and
local social events since mid-2019 together with border control from
the outbreak of the novel coronavirus epidemic since early this year
resulted in a decline in tourist arrival numbers which sent further
shivers to the retail and service industry. Given such harsh operating
environment, both occupancy rate and rental rate generally dropped.
Due to volatile market conditions, the rental rate for newly signed
contracts in LKF 29 declined. However, China Minmetals Tower in
Tsimshatsui maintained an occupancy rate at a relatively high level of
92.3% and still recorded a slight increase in rental rate compared to last
year.

In 2019, revenue from property investment segment decreased 3.8% to
HKS67.7 million (2018: HK$70.4 million). As at 31 December 2019, the
occupancy rate of LKF 29 was 85.0% (2018: 100%) while China
Minmetals Tower was 92.3% occupied (2018: 92.3%).

MERE

AEBEZTENREMEMLRS  BEMRE
Wz R B ARERE KA IR 2 LKF 29 i i 3
RNE - UREOEMARESZEEYE - BIER
EEE H£15826F 7 K o fE 2B A BB T8
BAERE-—Z— A FHhABNAEEE S
HREETHBMERS M EFYRBH
R R SR B A R IRy I e (R 5 78
RETE  TERRBESENE - EERERN
EHERET HRIERERHESHLEESG
BRUE - AR T RE AR E) - A B ALKF298
AP RFANBERSER TN - A - L2
EMFRABAENESAHBRESE
N3 E Z KT - AERRBEKFREFE
B R -

REZZE—NF  MEREDH WA TIE3SY
%£67,700,0007% 7T (= & — J\ 4 : 70,400,000/
)  RZEBE—AE+-ZHA=+—8H ' LKF 29
2 B A850% (= — )\ : 100%) * i
BREREMHHEEAA923%(ZF—/\F :
92.3%) °

Building China Minmetals Tower Building LKF 29

REETHE TEABEAE RELHE LKF 29

Location 79 Chatham Road South, Tsimshatsui, Location 29 Wyndham Street, Central,

B Kowloon, Hong Kong 3B Hong Kong
BERNBERPERBBRE L TR ERPRERE - TN%K

Usage Commercial Usage Commercial

R & EES P& EES

Lease term Medium-term Lease term Long-term

HEHRR & HERR 231

ENTRUSTED ASSET MANAGEMENT

During the year of 2019, the Group has recorded RMB3.5 million in
management fee income according to the entrusted management
service agreement whereby China Minmetals entrusted the Company
with the management of non-listed assets within its real estate
development and construction division. The entrusted assets include
real estate development and management projects in Beijing, Tianjin,
Shenyang, Liaoning, Shandong, Qinghai, Jiangsu, Hunan and
Guangdong.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Liquidity and Financial Resources

During the year of 2019, the Group’s operations were financed mainly
by cash flows generated internally from business operations as well as
borrowings.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had cash and bank deposits
(excluding restricted cash and bank deposits) of HK$3,850.1 million
(2018: HK$3,607.8 million), of which 77.5%, 20.2%, 2.3% and 0.0% (2018:
75.8%, 15.1%, 9.0% and 0.1%) were denominated in Renminbi, Hong
Kong dollar, United States dollar and Macau Pataca respectively.

The Group had utilised financing to supplement internal resources to
finance the acquisition of new projects and the development of
existing projects. Total borrowings of the Group stood at HK$16,753.9
million (2018: HKS$15,054.6 million) as at 31 December 2019, which
mainly comprised borrowings from banks and bond issuance. The net
gearing ratio (net debt to total equity) of the Group as at 31
December 2019 was 79.1% (2018: 75.9%).

The weighted average borrowing costs of the Group maintained at a
low level of around 5.02% (2018: 4.75%).

The maturity profile of the Group’s borrowings is as follows:

$t %5 2] R
RBESTRUBKER

R-F-NFH AREZEEETTEX
BEBLEMHRIRESRMER

R-ZE—NF+-_A=+—H XEBHER
& RBITHER (M EIEZR RS RIR1TFHK)
3,850,100,0007 7T (=& — A4 : 3,607,800,000/%
JC)  HA77.5%  20.2% * 2.3%0.0% (= =
— J\EE 1 758% ~ 15.1% ~ 9.0%520.1%) 7 BlIAA
RE& AL ELRBPIESIE -

AEBEHAMEERANBERAREHIEE
RERBEEHEEREES - AEBR_Z—AN
F+ZHA=1+—HZEBR4EEA16,753,900,000
T (ZF—)\4F : 15,054,600,00070) » &
FEBRBITEREREFRRET - RZE—NEF
+ZA=1+—8 AKBZFEER(EKF
R RERS 4858 ) 279.1% (B — )\ : 75.9%) °

AREB 2 INEFIHEER AREFEL5.02% (=
T—)\F : 475%) 2 {KKF -

AEBEZEREBBERMT

As at 31 December

R+=B=+—H
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HKS$ million HKS million
BEER % AEET %
Within one year —F N 7,262.6 43.3 1,015.4 6.7
In the second year FF 2,616.4 15.6 8,067.7 53.6
In the third to fifth year E=FEFRF 6,874.9 41.1 59715 397
Total #at 16,753.9 100.0 15,054.6 100.0

|
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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The currency profile of the Group’s borrowings is as follows:

AEBEZBREEBERAOT

As at 31 December

R+=—BA=+—8
2019 2018
—B-NF —E-N\F
HKS$ million HKS million
BHEBAT % BEBTT %
Renminbi AR 641.4 3.8 1,153.0 7.7
Hong Kong Dollar T 12,816.2 76.5 10,591.6 704
United States Dollar ETT 3,296.3 19.7 3,310.0 21.9
Total @t 16,753.9 100.0 15,054.6 100.0

The finance costs charged to the profit or loss for 2019 amounted to
HK$26.7 million (2018: HK$137.5 million) after capitalisation of HK$773.1
million (2018: HKS$553.8 million) into properties under development.
The unutilised banking facilities of the Group as at 31 December 2019
amounted to HK$6,126.7 million (2018: HK$10,557.7 million).

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATION IN
EXCHANGE RATES AND INTEREST RATES

Exchange Rate Risk

The Group's principal business is located in Mainland China where
external financing is denominated in Hong Kong dollar and revenue is
denominated in Renminbi primarily. The Group is exposed to exchange
rate risk on transactions that are denominated in a currency other than
Hong Kong dollar, the reporting and functional currency of the
Company. The Group has been closely monitoring the fluctuation in
Renminbi exchange rate and has considered necessary measures to
minimise the impact arising from adverse currency fluctuation including
adjustment to the proportion of borrowings in foreign currency and
utilisation of foreign exchange hedging instruments such as forward
foreign exchange contracts or capped forward contracts.
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Interest Rate Risk

The Group is also exposed to interest rate risk resulting from
fluctuation in interest rates. Most of the borrowings of the Group was
on a floating rate basis and therefore, an increase in interest rate would
raise the Group's interest cost. In order to mitigate the interest rate risk,
the Group entered into interest rate swap contracts in which the Group
would receive interest of one-month HIBOR and pay monthly interest at
a fixed rate based on the notional amount of HK$4.6 billion. As at 31
December 2019, approximately 48.5% (2018: 52.5%) of the Group's
borrowings was on a fixed rate basis after hedging with the remainder
on a floating rate basis.

As at 31 December 2019, save as disclosed above, the Group has not
possessed any kind of financial instruments for hedging and
speculative purposes.

CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS

As at 31 December 2019, certain assets of the Group were pledged to
secure certain banking facilities granted to the Group and mortgage
loan facilities to the purchasers of the Group’s properties, and these
pledged assets of the Group included:

inventories with carrying amounts of approximately
HK$4,946,800,000 (2018: HK$7,735,900,000); and

ii. 100% equity interest in a subsidiary.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEES AND
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2019, guarantees given to banks for mortgage
facilities granted to certain purchasers of the Group's properties
amounted to HK$2,580.1 million (2018: HK$7,538.1 million). Such
guarantees will terminate upon the earlier of (i) the issuance of the
property ownership certificate which will generally be available within
one year after the purchasers take the possession of the relevant
properties; or (ii) the repayment of mortgage loans by the purchasers.
After taking into account the net realisable value of the related
properties and the low default rate, the Directors consider that the fair
value of the financial guarantee contracts at initial recognition and
subsequently at the end of each reporting period is not significant.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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EMPLOYEES =]

The total number of staff of the Group, including the Directors, MR-ZE—HAFE+-_A=+—H AEBZE

increased 15.2% to 978 (2018: 849) as at 31 December 2019. The Group BB (BIEEE) EF152%9E978 (—F—/\

will continue to adopt a remuneration policy in line with local market 4 : 849) & - KEBFEERMNT A EBE

practice and standards. The total remuneration and benefits for the  HITHBIER ZHEER - HEE T — L FE+=

Directors and staff of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 A=+—HIEFE  AEBEE KEE 2 M

were approximately HK$389.4 million (2018: HK$350.3 million). & M AR FI 4B EE 4 5389,400,0008 L (ZZE— N
F 1 350,300,000/ 7C) °

T
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ERE RS

The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report for
the year ended 31 December 2019.

The Board and the management of the Company are committed to
and responsible for the maintenance of good corporate governance
practices. The Board has put in place a corporate governance structure
for the Company which is principally responsible for setting directions,
formulating strategies, monitoring performance and managing risks of
the Group. The respective Board committees oversee particular aspects
of the Company’s affairs and perform their distinct roles in accordance
with their respective terms of reference.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

In the opinion of the Directors, throughout the year ended 31
December 2019, the Company has complied with the code provisions
of the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, except
deviations from code provision A.2.1 and A4.2.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board assumes the responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company and is collectively responsible for directing and supervising
the Company’s affairs. The day-to-day management, administration and
operation of the Company, however, are delegated to the
management of the Company.
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The Board comprises eight members as at the date of this Annual MRAFRBAH  EFem/\BESHK  Fi15
Report, the composition of which is set out below: BRAZA T -

Executive Audit Remuneration Nomination
Name of Director Designation Committee Committee Committee Committee
EEng B HITZEEE® BKZEEE® FHMZEEE REZET
Mr. He Jianbo Chairman & Executive Director C M C
fa] R 5% 4 IRRNITER
Mr. Liu Bo Managing Director & Executive Director M
2K L & EERRBRATES
Mr. Chen Xingwu Deputy Managing Director & Executive Director M
PRER & EFRIARERNTES
Mr. Yang Shangping Deputy Managing Director & Executive Director M
IR EFRIRREERMTES
Ms. He Xiaoli Non-executive Director
i BRt FRITES
Mr. Selwyn Mar Independent Non-executive Director C M M
it e BUHTES
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy Independent Non-executive Director M M M
] 5 BAUFRITER
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny Independent Non-executive Director M C M
BEMARL BUFNTES

C: Chairman M: Member

Biographical details of Directors are set out in the section headed
“Directors’ and Senior Management's Profile” in this Annual Report. To
the best knowledge of the Company, there is no financial, business,
family or other material or relevant relationships amongst members of
the Board.

The Company has met the requirements of the Listing Rules to have at
least three Independent Non-executive Directors representing at least
one-third members of the Board and with at least one Independent
Non-executive Director possessing appropriate accounting and financial
management expertise and professional qualifications.

The Company received written confirmations from all Independent
Non-executive Directors confirming their independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that all of the
Independent Non-executive Directors are independent.
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Directors (save for the Chairman and the Managing Director) appointed
by the Company to fill a casual vacancy are subject to election at the
first annual general meeting after their appointment instead of having
elected at the first general meeting as set out in code provision A4.2
of the CG Code. Besides, every Directors, including those appointed for
a specific term, are subject to retirement by rotation in the manner as
set out in the said code provision save for the Chairman and the
Managing Director of the Company where they are not required to do
so pursuant to the private company act 1991 by which the Company
was incorporated.

The Directors acknowledge that they have a duty to act in good faith
and in the best interests of the Company and commit themselves to
spend sufficient time to perform their duties. They are also aware of
their collective and individual responsibility to Shareholders. As such,
they have taken active interest in the Company's affairs and obtain
thorough understanding of the business of the Company.

All Non-executive Directors are appointed for a specific term of three
years and are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
provisions of the Bye-laws.

As a variation from code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, Mr. He Jianbo,
an executive Director of the Company, serves as the Chairman of the
Board. He is responsible for the overall strategic direction of the Group
and management of the Board as well as organising the management
for strategic planning and business operations of the Company thereby
enabling more effective execution of long-term strategies. It is believed
that the balance of power and authority is adequately ensured as major
decisions have been made in consultation with the Board which
comprises three independent non-executive Directors and a non-
executive Director offering their experience, expertise, independent
advice and views from different perspective.

The Company enables the Directors, upon request, to seek advice from
independent professional advisors at the Company's expense in the
process of discharging their duties. The Company has also arranged for
appropriate directors and officers liability insurance in respect of legal
action against Directors arising from corporate activities.
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During the year, a total of four physical Board meetings and two
general meetings were held. Notice of not less than fourteen days is
given for regular Board meetings. The attendance of Directors during
their tenure of office in 2019 is as follows:

ARARIREERBT THAEESSSZLM
m&%x@ ETgrHeR2BAE IR

ERTHPITHREREREST K&
%#_T hEFREFE Lo eZEZ2BER
NN

Number of meetings attended/held

HE/BTERXE
Board Meeting General Meeting
Name of Director BEEHA = BRRRXE
Mr. He Jianbo fa] &I R 55 A 4/4 2/2
Mr. Chen Xingwu PR B I 5 A 4/4 2/2
Mr. Yang Shangping 158 S 4/4 0/2
Ms. He Xiaoli ]/ NBR L 3/4 2/2
Mr. Selwyn Mar BEELEE 4/4 2/2
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy AR B S A 4/4 2/2
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny OB LT 4/4 2/2
Mr. Li Fuli (resigned on 15 January 2019) ZRMEE(RZZE—NF
—RA+H BT 0/0 0/0
Mr. Liu Zeping (resigned on 26 March 2020) BIAIFERE(RZZE_2F
=RAZ+REEE) 2/4 0/2

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS TRAINING
AND DEVELOPMENT

On appointment to the Board, the newly appointed Director receives a
comprehensive induction package and training covering the Company’s
constitutional documents, internal policies, guidance and procedures as
well as the general, statutory and regulatory obligations of being a
Director to ensure that he/she is thoroughly aware of his/her
responsibility under the Listing Rules and other relevant regulations.

The Directors are regularly briefed on the amendments to or updates
on the Listing Rules, corporate governance practices and other
regulatory regimes. The Company provides monthly reports to Directors
which contain updates on business development and financial
information of the Group.
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All Directors have participated in continuous professional development.

FMBESHASERETEXRERIE - NE

The individual training record of Directors for the year ended 31 ZE-ZE—AF+-_A=1+—HILFE &=
F2EILsmT

December 2019 is set out below:

Briefings &
updates on
business Attending
Paying visits to operations & expert
Company'’s compliance briefings,
projects & matters seminars &
subsidiaries HBEEKLER conferences
BREAAREE HRESEZB®R HESESE.
Name of Director EEpgE KRB A REK REHER M ERwE
Executive Directors: HITES:
Mr. He Jianbo ] 8% 55 & v 7 v
Mr. Chen Xingwu PR R 5 A4 v 7 v
Mr. Yang Shangping T 1 S v v/ v/
Mr. Liu Zeping (resigned on BIAF e (RZEZ2F
26 March 2020) =R TRB#E) v v v
Non-Executive Director: FHTES:
Ms. He Xiaoli /N NER L v v v
Independent Non-executive BIFHTESE:
Directors:
Mr. Selwyn Mar BaRkE v v/ v/
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy PR B ST A v/ v/ v/
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny EOMB L+ v 7 v

CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has established a set of guidelines as its own “Rules and
Procedures for Directors and Relevant Employees of the Company in
respect of Dealings in Securities of the Company” (the “Rules for
Securities Transactions”) on terms no less exacting than those
contained in the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules.

Having made specific enquiries of all the Directors, they had confirmed

in writing that they had complied with the Rules for Securities
Transactions throughout the year ended 31 December 2019.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing financial
statements that give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Group and its results and cash flows for the relevant financial period.
The Directors are also responsible for the timely publication of the
consolidated financial statements of the Group. In preparing the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2019, the Directors confirmed that the consolidated financial
statements had been prepared in accordance with the statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards, made judgments
and estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable, and the
consolidated financial statements had been prepared on a going
concern basis.

The Directors confirm, having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the
best of their knowledge, information and belief, they are not aware of
any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt upon the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern.

The statement made by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, the independent
auditor of the Company, about their reporting responsibility on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2019 is set out in the “Independent Auditor's Report” in this
Annual Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND
INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has responsibility to establish and maintain appropriate and
effective risk management and internal control systems and, through
the Audit Committee, to review the effectiveness of such systems so as
to protect Shareholders’ interest and safeguard the Group’s assets. The
Board has authorised the management to design, implement and
maintain its risk management and internal control systems by clearly
defined responsibility, authority and accountability. Under the guidance
of the Audit Committee, the Internal Audit Department of the
Company monitors the risk management and internal control systems
by conducting independent reviews.
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The Board acknowledges that effective risk management and internal

control are essential for long term growth and sustainability of the

Group. The risk management and internal control systems are designed
to manage rather than to eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

A.

Risk Management Framework

The Group adopts a “top-down” and “bottom-up” approach
whereby the three defensive lines formed by business units, the
management and the Internal Audit Department join hands to
identify, assess and manage significant risks at corporate,
operational and functional aspects.

Each business unit and its management team has the duty to
manage its own risks in the course of daily operations. It requires
the identifying, measuring and monitoring of the management
measures of individual risk to ensure that it is within the risk
appetite of the Group. It also requires the implementation of risk
management plans as recommended by the Internal Audit
Department and the Audit Committee to address those
significant risks that may affect business operations.

The Audit Committee together with the Internal Audit
Department and management regularly monitor and update the
Group's risk profile and appetite. By reviewing business and
operation reports from Internal Audit Department and the
management, the Audit Committee assists the Board to oversee
the risk management and internal control systems on an on-
going bases and reviews its effectiveness with the Internal Audit
Department.

Directed by the Audit Committee, the Internal Audit Department
follows a risk-oriented approach to furnish annual internal audit
plan. The Internal Audit Department performs internal audit
works and furnishes report findings to the Audit Committee that
provide the Audit Committee with independent and objective
assessment on the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group. The principle tasks of
internal audit works of the year include audit reviews of
operations, controlling mechanism, legal compliance and
compliance of internal rules and regulations. Special attention
has been given to matters of significant risks or changes.
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Internal audit reports are presented at Audit Committee
meetings. Major findings and recommendation are followed up
and updated to the Audit Committee on a regular basis. Minutes
of the Audit Committee meetings are then tabled at Board
meetings to report the Audit Committee’s findings on risk
management and internal control issues such as changes in the
nature and extent of significant risks since the last review, those
newly identified risks of material nature that require the attention
of the Board, and the recommendation or opinion on
management’s response thereto.

The Company regulates the handling and dissemination of inside
information in accordance with its “Policy on Disclosure of Inside
Information” to ensure that inside information remains
confidential until disclosure and the dissemination of such

information is efficiently and consistently made.
Significant Risks and Control Measures

Significant risks have been identified through the process of risk
identification and assessment. A summary of the significant risks
of the Group together with the relevant internal control
measures imposed during the year is listed below.

a. Market Risk

Market risk is the key challenge of the Group. All of the
Group's residential and commercial property development
and investment in Mainland China are subject to risks
associated with the PRC property market such as policy
change, demand-supply rebalance, change in overall
economic conditions and availability of financing which
may pose an adverse impact on the Group's financial and
operation condition.

b. Operational Risk

Operational risk is another significant risk identified by the
Group during the year. The events of default caused by
purchasers and strategic partners together with human
error and system inadequacies or failure may bring about
corresponding impact on the Group's operations where
financial loss, litigation, and reputation damage may
follow.
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C. Review of Risk Management and
Internal Control Systems

The Board, through the Audit Committee, reviews the
effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and
internal control systems. The Audit Committee instructs
the Internal Audit Department to carry out independent
reviews to assess the effectiveness of risk management
and internal control systems.

The management of the business units annually review
and update their risk registers to ensure that effective
controls are in place. They also conduct self-assessment on
internal control and confirm that appropriate internal
control policies and procedures have been established and
properly complied with. In consideration of the Group's risk
appetite (i.e. the extent of risk the Group is willing to bear
in pursuit of its strategic and business objectives), the
Audit Committee reviews the following with reference to
the assessment made by the management and the
Internal Audit Department to assess the effectiveness of
risk management and internal control systems:

a. the provision of timely and comprehensive
information to the Audit Committee and the Board
to enable effective assessment of the monitoring
measures within the Group such as the reliability of
financial reporting, the compliance with applicable
laws, rules and regulations and the effectiveness of
risk management;

b. reviewing internal audit reports to ascertain the
efficiency in rectifying internal control deficiencies
and status update on implementing of
recommendation provided by the Internal Audit
Department; and

C. reviewing management reports to assess the
principal business risk and the management’s
response to changes in the Group’s business and
external environment.

The Audit Committee initiates or as delegated by the Board,
directs independent investigations on material internal control
defects and reviews the findings and the management’s
feedback thereof.
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Based on the assessments made by the management and the
Internal Audit Department and taking into account the audit
works of the independent auditor, the Board and the Audit
Committee consider that no significant areas of concern in
respect of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems were identified during the year of 2019.

Based on the review of the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems performed during the year, the
Board considers such systems effective and adequate.

BOARD COMMITTEES

A.

RIFEEEMAREB B2 - AR
REBBIZBENNR TFER &
EZENERZBERRR_ZE—IF
W EERRE R R ARSI A BO
BEXEEFETHE-

RIFFAHRAREERABEZERGR
RERENRT  EETERR/RFTEMN
BRI RS -

EXE2ZET

Audit Committee A. BEXZEET
All the members of the Audit Committee are Independent Non- EZLZEGNEHRBEYIFRTES -
executive Directors. The Audit Committee is principally HEFZWBE AR : VAEE 2 BE
responsible for reviewing (i) the effectiveness of the financial W27 A R RS E AN AP B R 5L 2
reporting procedures and risk management and internal control B - () BIAZEED 2 BEAE - ARE
systems of the Group; (i) the appointment of independent TYEREME E - K (i) T8 AZBEET R
auditor and the efficiency and quality of their work; and (i) all EUAREBEHZERENREER -
internal audit reports as well as management feedback to such
reports.
The Audit Committee held three meetings in 2019. The EREEEN T NFRITT=KE
attendance of the members of the Audit Committee is as HBKEBHREERZIBRET
follows:

Attendance
Members of the Audit Committee EREEERE i EIRE
Mr. Selwyn Mar — Chairman BHELEE — XfE 3/3
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy RHR B ST A 3/3
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny e s 3/3

The major tasks accomplished by the Audit Committee during
the year are summarized as follows:

a. reviewed the consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2018, the
independent auditor's letter to the management and the
annual results announcement, and made recommendation
to the Board for approval;
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reviewed the interim financial information of the Group for
the six months ended 30 June 2019 and the interim
results announcement, and made recommendation to the
Board for approval;

reviewed the management recommendation furnished by
the independent auditor and the response from the
management;

reviewed the audit strategy provided by the independent
auditor and made recommendation to the Board for the
independent auditor's appointment, remuneration and
terms of engagement on audit services for the year ended
31 December 2019;

reviewed and made recommendation to the Board on the
remuneration and terms of engagement of the
independent auditor for non-audit services;

reviewed with the management the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group;

oversaw the implementation of the Group’s risk
management framework and assisted the Board in
conducting independent evaluation of the effectiveness of
the Group's financial reporting procedures and risk
management and internal control systems;

ensured that the management has fulfilled its duty to
establish and maintain effective risk management and
internal control systems including adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff working in the
Group's accounting and financial reporting function;

reviewed the top tier risks of the Group and recommended

mitigating actions therefor;

furnished opinions to the management on risks associated
with significant matters of the Group;

REMEBRAT — = LFFH

EHAKREHZE_T-NFRA
=tRLERNEAZF B BEER
EHHEENE IMEESH
BEUZEUBEHNRASREHE
BER:

EHBYRBMREREREEZZ
mMEEE CEIE

EHBURBMBELEZE T
—NE+ZA=+—HLEEZ
EZER YREFERB X
BN _ZE-—NF+A=+—
B 1B B R IR R B 7 2 BE
T FMREREKGHREERE
B

EHEEE R BE R IR
REzHMRERGE  XAE
ERRHEBER

HEBBRSAKRERMANZ G
R RAEH

EEAKERREEERDGE
T UHHEESHAEE
B 75 B 3R A2 7 A e Rl B B BB A0 A
MEERR 2 ARMEEITHILF
flr

HMREEEBBRITELLERAN
B LB B PR Ko 1A B BE 1R R R B
B ETEERRASEARS
BR - -UREEEERMERL
BEMITE LU HERBET
(S

Pt 7 S I 2 8 A B LB R
A B ) AT A 6

AAKBEEANFRZABARIS
MAEEEREER

059



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

B EEIREE
k. reviewed internal audit reports prepared by the Internal k. HBEAZEETERR CARERT
Audit Department, provided guidelines for internal audit HE - WA AEEET ISR EE
planning and reporting, and ensured that the internal ZIFmE LIS AREBRA
audit function was provided with adequate resources to TETBEESENNER I
discharge its responsibility; and BEBRUEIE + &
reviewed the changes (where applicable) to the procedures R EREER S RSERE
for monitoring connected transactions and continuing %E’ﬁi}*&&é %iﬁ%UEE’Ux@
connected transactions and the mechanism of (an@m) o
whistleblowing.
B. Remuneration Committee B. ¥HMEER
The Remuneration Committee consists of the Chairman of the FINEEEKERRESTEERREE
Board and all the Independent Non-executive Directors. The BUENTES  EXEBEATNMN
Remuneration Committee is principally responsible for the review FREERSEEEAB Z S A
of the remuneration mechanism and incentive scheme of the HEEE  BURERESERAZRESE S
Directors and senior management, and the establishment and ZEFMEAGRY - ARSI FIRBES R
maintenance of a reasonable and competitive remuneration SEBEEAR -
package to attract and retain Directors and senior management.
The Remuneration Committee was authorised by the Board to FME B a?%%%/'\&%fﬁm%ﬂﬁﬁ%
determine the remuneration packages of Executive Directors and kEEERABNHMESE W3 EHR
senior management and make recommendation to the Board for TEENE @Hﬁ%?Akﬁﬁ%ﬁi
the remuneration of Non-executive Directors.
The Remuneration Committee held one meeting in 2019. The %ﬁ@ﬂ\?;ﬁ@b\_y NERTT—RE
attendance of the members of the Remuneration Committee is CEKEBEEERZBRAT
as follows:
Attendance
Members of the Remuneration Committee FHZEEERE HERE
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny — Chairman FOWME L — £F 1/1
Mr. He Jianbo 1] &R 5% 4 1/1
Mr. Selwyn Mar BHRELE 1/1
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy PRHR B S A 1/1
Mr. Li Fuli (resigned on 15 January 2019) TREMNEER=ZZE—NF
—A+RBEE) 0/0
During the year, the Remuneration Committee reviewed and FMEZEE RN AFEANETZAB_Z

—)\ﬁfx@%u R_E-NEFIEHBE

N
s
x ©

approved the proposals for the 2018 annual bonus and the 2019
annual salary adjustment.
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Nomination Committee C. REEET
The Nomination Committee consists of the Chairman of the RELZEENERREFELIEREE
Board and all the Independent Non-executive Directors. The BAUNTES  EXZBEABITE
Nomination Committee is principally responsible for formulating ENREBER MERREZEGEEE
policy for nomination of Directors and leading the process of BETEENAE RIESSHEE -
identifying and nominating candidates suitably qualified to ANBURAER  WHEBNZEESEUARA
become Board members. It reviews the structure, size and AERMITHARETTEEEEME
composition of the Board and makes recommendation to the EERLEBER - ItIN REZEE
Board on re-appointment of Directors as well as succession plan NERABIINTEEFNE LM
for the Chairman and the chief executive of the Company. The
Nomination Committee also reviews the independence of
Independent Non-executive Directors.
The Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy which sets out EEEgRANIEEFGXNEZ TR
the approach to achieve diversity on the Board in order to K| IHEFSRERAKEZ L
enhance the equality of its performance. Selection of candidates mEREN A 75 &t - BUER R — R % T
will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, which include bl AR - B (BETERR) MR -
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational Fhe XIEREEER  #Hfs FEL
background, integrity, professional experience, skills, knowledge BB HMBRRBESR -REREZE
and length of service. The Nomination Committee has the TREAREZBERONT T8E8FR
primary responsibility for the implementation of such policy and SIRRBUR - AERZBURITZ B
review of its effectiveness on an annual basis.
The Nomination Committee held one meeting in 2019. The REZEEN T —NFRITT KX
attendance of the members of the Nomination Committee is as FEOEKBEHFEEBEZIBRAEAT
follows:
Attendance

Members of the Nomination Committee REZEERE i ERE
Mr. He Jianbo — Chairman AIglEkE — F% /1
Mr. Selwyn Mar BT EE 1/1
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy R P 1/1
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny AR B S A 1/1
Mr. Li Fuli (resigned on 15 January 2019) TRERMNEE(R=ZZT—NF

— AT HRBEE) 0/0

During the year, the Nomination Committee reviewed the
independence of Independent Non-executive Directors, the
structure, size and composition of the Board and the Board
Diversity Policy of the Company.
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D. Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is collectively responsible for determining the
Company’s corporate governance policy and performing the
following duties:

a. to develop and review policies and practices on corporate
governance,
development of Directors and compliance of legal and

training and continuous professional
regulatory requirements;

b. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct of the
Company; and

c to review the Company’'s compliance of the CG Code as
well as the disclosure made in the Company's Corporate
Governance Report.

During the year, the Board has reviewed the position on the CG
Code compliance and approved the Corporate Governance
Report contained in the Company’s 2019 Annual Report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2019, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, the
independent auditor of the Group, received approximately HKS$3.65
million (2018: HK$3.65 million) for audit services, and approximately
HKS$1.3 million (2018: HKS$1.1
include the review of the 2019 Interim Report.

million) for non-audit services which

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Chung Wing Yee has been acting as Company Secretary of the
Company since August 2006. She is an associate member of The Hong
Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and The Chartered Governance
Institute (formerly known as “The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators”).
activities for more than 15 hours in 2019.

Ms. Chung has participated professional training
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

A.

Convening of special general meeting
on requisition and putting forward
proposals at general meetings

Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-up
share capital of the Company which carries the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company have the right to requisite the
Directors to convene a special general meeting of the Company.
The requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, and
must be signed by the requisitionist and deposited at the
registered office of the Company.

If the Directors do not within 21 days from the date of the
deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a meeting,
the requisitionist, or any of them representing more than one-
half of the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves
convene a special general meeting of the Company.

Enquiries from Shareholders
The Company’'s website provides email address, postal address,

fax number and telephone number by which enquiries may be
put to the Company.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTMENT COMMUNITY

The Company attaches great importance to communications with
Shareholders and the investment community (which refers to the
Company's potential investors and research analysts reporting and
analysing the Company’s status and performance).

Corporate information is communicated to Shareholders and the
investment community by way of the Company’s announcements,
website, meetings with shareholders and general investor relations
activities.
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It is believed that effective communication with investors is essential for
promoting their understanding of the Group’s business development.
The Company releases property sales update by way of announcement
and press release on a regular basis.

A. Announcements and corporate website

The Company maintains its corporate website at
www.minmetalsland.com where announcements, financial reports,
press releases and update information of the Group are available.
It serves as a key channel for Shareholders and the investment
community to access reliable and timely information about the
Company. Shareholders would raise enquiries or provide feedback
via the designated section on the Company's corporate website.

The following corporate information is posted on the Company'’s

website immediately thereafter the same has been released by

the Company to the website of the Stock Exchange:

— announcements, notices and circulars

— annual reports and interim reports

—  Bye-laws

— list of Directors

—  terms of reference of all the committees of the Board

—  procedures for nomination of Directors by Shareholders
B. General meetings of Shareholders

The holding of general meetings provides good communication

opportunity between the Board and Shareholders. Shareholders

are welcome to raise questions and comments at general

meetings where members of the Board and independent auditor
of the Company are delighted to answer.
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Shareholders are informed of the voting procedures of general
meetings by the chairman of the general meeting. The Company
also provides Shareholders with sufficient and timely information
concerning the date, location and agenda of general meetings
and other information regarding issues to be decided at general
meetings.

The Company ensures votes cast are properly counted and
recorded. Independent scrutineers are appointed to count the
number of votes cast at general meetings. The Company
announces and publishes, on the same day of the general
meeting, the poll voting results on the websites of the Company
and of the Stock Exchange.

Investor relations activities

We believe that, to enhance corporate governance, regular and
effective communication with investors is essential and in
particular, for their understanding of the Company’s business
development. We endeavour to maintain regular meetings and
dialogues with the investment community through participation
in investor conferences, analyst and media briefings, non-deal
road shows and investors’ and shareholders’ visits.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There is no change in the Company’s constitutional documents (i.e. the
Bye-laws) during the year.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BRI - A E RO

ABOUT THIS REPORT

Minmetals Land and its subsidiaries are delighted to present the fourth
Environmental, Social and Governance Report, covering the principal
businesses of the Company, including Minmetals Land's Beijing and
Hong Kong offices as well as its real estate development projects and
property management service subsidiaries across the country. This
Report details the policies, measures and performance of the Company
in terms of environmental, social and governance (“ESG") aspects during
the period from 1 January to 31 December 2019.

REPORTING STANDARDS

This Report is prepared in accordance with Appendix 27 Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide of the Listing Rules (the
“Guide”) on the basis of the four reporting principles set out in the
Guide — Materiality, Quantitative, Balance and Consistency. To
demonstrate to each stakeholder the effort and results of Minmetals
Land in terms of ESG aspects for the vyear, this Report not only
complies with the provision “comply or explain” in the Guide, but also
reports most of the social key performance indicators classified as
“Recommended Disclosures” in the Guide. In the future, the Company
will continue to improve its disclosed information.

SUSTAINABILITY STRATEGIES
Mission and Vision

Minmetals Land strives to incorporate its corporate mission “Building
the Best, Creating a Legend” into its business operation so as to
perform its corporate and social obligations while developing its
business. By promoting sustainability in the daily operation and
management of each business unit, it expects to realize the corporate
vision of “becoming a leading innovative and sustainable real estate
developer”.

As a corporate with a huge sense of responsibility, we proactively
manage our ESG matters and promote sustainability. The Board has the
ultimate responsibility of monitoring the Company’s policies, measures
and performance in relation to sustainability. It is also held responsible
for assessing the ESG risks of the Company, ensuring that an effective
ESG risk management system has been established and approving the
policies and reports related to ESG.
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Stakeholder Communications BEnEEB

The expectations and opinions of stakeholders are crucial to the HFMEMNPERERH ARG TSAIFER
enhancement of the Company's sustainable development strategies. REBEMEZE - RMZFREBTHLE
Over the years, we have maintained close communication with our JEE) ~ e - PUEECREFBEEHER
stakeholders through extensive channels such as regular meetings, FEZEAER  FATHBMME ARG REA
activities, reports, websites, so as to have a deep understanding of their HIE R @ FBIRESIFHEETIR - BEHK
opinions on the performance of the Company. We also keep in active £ E R KR EE @ #5IH BHRENEL -
contact with each stakeholder and constantly collect their opinions and

feedback, with a view to identifying areas that need to be improved.

Main Stakeholders Issues of Major Concerns Responses and Feedback
FTERHGE FTERIRE EERSR
Government organisation - compliance with laws and regulation - conducting business in compliance with
B4 & BPRRER relevant laws and regulations
. corporate governance FR SRS FARBERE AR
*rEER
Shareholders and - financial performance - publishing announcements and reports on
potential investors B ISR annual results and interim results
BRRRERESE « risk management EWREERTFHEERERRE
[l ez & 22 - holding annual general meeting of
- information disclosure shareholders
ERRE BIORRBFEARE

« regularly updating the corporate website to
ensure timely release of latest company
information
EHEM A RMILER - ARRERENR
&1 0MNEIFERN

Customers - quality of products and services + hosting expos and carnivals to demonstrate
HEE EnkRBEE product and service quality
BNREGHERFEGEEY  UERTRK
I EmEREE S
- providing different platforms (such as service
hotlines and WeChat, etc.) to communicate
with customers

RETENF & (R RAEZIARIBES)

BEOHEE BB
Employees - career development - conducting annual and quarterly work
8T BEERE performance conferences
. salaries and welfares BRFERFETIESE
= K 18 A - evaluating staff performance on a regular
- workplace culture basis
Bm Xt EHFTHEIRR
- occupational health and safety - offering different types of training activities
BERERELSR and workshops
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- regularly conducting department meetings
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- Main Stakeholders Issues of Major Concerns Responses and Feedback
. FTERGE FTERERE EERER
J= =0
Business partners - open, fair and equitable purchases + hosting supplier’s conference
EBaER NH - RFRAENRER R RipEER RS
- compliance of contracts - arranging press conference to promote
HBFEH Minmetals Land's branding
ROTLBBERMEMS
Community and the + engagement in community + organising community events for property
public development owners from time to time
HERDR HAft BB TRAZEFHEBLRES
- environmental influences + participating in environmentally friendly
RIRFE activities

SRR D55 B

+ arranging charity events
THEEERY

- setting up a hotline to listen to customer
feedback and comments

RIUMR REEPRERER

Your comments are welcome B xR
If you have any comments about this report, please forward MEHAREEAMNBRSER  BEEEHEE
it to the following address: RBERAR TF it
18th Floor, China Minmetals Tower, 79 Chatham Road BAENELRPERREE T NRPEAERNE
South, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong RWAN:
Tel : (852) 2613 6363 TEE 1 (852) 2613 6363
Fax: (852) 2581 9823 fEE : (852) 2581 9823
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OUR BUSINESS

Minmetals Land is the sole listed real estate flagship of China
Minmetals in Hong Kong that engaged in a wide range of businesses
covering real estate development, specialised construction, property
investment and securities investment. Under a well-established and
efficiently operating platform established across the country, Minmetals
Land develops real estate development projects and offers property
management services in major economic hubs of Pan Bohai Rim,
Yangtze River Delta, Central China, Pearl River Delta and Hong Kong,
and provides specialized construction services across various cities in
the country and in Hong Kong. In addition, we have two commercial
office buildings, namely LKF 29 in Central and China Minmetals Tower
in Tsim Sha Tsui, for rental purposes.

During the vyear, leveraging our outstanding brand influence and
excellent product and service quality, we are honoured with the awards
of 2019 Top 100 China Real Estate Brand Value” and “2019 Top 30 PRC
Investment Value Real Estate Enterprise”.

Real Estate Development

Minmetals Land continues to accelerate the expansion of real estate
development business, and its current real estate portfolio has reached
27 projects, covering 13 cities, namely Beijing, Yingkou, Langfang,
Tianjin, Nanjing, Changsha, Wuhan, Chengdu, Huizhou, Foshan,
Guangzhou, Shenzhen and Hong Kong. Since stepping into Southern
China in 2016, we have upheld our positioning in developing premium
projects. In just a few years, the number of real estate development
projects we involved in Southern China has increased to 7. During the
year, Huizhou Hallstatt See project in Pearl River Delta was awarded
“Top 10 China Cultural and Tourism Project 2019” in the “China Real
Estate Brand Convention 2019 and Best of Chinese Real Estate Brand
Value 2019". In addition to maintaining the quality of existing projects,
the Company also actively explores real estate development and
investment opportunities across the country. Through building unique
and smart real estate projects in the PRC, we will develop into a
sustainable real estate development enterprise.
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Beijing Fortune Garden
ERME

Yingkou Platinum Bay

& OREE - HEE
Langfang Harrow Town

BB 43 15 7% /N R

Tianjin Minmetals International

REFEAEEHAE

Central China

ErhhihE

Changsha LOHAS International
Community
AR - EEBEERLR
Changsha Scotland Town
RABE/NEA

Changsha Qin Royale
RAOHE LE W
Changsha Nanhu Project*
RO EMRIER*

Wuhan Enchanté Crest
BENKE . B EE
Wuhan Scenery Cove
REBTKE

Chengdu Qingyang Project*
PREE FIEE

Pan Bohai Rim Yangtze River Delta
RYBHLE R=ZABE

Nanjing Sello Royale
MROlE- NEE
Nanjing Academic Royale
RO SXEH
Nanjing Yan Shan Ju
AR2IE

Nanjing Enchanté Oasis
RO OBHER
Nanjing Enchanté Cove
RO R W
Nanjing Jiang Shan Da Jing
ARTIIARSE

Nanjing Amber Court
MR E &

Nanjing Jiangning Project*
MRIERE”

*  new project of 2019

Pearl River Delta

K=—ANE

Huizhou Hallstatt See

BN IHE - 15 pE R
Foshan Academic Royale
BRI THE - RS
Guangzhou Greenery Terrace
BME#E

Guangzhou Regent Heights
BMABHREE LT
Guangzhou Parc One
BMARE - T4
Guangzhou Langyun Garden
BMEAETER

Shenzhen The Greenville*
RIS T

Hong Kong Yau Tong Project
HBMERA
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Smart Construction

Minmetals Land has always upheld its development motto of
“treasuring limited resources to create endless possibilities”,
endeavoring to promote the development of green and smart
construction within the industry while actively exploring the
opportunity to integrate advanced technologies into our development
projects. Minmetals Land has put forward smart construction
technologies such as 3D printing construction, printing concrete raw
materials from construction waste at the 4th Asia-Pacific Low-Carbon
Technology Forum 2019. Looking forward, we will continue to strive for
innovation with a view to incorporating scientific designs and green
technologies into the Company’s real estate development projects to
create a smart, liveable and green community for our customers.

Property Management Team

Property management is an essential ancillary for real estate
development projects. The Company’s property management teams
that based in Yingkou, Tianjin, Nanjing and Guangdong possess
expertise in safety management, equipment maintenance, facilities
operation, environmental and building management. Coupled with
their extensive and practical experience in property management, they
have not only provided a safe and comfortable home for residents but
also enhancing the investment value of properties.

Adhered to the “37°C Caring Service" principle, the Company is
committed to providing a safe and comfortable 37°C service and living
to our customers by actively delivering value-added services in
"housekeeping, facility maintenance, management, health care and
nursery/kindergarten facilities”. Over the years, the professional property
management service teams of the Company have been enhancing our
service quality and won numerous awards, including “Well-being
Community 2019" for Riviera Royale during the year, Minmetals Land
Properties Service Guangdong awarded “Service Contribution Award”
and “Alliance 5C Quality Award 2019" by China Golden Key Alliance.

—E-NEFER
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Community Events

We adhered to the commitment of provision of “37°C Living” to
residents and the neighboring communities. During the vyear, we
organized over 700 social cultural events with the theme of “We are
family” across the country, and categorized the year into six themes,
namely “Season of Happiness’, “Season of Spring”, “Season of Family”,
“Season of Joy’, “Season of Thanksgiving” and “Season of Warm Winter”,
under which a raft of wonderful activities were held.

HEEE

BPIRFE[37°CHETE | RIS AR - MR ARR
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To meet the needs of residents and promote community health and
security, we provide residents with regular free medical consultation
and appliance maintenance in the community and organize safety
training, arrange visits of building facilities and enhance residents’ safety
awareness. In addition, we strive to understand the opinion and
recommendation of residents and owners by setting up “Minmetals
Property 400 National Customer Service Hotline “and holding quarterly
meeting with owners to listen to customers’ voice. In order to address
residents’ concerns more precisely, we also conduct customer
satisfactory survey through third party professional consultation
institutions periodically.

Our Operation

Minmetals Land is committed to operating our business with
accountability and integrity and improving the operational practice of
the Company. We value our connection with our customers, suppliers
and stakeholders and try to understand and respond to their demands,
thus facilitating the sustainable development of the Company.

Product and Service Responsibility

Minmetals Land is aware that quality product and service is the key to
the sustainable development of the Company’s business, we therefore
proactively monitor each operating detail and provide customers with
quality real estate development projects and property management
service.

To ensure the construction quality of its real estate development
projects, Minmetals Land strictly complies with “Construction Law of the
People’s Republic of China” and all relevant laws, regulations and
industrial standards in places where the projects locate, and has
developed “Operational Guidelines for Quality and Calculation of Real
Estate Projects” to examine quality of projects according to the criteria
specified in the said Guidelines. In terms of service quality of property
management, our Instruction Handbook for Customer Service
Operation sets out responsibilities of each unit and service process,
which ensures enquiries, views and complaints of customers are
addressed in a systematic and appropriate manner, as well as
conducting regular appraisal on service team and reviewing quality of
management service.
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We respect personal privacy of customers and intellectual property and
our “Office Guidelines and Operational Guidelines for Client File
Management” illustrate the procedures and important notes for
handling important documents and require all staff to keep confidential
all client information. Moreover, the Company adheres to “Advertising
Law of the People’s Republic of China”, “Trademark Law of the People’s
Republic of China”, “Copyright Ordinance” and “The Personal Data
(Privacy) Ordinance of Hong Kong” to safeguard personal data privacy
and intellectual property.

During the year, Minmetals Land has not violated any laws or
regulations in relation to product and service responsibility.

Supply Chain Management

Suppliers play an important role in the real estate development
operation and property management services. Therefore, we actively
implement comprehensive and effective supply chain management in
our supplier selection process.

We select quality suppliers to establish partnerships according to
standards in the “Minmetals Land Real Estate Supplier Managing Rules”,
including aspects such as supplier's location, size, pricing, quality, etc.
To ensure consistent implementation of sustainable development
across the Company's supply chain, in selecting suppliers, we also take
into consideration their historical performance in the social
responsibility aspect, as well as their environment management system
and safety management system. Minmetals Land requires all suppliers
and subcontractors adopt employment policies, occupational health
and safety measures and professional code of conduct the same level
of standard as ours, and strictly prohibit child labour or forced labour,
to ensure best protection of labour rights.

As a real estate developer, quality and consistency of construction
materials are crucial to the product quality of our Company. We set out
clear requirements about the quality, pricing and liability of suppliers in
our contracts. We also regularly assess the operations of factories,
process factories and fabrication base of raw materials of our suppliers
through onsite inspection, to ensure steady and reliable products and
services provided by suppliers, thereby maintaining high quality of our
projects. In order to strengthen chain management, we conduct whole
course management on our suppliers through the Group’s
procurement e-commerce platform, evaluating the performance of
suppliers on a yearly basis while categorizing them for management.
Before entering a supplier into the database, the Company would
examine such supplier based on relevant criteria to ensure the quality
of its products and services.
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Minmetals Land insists on providing a fair, just and open platform for
suppliers, where all procurement activities are carried out according to
the Company's open-tender system. In strict compliance with the
Invitation and Submission of Bids Law of the People’s Republic of
China, we have established an internal guidance to clearly set out the
tender procedure and standards. We select tenders based on their
service and product quality, pricing and credibility, and do not tolerate
any behavior that inhibits fair bidding, including disclosing any tender
details to the public before announcement of bidding results, colluding
with any third party to manipulate tenders, tender prices or otherwise
influence the bidding results, or contacting tenderers in private or
procuring, accepting or providing benefits to tenderers.

In protecting suppliers’ interest, the Company has enhanced its efforts
in the standardization of tender and procurement management. Each
department in the real estate development segment of the Group
inspects the procurement and tender condition of the Group's project
companies across the country by way of random on-site visits and
engaging third-party to conduct independent quarterly research.
Individual issues found in such research are followed up on an on-
going basis to ensure all tender and procurement efforts of the
Company comply with relevant laws and regulations.

During the year, Minmetals Land maintained close cooperation with
1,199 suppliers and strived to ensure steady and orderly operation of
the supply chain.
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Number of suppliers in different regions

BEHERERYE
South China East China Central China North China Yingkou region
ERE ERIBE ErhihE EiHE EOiE
688 217 233 20 41
Anti-corruption RES

Minmetals Land always upholds the highest level of business ethics and
professional conduct during the course of business and adopts zero-
tolerance approach towards corruption. The Company has established
its “Prevention and Control measures for Corruption Risk in Minmetals
Land Limited” and “Staff Conduct and Business Ethics Practice in
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Minmetals Land Limited” based on laws and regulations such as the
“Prevention of Bribery Ordinance’, the “Anti-Money Laundering and
Counter-Terrorist Financing Ordinance” and the “Criminal Law of the
People’s Republic of China”, explicitly stipulating that all staff are
required to follow, while bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering
of any form will not be tolerated. Those who are found to have
violated these guidelines will be subject to action. In order to curb any
inappropriate and fraudulent behavior, Minmetals Land has set up an
internal complaint and whistle-blowing system, where all case
information will be kept confidential, so as to protect the whistle-
blower or staff complainant.

The Company formulated its “Rules and Procedures for Director and
Relevant Employees of the Company in respect of Dealings in Securities of
the Company” and the “Policy on Disclosure of Inside Information” in
accordance with regulatory disclosure requirements, which provide
detailed guidelines for directors and staff in trading listed securities of
Minmetals Land and prevention measures on release of inside information.

During the year, there was no reported case on corruption or bribery.
Our Employees

Employees are the essential driving force to the sustainable
development of Minmetals Land. Adhering to the people-oriented
principle, Minmetals Land continues to allocate resources in order to
attract and retain talents. Employees are provided with competitive
remuneration and benefit packages as well as a wide range of training
and development opportunities. The Group optimizes its human
resources management system continuously with a view to providing
employees with a friendly and healthy workplace and ensuring that
employees may utilize their strengths and realize their potentials.
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Recruitment

Minmetals Land always recruits talents based on the principles of
fairness and transparency, and provides equal opportunity to all
candidates. We adhere to strict compliance of the relevant laws and
regulations, such as the “Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China”,
the “Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China”, the
“Employment Ordinance”, the “Employee’s Compensation Ordinance”
and the “Minimum Wage Ordinance” in Hong Kong. We enter into
employment contracts with our staff, and have formulated the “Staff
Handbook”, setting out policies in relation to recruitment, work hours,
wage and allowance, performance assessment, promotion, dismissal,
benefits, diversity and anti-discrimination, etc, to protect employees’
interests. Furthermore, policies and guidance are reviewed and
upgraded from time to time to conform with latest regulatory
requirements and align with operating needs.

The Company allows no child labour or forced labour and complies
with the “Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Protection of
Minors and the Regulation on the Implementation of the Employment
Contract” and the "Employment of Children Regulations” in Hong Kong.
All job applicants must undergo background vetting so as to ensure
they are of legal age for employment and are qualified for jobs.

The Company is keen to recruit and retain talents for the sustainability
of the Co.. During the year, we held recruitment events at South China
University of Technology and Sun Yat-Sen University. The Company has
developed clear promotion paths, and regularly assesses the work
competency and performance of employees, upon which promotion is
based. Meanwhile, we continue to perfect the compensation system
and formulate reasonable remuneration mechanism with reference to
the experience of our staff, working locations and the average industry
level.

During the year, Minmetals Land had not subjected to any prosecution
or complaint for violation of laws and regulations relating to
employment.

Staff Training and Development

Long-term development of employees is instrumental in Minmetals
Land's sustainable development in the future. During the year,
Minmetals Land provided comprehensive occupational training for
employees, covering engineering, law and contract studies, and
management skills, in order to help them enhance their expertise, skills
and experience, so that they could improve work performance and
continue to provide quality services and products for the Company.
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According to the “Training Management Measures of Minmetals Land’,
Minmetals Land establishes a training system and appraisal system for
training programmes. We devise our annual training plan and arrange
our employees to participate in training programmes based on our
annual work target and training needs of our employees. To ensure the
effectiveness of various training, we examine employees’ annual
training hours and contents and also review the effectiveness of
training programmes based on “Interim Measures on Training Appraisal
of Minmetals Land".

Since staff feedback on training is conducive to continuous
improvement of our training system, the training department conducts
an assessment at the end of a training activity by means of interviews
and questionnaires in order to collect comments and
recommendations on the training programme in terms of format,
content, curriculum, course materials. During the year, we provided a
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series of trainings for our staff, including:

Site visit Arranged staff to visit local and overseas real estate development projects to
BEZSH learn their practical experience in project development, and study related

management skills and business strategies
ZHET 2B MBI EHEZREAR - RKFEEENERER -
2B R R B IR T R AR RS

Internal and external training classes

A ERA SN RS FI R

Invited professionals from different fields to provide lectures

BETRBENERALTRE TRHRE

Exchange programme and job rotation

X et B R 8 1R

Arranged outstanding employees to participate in a three to six-month
exchange programme in other companies to learn the pros and cons of other
companies, bringing inspiration to future management and operation
CHRELEWNEIINAMRARETAR =2 BANRTE - THE
HiRARINES - RAKREBLLHRERT

Forum workshops

w8 T

Organised customised workshops for individual departments to enhance
communication among colleagues and discuss management strategies of the
Company together

REBPEFTETEIEY - MARE[AR -
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Design and creativity workshops

R MAARTES

Organised building design project sharing sessions to study leading cases in
the real estate development industry and discuss how to integrate their
advantages into our projects
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Landscape design workshops

SBREIES

e
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Emergency response training
JE =5 3

Organised landscape design project sharing sessions for landscape designers
and project managers to discuss landscape design of projects
REBRGTMNEESEASRERAEESZS -

AamE R RE

Conduct a series of thorough training on potential safety risks

HHEBEENZ2RARET - RIREE

Training and Development Program 2019

The opening ceremony of “Minmetals Land Training and
Development Program 2019" a training program organized
by Minmetals Land for new staff during the year, took place
on 22 August 2019 in Beijing. In addition to the 42 young
new staff, the management and department heads of
Minmetals Land also attended the ceremony to kick off the
program.

Mr. He Jianbo, the Chairman of the Board, shared with the
participants the development history of Minmetals Land and
his work experience. He also introduced the talent concept
and training system of Minmetals Land. He encouraged the
participants to uphold the core values of Minmetals Land at
work, which were “loyalty to the Company, willingness to
learn, courage to take the responsibility and protection of
the bottom line”, and together contribute to the continuous
development of Minmetals Land.
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Class 80’s

Minmetals Land initiated the “Class 80's” training program in
2016, with an aim of enhancing management and
leadership skills and developing team spirit of the
Company’s young and competent staff. Following the
commencement of the second “Class 80's” in the second
half of 2018, Minmetals Land organized “Class 80's” in
Huizhou, Taian and Xining in February, May and August,
respectively. A number of leaders, management personnel
and professional tutors were invited to advise the
participants and provide training for over 50 members in
respect of personal skills enhancement, team building,
corporate management and operation system, real estate
marketing, anti-corruption and corporate strategy analysis. In
order to deepen the concept of sustainable development of
the staff, the development program also included
professional topics such as environmental protection
management and green building.
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Intensive learning seminar themed “Don’t forget your
original intentions and Bear in mind the missions”

On 14 June 2019, Minmetals Land convened the first
intensive learning seminar with the educational theme of
“Don't forget your original intentions and Bear in mind the
missions”. Mr. He Jianbo, Chairman of the Board, exchanged
opinions on the topic of “upholding original intentions and
keeping missions in mind — how state-owned enterprises
walk the Long March in the new generation” with
department heads during the seminar. Through this
seminar, we strengthened understanding of the future
development objectives of the Company for leaders of
different ranks, and hence facilitating the long-term
development plan for the corporate in a more effective
manner.

Vertical and Horizontal Project training

Aiming to further improve our management standard and
efficiency, Minmetals Land held online remuneration
accounting training of “Vertical and Horizontal Project’, a
human resources information system, in May 2019. A
number of senior colleagues provided on-site guidance for
staff from the human resources department in relation to
the application procedure of the system. through the digital
information system, we reduced the usage of paper and
enhanced the efficiency of human resources management.

During the year, we provided on-the-job training for 10,401
employees in total, amounting to 50,682 hours of training.
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Number of Training

participants in hours

Category training in total
Al S EFI AR 3 9 48 R Y
Gender Male 3 6316 33,091
el Female X 4,085 17,591
Location Hong Kong BE 14 275
& Beijing R 584 3,602
Subsidiaries (o)== pNG] 9,803 46,805

Total A&t 10,401 50,682

Good working environment

We understand the importance of providing our staff with a
friendly, peaceful and equal working environment. Therefore,
it is clearly stated in the “Code of Conduct and Business
Ethics for staff of Minmetals Land Limited” that any form of
discrimination and harassment is not prohibited. Disciplinary
measures will be taken in any proven case of code
violation.

In accordance with the “Welfare and Reimbursement
Policies of Minmetals Land”, we provide our staff with
allowances covering transportation, food and beverages,
telecommunication, etc., as well as holiday bonuses. Other
staff benefits include medical insurance, life and accident
insurance, free health checks, pension plans, etc. Apart from
statutory holidays, all full-time staff also enjoy paid annual
leave, sick leave, marriage leave, bereavement leave,
paternity and maternity leave etc.

Minmetals Land advocates a balance between work and life
and encourages our staff to stay in touch with their family,
friends and colleagues in their spare time. Therefore, we
regularly organize entertainment and sport activities for our
staff to relieve stress in their leisure and enhance the
solidarity of our team.
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Occupational health and safety

We regard our staff as our most important asset. At the
same time, we clearly understand the health and safety risks
of the industry, thus, we devote ourselves to building a safe
and healthy working environment for our staff.

We strictly adhere to the "Work Safety Law of the People’s
Republic of China”, the “Law of the People’s Republic of
China on the Prevention and Control of Occupational
Diseases”, the "Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance”
and other relevant laws and regulations in relation to
occupational health and safety. We have put a sophisticated
health and safety management system in place to ensure
timely report and management. During the year, there were
no cases of fatalities nor any record of loss of working days
due to occupational injury.

We set out a series of policies and requirements related to
occupational safety and health in the “Employee Handbook”
and “Employee’s Health Monitoring Work and Management
Regulation of Minmetals Land”, including but not limited to
training, emergency, safety monitoring and report,
contractor management, etc. To ensure that the emergency
measures are duly implemented in the event of an accident,
employees are required to participate in safety training, and
carry out safety procedures in accordance with the “Work
Safety Accident Hazard Identification and Control
Management Regulation” and the “Work Safety Accident
and Violation Reporting Management Regulation” to
minimize the negative impacts of the accident.

As a responsible real estate developer, Minmetals Land
understands the potential occupational risks in construction
sites, and has adopted a variety of measures to prevent the
occurrence of accidents.
construction site are not hired directly by the Company, we
have set out the “Contractor's Safety Work Management
Regulation”, which demands contractors to strictly adhere to
the Company’s occupational safety and management
conduct so as to provide its employees with comprehensive
protection. In Hong Kong, we demand our staff to strictly
adhere to the “"Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance”
and provide them with relevant training. The following
measures have been widely adopted in the Company's
project sites:

As some workers in the
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Providing sufficient fire prevention and safety equipment in
accordance with the size of the project

- Examining fire prevention and safety equipment regularly to ensure
that the equipment functions properly
Carrying out fire prevention drills regularly

- Setting up emergency exits and other safety signs in the site
Providing site workers with necessary labour protection equipment
Providing site workers with sufficient first aid equipment and facilities

- Setting out comprehensive emergency plans in accordance with the
situation of each site
Providing workers with trainings on emergency plans regularly to
ensure that the emergency plans work effectively

We attach great importance to office occupational health and safety,
and have implemented a series of preventive measures to minimize the
risk of potential health accidents in offices. Apart from setting up
standard fire prevention and first aid equipment in offices, we arrange
fire drills for our employees annually to improve our employees’
reaction to emergencies. Meanwhile, we ensure that our offices have
sufficient lighting and ventilation systems. Air-purifying systems are
installed to monitor the air quality in offices. To prevent diseases from
spreading in offices, we provide our staff with sufficient hygiene
products, including surgical masks, alcohol-based anti-bacterial hand
sanitizers and wet wipes. We also clean our equipment regularly, such
as carpets, water dispensers and air-conditioners to prevent bacterial
growth. The Company also arranges flu vaccine injections for all
employees regularly to increase their immunity.
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Overview of Employees Distribution

During the year, we had a total of 734 employees across the

FR - BAEE2ESHHEBR73408 T

BEIDMHHRE

R T804 R

country and lost 80 employees. 8o
Gender 1% 5l Age Fi#;
Male Female 20-29 30-39 40-49 50 or above
Category Bl - Z 205%ZE29% 30mZ39% 40mZE49E  S0mBAL
Number of employee ETIg= 448 286 163 362 156 53

Employment Category fEfRE 2

Education Level 2E 2

Senior Mid-level Other College Under- Postgraduate
Management Management Employee or below graduate or above
Category Rl EREEE HREEE HMET AEHUT AR MREHUL
Number of employee ETg= 46 144 544 172 428 134
Location &
Hong Guangdong  Jiangsu Hunan Hubei  Liaoning Hubei
Kong  Beijing  Tianjin  Shanghai Province  Province  Province  Province  Province  Province  Others
Category LY B8 kxR AR L& RRE  IHE  MmE MrE EEE O WEE E4
Number of employee ~~ BIHE 39 115 ) 1 115 150 103 60 64 9 76
Gender £ 31 Age Fir
Male Female 20-29 30-39 40-49 50 or above
Category L] £ Z 208E295 30mE395 4M0mE49E  S0EB AL
Number of employee BIRKEE
turnover 56 24 15 48 15 2
Location &
Hong Guangdong  Jiangsu  Hunan Hubei Liaoning  Hubei
Kong Beijing Tianjin Shanghai Province Province Province Province Province Province Others
Category EHl & kR X2 tg ERE IHE WmE  WtE  EEE TiE  Hi
Number of BIR%
employee g2
turnover 2 3 0 0 23 16 4 19 1 0 12
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OUR ENVIRONMENT

As a responsible enterprise, Minmetals Land continues to
introduce green elements into its real estate development
and property management operations and go all out in
supporting sustainable development and minimizing the
environmental impact of its operation. In addition to strict
compliance with the requirements of the “Air Pollution
Control Ordinance”, the “Waste Disposal Ordinance’, the
“Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of
China”, the "Air Pollution Law of the People’s Republic of
China” and the “Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law
of the People’s Republic of China” in its operation, we
follow the environmental protection policies of China
Minmetals, including but not limited to the “Minmetals
Group Environmental Ecology Protection Rules”, the
“Minmetals Group Environmental Protection and Assessment
Rules”, the “Construction Project Environmental Protection
Rules”, etc.,, and have established relevant internal
guidelines. During the year, Minmetals Land did not
encounter any case of non-compliance with laws and
regulations of environmental protection, nor receive any
relevant complaint, fine and sanction.

Green Project Development

The company has been committed to integrating green
elements into various energy-saving equipment and
building designs in real estate development business over
the years, striving to build a green community and promote
the development of green construction, so as to
demonstrate its sustainable development characteristics and
set a model for the industry.

In September 2019, Minmetals Land was invited to
participate in the Singapore International Built Environment
Week 2019 with the theme of “Leading the Transformation
of the Construction Industry”. The exhibition, which was
hosted by the Building & Construction Authority (BCA) of
Singapore, attracted more than 12,000 industry professionals
and more than 550 well-known brands around the world to
discuss the development trends of the industry, as well as
the development of sustainable construction technology
and products.
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Through this international exhibition, Minmetals Land has
highlighted its high-end projects in the Guangdong-Hong
Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area layout, including the Huizhou
Hallstatt See Project and the Hong Kong Yau Tong Project,
which was certified with the Silver Rating by the Hong Kong
Green Building Council in the BEAM Plus Scheme. During
the period, the Minmetals Land team was invited to visit the
local real estate projects developed by MCC Singapore, and
drew valuable experience and concepts in the development
of green construction, which has important implications for,
as well as assisting, the company’s future development in
green construction.

Huizhou Hallstatt See — Green Community

Huizhou Hallstatt See Project is located at the junction of
Huicheng District and Boluo County, Huizhou City, with a
site area of approximately 1 million square meters. This
project is situated along a hillside, embracing approximately
20 hectares of natural lakes. We endeavoured to adapt the
project design to the surrounding beautiful natural
landscape to minimize the impact on the environment
during construction.

We commenced the development of Huizhou Hallstatt See
Phase II high-rise project in 2018, in which more than 4,000
tons of recyclable building materials have been deployed
with a green ratio of 30%. To promote the use of electric
vehicles by the residents for carbon emission reduction,
over 500 parking spaces for electric vehicles are put in
place in the project. Due to our outstanding performance in
green buildings for the project, the second phase of the
Huizhou Green Building Council Project has been assessed
as “One-star Green Building Project”.
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In addition, with “Green Community” as the development
goal of Huizhou Hallstatt See, a working team for green
creation was established in April 2018, responsible for
formulating implementation plans for environment work and
assessing the progress of such plans regularly. The team has
taken the lead to perform greening works in the project
community, including introducing various measures to reduce
energy consumption and organizing activities to promote
environmental protection awareness. After being awarded the
“Top 10 Ecological and Cultural Scenic Spots in China” in
2018, Huizhou Hallstatt See won the title of “Green
Community” in Huizhou once again in the assessment activity
organized by the Huizhou Eco-Environment Bureau in 2019.

Hong Kong Yau Tong Project — BEAM Plus
Accreditation

Yau Tong Project is the first residential development project
of Minmetals Land in Hong Kong, located at the junction of
Shung Shun Street and Yan Yue Wai, Yau Tong, Kowloon,
Hong Kong, with a site area of approximately 10,500 square
metres. We have complied with the specific criteria for
water, air and noise pollution control and construction
waste management set out in the “Building Environmental
Assessment Method (BEAM Plus) New Buildings V1.2
Assessment Criteria” throughout the construction process for
the project, and accordingly a provisional “SILVER" rating
under BEAM Plus has been awarded. The green building
measures for You Tong Project include:

Submit monthly environmental monitoring report in
relation to air, noise, construction waste, etc

. Adopt adequate measures at the construction site to
reduce air and noise pollution
Classify and recycle construction wastes
Create green roof to reduce indoor temperature of the
buildings
Install charging facilities for electric vehicles in parking
lots to promote the use of electric vehicles by the
residents
Provide adequate ventilation for indoor facilities such
as parking lots and clubs to ensure indoor air quality
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Green Purchasing

Minmetals Land is well aware of the profound impact on the
environment by property development. Therefore, we consider the life
cycle of the whole project in our property project development, and
actively work with suppliers and other parties to preferably use go
green materials and facilities during the construction process.

Mission Statement

In 2017, Minmetals Land actively participated in the activities of the
first ever voluntary emission reduction program in the real estate
industry founded by SEE Conservation, China Urban Reality Association,
China Real Estate Chamber of Commerce and other renowned real
estate developers, as well as the “China’s Real Estate Industry Green
Supply Chain Action (“Green Supply Chain Action”)".

Through frequent exchanges with other members of the Green Supply
Chain Action, we constantly optimize our purchase management
system and have established an open and transparent purchase
platform. In addition to suppliers’ legal compliance and quality control,
we also take into significant account the environmental protection
performance of suppliers and priority will be given to supplier
members of the Green Supply Chain Action. During the year, we
selected and started business relationship with over 10 companies from
different sectors among the suppliers in the environment compliance
whitelist of the Green Supply Chain Action, which included lift
contractors and appliance manufacturers.

Green Property Management

Minmetals Land strives to improve its environmental performance in
relation to operation, set up annual energy saving plans for projects
across the country and specify targets for each project. The
management team shall present a progress report each month to
examine the effectiveness of such measures and conduct reviews and
enhancement. In Yingkou, we proactively improve the lighting system
of projects by replacing traditional light bulbs with LED lights with high
energy efficiency and installing voice control LED lights in common
corridors. The property management service team in Guangdong has
also incorporated the feature of photo sensor in street lights of projects
and installed a real-time air-conditioning control system to lower
energy consumption.
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In terms of waste management, we proactively perform classified
recycling and formulate regulations like the “Rules for Safe Disposal
Management of Dangerous Wastes’, providing employees, merchants
and residents with guidelines for waste management. We also place
classified recycling bins in project areas and engage qualified
professional organizations to perform collection and disposal services.
Meanwhile, we organize educational and promotional activities in the
communities of each project to ensure the effective implementation of
waste reduction measures.

Despite Minmetals Land has not come across any problems in terms of
finding appropriate water source in operational locations, we try to
reduce water consumption during operation and improve water
equipment in some projects, such as replacing the original pressure
pumps with effective energy-saving pumps and installing automatic
sprinkler systems. In the future, we will continue to seek opportunities
of improving water efficiency during operation and perform the
obligations as a sustainable corporation.

To further improve efficiency of measures, we proactively advance our
internal electronic equipment and information management system,
which facilitates monitoring the implementation and effects of energy-
saving and waste reduction measures.

Green Office

Minmetals Land attaches great importance to environmental matters in
relation to office resource and energy consumption. We implement
green office policies in offices across the country and improve
efficiency of resource consumption during normal operation by
formulating guidelines and measures as well as posting office notices
on energy conservation and reducing resource consumption. We
expect to promote environmental awareness to our office staff and
encourage them to extend the sustainability concept to daily life.

In respect of energy conservation, we require the staff to turn off
unnecessary lighting during lunch hours and turn off computers,
lighting and air conditioners after work as stipulated in the "Office
Guidance”. The air conditioning system in certain offices is also
equipped with timer switches, which automatically switches off during

—E-NEFER

EEERMEEIE  RFAEEETERSE
YHEERENLZEEETERE)FHN
RE - RET AP REFREEZRVEEN
5l HIABARERY D BRI - SWHEHE
BEREXREBMEREE - FE - HFITE
ERRENHBABRRBESEEE  UAHE
RIBLBETE HE Y B M E I ©

BEIBRUMEY RANELHHEBIMNERH
KEGER AR L& - BRMEEL D
BAORDRKE £ HEB FEERKR
1 Dl ER MBKRBE R REFEK
R UARMEBBEKRESS - BIZ - A
HEEELBREDSIEFAAKEENKS
BITERAHERREENEE -

RE—TRSEBRE  RABEGES QA
NHBEFLREREMEERG  HEER
LR ES RN ERIE R RBR

BREBRAE

ABEWE+DERRAZANERER - &
BHERERREE - RMAE2ESHORA
ENEREEHMOBE - BRBIEESI RS
i EMAERIABEE RS ERER
HTEMETR  RRAREENERERME -
HMEFRENRAENRABTHERERRES -
BERETHARERRESERERTEER
f o

FEEIHERTE  HAERAEREIDAE
KETEFHRERBEIFENRA  ET
HREEREEN BBLSR - BORAENZ
REMPECHEFHES  EFRRLEHRE
BERE o I ABMERTARGIET




ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BRI - A E RO

non-office hours. In addition, as required by the “Administrative
Provisions on the Use of Air Conditioner” formulated by subsidiaries of
Minmetals Land, the staff may turn on air conditioners only when room
temperature is above 30 degrees Celsius or below 5 degrees Celsius, in
order to reduce energy consumption in office. Models of higher energy
efficiency are preferred when replacing electrical appliances and
lighting equipment.

We encourage the staff to conduct meetings by means of video or
audio conference and choose public transport over private cars and
taxis, so as to reduce greenhouse gases emitted from transportation.
The “Administrative Regulations on Vehicles” of Minmetals Land targets
at lowering the use of vehicles and requires the staff to apply to a
department officer before using a company vehicle. The vehicle is also
required to go through regular check-up and maintenance in order to
reduce vehicle replacement resulting from wear and tear.

In respect of energy conservation, the Company encourages the staff to
reduce unnecessary use of paper and print on both sides or reuse
paper if possible. For the purpose of promoting a paperless office, we
set up Wechat work groups to facilitate online communication
between the staff in relation to work progress. In the meantime, we
also upload company documents to the OA office system to reduce
printing. In Hong Kong, we continue the cooperation with suppliers to
conduct the recycling scheme of printer cartridge to reduce the
negative environmental impact of disposal of hazardous waste.

Key Environmental Performance Data

Minmetals Land endeavors to reduce the negative environmental
impacts in relation to our operations. Hence, we have established a
comprehensive environmental management system to consistently
monitor the environmental data of each unit of the Company, so as to
review the current environmental policies and measures, as well as to
set more accurate emission reduction targets. The following
environmental data covers Minmetals Land’'s business in real estate
development and property management services.
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Data in 2019

Data in 2019

Indicator Unit —E-hEF
EE B ¢
Air Pollutant Emissions’

REFRMIEHE"

NO, Emissions kg 4538

REALHINO, TR
SO, Emissions kg 1.17
maiyso, Fr
CO Emissions kg 554.05
—&1{kb#RCo TR
PM,  Emissions kg 2.09
FRPM,, TR
PM,, Emissions kg 2.19
EHPM,, Fr
Data in 2019
Indicator Unit —B-NEF
ER By 2
Resource Consumption and Intensity

ERERABREE
Electricity Consumption? kWh 526,793.62
e FRE
Electricity Consumption Intensity kWh/person 717.70
AEExE FRE/A
Water Consumption? tonnes 1,067
FEKE L
Water Consumption Intensity tonnes/person 145
FRETE B/ A
Natural Gas Consumption* m? 60
AARAE K
Natural Gas Consumption Intensity mé/person 0.08
AARREEE R VN
Liquefied Petroleum Gas Consumption® m?* 20
BALRAREE 7K
Liquefied Petroleum Gas Intensity m?/person 0.03
BILRREE W E VN
Office Paper Consumption® tonnes 12.70
MARHERE 148
Office Paper Consumption Intensity tonnes/person 0.02
BRAREERAEEE B/ A

Indicator Unit —E-NF
ER By £¢
Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Intensity
BERBENEREE
Scope 1(Direct Emissions)” CO, equivalent in 160.51

tonnes
HE—(EEHR)’ M_EfiREE
Scope 1 (Direct Emissions) Emission tonnes/person 0.22
Intensity
BE-(ERFNFREE W,/ A
Scope 2 (Indirect Energy Emissions)® CO, equivalent in 31891
tonnes
#E - (RRREEYR)® M_EfiREE
Scope 2 (Indirect Energy Emissions) tonnes/person 043
Emission Intensity
HE = (RRMAEAR SFREE W,/ A
Total Greenhouse Gas Emissions tonnes 479.42
(in CO, Equivalent)’
REREBHERGE (CRLRER) M
Greenhouse Gas Emissions Intensity tonnes/person 0.65
BERBHRBE W,/ A
Data in 2019
Indicator Unit —E-hEF
B2 B ¢
Total Hazardous Waste Produced and Intensity
BEEBRYELLEBREBE"
Total Waste Batteries Produced" kg 17.23
BEEHELEE TR
Intensity of Waste Batteries Produced  kg/person 0.02
BELELERRE F2/A
Total Printer Cartridges Produced pieces 386
BERRELRAS ]
Intensity of Printer Cartridges pieces/person 0.53
Produced
BRELELERE 8/ A
Total Waste Light Tubes Produced pieces 281
BREEELRS &
Intensity of Waste Light Tubes pieces/person 0.38
Produced
BEREELEREE 8/ A
Data in 2019
Indicator Unit —E-hEF
ER By E¢
Total Non-hazardous Wastes Produced and Intensity'
REBRNELABREE"
Waste Paper Produced tonnes 5.07
BRELRS T
Intensity of Waste Paper Produced tonnes/person 0.006
BERELTE B/ A

Indicator

bl

Data in 2019
Unit —E-RF
B iz

Total Non-hazardous Wastes Recycled

BERRNOKRAE

Total Waste Paper Recycled
R B RS

kg 168038
Fr
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Notes:

Air pollutant emission comes from vehicles owned by Minmetals Land in Mainland
China and Hong Kong. The emission data is calculated in accordance with the
“Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange, the
“Technical Guidance for Air Pollutant Emission Inventory for On-road Vehicles (Trial)”
(CERBBDEHRBERBXMIERE (F1T))) issued by the Ministry of
Environmental Protection of China, and the "AP-42 Compilation of Air Pollutant
Emission Factors” issued by United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA).

During the year, we collected electricity usage data of Hong Kong, Beijing and
subsidiaries in South China and Yingkou, excluding certain completed projects with
no employees working in the premises.

During the year, we collected water usage data of Beijing and subsidiaries in Central
China, South China, North China and Yingkou. Related data of the remaining offices
were not collected as water supply of such locations were responsible of the
property management departments.

The natural gas consumption data comes from subsidiaries in Central China and
South China.

The liquefied petroleum gas data comes from subsidiaries in Central China.
The office paper usage data comes from the offices in Hong Kong, Beijing,
subsidiaries in East China, Central China, South China, North China and Yingkou.

Scope 1(Direct Emissions) refers to the greenhouse gas emission resulting from the
exhaust gas of the vehicles that are owned or controlled by Minmetals Land. The
data is calculated in accordance with the "Reporting Guidance on Environmental
KPIs" issued by the Stock Exchange and the “Calculation Method and Reporting
Guidance on Greenhouse Gas Emission by Overland Transportation Enterprises
(Trial) ((PE EXBBHEFRERBHBRE R ERBEIERM (B17))) issued

by the Ministry of Environmental Protection of the People’s Republic of China.

Scope 2(Indirect Energy Emissions) refers to the greenhouse gas emissions resulting
from the electricity generated by power supplier which was purchased and
consumed by Minmetals Land. The data is calculated with the total electricity usage
of all offices and subsidiaries within the ‘“report scope’, while the calculation
method is in accordance with the “2011-2012 Regional Power Grid Average CO2
Emission Factors” ( ZZ——FM_T——FHBEEHEH T S LHREER
F)) issued by the Ministry of Environmental Protection of the People’s Republic of
China

The Total Greenhouse Gas Emissions here include greenhouse gas emissions caused
by vehicles exhaust gas and greenhouse gas emissions caused by indirect energy
emissions. The Company's natural gas consumption is not included herein as it has
no significant impact on greenhouse gas emissions.

The hazardous waste data was collected from Hong Kong, Beijing and subsidiaries
in Central China, South China, North China and Yingkou. All hazardous wastes have
been properly handled by a third-party waste-management company.

The weight of waste batteries is estimated on the assumption that all waste batteries
are AA power.

The non-hazardous waste data was collected from Hong Kong and subsidiaries in
Central China and South China.

RR5RDBBORRR B EN T E A RE
ARANER - RRIREBOHEDE2Z A
R CREBRAEZIERERIES) - PER
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Compilation of Air Pollutant Emission Factors °
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Contribution to Society

Minmetals Land has been cooperating with the local
communities where our subsidiaries operate, so as to
support the community development through the
community activities held by our poverty alleviation working
group and direct donations. In April 2019, we further
established the Minmetals Land Hong Kong Volunteer Team
to do our share in spreading positive energy to the society.

Targeted Poverty Alleviation

Minmetals Land adhered to our mission of repaying the
society and established a poverty alleviation working group
to help vulnerable groups. During the year, we successively
organized the charitable activities “Fundraising for Poverty
Alleviation in Eastern and Western China” in Tianjin and
“Caring Peach Charity Procurement” in Yingkou. Further, in
the spirit of “Giving is Receiving”, our employees actively
participated in the fundraising activities and charity sales,
raised a large amount of money for poverty alleviation
projects in different regions of the country.

Caring Sunshine Walk

On the eve of International Children’s Day, the Yingkou
company of Minmetals Land organized its employees to visit
the orphan village at Lutun, Gaizhou, sending festival gifts
and well-wishes to the village's children. On that da, our
Yingkou colleagues were warmly received by the orphan
village’s person in charge, who arranged a show performed
by the village's children as welcome, while our Yingkou
colleagues gave away new shoes and gifts to the children.
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Giving Warmth at Mid-Autumn - Paying Tribute to Elders with
Mooncakes

Yau Tong Estate is a historic public housing estate in Hong Kong with
a majority of elderly residents. In order to express our care to the
district's elders during Mid-Autumn Festival, the Minmetals Land Hong
Kong Volunteer Team joined hand with the district's Council members
and organized the "Giving Warmth at Mid-Autumn - Paying Tribute to
Elders with Mooncakes” activity on 4 September 2019. On that day,
volunteers cruised around Yau Tong Estate, sending their care and
well-wishes to the elders by giving away rice and mooncakes and
chitchatting with them.
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CONTENT INDEX OF THE ENVIRONMENTAL,
SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORTING GUIDE

OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG

BRBEXRZM(RE #HER
ERREESDARERSI

Aspects KPIs Content Relevant Charters/ Notes
E&E BRERER RE HEES
A. Environmental
BE
Al:Emissions General Disclosure Information on: OUR ENVIRONMENT — Green Project Development
7358 —REE (a) the policies; and BAMNERE — RCEEEE
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant ~ OUR ENVIRONMENT — Green Property Management

A2 Use of Resources

ERER

A3 The Environment and
Natural Resources
RERRAER

ATl

Al2

Al3

Al4

AlS

A16

General Disclosure

—REE

A21

A22

A23

A24

A25

General Disclosure

—REE

A3l

impact on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous and
non-hazardous waste.

AHEBERFRERBHN  FARIBOMS BEREZEENNE
)

B R

BTHBETABEAZENREETROINER -
The types of emissions and respective emissions data.

BB E R AR ER -

Greenhouse gas emissions in total (in tonnes) and, where appropriate,
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
BRERBEHENE UHFE) X (MER) ZE (MAEESEN 85
Rt E) o

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

FELAERENAE CAETE) R (NER) ZE (MASEREN -
BER G E)

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate,
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility)

MEERERZNAE URE) R (ER) BE (A SES B -
BEREE) °

Description of measures to mitigate emissions and results achieved.
RS RS R -

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled,
reduction initiatives and results achieved.

HWARBEERESERNNE  REEEROBBRAEKR

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other
raw materials

ERERER (BEER K REMEME) OBE -

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil)
in total (kWh in'000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

RRERESNERR REEER(NE - f30h) BEE CATETRRE
AE)RBE(MABEREN  BERXEHE) o

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,
per facility).

HFEKBREE MNSEBEN  BARENE) -

Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results achieved.

il ARG A A B R TR R -

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for
purpose, water efficiency initiatives and results achieved.

HICKEE AR E AT A A ME - ARRARKRGE B RAERE
Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if
applicable, with reference to per unit produced
HERAAREMHNES AEHE) R (NER) BEEBMEE -
Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the environment and
natural resources.

REBRTAHRRERARE REREAY BOBR -

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and
natural resources and the actions taken to manage them.
WAEBEHHRERRRAEFNEAFERCHRNEE BT ENT
o

BMERS — RENEER
OUR ENVIRONMENT — Green Office
BMERE — FEeHAE

OUR ENVIRONMENT — Key Environmental Performance Data
RPMRR — RREMEREBER

OUR ENVIRONMENT — Green Property Management
RPMRR — RENEER

OUR ENVIRONMENT — Green Office

BANRR — BERLE

OUR ENVIRONMENT — Green Property Management
BARE — SENEER

OUR ENVIRONMENT — Green Office

BIOBRR — HERLE

OUR ENVIRONMENT — Key Environmental Performance
Data

RPRR — RREMERERER

OUR ENVIRONMENT — Green Property Management
RPIMERR — RENEEE

Not Applicable to the Company
TEARARREB

OUR ENVIRONMENT — Green Project Development
RMHMRE — SEHEAER

OUR ENVIRONMENT — Green Purchasing
RIFIMERE — RERE
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Aspects KPIs Content Relevant Charters/ Notes
Em| HERNER RE HEBEE
B. Social
e
Employment and Labour
Practices
BREREIER
B1 Employment General Disclosure Information on: Our Employees — Recruitment
&% —REE @ the policies; and BMMEL — BEAS
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant ~ Our Employees — Good working environment
impact on the issuer relating to compensation and dismissal, BMOHET — RIFOIERE

recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and
welfare.
BEUFHERE BERES ITESH BRE TSEE Zalt-
REBAREMFBRERL

BE: R
BIHETABEAYENERZERBONER -
B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and geographical Our Employees — Overview of Employees Distribution
region BMHBEI — BINHHE
R ERER  FRARNKCRESNESEL -
B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region.
BRI FERAR LR E S HNEBRALE
B2 Health and Safety General Disclosure Information on: Our Employees — Occupational health and safety
REETR —BEE (a) the policies; and RFNET —BERFETE
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant

impact on the issuer relating to providing a safe working
environment and protecting employees from occupational hazards.

FHRAZ2THREAREREBEBELEEN:
BE: R
BTHBETABEAVENREERRGINER -
B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities
BT EREMIE A ABR L E o
L B2.2 Lost days due to work injury.
. BEISEATIHERY

B23 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, how they are
implemented and monitored.

MR B R R L 2R - A RABRITREREE -

B3 Development and General Disclosure Policies on improving employees' knowledge and skills for discharging duties  Occupational health and safety — Staff Training and
Training —RHE at work. Description of training activities. Development
BRME BHRAREETTFRENDSERRENECR - Ml ED - EMMET — BIMEIRER
B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category (e.g.

senior management, middle management).

RUSIREERSER (NMEREEE FRERRES) HSNTIIEEES

te
B32 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee
category
BURIREEEANES  BEREETRIINTHEEY -
B4 Labour Standards General Disclosure Information on: Our Employees — Recruitment
LT AR —REE () the policies; and BAHET — BEAS
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant

impact on the issuer relating to preventing child and forced labour.
BRADILE TRRHIB T :
BE: R
BTHBETABEAVENRREERRGINER -
B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and
forced labour

R R EG B AR EETRAHET -
B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered.

WAEFRERERERERBRAMRRO LS -
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Aspects KPIs Content Relevant Charters/ Notes

Em| BRENER RE B
Operating Practices
SEEp
B5 Supply Chain General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain Our Operation — Supply Chain Management
Management —REE EEEEENRE R ERBIUR BMMES — HERER
fEgER
B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region
RitREDHHEHEE -
B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers
where the practices are being implemented, how they are implemented and
monitored.

HAEHEREERNEN  AERTEREMOHEREE  ARE
BEOIRBITRERTA -

B6 Product Responsibility General Disclosure Information on: Our Operation — Product and Service Responsibility
EmET —REE (a) the policies; and RFRESE —ERMRBEET
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant

impact on the issuer relating to health and safety, advertising,
labelling and privacy matters relating to products and services
provided and methods of redress

BHMRHERNBBEORELARZS  BE BRRLEEEARER

FEH
BE: R
BFHETABEAYENERZERBONER -
B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual

property rights
i B R R A E R A W AED -

B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.
HWLE B BIEREREYKIER
B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, how they are

implemented and monitored.
M BEERRERLBBE - URABRTRERS % -
B7 Anticorruption General Disclosure Information on: Our Operation — Anticorruption
k&S —RBE @ the policies; and EMMES — RAS
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering.

AHMLEERE  BHER - KEFERAREND
BE: R
BTHBETABEAYENREERROINER -

B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against
the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the outcomes of
the cases
RERBAHBTASABERHYEFANESHFARMENEE RF
R o

B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, how they
are implemented and monitored.

AR HEERBREF  ARBHRTRERS X -

Community

HE

B8 Community Investment General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the Contribution to Society
HERE —REE communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into Bt g

consideration the communities' interests.
BHUHE2ERTBREENEHERENBRALBEDRZELE
FIZAEER

B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, labour
needs, health, culture, sport).

TIEREE (HE  REFE SIFK BFE X 87)-



DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S PROFILE
EH MR ST

DIRECTOR
)

V

Mr. He Jianbo, aged 50, was appointed as an Executive Director and Managing

Director of the Company in December 2007 and is currently the Chairman of
the Board. Mr. He is responsible for the overall strategic direction of the Group
and organising the management for the strategic planning and business
operations of the Company. Mr. He is a Senior International Business Engineer in
the PRC, a Vice President of the China Real Estate Chamber of Commerce and a
member of the Political Consultative Conference of Dongheng District, Beijing,
the PRC. He graduated from the Peking University in 1992 with a Bachelor’s
Degree in Economics and obtained a Master's Degree in International Finance
from Peking University and a Master's Degree in Business Administration from
Saint Mary’s University, Canada. Mr. He joined China Minmetals in 1992 and had
served the positions of director of general administrative office, director of

strategic planning division and a member of the strategic planning committee

Mr. He Jianbo of China Minmetals. Mr. He has extensive experience in real estate development,
Chawm?n corporate management, strategic planning and investment.

AT 810K & &
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Mr. Liu Bo, aged 54, acts as the General Manager of the Company since January 2019 and
was appointed as an Executive Director and the Managing Director of the Company in
March 2020. He holds a Master's Degree in Engineering from the Architecture and
Engineering Faculty of Xi'an University of Architecture and Technology and is a qualified
professorate senior engineer in the PRC. He is also a vice president of the construction
project management committee and the foundation and underground space construction
committee of the China Construction Industry Association. Mr. Liu joined China Metallurgical
Group Corporation (“MCC Group”) in 1988 and was the chief economist of MCC Group and
Metallurgical Corporation of China Ltd. He has served senior management positions in
various subsidiaries for constructional design, and development and promotional of

construction and technology works. He has extensive experience in land development and Mr. Liu Bo
city complex's EPC general contracting construction (including the EPC contracting Managing Director
construction of the Singapore Universal Studio project). Mr. Liu has participated in the %'J}EZ?EE
development and research works in various technological research and has obtained various EEHRT

patents and technological awards in the PRC. He was granted a special government
allowances by the State Council in 2011 in recognition of his distinguished contribution to
the development of constructional technology in the PRC.
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Mr. Chen Xingwu, aged 50, was appointed as a Deputy General Manager of the Company
in June 2018 and an Executive Director and a Deputy Managing Director of the Company in
November 2018. Mr. Chen holds a Bachelor's Degree in Economics from the University of
International Business and Economics and is a qualified Accountant and an International
Business Engineer in the PRC. Mr. Chen joined China Minmetals in 1991 and has been
serving various departments and subsidiaries of China Minmetals group for international
trading, financing of international merger and acquisition and corporate management
businesses. Mr. Chen has extensive experience in strategic financing and investment, and
corporate financial management.

Mr. Chen Xingwu

RERLE BERTE KRB \FEAABEEARATZGEE R=F— )\ Deputy Managing Director
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V

Mr. Yang Shangping, aged 46, was appointed as an Executive Director and a Deputy
Managing Director of the Company in June 2017. He holds a Bachelor's Degree in Civil
@ Structural Engineering from Tongji University and a Master's Degree in Business
-t Administration from Fudan University. Mr. Yang joined the Company as the general
manager of a real estate development company of the Company in Nanjing in 2007.
..w.' Mr. Yang is responsible for the strategic investment, sales and marketing and urban
development divisions of the Company. He had participated in project works for China
Overseas Holdings Ltd. and Shanghai Vanke Co., Ltd. for over 10 years. Mr. Yang has
extensive experience in project management as well as sales and marketing and
costing management.
Mr. Yang Shangping

ooy Managing Director BUTRE  RENTAE R-E—LEAARSEARANRTESRES
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Ms. He Xiaoli, aged 52, was appointed as an Executive Director of the Company in
February 2002 and a Deputy Managing Director of the Company in December 2009.
She was re-designated as a Non-executive Director of the Company in November 2018.
Ms. He holds a Bachelor's Degree in Economics (major in Accounting) from North
China University of Technology and a Master's Degree in Business Administration from
the University of South Australia. She is a qualified PRC Senior Accountant and a
member of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Prior to joining the
Company, Ms. He was the head of business division and the deputy minister of
accounting information division of the finance department of the previous China
National Nonferrous Metals Industry Corporation. She is concurrently a director of
China Minmetals H.K. (Holdings) Limited. Ms. He has extensive experience in corporate

A

Ms. He Xiaoli financing and investment, capital market operations and financial management of
Non-executive Director enterprises.
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Mr. Selwyn Mar, aged 84, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director
of the Company in November 2002. Mr. Mar graduated from the London School of
Economics, University of London. He is a Chartered Accountant, a director of Nexia
Charles Mar Fan Limited and the Managing Director of Marfan & Associates Limited. Mr.
Mar was the President of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants in
1991, a member of the Appeals Panel of Securities & Futures Commission and a
member of the Board of Governors of Chinese International School. Mr. Mar has been
actively involved in commercial and industrial undertakings in Hong Kong and the PRC
in the past 42 years. Presently, he sits on the board of three other Hong Kong listed
companies. Mr. Mar is an Honorary Fellow of the Lingnan University.

Mr. Selwyn Mar

Independent Non-executive Director
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Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy, aged 72, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company in September 2015. Mr. Lam graduated from the University of
Hong Kong. He also holds a Master's Degree in Science of Management from the
Stanford Graduate School of Business. He joined the Hong Kong Government as
Administrative Officer in 1970 and had worked in areas like housing, environmental
protection, land administration, procurement, financial services, infrastructural
development and mega projects. He had served as the CEO of the Airport Authority
and the Managing Director of the Urban Renewal Authority. Currently, he is a member
of the Lantau Development Advisory Committee and the Country and Marine Parks
Board, a director of Life Education Activity Programme and a court member and an
adjunct professor of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Lam, a Justice of Peace

Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy

Independent Non-executive Director
since 2004, was awarded the Golden Bauhinia Star by the HKSAR Government in 2008. KR B 4
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Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny, aged 67, was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company in April 2018. Ms. Law graduated from the University
of Hong Kong with an Honours Degree in Science. She received a Master Degree in
Public Administration from Harvard University and was named a Littauer Fellow. She also
has a Master Degree in Education from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. Prior to her
retirement from the civil service in 2007, Ms. Law was the Commissioner of the Hong
Kong Independent Commission Against Corruption. During her 30 years in the civil
service, Ms. Law has worked in many fields, including medical and health, economic
services, housing, land and planning, home affairs, social welfare, civil service, transport
and education. Ms. Law is currently a member of the Executive Council of the
Government of the HKSAR and a Special Advisor to the China-US Exchange Foundation.
She is now an independent non-executive director of three other Hong Kong listed

Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny

Independent Non-executive Director .
companies and an external director of China Resources (Holdings) Co., Ltd. Ms. Law was
EEWELL P (Holdings)

BUEWITES

awarded the Gold Bauhinia Star and the Grand Bauhinia Medal in 2003 and 2017
respectively by the Government of HKSAR in recognition of her distinguished service to
the community. She is also a Justice of Peace since 2008.
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Mr. Ning Heqiu, aged 55, was appointed as a Deputy General Manager of the
Company in March 2020. He holds a Master's Degree in Engineering from Wuhan
University and is a qualified professorate senior engineer in the PRC. Mr. Ning has been
serving in the construction sector for over 30 years since he joined 23rd Metallurgical
of China Minmetals in 1986. He is now the President of 23rd Metallurgical, a vice
president of Hunan Construction Industry Association and a deputy director of China
National Association for Non-ferrous Metals Industries Construction. He has also gained
recognitions for his professional achievement in Hunan Province. Mr. Ning has
extensive experience in construction business and corporate management.

Mr. Ning Heqiu ENREE BEATAR RZZ_TF=-ABZERALRIRIBLIE - T
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Mr. Dai Pengyu, aged 37, was appointed as a Deputy General Manager of the
Company in March 2020. He holds a Bachelor's Degree from Xi'an University of
Architecture and Technology, major in management of real estate business. Mr. Dai
joined the Company in 2007 and has been serving senior management positions in
various real estate development subsidiaries of the Company in central, eastern and
southern China. He is currently the general manager in charge of the Company’s
regional company in southern China. Mr. Dai has extensive experience in marketing
and management of real estate development projects.
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Mr. Law Yiu Wing, Patrick, aged 56, joined the Company in September 2006. Mr. Law
is now the Company’s Chief Operating Officer, Hong Kong. Mr. Law is responsible for
the management of the investment properties in Hong Kong and is the general
manager of Condo Hong Kong (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company engaged
in specialised construction business in Hong Kong) and Massive Leader (a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company engaged in the real estate development project in
Yau Tong, Hong Kong). Mr. Law holds a Bachelor of Building (Hons.) Degree from the
University of New South Wales, Australia and a Master of Business Administration
Degree from the Australian Graduate School of Management. He is a member of the
Australian Institute of Building, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and CPA Australia. Mr. Law has extensive experience in property development,

strategic planning, financial and general management gained from listed companies. Mr. Law Yiu Wing, Patrick

Chief Operating Officer, Hong Kong
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Mr. Tang Ying Kit, Edward, aged 46, joined the Company as the Financial Controller
in April 2013. He is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the Chartered Institute of Management Accountants, and a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Tang holds a
Bachelor’'s Degree in Business Administration in Finance (Honours) from the Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Tang worked
in listed company and state-owned enterprise in Hong Kong. Mr. Tang has extensive
experience in corporate finance, financial and general management.

Mr. Tang Ying Kit, Edward
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The Board would like to submit the Annual Report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL
ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are real estate development,
specialised construction, property investment and securities investment.
Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are set out in Note
40 to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group's performance for the year by operating and
geographical segments is set out in Note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss on page 144.

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK8 cents
(2018: HK8 cents) per Share payable in cash to Shareholders whose
names appearing on the register of members of the Company on
Wednesday, 10 June 2020.

Subject to Shareholders' approval at the AGM, the dividend cheques
will be distributed to Shareholders on or about Monday, 6 July 2020.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a Dividend Policy which sets out the guideline
for the distribution of dividends to Shareholders by way of cash and/or
Shares and aims to achieve sustainability and stability. The
recommendation of the payment of any dividend is subject to the
absolute discretion of the Board, and any declaration of final dividend
will be subject to the approval of the Shareholders at the AGM.

In proposing any dividend payout, the Board shall take into account,

inter alia, the Company'’s financial performance, liquidity position, and
its business requirements and operational environment.
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Any distribution of dividend is also subject to any restrictions under the
Companies Act of Bermuda, the Memorandum of Association and Bye-
laws of the Company and any applicable rules and regulations.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year and a discussion
on the Group's corporate strategy, future business development,
possible risks and uncertainties that the Group may be facing are
provided in the “Chairman’s Statement” as well as the “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 10 to 17 and pages 20 to 48 of this
Annual Report respectively.

The financial risk factors and management of the Group are set out in
Note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.

Events after the reporting period for the financial year ended 31
December 2019 are set out in Note 42 to the consolidated financial
statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using financial
key performance indicators is provided in the “Financial Highlights” on
page 5 of this Annual Report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

To achieve sustainability, the Group strives to maintain a balance
between its real estate development business and the ecological
environment. The Group treasures green design and eco-friendly
construction that involves the use of materials and processes that are
resource-efficient and environmentally responsible throughout the life
cycle of a building. Details of the Group’s performance in environment
preservation are set out in the “Environmental, Social and Governance
Report” in this Annual Report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group acknowledges the importance of compliance with
regulatory requirements. During the year under review, the Group had
met the requirements under the Companies Act of Bermuda,
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Listing
Rules, the SFO (Cap. 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and other relevant
rules and regulations of places which it has operations.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

The Group's success depends on the support of key stakeholders, such
as employees, customers and Shareholders.

Employees

Employees are important and valuable assets of the Group. The Group
rewards and recognises the contribution of staff by offering
competitive remuneration package and standardised performance
appraisal system that provides incentives. The Group has thorough
career development program to promote career development and
progression by appropriate training and providing opportunities for
career advancement.

Customers

The Group's principal customers are buyers of its real estate
development projects. The Group has established property
management subsidiaries to ensure professional and caring property
management services to buyers. The Group is committed to provide
“37°C Living” as value-added services to its customers.

Shareholders

The Group strives to enhance corporate value to Shareholders. The
Group is poised to foster business development for achieving the
sustainability of earnings growth and rewarding Shareholders by stable
dividend payouts taking into account capital adequacy levels, liquidity
positions and business expansion needs of the Group.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during the
year are set out in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the Company’s share capital are set out in Note 26 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Group and of the Company during the
year are set out in Note 27 and Note 41 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.
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PROPERTIES

Particulars of the major properties held for investment and properties
under development of the Group are set out on pages 25 to 44.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2019,
calculated in accordance with the Companies Act of Bermuda,
amounted to HK$854,733,000 (2018: HKS$1,114,902,000).

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 7.

SHARE OPTION
2013 Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted the 2013 Share Option Scheme on 7 June 2013
to recognise and acknowledge eligible persons for their contribution or
potential contribution to the Group.

No share options have yet been granted by the Company pursuant to
the 2013 Share Option Scheme.

The principal terms of the 2013 Share Option Scheme are set out as
follows:

(1) Participants

Any directors or any employees of any company of the Group
and any advisers of, consultants of, contractors to any company
of the Group or any person who has any relationship (whether
business or otherwise) with any company of the Group or any
person whom the Directors consider, in their sole discretion, has
contributed or will contribute or can contribute to the Group.

(2) Total number of Shares available for issue

The total number of Shares available for issue under the 2013
Share Option Scheme is 333,785,270, representing approximately
9.97% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date
of this Annual Report.
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(3)

4

(5)

(6)

(7)

Maximum entitlement of each participant

No share options under the 2013 Share Option Scheme may be
granted to any eligible person, which, if exercised in full, would
result in the total number of Shares issued and to be issued
upon the exercise of the share options already granted or to be
granted to such eligible person under the 2013 Share Option
Scheme (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding share
options) in the 12-month period up to and including the date of
such new grant exceeding 1% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of such new grant. Any grant of further
share options above this limit shall be subject to the
requirements under the Listing Rules.

The period within which the Shares must be taken up under
a share option

The Directors may in their absolute discretion determine the
period during which a share option may be exercised and notify
each grantee, save that such period shall not be later than 10
years from the date on which the Directors make an offer of the
share option subject to the provisions for early termination as
stipulated in the 2013 Share Option Scheme.

Time of acceptance and the amount payable on acceptance
of the share option

The offer of a share option made in accordance with the 2013
Share Option Scheme must be accepted within 28 business days
from the date on which the offer is made and the amount
payable on acceptance of the share option is HK$10.

The basis of determining the subscription price

The subscription price shall be determined by the Board at the
time of grant of the relevant share option and shall not be less
than the highest of (i) the closing price per Share as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of
the relevant share option; (i) the amount equivalent to the
average closing price per Share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant of the relevant share option; or (iii)
the nominal value of a Share.

The remaining life

The 2013 Share Option Scheme is valid until 6 June 2023.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this Annual Report
are:

Executive Directors

Mr. He Jianbo

Mr. Liu Bo (appointed on 26 March 2020)
Mr. Chen Xingwu

Mr. Yang Shangping

Mr. Liu Zeping (resigned on 26 March 2020)

Non-executive Directors

Ms. He Xiaoli
Mr. Li Fuli (resigned on 15 January 2019)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Selwyn Mar
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny

No Director is subject to retirement and re-election at the AGM in
accordance with the Bye-laws.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the directors of the Company has an unexpired service
contract which is not determinable by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes in
information of Directors as at the date of this report are as follows:

1. Mr. He Jianbo was re-designated from the positions of Deputy
Chairman of the Board and Managing Director to the Chairman
of the Board with effect from 15 January 2019

2. Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny resigned as an independent non-
executive director of DTXS Silk Road Investment Holdings
Company Limited (a company listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange) with effect from 1 May 2019.

3. Changes in Director's emoluments during the year are set out in
Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

The interests of Directors in competing businesses that are required to
be disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules as informed by
the relevant Directors are as follows:

Mr. He Jianbo, being the Chairman of the Board and an Executive
Director of the Company, is also a director of Minmetals Land Holdings,
Yingkou Industrial Park and Minmetals Real Estate.

Mr. Chen Xingwu, being an Executive Director and a Deputy Managing
Director of the Company, is also a director of Minmetals Land Holdings
and Minmetals Real Estate.

Mr. Yang Shangping, being an Executive Director and a Deputy
Managing Director of the Company, is also a director of Yingkou
Industrial Park.

Minmetals Land Holdings, Yingkou Industrial Park and Minmetals Real
Estate are companies established under the laws of the PRC. Minmetals
Land Holdings is engaged in real estate development, construction
contracting and sub-contracting, property management, surveying and
designing of construction projects, project investment, provision of
technical services, investment consultancy and corporate management
consultancy. Yingkou Industrial Park is engaged in the development of
Minmetals (Yingkou) Industrial Park. Minmetals Real Estate is engaged in
real estate development and operation, construction, property
management, real estate agency, real estate advertising and exhibition
and other real estate related business.

Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny, being an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company, is also a director of China Resources
(Holdings) Co., Ltd, the holding company of China Resources Land
Limited which engages in real estate development operation in the
PRC.

In case the Board decides that there are issues of conflict between the
Group and the aforementioned companies, conflicting Directors will
abstain from voting on the relevant resolutions.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this Annual Report, none of
the Directors or their respective associates (as if each of them were
treated as a controlling shareholder under Rule 8.10 of the Listing
Rules) had any competing interests in a business which competes or is
likely to compete with the business of the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITION IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND

DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2019, the interests and short position of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the Shares and
underlying Shares of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of the SFO), which had been notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests or short position which they are
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or
pursuant to the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing

EERTETHRAEBRERS
RO RESER 2 ERE
58728 )

R-ZBE-NAFE+-_A=+—H0 REAXARA
BEFLMERIE=ZL T _GZRER

BEZERMREE EERARRZEBITR
ANBRAR B sk E R EE A B (ZE 5 & H
EROZER) 2RO REBRGFHEEIRR
BENMPERIETRHBELRENSE (B
%&V&%ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁhﬂMX%EiWﬁ
EHEE 2 #Em R B ) SR IE T 45 BURT &%+

Rules, or as recorded in the register kept by the Company pursuant to  FT 5| & 2 2 ESFRIMm A& A Q7 M BT 2
section 352 of the SFO, were as follows: HEMABEBRIT
Long Position in Shares KRB ZiEFR
Approximate
percentage of
Number of total issued Shares
Name of Director Nature of interest Shares held EERITRG
BEENS EENE FEEZRAEE HHIBABD
Mr. He Jianbo Personal 2,040,000 0.06%
A& e £ & A
Mr. Yang Shangping Personal 1,846,667 0.06%
158 & A
Ms. He Xiaoli Personal 783,333 0.02%
A/ NBEZ L & A
Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or the chief executive of B F X EBEEN R -_ZE—LFE+ = A

the Company or any of their associates (as defined in the Listing Rules)
had any personal, family, corporate or other interests or short position
in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of the SFO) as at 31
December 2019.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or the chief executive of
the Company nor their spouses or children under 18 years of age, was
granted or had exercised any right to subscribe for any equity or debt
securities of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of the SFO) during the year ended 31 December 2019.

|
HEMERRAT —T— LFFH

=t—B BEEFHALARFAZIEIBTERA
BRWEZTACHMEA(ERRLHARIR
AR ek EAT I EEOE B (27 75 MR 5D
ZEE) 2B HEROHESFPHER M
BA KB ZESEMERIKR

BEXEEEN RBEE-_Z-NF+Z
A=T—HLEE BEBEESFHARFZE
BITBABRBEFEZEBIRB T /N\RZLT
LERSITETARMNARB AR HEL
MABEE (RESRPEGRIIZESE) 2E
o] B ) s B 75 &

113



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ol

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, OPTIONS,
WARRANTS OR SIMILAR RIGHTS

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Share Option” and “Directors’
and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures” above, the Company had no other outstanding
options, convertible securities, warrants or other similar rights as at 31
December 2019.

Save as disclosed above, there was no repurchase or exercise of
options and convertible securities during the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-Laws or the
laws of Bermuda.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2019, according to the register of interests kept by
the Company under section 336 of the SFO, the following entities had
interests in the Shares and underlying Shares which fall to be disclosed
to the Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:

Long Position in Shares

AR B
= E U R

BREX[EREIRIEERFEZTHRABRK

- RN REFER 2 S KRBT

BEN RZZE-AFTA=+—R0 AR

Tﬁﬂﬁcﬂﬁﬂrﬁﬂiﬁ@izﬁﬁﬂx% - AJ AR
N umHX*gu EXE{'\Q*E{H*g%IJ

B EXPIREEI  RRARNRAFEEHER
(0] 5 77 {68 1 1A Fis AL HE 2l AT #R AR RE 75 -

ﬁﬁ %Ej RN

ARRHEEMHBERARRAFERERE -
HEXBERARF 2@ EHES -

BRAEEE

ARRERIBRELVDEELIEERZ
MUE °

FERR

—E-NF+-A=+t—8 REARXF
RESMAEGRIFE=ZA =T NGZIRER
EEmELMLE  TIHEBRARBK
MPEERBEZLMEGRME+AFE =
RE=ZDEANANRRREZERIAR

R ZFR

RREE

Approximate
percentage of total
issued Shares

Interest in Shares HEBITRAG
Name of Shareholder BREE RO HPzERE HEZBANB DL
China Minmetals PR N 2,071,095,506 61.88%
CMCL AERD 2,071,095,506 61.88%
CMNH hiER BER 2,071,095,506 61.88%
CMN hEEERH 2,071,095,506 61.88%
Album Enterprises AP 2,071,095,506 61.88%
Minmetals HK BEBERE 2,071,095,506 61.88%
June Glory June Glory 2,071,095,506 61.88%
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Note:  June Glory is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Minmetals HK, which in turn is owned as

to approximately 39.04%, 38.95% and 22.01% by CMCL, Album Enterprises and Top
Create Resources Limited respectively. Alboum Enterprises and Top Create Resources
Limited are wholly owned by CMN, which in turn is owned as to approximately
99.999% and 0.001% by CMNH and CMCL respectively. CMCL is owned as to
approximately 88.4% by China Minmetals. Accordingly, each of China Minmetals,
CMCL, CMNH, CMN, Album Enterprises and Minmetals HK was deemed as
interested in the 2,071,095,506 Shares held by June Glory.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

The following contract of significance was entered into or subsisted
between the Company or its subsidiaries and the Company's
controlling shareholder or its subsidiaries during the year ended 31
December 2019:

1. Minmetals Land Beijing and Minmetals Zhidi (both are wholly-
owned subsidiaries of the Company), and Minmetals & Jingyi
Futures Co., Ltd. (“Minmetals Futures”, formerly known as
“Minmetals Futures Co., Limited”, a non-wholly owned subsidiary
of China Minmetals) entered into a construction project
management agreement on 24 February 2014 for the provision
of construction project management services for the project
involving the construction of a commercial complex and certain
ancillary facilities for the use by Minmetals Futures as its
southern headquarter in the PRC. A supplemental construction
project management agreement was entered into by the said
parties on 28 November 2018 whereby Minmetals Futures agreed
to pay an additional service fee to Minmetals Land Beijing and
Minmetals Zhidi. Details of the transaction have been published
in the Company’s announcements dated 24 February 2014 and
28 November 2018.

Save as disclosed above, no contract of significance were entered into
or subsisted between the Company or its subsidiaries and the
Company’s controlling shareholder or its subsidiaries during the year
ended 31 December 2019.

No contract of significance to which the Company, any of its holding
companies, or any of their subsidiaries was a party, in which a Director
had a material interest, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract for management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of any business of the Company were entered into or
existed during the year.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the vyear, the percentage of purchases attributable to the
Group's five largest suppliers combined was approximately 22% (2018:
42%) of the total purchases of the Group. Purchases from the largest
supplier accounted for approximately 9% (2018: 17%) of the Group's
total purchases. None of the Directors, their close associates (as defined
in the Listing Rules) and any Shareholders (which to the best
knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) had any interest in the Group's five largest
suppliers during the year.

During the year, the percentage of the revenue from sales of goods or
rendering of services attributable to the Group's five largest customers
combined was less than 30% (2018: less than 30%) of the total revenue
of the Group.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The continuing connected transactions undertaken by the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2019 are as follows:

1. A financial services framework agreement dated 20 April 2018 (the
2018 Financial Services Agreement”) was entered into between
the Company and Minmetals Finance (a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of China Minmetals) whereby Minmetals Finance
would provide current and fixed deposit services, loan services
and settlement services to the Company and its subsidiaries in
Mainland China for a term of three years from 20 April 2018 to
19 April 2021. Pursuant to the 2018 Financial Services
Agreement, the annual cap on the maximum daily outstanding
balance of deposits (including accrued interests) to be placed by
the Company and its subsidiaries in Mainland China for each of
the three years from 20 April 2018 to 19 April 2021 was
RMB2,000,000,000. The deposit services to be provided by
Minmetals Finance to the Company and its subsidiaries in
Mainland China and the aforesaid annual cap were considered
and approved by the independent Shareholders at the special
general meeting of the Company held on 31 May 2018.
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A supplemental agreement was entered into between the
Company and Minmetals Finance on 28 March 2019 (the
“Supplemental Financial Services Agreement”) pursuant to which
(i) the annual cap for deposit transactions contemplated under
the 2018 Financial Services Agreement was revised to
RMB3,000,000,000 from 10 May 2019 (being the date on which
the revision of annual caps was approved by the independent
Shareholders) to 19 April 2021, and (i) upon request by the
Company, Minmetals Finance shall grant unsecured loan for an
amount of up to RMB3,000,000,000 to the Company on
comparable market terms.

The revised annual cap for the deposit services to be provided
by Minmetals Finance to the Company and its subsidiaries in
Mainland China was considered and approved by the
independent Shareholders at the special general meeting of the
Company held on 10 May 2019.

The maximum daily outstanding balance of deposits (including
accrued interests) placed by the Company and its subsidiaries in
Mainland China with Minmetals Finance for the period from 1
January 2019 to 9 May 2019 and from 10 May 2019 to 31
December 2019 under the 2018 Financial Services Agreement
and Supplemental Financial Services Agreement were
RMB1,500,944,536 and RMB2,988,204,017 respectively (for the
period from 1 January 2018 to 19 April 2018: RMB1,796,000,112;
for the period from 20 April 2018 to 31 December 2018:
RMB1,259,365,749).

A property management service contract dated 25 January 2019
was entered into between Jiahe Risheng (a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company) and Minmetals Properties Service
Hunan (@ non-wholly owned subsidiary of China Minmetals)
whereby Minmetals Properties Service Hunan would provide the
following property management services to LOHAS International
Community for a term of three years from 1 January 2019 to 31
December 2021 (“Service Contract I"):

(i) property management services for unsold residential units;
(i) preparation works for residential units to be delivered to

buyers and follow up on repairment works of delivered
residential units during rectification period; and
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(iiiy  provide services to and/or arrange for relationship activities
for property owners.

The annual cap for the service fees payable by Jiahe Risheng to
Minmetals Properties Service Hunan in respect of Service
Contract | for the three years ending 31 December 2021 were
RMB2,400,000, RMB872,000 and RMB384,000 respectively. As all
the applicable percentage ratios in respect of the service fees
payable by Jiahe Risheng under Service Contract | were less than
5%, Service Contract | was subject to annual review, reporting
and announcement requirements, but exempted from circular,
independent financial advice and independent Shareholders’
approval requirements under the Listing Rules.

The aggregate sum of service fee payable by Jiahe Risheng to
Minmetals Properties Service Hunan for the year ended 31
December 2019 was RMB2,191,906 (2018: RMB141,535).

A property management service contract dated 25 January 2019
was entered into between Zhongrun Chengzhen (a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company) and Minmetals Properties
Service Hunan whereby Minmetals Properties Service Hunan
would provide the following property management services to
Scotland Town for a term of three years from 1 January 2019 to
31 December 2021 (“Service Contract II"):

(i) property management services for unsold residential units;
and

(i) follow up on repairment works of delivered residential units
during rectification period.

The annual cap for the service fees payable by Zhongrun
Chengzhen to Minmetals Properties Service Hunan in respect of
Service Contract Il for the three years ending 31 December 2021
were RMB1,020,000, RMB370,000 and RMB225,000 respectively. As
all the applicable percentage ratios in respect of the service fees
payable by Zhongrun Chengzhen under Service Contract Il were
less than 5%, Service Contract Il was subject to annual review,
reporting and announcement requirements, but exempted from
circular, independent financial advice and independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules.
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The aggregate sum of service fee payable by Zhongrun
Chengzhen to Minmetals Properties Service Hunan for the year
ended 31 December 2019 was RMB124,178 (2018: RMB810,432).

A property management service contract dated 25 January 2019
was entered into between Hunan Kuangdai (a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company) and Minmetals Properties Service
Hunan whereby Minmetals Properties Service Hunan would
provide the following property management services to Qin
Royale for a term of three years from 1 January 2019 to 31
December 2021 (“Service Contract IlI"):

(i) property management services for unsold residential units,
sales office, show flats and commercial units;

(i) preparation works for residential units to be delivered to
buyers; and

(i) provide services to and/or arrange for relationship activities
for property owners.

The annual cap for the service fees payable by Hunan Kuangdai
to Minmetals Properties Service Hunan in respect of Service
Contract lll for the three years ending 31 December 2021 were
RMB11,287,267, RMB9,067,485 and RMB8,921,645 respectively. As
all the applicable percentage ratios in respect of the service fees
payable by Hunan Kuangdai under Service Contract Ill were less
than 5%, Service Contract Il was subject to annual review,
reporting and announcement requirements, but exempted from
circular, independent financial advice and independent
Shareholders’” approval requirements under the Listing Rules.

The aggregate sum of service fee payable by Hunan Kuangdai to
Minmetals Properties Service Hunan for the year ended 31
December 2019 was RMB2,662,867 (2018: N/A).

|
HEMERRAT —T— LFFH

REZEZZE—NF+_A=1T—HILHF
£ PIEMEREN T RBEYEREHE
ZREBREEB124178TARE (=
T— )\ : 810432 TTARE) o

RZZ—hAhE—AZ+HB  HEER
(BARRBzE2ENBAR) BAEWME
FREBELMEEERBER B
M ARYERBHAEREM AR D
Ee WA THMEEERE A%
—NF—A—BARE_ZTE-_—F+=A8
=t+—HALt AEH=FUR%EER
=D:

) AEEZ=ERF #HEHL KR
FEREERE 2 EEERS

iy FEXNABMZERRSE: X

(i)  HERIIRAEERT -

BREBREAR=Z  HEBRAREE_-Z
T—F+ - A=+ —HIE=ZEAFEASY
NF¥FRBEVERSHEZREERTE
BRI AE11,287,267TC AR -
9,067,4857C A R # $%8,921,6457C A R
ko AN RIERBEE R =E N HmER
ERZREEHEFEZERE D LERY
LR5%  BRIFAR —BEBT ETARRE
BEEEM HREAEZHTE  BE
NEETREREK  BYMEE R LB
SRR ER AL Z AR E o

REBEE-Z—hAhE+_A=+—HItF
BB RES T RBRYERSHE
ZRIEE AR R2662867 TTARE (—
T—N\F:TEA) -

119



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ol

A property management service contract dated 25 January 2019
was entered into between Minmetals Land Wuhan (@ wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company) and Minmetals Properties
Service Hunan whereby Minmetals Properties Service Hunan
would provide the following property management services to
Enchanté Crest for a term of three years from 1 January 2019 to
31 December 2021 (“Service Contract IV"):

(i) property management services for unsold residential units,
sales office and show flats;

(i) preparation works for residential units to be delivered to
buyers; and

(i) provide services to and/or arrange for relationship activities
for property owners.

The annual cap for the service fees payable by Minmetals Land
Wuhan to Minmetals Properties Service Hunan in respect of
Service Contract IV for the three years ending 31 December 2021
were RMB3,790,000, RMB4,559,030 and RMB2,557,246 respectively.
As all the applicable percentage ratios in respect of the service
fees payable by Minmetals Land Wuhan under Service Contract IV
were less than 5%, Service Contract IV was subject to annual
review, reporting and announcement requirements, but
exempted from circular, independent financial advice and
independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under the
Listing Rules.

The aggregate sum of service fee payable by Minmetals Land
Wuhan to Minmetals Properties Service Hunan for the year
ended 31 December 2019 was RMB3,780,041 (2018: N/A).

A property management service contract dated 25 January 2019
was entered into between Wuhan Runling (a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company) and Minmetals Properties Service
Hunan whereby Minmetals Properties Service Hunan would
provide the following property management services to Wuhan
Scenery Cove for a term of three years from 1 January 2019 to
31 December 2021 (“Service Contract V"):

(i) property management services for unsold residential units,
sales office and show flats;
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(i) preparation works for residential units to be delivered to
buyers; and

(i) provide services to and/or arrange for relationship activities
for property owners.

The annual cap for the service fees payable by Wuhan Runling to
Minmetals Properties Service Hunan in respect of Service
Contract V for the three years ending 31 December 2021 were
RMB3,060,000, RMB3,252,930 and RMBS5,719,929 respectively. As all
the applicable percentage ratios in respect of the service fees
payable by Wuhan Runling under Service Contract V were less
than 5%, Service Contract V was subject to annual review,
reporting and announcement requirements, but exempted from
circular, independent financial advice and independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules.

The aggregate sum of service fee payable by Wuhan Runling to
Minmetals Properties Service Hunan for the year ended 31
December 2019 was RMB2,920,000 (2018: N/A).

A loan framework agreement dated 30 March 2015 was entered
into between Beijing Wanhu (@ 51%-owned subsidiary of the
Company), MLIML (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company)
and Beijing Vanke (a company holding 49% equity interest in
Beijing Wanhu) (“Wanhu Framework Agreement”) whereby
Beijing Wanhu may from time to time provide loans by way of
entrustment loans to MLIML (or its designated wholly-owned
subsidiary in Mainland China) and Beijing Vanke based on the
same terms and conditions and in proportion to their respective
shareholding in Beijing Wanhu. The term of Wanhu Framework
Agreement is three years from 1 May 2015 to 30 April 2018.

A supplemental agreement to the Wanhu Framework Agreement
dated 4 August 2015 was entered into between Beijing Wanhu,
MLIML and Beijing Vanke whereby Beijing Wanhu would charge
interest on loans granted to MLIML (or its designated wholly-
owned subsidiary in Mainland China) and Beijing Vanke for the
period from 4 August 2015 to 30 April 2018 with reference to
the benchmark interest rate to be announced by the People’s
Bank of China from time to time.
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A second supplemental agreement to the Wanhu Framework
Agreement dated 6 December 2016 was entered into between
Beijing Wanhu, MLIML and Beijing Vanke whereby (i) the term of
the Wanhu Framework Agreement was extended to 31
December 2019, and (ii) the cap on the total amount of loans to
be provided by Beijing Wanhu by way of entrustment loans to
MLIML (or its designated wholly-owned subsidiary in Mainland
China) and Beijing Vanke, and the cap amount of interest
receivable by Beijing Wanhu for the period from 1 January 2017
to 31 December 2019 was increased.

The annual caps of the loans to be provided by Beijing Wanhu
by way of entrustment loans to MLIML (or its designated wholly-
owned subsidiary in Mainland China) and Beijing Vanke for the
period from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2019 under the
Wanhu Framework Agreement as supplemented were
RMB3,519,000,000 and RMB3,381,000,000 respectively. Based on
the maximum amount of loan that may be granted by Beijing
Wanhu under the Wanhu Framework Agreement as
supplemented, the annual caps of the interest receivable by
Beijing Wanhu from each of MLIML (or its designated wholly-
owned subsidiary in Mainland China) and Beijing Vanke for each
of the three years ended 31 December 2019 were
RMB167,000,000 and RMB161,000,000 respectively.

Beijing Vanke is a substantial shareholder of Beijing Wanhu and is
therefore a connected person at the subsidiary level of the
Company. As the Independent Non-executive Directors have
confirmed that the terms of the Wanhu Framework Agreement as
supplemented are fair and reasonable, on normal commercial
terms and in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders
as a whole, the Wanhu Framework Agreement as supplemented
is subject to annual review, reporting and announcement
requirements, but exempt from circular, independent financial
advice and independent Shareholders’ approval requirements
pursuant to Rule 14A.101 of the Listing Rules.

The maximum amount of entrustment loans provided by Beijing
Wanhu to Beijing Vanke and the aggregate amount of interest
received by Beijing Wanhu from Beijing Vanke for the year
ended 31 December 2019 were RMB2,585,680,000 (2018:
RMB3,222,680,000) and RMB116,431,818 (2018: RMB129,477,062)
respectively.
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A loan framework agreement dated 6 December 2016 was
entered into between Kuangshi Jiye (a 50%-owned subsidiary of
the Company), Hanten (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company) and Beijing Vanke (a company holding 50% equity
interest in Kuangshi Jiye) whereby Kuangshi Jiye may from time
to time provide loans by way of entrustment loans to Hanten (or
its designated fellow subsidiary in Mainland China) and Beijing
Vanke based on the same terms and conditions and in
proportion to their respective shareholding in Kuangshi Jiye
("Langfang Framework Agreement”). The term of Langfang
Framework Agreement is three years from 1 January 2017 to 31
December 2019. The cap amount of entrustment loans to be
provided by Kuangshi Jiye to Hanten (or its designated fellow
subsidiary in Mainland China) and Beijing Vanke shall not exceed
RMB300,000,000 and RMB300,000,000 respectively. Based on the
maximum amount of loan that may be granted by Kuangshi Jiye
under the Langfang Framework Agreement, the cap amount of
the interest receivable from each of Hanten (or its designated
fellow subsidiary in Mainland China) and Beijing Vanke for each
of the three years ending 31 December 2019 were
RMB14,000,000 and RMB14,000,000 respectively.

Beijing Vanke is a substantial shareholder of Kuangshi Jiye and is
therefore a connected person at the subsidiary level of the
Company. As the Independent Non-executive Directors
confirmed that the terms of the Langfang Framework Agreement
were fair and reasonable, on normal commercial terms and in the
interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole, the
Langfang Framework Agreement was subject to annual review,
reporting and announcement requirements, but exempted from
circular, independent financial advice and Shareholders’ approval
requirements pursuant to Rule 14A.101 of the Listing Rules.

No entrustment loan was provided by Kuangshi Jiye to Beijing
Vanke (2018: Nil) and no interest was received by Kuangshi Jiye
from Beijing Vanke for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018:
Nil).
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A conditional construction contracting agreement dated 19 April
2017 was entered into between the Company and China
Minmetals whereby the Group may from time to time invite
China Minmetals, its subsidiaries and entities whose financial
statements have been accounted for in the financial statements
of China Minmetals on a consolidated basis (“China Minmetals
Group”) to tender and award construction contracts, subject to
successful tender, in respect of the existing and future real estate
development projects of the Group in Mainland China and Hong
Kong for the period from 19 April 2017 to 18 April 2020
(“Construction Framework Agreement”).

The Construction Framework Agreement and the original annual
caps were considered and approved by independent
Shareholders at the special general meeting of the Company
held on 31 May 2017. The annual caps were revised and
approved by the independent Shareholders at the special
general meeting of the Company held on 31 May 2018 whereby
the total contract sums which may be awarded by the Group to
China Minmetals Group will not exceed the revised annual caps
below:
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RMB6,085,490,000
6,085,490,000 7T A R #&

The aggregate contract sum awarded by the Group to China
Minmetals Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 was
RMB798,858,006 (2018: RMB1,659,801,386).
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10.

A conditional specialised construction framework agreement
dated 20 April 2018 was entered into between the Company and
China Minmetals whereby the Group may, subject to successful
tender, seek appointment by China Minmetals Group as
specialised construction contractor(s) for the China Minmetals
Group's real estate development projects and construction
projects in Mainland China and Hong Kong for the period from
20 April 2018 to 19 April 2021
Framework Agreement”). The total contract sums of the
specialised construction contracts which may be awarded by
China Minmetals Group to the Group will not exceed the annual
caps below:

("Specialised Construction

10.
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The Specialised Construction Framework Agreement and the
aforesaid annual caps were considered and approved by
independent Shareholders at the special general meeting of the
Company held on 31 May 2018.

The aggregate contract sum awarded by China Minmetals Group
to the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 was
RMB28,790,997 (2018: RMB99,188,199).
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11.

A tenancy agreement dated 1 June 2018 was entered into
between Brightway Asset (a non-wholly owned subsidiary of
China Minmetals) as the tenant and Texion (a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company) as the landlord (“Tenancy Agreement
), details of which are set out below:

Premises 9th Floor, China Minmetals Tower, 79
Chatham Road South, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon,
Hong Kong
Period two years commencing from 1 June 2018 to
1 May 2020 (both dates inclusive)
Rental HK$208,548 per calendar month (exclusive of

government rates and management fees)

The annual caps for the rent payable by Brightway Asset to
Texion in respect of Tenancy Agreement | for the period from 1
June 2018 to 31 December 2018, for the year ended 31
December 2019 and for the period from 1 January 2020 to 31
May 2020 were HK$1,459,836, HK$2,502,576 and HKS$1,042,740
respectively. As all the applicable percentage ratios in respect of
the annual rent receivable by Texion under Tenancy Agreement |
were less than 5%, Tenancy Agreement | was subject to annual
reporting and announcement requirements, but
exempted from circular, independent financial advice and
independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under the
Listing Rules.

review,

The aggregate sum of the rental paid by Brightway Asset under
Tenancy Agreement | for the year ended 31 December 2019 was
HK$2,294,028 (2018: HKS1,116,741).
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HIEMEBRAT

A tenancy agreement dated 1 June 2018 was entered into
between Minmetals Cheerglory (a non-wholly owned subsidiary
of China Minmetals) as the tenant and Texion as the landlord
(“Tenancy Agreement II"), details of which are set out below:

Premises 11th Floor, China Minmetals Tower, 79
Chatham Road South, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon,
Hong Kong
Period two years commencing from 1 June 2018 to
1 May 2020 (both dates inclusive)
Rental HKS$208,548 per calendar month (exclusive of

government rates and management fees)

The annual caps for the rent payable by Minmetals Cheerglory to
Texion in respect of Tenancy Agreement Il for the period from 1
June 2018 to 31 December 2018, for the year ended 31
December 2019 and for the period from 1 January 2020 to 31
May 2020 were HK$1,459,836, HKS$2,502,576 and HKS$1,042,740
respectively. As all the applicable percentage ratios in respect of
the annual rent receivable by Texion under Tenancy Agreement
Il were less than 5%, Tenancy Agreement Il was subject to
annual review, reporting and announcement requirements, but
exempted from circular, independent financial advice and
independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under the
Listing Rules.

The aggregate sum of the rental paid by Minmetals Cheerglory
under Tenancy Agreement I for the year ended 31 December
2019 was HK$2,294,028 (2018: HKS1,116,741).
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13.

A tenancy agreement dated 1 June 2018 was entered into
between Minmetals HK (a non-wholly owned subsidiary of China
Minmetals) as the tenant and Texion as the landlord (“Tenancy
Agreement IlI"), details of which are set out below:

Premises 16th Floor, China Minmetals Tower, 79
Chatham Road South, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon,
Hong Kong
Period 23 months commencing from 1 July 2018 to
1 May 2020 (both dates inclusive)
Rental HKS$208,548 per calendar month (exclusive of

government rates and management fees)

The annual caps for the rent payable by Minmetals HK to Texion
in respect of Tenancy Agreement Il for the period from 1 July
2018 to 31 December 2018, for the year ended 31 December
2019 and for the period from 1 January 2020 to 31 May 2020
were HKS$1,251,288, HK$2,502,576 and HK$1,042,740 respectively.
As all the applicable percentage ratios in respect of the annual
rent receivable by Texion under Tenancy Agreement Il were less
than 5%, Tenancy Agreement Il was subject to annual review,
reporting and announcement requirements, but exempted from
circular, independent financial advice and independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules.

The aggregate sum of the rental paid by Minmetals HK under
Tenancy Agreement Il for the year ended 31 December 2019
was HK$2,294,028 (2018: HK$941,830).
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HIEMEBRAT

A tenancy agreement dated 1 June 2018 was entered into
between Minmetals HK as the tenant and Texion as the landlord
(“Tenancy Agreement V"), details of which are set out below:

Premises 19th Floor, China Minmetals Tower, 79
Chatham Road South, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon,
Hong Kong
Period two years commencing from 1 June 2018 to
1 May 2020 (both dates inclusive)
Rental HK$208,548 per calendar month (exclusive of

government rates and management fees)

The annual caps for the rent payable by Minmetals HK to Texion
in respect of Tenancy Agreement IV for the period from 1 June
2018 to 31 December 2018, for the year ended 31 December
2019 and for the period from 1 January 2020 to 31 May 2020
were HK$1,459,836, HK$2,502,576 and HK$1,042,740 respectively.
As all the applicable percentage ratios in respect of the annual
rent receivable by Texion under Tenancy Agreement IV were less
than 5%, Tenancy Agreement IV was subject to annual review,
reporting and announcement requirements, but exempted from
independent financial advice and independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules.

circular,

The aggregate sum of the rental paid by Minmetals HK under
Tenancy Agreement IV for the year ended 31 December 2019
was HK$2,294,028 (2018: HKS1,116,741).
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ANNUAL REVIEW OF CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to Rule 14A55 of the Listing Rules, the above continuing
connected transactions (“Continuing Connected Transactions”) have
been reviewed by the Independent Non-executive Directors who have
confirmed that the Continuing Connected Transactions were carried
out:

(@) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Company;

(b)  either on normal commercial terms or, if there are not sufficient
comparable transactions to judge whether they are on normal
commercial terms, on terms no less favourable to the Company
than terms available to or from (as appropriate) independent
third parties; and

(c)  in accordance with the relevant agreement governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Shareholders as a whole.

The Company’'s independent auditor, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, was
engaged to report on the Continuing Connected Transactions in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews
of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note
740 "Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditor has issued its unqualified letter containing its
findings and conclusions in respect of the Continuing Connected
Transactions disclosed by the Group on pages 116 to 129 of this
Annual Report in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A
copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to the
Stock Exchange.
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HIEMEBRAT

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE PURSUANT TO
RULES 13.18 AND 13.21 OF THE LISTING
RULES

Condo Hong Kong (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company)
as the borrower and the Company as the guarantor, accepted
the offer from a bank (the “Bank”) for the grant of general
banking facility in an aggregate amount of HKS$100,000,000
(“Facility 1) on 9 April 2015. Facility | has no fixed term and is
subject to periodic review of the Bank.

As one of the conditions of Facility I, China Minmetals, the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, shall remain
the single largest Shareholder of the Company maintaining at
least 31% of the beneficiary interest of and has management
control over the Company. Upon a breach of any of the
aforesaid conditions, the Bank may suspend, withdraw or make
demand for repayment of the whole or any part of Facility |
offered to Condo Hong Kong.

Condo Macau (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) as the
borrower and the Company as the guarantor, accepted the offer
from a bank (the “Bank”) for the grant of general banking facility
in an aggregate amount of HK$200,000,000 (“Facility 11") on 27
April 2015. Facility Il has no fixed term and is subject to periodic
review of the Bank.

As one of the conditions of Facility Il, China Minmetals, the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, shall remain
the single largest Shareholder of the Company maintaining at
least 31% of the beneficiary interest of and has management
control over the Company. Upon a breach of any of the
aforesaid conditions, the Bank may demand for immediate
repayment of all sums of moneys granted to Condo Macau and
the interest accrued.
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Condo Hong Kong as the borrower and the Company as the
guarantor, accepted the offer from a bank (the “Bank”) for the
grant of general banking facility in an aggregate amount of
HK$100,000,000 (“Facility 111"y on 27 November 2015. Facility Il is
subject to annual review of the Bank.

As one of the conditions of Facility Ill, China Minmetals, the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, shall remain
the single largest Shareholder of the Company and has
management control over the Company. Upon a breach of any
of the aforesaid conditions, Facility lll is repayable in full amount
on demand by the Bank.

OFL as the borrower, the Company and MLI as the guarantors and
certain banks as the lenders (the “Lenders”) entered into a facility
agreement for a 4-year term loan facility (“Facility V") in the
principal amount of HK$6,000,000,000 on 8 June 2016 (“Facility
Agreement V")

Pursuant to Facility Agreement IV, China Minmetals, the ultimate
controlling shareholder of the Company, shall own beneficially
(directly or indirectly) at least 31% of the entire issued share
capital in the Company as well as remain the single largest
Shareholder (directly or indirectly) of the Company and has
management control over the Company. A breach of any of the
aforesaid conditions would constitute an event of default and the
Lenders may (i) cancel all or any part of the commitments under
Facility Agreement IV; and/or (i) declare that all or part of the
loans together with accrued interest and all other amounts
accrued under Facility IV be immediately due and payable; and/
or (iii) declare that all or part of the loans be payable on
demand.
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OFL as the borrower, the Company and MLI as the guarantors and
a bank as the lender (the “Lender”) entered into a term loan
facility agreement for a 4-year term loan facility (“Facility V") in
the principal amount of HK$1,800,000,000 on 28 June 2016
(“Facility Agreement V).

Pursuant to Facility Agreement V, China Minmetals, the ultimate
controlling shareholder of the Company, shall own beneficially
(directly or indirectly) not less than 31% of the issued Shares of
the Company as well as remain the single largest beneficial
Shareholder of the Company and has control over the
management of the Company. A breach of any of the aforesaid
conditions would constitute an event of default and the Lender
may (i) cancel all commitments under Facility Agreement V; and/
or (ii) demand that all or part of the loans together with accrued
interest and all other amounts accrued under Facility V be
immediately due and payable; and/or (i) demand that all or part
of the loans be payable on demand.

Massive Leader (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) as
the borrower, the Company as the guarantor and certain banks
as the lenders (the “Lenders”) entered into a term loan facility
agreement for a 5.5-year secured term loan facility (“Facility VI")
in the principal amount of HK$5,500,000,000 on 20 March 2017
(“Facility Agreement VI").

Pursuant to Facility Agreement VI, China Minmetals, the ultimate
controlling shareholder of the Company, shall own beneficially
(directly or indirectly) not less than 31% of the entire issued
share capital in the Company as well as remain the single largest
Shareholder of the Company and has management control over
the Company. A breach of any of the aforesaid conditions would
constitute an event of default and the Lenders may (i) cancel all
or part of the commitments under Facility Agreement VI; and/or
(i) declare that all or part of the loans, together with accrued
interest, and all other amounts accrued under Facility VI be
immediately due and payable; and/or (iii) declare that all or part
of the loans be payable on demand; and/or (iv) exercise or direct
the security agent to exercise any or all of its rights, remedies,
powers or discretions under the Finance Documents (as defined
in Facility Agreement VI) and in respect of the Transaction
Security (as defined in Facility Agreement VI).
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Condo Hong Kong as the borrower and the Company as the
guarantor, accepted the offer from a bank (the “Bank”) for the
grant of general banking facility in an aggregate amount of
HK$150,000,000 (“Facility VII") on 26 October 2017. Facility VII is
subject to annual review of the Bank.

As one of the conditions of Facility VI, China Minmetals, the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, shall maintain
controlling shareholding of the Company. Upon a breach of the
aforesaid condition, all amounts due under Facility VIl shall be
due and payable and the Bank shall not be required to make any
further advances under Facility VIl to Condo Hong Kong.

OFL as the borrower, the Company and MLI as the guarantors and
certain banks as the lenders (the “Lenders”) entered into a facility
agreement for a 1-year term loan facility, extendable for a further
three years at the option of OFL (“Facility VII") in the principal
amount of HK$3,500,000,000 on 19 October 2018 (“Facility
Agreement VIII").

Pursuant to Facility Agreement VIIl, China Minmetals, the ultimate
controlling shareholder of the Company, shall own beneficially
(directly or indirectly) not less than 51% of the issued Shares of
the Company and has control over the management of the
Company. A breach of any of the aforesaid conditions would
constitute an event of default and the Lenders may (i) cancel all
commitments under Facility Agreement VIII; and/or (i) demand
that all or part of the loans together with accrued interest and all
other amounts accrued under Facility VIII be immediately due
and payable; and/or (iii) demand that all or part of the loans be
payable on demand.

Condo Hong Kong as the borrower and the Company as the
guarantor, accepted the offer from a bank (the “Bank”) for the
renewal of general banking facility in an aggregate amount of
HK$70,000,000 (“Facility IX") on 1 March 2019. Facility IX is
subject to annual review of the Bank.
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As one of the conditions of Facility IX, China Minmetals, the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, shall remain
the single largest Shareholder of the Company maintaining
(directly or indirectly) not less than 31% shareholding interest of
and has management control over the Company. Upon a breach
of any of the aforesaid conditions, all amounts due under Facility
IX shall be due and payable and the Bank shall not be required
to make any further advances under Facility IX to Condo Hong
Kong.

OFL as the borrower and the Company as the guarantor, accepted
the offer from a bank (the “Bank”) for a revolving loan facility
("Facility X") in the principal amount of HK$1,500,000,000 on 22
March 2019. Facility X has no fixed term and is subject to
periodic review of the Bank.

As one of the conditions of Facility X, China Minmetals, the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, shall remain
the single largest Shareholder of the Company maintaining
(directly or indirectly) not less than 31% shareholding interest of
and has management control over the Company. Upon a breach
of any of the aforesaid conditions, all amounts due under Facility
X shall be due and payable.

OFL as the borrower, the Company and MLI as the guarantors
accepted the offer from a bank (the “Bank) for a revolving loan
facility (“Facility XI") in the principal amount of HK$780,000,000
on 31 December 2019 for a term expiring on 10 November
2020.

As one of the conditions of Facility XI, China Minmetals, the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, shall remain
the single largest Shareholder of the Company beneficially
owned (directly or indirectly) at least 31% interest of and has
management control over the Company. Upon a breach of any
of the aforesaid conditions, Facility XI is repayable in full amount
on demand by the Bank.

OFL as the borrower, the Company and MLI as the guarantors and
certain banks as lenders (the “Lenders”) entered into a term loan
facility agreement for a 4-year term loan facility (“Facility XII") in
the principal amount of HK$6,000,000,000 on 20 January 2020
(“Facility Agreement XII"). This facility is for refinancing of Facility
IV and it is not yet drawn as at the date of this Annual Report.
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Pursuant to Facility Agreement XIl, China Minmetals, the ultimate
controlling shareholder of the Company, shall beneficially owned
(directly or indirectly) at least 51% equity interests of and has
management control over the Company. A breach of any of the
aforesaid conditions would constitute an event of default and the
Lenders may (i) cancel all commitments under Facility
Agreement Xll; and/or (ii) demand that all or part of the loans
together with accrued interest and all other amounts accrued
under Facility Xl be immediately due and payable; and/or (iii)
demand that all or part of the loans be payable on demand.

Save as disclosed above, the Company does not have other disclosure
obligations under Rules 13.18 and 13.21 of the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the notices submitted to the Company pursuant to the SFO,
the Directors are of the view that sufficient public float exists for the
issued Shares as at the date of this Annual Report.

REVIEW BY AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of the Company has reviewed with the
independent auditor the audited consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2019 and has also discussed auditing, risk
management and internal control, and financial reporting matters
including the review of the accounting practices and principles
adopted by the Group.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements as contained in this Annual
Report have been audited by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu who will retire
at the AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at
the AGM.

By order of the Board
He Jianbo
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2020
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Deloitte.

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF MINMETALS LAND LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Minmetals
Land Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as “the Group”) set out on pages 144 to 311, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2019, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do

not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RANERNMEERERERETER

Valuation of investment properties

REMEME

We identified the valuation of investment properties as a key
audit matter because the valuation process is based on an
estimation of future results, a set of assumptions and a
determination of key inputs, which are judgemental. Any
changes to these inputs may have a significant impact on
the fair value. Management determined the fair value of the
Group's investment properties at 31 December 2019 with
the assistance of independent external valuers.
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Details of the investment properties and the related key
estimation uncertainty are set out in Notes 15 and 4,
respectively, to the consolidated financial statements.
BRREMELBAEIE2MFTHBARR ZFHB 0 HIH
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Our procedures in relation to management’s valuation of
investment properties included:
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Evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the external valuers engaged by
management.
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Obtaining a copy of valuation report prepared by the
external valuers and discussing with the external
valuers to understand the basis of determination of
valuation.
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Challenging the external valuers the methodologies
and judgements used in valuing the investment
properties and obtaining the market evidence that
the external valuers used to support the key inputs.
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

REEZSEE BANERNMUHBERELGERETEE

Revenue from sales of properties

HEMRBA

We identified the revenue from sales of properties as a key ~ Our procedures in relation to revenue from sales of
audit matter due to the significance of the amount and properties included:

volume of sales transactions recognised during the year. BPMHEEMERABTZRREFEFERRE

BB EEDEBABNARARERSE  REARFA

WRAHNHEEXHRERBMEERX ° . Testing key internal controls over revenue recognition
on a sample basis.

Details of revenue from sales of properties are set out in ABHMEA R ERARREENEZENEBIEH -

Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

BRAHEMERAFBFHNGE W BHRRMEES . Selecting property sales transactions on a sample basis
and:

BB E eSS LA

— reading the signed sales and purchase
agreements to understand the relevant terms
of the timing of property delivery and title
transfer.
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—  obtaining evidence regarding the property
delivery and title transfer.

BSMERMN R EEERNRE

—  reconciling the monetary amounts of recorded
transactions and related payments to the
signed sales and purchase agreements.

RELBEXZINEE B MERNRED R

EEEWHEYR -



T8 7 A% Bl R

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Mok Sau Fan.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong

26 March 2020
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 BZE_Z—NF+_A=+—HIEFE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-)N\F
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt 5T FERT FHET
Revenue WA 5 11,261,431 10,930,824
Cost of sales $HE AR (8,588,071) (7,044,153)
Gross profit ERX 2,673,360 3,886,671
Other income, other gains and losses HMgA - Emiam
B8R 7 103,616 126,207
Fair value changes on investment KREMEARBEES
properties 15 107,550 134,052
Selling and marketing expenses HERZHER (242,035) (175,506)
Administrative and other expenses THREREMRAE (567,088) (539,148)
Impairment losses reversed/(recognised) FEHAE EEBIRAIE |
under expected credit loss model, net mER R CRE
of reversal EE) - Mo 10 3,832 (6,514)
Finance income B TSI 9 221,744 189,019
Finance costs B TS RR A 9 (26,739) (137,524)
Share of results of associates bak(a) AW/NSIE 16 (3,761) (10,531)
Share of results of joint ventures DB ERREE 17 (10,380) (3310)
Profit before tax R B A 352 A 2,260,099 3,463,416
Income tax expense Frigfif X 11 (907,516) (1,716,273)
Profit for the year AEERA 6 1,352,583 1,747,143
Profit for the year attributable to: EEERANFER :
Equity holders of the Company RABIRERE A 942,689 934,964
Holders of perpetual capital KABRITERBEA
instruments 219,089 184,362
Non-controlling interests FEPEAR B R A 2 190,805 627,817
1,352,583 1,747,143
Earnings per share for profit EATREFE AEMN
attributable to equity holders of the HFIZEREF - Bl
Company, in HK cents
Basic BN 12 28.17 27.94
Diluted i3 12 28.17 2793




For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—T—AF+-_A=+—AHALFE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
A 1R A S A 2 A R

2019 2018
—E-h#F AN S
NOTE HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt 5 FTET FHET
Profit for the year REF A 1,352,583 1,747,143
Other comprehensive income/ BREBEAEMEERA
(expense): () :
Items that may be reclassified HEAEEH7HEE
subsequently to profit or loss: B2 HA -
Currency translation differences 0 5 =58 (485,635) (902,215)
Fair value loss on hedging instruments  IR& R MY R T A
in cash flow hedges Z AR BEEE (36,033) (45,994)
Share of other comprehensive expense D fhEE& AR EM2H
of associates T (25,155) (55,635)
Share of other comprehensive expense ~ DfEAEAF EME2H
of joint ventures X (1,947) (4,407)
(548,770) (1,008,251)
Item that will not be reclassified BT 8B 7 EE B
subsequently to profit or loss: EH
Fair value gain on financial assets at fair BB EM P E W IE
value through other comprehensive AREFEZTB
income BEEMRMEEZWE 22 587,698 18437
Other comprehensive income/(expense) ~ ANEEHE 2T A
for the year () 38,928 (989,814)
Total comprehensive income AEERBAEZE
for the year WA#BEE 1,391,511 757,329
Total comprehensive income for the HRNEERBEBZEUA
year attributable to: HERER
Equity holders of the Company RRARRERE A 1,092,306 214,924
Holders of perpetual capital instruments K A B AT A#EFH A 168,525 71312
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR AR R A = 130,680 471,093
1,391,511 757,329




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

fr B B AR DL

As at 31 December 2019

RZE—hF+=—A=+—H

2019 2018
—E-hEF —ZE-N\F
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FHBT FHET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - BB L& 14 262,791 196,512
Investment properties B 15 2,366,668 2,256,393
Interests in associates N /N o 16 1,123,361 1,152,277
Interests in joint ventures REERR 2R 17 84,701 97,028
Financial assets at fair value through FMEMEEREZ A
other comprehensive income REFTEZHBEE 22 1,398,952 811,254
Other financial assets EMyBKEE 23 — 30,091
Deferred tax assets REFRIEE E 30 639,144 778,610
5,875,617 5,322,165
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 18 24,723,350 25,787,021
Prepayments, trade and other TETRRIE - B 5 REAM
receivables JE W R IE 19 13,934,151 11,868,354
Contract assets BREE 20 500,439 453,833
Contract costs A B AR 21 15,237 12,275
Other financial assets Hib B g & E 23 19,771 —
Cash and bank deposits, restricted SR HIIR & MIBITFR 24 42,702 201,353
Cash and bank deposits, unrestricted TERFIRS R
RITER 25 3,850,098 3,607,776
43,085,748 41,930,612
Total assets EEHARE 48,961,365 47,252,777
EQUITY ER
Share capital g 2 26 334,691 334,691
Reserves ] 27 8,859,154 8,033,017
Equity attributable to equity holders ZNA T REFE ARG
of the Company s 9,193,845 8,367,708
Perpetual capital instruments KAEARTHR 28 3,803,647 3,854,289
Non-controlling interests FE1E R IR R AE 3,269,226 2,588,454
Total equity R 16,266,718 14,810,451




2019 2018
—E-h#F —E-)N\F
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
M aE FET FAET
LIABILITIES =L
Non-current liabilities ERBERS
Borrowings (RN 29 9,491,281 14,039,272
Deferred tax liabilities FEIERIBEE 30 134,818 133,288
Lease liabilities HEAE 33 71,742 —
Other financial liabilities Emyast 23 25,713 —
Other liabilities HEthEE — 223
9,723,554 14,172,783
Current liabilities REBAEE
Borrowings =R 29 7,262,623 1,015,365
Trade and other payables B 5 R H AR IR 37 10,906,885 10,682,838
Contract liabilities AHEaE 32 4,553,520 6,119,742
Deferred revenue PR AE WA 4,064 5,461
Lease liabilities HESE 33 16,598 —
Taxation payable FERTHEIR 227,403 446,137
22,971,093 18,269,543
Total liabilities EE8%E 32,694,647 32,442,326
Total equity and liabilities EzkAEERE 48,961,365 47,252,777
Net current assets REBEEFE 20,114,655 23,661,069
Total assets less current liabilities EERBRRBERS 25,990,272 28,983,234

The consolidated financial statements on pages 144 to 311 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of directors on 26
March 2020 and are signed on its behalf by:

He Jianbo 1A &
DIRECTOR & =

FIMEINENEFEAYBEBRRER T =Z
FZA-t+BESESHETRET

WARTIIALTHRERZEE

Chen Xingwu FR 8 &

DIRECTOR & =




For the year ended 31 December 2019

BE-_Z-NE+-_A=+—HILFE

Attributable to

haold

equity s of the C

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

| 2
KATRRERSEAEMN
Perpetual Non-
Share capital  controlling Total
capital Reserves Total instruments interests equity
KA FER
BA& i #Hm EAXTIR REES HEHEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHET FET FHET FET FHET FET
(Note 27) (Note 28)
(BF=E27) (BFzE28)
As at 1 January 2018 W-E-N\E—A—H 334,503 8,018,174 8352677 2,393,903 2855958 13,602,538
Profit for the year FE R F — 934,964 934,964 184,362 627,817 1,747,143
Other comprehensive expense FRNEMEEXE
for the year - (720,040) (720,040 (113,050) (156,724) (989,814)
Total comprehensive income REEBRBEZEBRA
for the year, net of tax EEEE — 214,924 214,924 71312 471,093 757,329
Issue of shares BT 188 658 846 — — 846
Issue of perpetual capital instruments BITKAERTIA — — — 1,554,622 — 1,554,622
Distributions paid to holders of MXABARTERFAA
perpetual capital instruments ZHZBRE — — — (165,548) — (165,548)
Dividends paid to a non-controlling A—RXMBARZ—%
shareholder of a subsidiary FEEBRBREL A ZRE — — — — (738,597) (738,597)
Dividends paid to shareholders of the AARBERRERZ N ZRE
Company - (200,739) (200,739) — — (200,739)
188 (200,081) (199,893) 1,389,074 (738,597) 450,584
As at 31 December 2018 RZZE—N\F+=ZA
=+—H 334,691 8,033,017 8,367,708 3,854,289 2,588,454 14,810451
Profit for the year FEREF - 942,689 942,689 219,089 190,805 1,352,583
Other comprehensive income/(expense) 4 R E th 2 EUR A,/
for the year () - 149,617 149,617 (50,564) (60,125) 38,928
Total comprehensive income for the year, ANFERE % ZEKRA
net of tax Fok] — 1,092,306 1,092,306 168,525 130,680 1,391,511
Contributions from non-controlling SEERRB R 2B
shareholders of subsidiaries — — — — 551,676 551,676
Gain on partial disposal of a subsidiary &R —R M B A A7
a2 W — 1,584 1,584 — (1,584) —
Distributions paid to holders of MXABRTERFAA
perpetual capital instruments ZHZRE — — — (219,167) — (219,167)
Dividends paid to shareholders of the AIARARRERE LT ZRE
Company — (267,753) (267,753) — — (267,753)
- (266,169) (266,169) (219,167) 550,092 64,756
As at 31 December 2019 RZZE—-N&F+=A
=+—H 334,691 8,859,154 9,193,845 3,803,647 3,269,226 16,266,718
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #EHZE=Z—

NF+ZA=+T—RALLFE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLLOWS

2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
NOTE HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt T FHExT FHT
Operating activities ReEEH
Cash generated from operations REEBEAR® 35(a) 172,175 582,653
Income tax paid [=ENEZIECY (1,135,910) (1,548,661)
Interest paid [RENEUESS (796,405) (691,371)
Net cash used in operating activities &E& ZEFfTABESFHE (1,760,140) (1,657,379)
Investing activities REEE
Purchase of property, plant and BEWME WEREE
equipment (13,408) (16,217)
Proceeds on disposal of property, HEWE  BEMEE
plant and equipment Fri8 58 462 266
Repayment from/(advance to) Byae/(RET)—
an associate /N 761,180 (747,193)
Loans to an associate BERT K& QA (781,425) —
Repayment from loans to a non- BRAE—ZRXWBARZ
controlling shareholder of a —HIFTERBREER
subsidiary 98,480 625,156
Interest received 2 FE 221,744 189,019
Investments in joint ventures T"EEGE QT — (5,680)
Repayment from/(advances to) BRa//(BET)EE
joint ventures ~A] 276,254 (83,865)
Repayment from a non-controlling ERE—XXWBRRZ
shareholder of a subsidiary — BRI R — 125,058
Net cash generated from investing REZTHMEBREESE
activities 563,287 86,544
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLLOWS

For the year ended 31 December 2019 BZE_Z—NF+_A=+—HIEFE

2019 2018
—E-h#F —ZE-N\F
NOTE HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt T FHExT FHET
Financing activities mMEEE
Proceeds from issue of shares BITRM TSR — 846
New borrowings BT 4,015,711 4,194,480
Repayments of borrowings BEER (2,282,691) (3,918,373)
Issue of perpetual capital instruments BT XKAERTLE — 1,554,622
Repayment to a fellow subsidiary BRT—RAZXMEAA (561,955) (1,179,969)
Repayment to an associate BRT KL DQF (4,818) —
Advance from a non-controlling —ZRXMBRR—%
shareholder of a subsidiary FEIERBRzBE 214,052 —
Dividends paid to the shareholders of RN FARRABIBREZKRE
the Company (267,753) (200,739)
Dividends paid to a non-controlling KT —KWB AR 2 —
shareholder of a subsidiary BIEERIRR 2 RS — (738,597)
Distributions paid to holders of AT FRAEARTEA
perpetual capital instruments BEAZKRE (219,167) (165,548)
Repayments of lease liabilities EEHEBRRE (5,880) —
Contributions from non-controlling FEIERR R R 2 &
shareholders of subsidiaries 551,676 —
Net cash generated from/(used in) MESTE B (FTA)
financing activities ReFE 1,439,175 (453,278)
Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash g/ R BekReE
equivalents B 242,322 (2,024,113)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning F#HZRERBEEEEY
of the year 3,607,776 5,631,889
Cash and cash equivalents at end FR7BSMESEED
of the year 25 3,850,098 3,607,776




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 BE_Z—NAF+_A=+—HIEFE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION 1.
Minmetals Land Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) are principally engaged in real estate
development, specialised construction, property investment and
securities investment. The People’s Republic of China is the major
market for the Group's businesses.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in
Bermuda. The Company is listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the "Stock Exchange”). Its immediate holding
company is June Glory International Limited (incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands) and its ultimate holding company is China
Minmetals Corporation (incorporated in Mainland China).

The addresses of the registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are disclosed in the Corporate
Information section to the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars ("HK$" or "HK dollar(s)”), unless otherwise stated,
which is also the functional currency of the Company.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2.
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs")

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following new and amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA") for the first time in the current year.

HKFRS 16 Leases

HK(IFRIO)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

Amendments to HKFRS 9  Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement

Long-term Interests in Associates
and Joint Ventures

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2015-2017 Cycle

Amendments to HKAS 19

Amendments to HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRSs
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 BZE_Z—NF+_A=+—HIEFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2.
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRSs") (CONTINUED)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group's financial performance and positions for
the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in
these consolidated financial statements.

2.1 Impacts and changes in accounting policies of
application on HKFRS 16 Leases
The Group has applied HKFRS 16 for the first time in the
current year. HKFRS 16 superseded HKAS 17 Leases ("HKAS
17"), and the related interpretations.

Definition of a lease

The Group has elected the practical expedient to apply
HKFRS 16 to contracts that were previously identified as
leases applying HKAS 17 and HK(FRIC)-Int 4 Determining
whether an Arrangement contains a Lease and not apply
this standard to contracts that were not previously
identified as containing a lease. Therefore, the Group has
not reassessed contracts which already existed prior to the
date of initial application.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after 1
January 2019, the Group applies the definition of a lease in
accordance with the requirements set out in HKFRS 16 in
assessing whether a contract contains a lease.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“"HKFRSs") (CONTINUED)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

2.1

Impacts and changes in accounting policies of
application on HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

As a lessee

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 retrospectively with the
cumulative effect recognised at the date of initial
application, 1 January 2019.

As at 1 January 2019, the Group recognised additional
lease liabilities and right-of-use assets at amounts equal to
the related lease liabilities adjusted by any prepaid or
accrued lease payments by applying HKFRS 16.C8(b)(ii)
transition. Any difference at the date of initial application is
recognised in the opening retained profits and comparative
information has not been restated.

When applying the modified retrospective approach under
HKFRS 16 at transition, the Group applied the following
practical expedients to leases previously classified as
operating leases under HKAS 17, on lease-by-lease basis, to
the extent relevant to the respective lease contracts:

relied on the assessment of whether leases are
onerous by applying HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets as an alternative of
impairment review;

ii. elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities for leases with lease term ends within 12
months of the date of initial application;
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—T—AF+-_A=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2.
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRSs") (CONTINUED)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are

mandatorily effective for the current year

(Continued)

2.1 Impacts and changes in accounting policies of
application on HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

iii. applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases
with a similar remaining terms for similar class of
underlying assets in similar economic environment.
Specifically, discount rate for certain leases of
properties in the Mainland China was determined on
a portfolio basis; and

iv.  used hindsight based on facts and circumstances as
at date of initial application in determining the lease
term for the Group's leases with extension and
termination options.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRSs") (CONTINUED)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

2.1

Impacts and changes in accounting policies of
application on HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

When recognising the lease liabilities for leases previously
classified as operating leases, the Group has applied
incremental borrowing rates of the relevant group entities
at the date of initial application. The weighted average
incremental borrowing rate applied is 5.39%.

2. FEIRLZIETNE BB KR
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At
1 January 2019
R-ZB-IF
—RA—H
HK$’000
FHT
Operating lease commitments disclosed N-E—NE+—-A
as at 31 December 2018 =t AFBEY
ST AR 58,934
Lease liabilities discounted at relevant ARG B Z R R IE
incremental borrowing rates WARESEE 52678
Less: Recognition exemption B FEREAGR
— short-term leases SRS (9,745)
Lease liabilities relating to operating leases FE A E S B SR B
recognised upon application of HKFRS 16 168 S LTS AT
2 POAL = —
MHEERE 42,933
Lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019 NoE—HAE—A—BH
HEAE 42,933
Analysed as DB
Current NiEl] 1,455
Non-current JERE 41,478

42,933
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 BZE_Z—NF+_A=+—HIEFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRSs") (CONTINUED)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

2.1

Impacts and changes in accounting policies of
application on HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

Effective from 1 January 2019, leasehold lands which were
classified as properties under development and properties
for sale are measured under HKFRS 16 at cost less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.

As a lessor

In accordance with the transitional provisions in HKFRS 16,
except for sub-leases in which the Group acts as an
intermediate lessor, the Group is not required to make any
adjustment on transition for leases in which the Group is a
lessor but account for these leases in accordance with
HKFRS 16 from the date of initial application and
comparative information has not been restated.

Upon application of HKFRS 16, new lease contracts
entered into but commence after the date of initial
application relating to the same underlying assets under
existing lease contracts are accounted as if the existing
leases are modified as at 1 January 2019. The application
has had no impact on the Group's consolidated statement
of financial position at 1 January 2019. However, effective
1 January 2019, lease payments relating to the revised
lease term after modification are recognised as income on
straight-line basis over the extended lease term.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRSs") (CONTINUED)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

2.1

Impacts and changes in accounting policies of
application on HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

Sale and leaseback transactions

The Group acts as a seller-lessee

In accordance with the transition provisions of HKFRS 16,
sale and leaseback transactions entered into before the
date of initial application were not reassessed. Upon
application of HKFRS 16, the Group applies the
requirements of HKFRS 15 to assess whether sales and
leaseback transaction constitutes a sale.

Subleases

At the date of initial application, leased properties under
subleases were assessed and classified as an operating
lease or a finance lease individually based on the
remaining contractual terms and conditions of the head
lease and the sublease at that date.

There was no material impact of transition to HKFRS 16 on
the retained earnings at 1 January 2019.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—T—AF+-_A=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2. FERIREZETNE BB
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG EREA(ERUBREE
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 8 1) BB A (a0
(“HKFRSs") (CONTINUED)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are RAFEEREIERZF T RS
mandatorily effective for the current year RIEABMEREZER (@)
(Continued)
2.1 Impacts and changes in accounting policies of 2.1 ERAZEBHBHREEREI167H
application on HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued) EEYNEERETHENEE
(#&)
Subleases (Continued) S ()
The following adjustments were made to the amounts RZE—NF—A—BNEEY
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial BARRKRERNESEDAET A
position at 1 January 2019. Line items that were not B BEHINTZEHTENE
affected by the changes have not been included. B
Carrying
amounts Carrying
previously amounts under
reported at HKFRS 16 at
31 December 1 January
2018 Adjustments 2019
RZZE—NEF
FRIERK = —BA—HBiR#E
E-NF+= EBMERE
A=+—B® ERE16HRH
IRE{E HE fREE
HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
FET FHT FHET
Non-current assets FmBEE
Property, plant and W - B REE
equipment 196,512 42,933 239,445
Non-current liabilities FERBAE
Lease liabilities HE&E — 41,478 41,478
Current liabilities mEBEE

Lease liabilities HEAR — 1,455 1,455



2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2. FEI RBIETTHNEBYER

AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG TR EBUBREE

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS A1) WEERA wm

(“HKFRSs") (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not 2B EE RERZHFT REE

yet effective AIERBMBREER

The Group has not early applied the following new and AEEWEBEEAUTEEMERE

amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet R R RIS E] BB SRS 2ER -

effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts' BEEMBWMEEL  REEL

F175%
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business> BEEMBMEER EBHER’
FEIRZABET
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and  Sale or Contribution of Assets BB EERE REFHRARE
HKAS 28 between an Investor and its 10 RBEBGTE QA% EER
Associate or Joint Venture? RIZE 285k 2 (& 5T ARl BEEH
BB’
Amendments to HKAS 1 and  Definition of Material* BB ENE ISR BERANTE
HKAS 8 REBEGAER
FE8IRZIBET
Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark BAEVBWELEDN  FEEBZEE
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 Reform* Foit - HEGE
R E 395 &
BABMBHREER
B ZNEET

' Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January ! RZBEZ—F—-—HA—HH &R
2021. IR R AR -

2 Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions 2 RWEEHBHA-—TE _EF—F—
for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning AskzzMABmEEFESRHE2
of the first annual period beginning on or after 1 January FIEA S BN EBEHREE
2020. W BB AR o

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to : RFE B EI gk 2 1 s F 1 E
be determined. FERK -

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January ¢ R-ZZT_TF-—HA—HBxh &R

2020. B FEERAER -
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRSs") (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (Continued)

In addition to the above new and amendments to HKFRSs, a
revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting was issued
in 2018. Its consequential amendments, the Amendments to
References to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards,
will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2020.

Except for the new HKFRSs mentioned below, the directors of
the Company (the “Directors”) anticipate that the application of
all other new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material
impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material

The amendments provide refinements to the definition of
material by including additional guidance and explanations in
making materiality judgments. In particular, the amendments:

include the concept of “obscuring” material information in
which the effect is similar to omitting or misstating the
information;

replace threshold for materiality influencing users from
‘could influence” to ‘could reasonably be expected to
influence”; and

include the use of the phrase “primary users” rather than
simply referring to “users” which was considered too broad
when deciding what information to disclose in the
financial statements.

The amendments also align the definition across all HKFRSs and
will be mandatorily effective for the Group's annual period
beginning on 1 January 2020. The application of the
amendments is not expected to have significant impact on the
financial position and performance of the Group but may affect
the presentation and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRSs") (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (Continued)

Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 (the
“New Framework”) and the Amendments to References to
the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards

The New Framework:

reintroduces the terms stewardship and prudence;

introduces a new asset definition that focuses on rights and
a new liability definition that is likely to be broader than
the definition it replaces, but does not change the
distinction between a liability and an equity instrument;

discusses historical cost and current value measures, and
provides additional guidance on how to select a
measurement basis for a particular asset or liability;

states that the primary measure of financial performance is
profit or loss, and that only in exceptional circumstances
other comprehensive income will be used and only for
income or expenses that arise from a change in the
current value of an asset or liability; and

discusses uncertainty, derecognition, unit of account, the
reporting entity and combined financial statements.

Consequential amendments have been made so that references
in certain HKFRSs have been updated to the New Framework,
whilst some HKFRSs are still referred to the previous versions of
the framework. These amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020, with earlier
application permitted. Other than specific standards which still
refer to the previous versions of the framework, the Group will
rely on the New Framework on its effective date in determining
the accounting policies especially for transactions, events or
conditions that are not otherwise dealt with under the
accounting standards.
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3.

For the year ended 31 December 2019 BZE_Z—NF+_A=+—HIEFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain properties and financial
instruments that are measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies set out
below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would
take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or
liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement
and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based
payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted for
in accordance with HKFRS 16 (since 1 January 2019) or HKAS 17
(before application of HKFRS 16), and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 /nventories or value in use in HKAS 36
Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

For financial instruments and investment properties which are
transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that
unobservable inputs is to be used to measure fair value in
subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so that
the results of the valuation technique equals the transaction
price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as below:

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with
HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It
also requires management to exercise its judgement in the
process of applying the Group's accounting policies. The areas
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in Note 4.

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out below. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the vyears
presented, unless otherwise stated.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities (including structured
entities) controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control
is achieved when the Company:

. has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of the
subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss from the date the
Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributable to the equity holders of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributable to the equity holders of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to ensure conformity with the Group's
accounting policies.

All'intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ok T BV 255 A B

For the year ended 31 December 2019 BZE_Z—NF+_A=+—HIEFE

3.

FESHERBE @

RERE
GANBREBEAATRARTEH
MR (RIEEEER) RHENE RN
B EE - BAATAREEMTE
B 2 -

. AR ETITEEN

. B2HEERE T EXHREMN A&
Ol 3R R R R R &
. BRe NERERNIFERDR -
HWEFERBENER A =HIEFER
ZA-HEFINLHREY  AEEEE
M EERDHRIRE T HE G4 -

RAEMBARKRERASERGLHMME
REEHIERRG YN AREREY
BN BRI R AR L - EZ - REF
MU S E M B A R M A KRS
EHAKERGENEZEEEAKE
REKBLRIES#E L BHEF ARS

Wk BB kR EEKSENET —HE
KRB IR A A S I BB R 5 Py
BE-WBRAZZENZABRBAR
AR B ANSEER R - BIE
IR EBORER IR S AR IR IR

WMERE  SUHBEARZHHREIE
HHE FENEAREZEFHE -

FEREARRZHAXSHBZIEER
BIE - #m - WA A MRS RRER
ARRERHH -



SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Consolidation (Continued)

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group’s equity therein, which represent present
ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate
share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries
Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that do not result
in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted
for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group's
relevant components of equity and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in
the subsidiaries, including re-attribution of relevant reserves
between the Group and the non-controlling interests according
to the Group's and the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity
and attributed to equity holders of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any)
are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
and is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of
the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interests and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable
to the equity holders of the Company. All amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that
subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e.
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of
equity as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair
value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the
date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on the
initial recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 or,
when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment
in an associate or a joint venture.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only
when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates and joint ventures used for equity
accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances.

Under the equity method, an investment in an associate or a
joint venture is initially recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise
the Group's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the associate or joint venture. Changes in net assets of
the associate/joint venture other than profit or loss and other
comprehensive income are not accounted for unless such
changes resulted in changes in ownership interest held by the
Group. When the Group's share of losses of an associate or a
joint venture exceeds the Group's interest in that associate or
joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that, in
substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising its
share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to
the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate or joint
venture.

OLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for
using the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group's share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is
recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying
amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of
the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the
cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that
the interest in an associate or a joint venture may be impaired.
When any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount
of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment
in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that
forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any
reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with
HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate or a joint venture, it is accounted for as a disposal of
the entire interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains an
interest in the former associate or joint venture and the retained
interest is a financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9, the
Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that date
and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial
recognition. The difference between the carrying amount of the
associate or joint venture and the fair value of any retained
interest and any proceeds from disposing the relevant interest in
the associate or joint venture is included in the determination of
the gain or loss on disposal of the associate or joint venture. In
addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to the
associate or joint venture on the same basis as would be
required if that associate or joint venture had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive income by that
associate or joint venture would be reclassified to profit or loss
on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a
reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of the
relevant associate or joint venture.

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an
investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement to fair
value upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or
a joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of
the gain or loss that had previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership
interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss
on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognised in
the Group's consolidated financial statements only to the extent
of interests in the associate or joint venture that are not related
to the Group.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision
maker. The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the executive directors of the
Company that make strategic decisions.

Foreign currencies

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the Group's
entities are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (“functional
currency”).

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency of respective entities of the Group using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of
each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the
date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

3.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNnTINUED)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for:

—  Exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings
relating to assets under construction for future productive
use, which are included in the cost of those assets when
they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs on
those foreign currency borrowings; and

—  Exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or
payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is
neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part
of the net investment in the foreign operation), which are
recognised initially in other comprehensive income and
reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal or
partial disposal of the Group’s interests.

The results and financial position of all the group entities (none
of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that
have a functional currency different from the presentation
currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

—  assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position
presented are translated at the closing rate at the end of
the reporting period;

— income and expenses for each statement of profit or loss
are translated at average exchange rates (unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in which
case income and expenses are translated at the dates of
the transactions); and

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint venture or
an associate that includes a foreign operation of which the
retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the equity holders of the Company are reclassified
to profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cOoNTINUED)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary,
the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are
re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised
in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposal
of associates or joint ventures that do not result in the Group
losing significant influence or joint control), the proportionate
share of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to
profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to
the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct
goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

—  the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

—  the Group's performance creates and enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNnTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers

(Continued)

—  the Group's performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to
a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for
impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group's unconditional right to consideration, i.e.
only the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress

towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation
Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on input method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of the Group's efforts or inputs to
the satisfaction of a performance obligation relative to the total
expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance
obligation, that best depicts the Group's performance in
transferring control of goods or services.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cOoNTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the
promised amount of consideration for the effects of the time
value of money if the timing of payments agreed (either
explicitly or implicitly) provides the customer or the Group with
a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or services
to the customer. In those circumstances, the contract contains a
significant financing component. A significant financing
component may exist regardless of whether the promise of
financing is explicitly stated in the contract or implied by the
payment terms agreed to by the parties to the contract.

For contracts where the period between payment and transfer of
the associated goods or services is less than one year, the Group
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the transaction
price for any significant financing component.

For advance payments received from customers before the
transfer of the associated goods or services in which the Group
adjusts for the promised amount of consideration for a
significant financing component, the Group applies a discount
rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services to
a customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its
promise is a performance obligation to provide the specified
goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to arrange
for those goods or services to be provided by the other party (i.e.
the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or
service before that good or service is transferred to a customer.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNnTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Principal versus agent (Continued)

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange
for the provision of the specified good or service by another
party. In this case, the Group does not control the specified
good or service provided by another party before that good or
service is transferred to the customer. When the Group acts as an
agent, it recognises revenue in the amount of any fee or
commission to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for
arranging for the specified goods or services to be provided by
the other party.

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs that the
Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer that it would
not have incurred if the contract had not been obtained.

The Group recognises such costs (sales commissions) as an asset
if it expects to recover these costs. The asset so recognised is
subsequently amortised to profit or loss on a systematic basis
that is consistent with the transfer to the customer of the goods
or services to which the assets relate.

The Group applies the practical expedient of expensing all
incremental costs to obtain a contract if these costs would
otherwise have been fully amortised to profit or loss within one
year.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cOoNTINUED)

Leases

Definition of a lease (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in Note 2)

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business
combinations on or after the date of initial application, the Group
assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the
definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in Note 2)

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each lease component on
the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease
component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-
lease components.

As a practical expedient, leases with similar characteristics are
accounted on a portfolio basis when the Group reasonably
expects that the effects on the consolidated financial statements
would not differ materially from individual leases within the
portfolio.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. It
also applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-value
assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or
another systematic basis over the lease term.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in Note 2) (Continued)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received; and

any initial direct costs incurred by the Group.

Except for those that are classified as investment properties and
measured under fair value model, right-of-use assets are
measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of
the lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the
end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the
definition of investment property or inventory in “property, plant
and equipment’, the same line item within which the
corresponding underlying assets would be presented if they were
owned. Right-of-use assets that meet the definition of
investment property and inventory are presented within
“investment properties” and “inventories” respectively.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cOoNTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in Note 2) (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of lease
payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present
value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable;

variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate,
initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate
the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) when the lease term
has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise of a
purchase option, in which case the related lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o P A 2 R B

For the year ended 31 December 2019 BZE_Z—NF+_A=+—HIEFE

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in Note 2) (Continued)

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease
if:

the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding
the right to use one or more underlying assets; and

the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase
in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-
alone price to reflect the circumstances of the particular
contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the lease
term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of
the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities
and lease incentives from lessor by making corresponding
adjustments to the relevant right-of-use asset. When the
modified contract contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the
lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the
non-lease components.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (prior to 1 January 2019)

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term. In the event that lease
incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such
incentives are recognised as a liability. The aggregate benefit of
incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a
straight-line basis.

Leasehold land and building

When the Group makes payments for a property interest which
includes both leasehold land and building elements, the Group
assesses the classification of each element as a finance or an
operating lease separately based on the assessment as to
whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred to the Group,
unless it is clear that both elements are operating leases in which
case the entire property is accounted as an operating lease.
Specifically, the entire considerations (including any lump-sum
upfront payments) are allocated between the leasehold land and
the building elements in proportion to the relative fair values of
the leasehold interests in the land element and building element
at initial recognition.

When the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between
the leasehold land and building elements, the entire lease is
generally classified as if the leasehold land is under finance lease.

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or
operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified as a
finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased
asset, and such costs are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term except for investment
properties measured under fair value model.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o P A 2 R B

For the year ended 31 December 2019 BZE_Z—NF+_A=+—HIEFE

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor (Continued)

Classification and measurement of leases (Continued)

Rental income which are derived from the Group's ordinary
course of business are presented as revenue.

The Group as a lessor (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in Note 2)

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
When a contract includes both
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 to allocate
consideration in a contract to lease and non-lease components.
Non-lease components are separated from lease component on
the basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices.

leases and non-lease

Sublease

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the
head lease and the sublease as two separate contracts. The
sublease is classified as a finance or operating lease by reference
to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease, not with
reference to the underlying asset.

Lease modification

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a
new lease from the effective date of the modification,
considering any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to
the original lease as part of the lease payments for the new
lease.

Sale and leaseback transactions (upon application of HKFRS
16 since 1 January 2019)

The Group applies the requirements of HKFRS 15 to assess
whether sale and leaseback transaction constitutes a sale by the
Group.

The Group as a seller-lessee

For a transfer that satisfies the requirements as a sale, the Group
as a seller-lessee measures the right-of-use asset arising from the
leaseback at the proportion of the previous carrying amount of
the asset and recognises any gain or loss that relates to the
rights transferred to the buyer-lessor only.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

Sale and leaseback transactions (prior to 1 January 2019)
The accounting treatment of a sale and leaseback transaction
depends on the type of lease involved. The leaseback may be a
finance lease if it meets the condition that substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership remain with the lessee, or it may
be an operating lease (in which case, some significant risks and
rewards of ownership have been transferred to the purchaser).

The Group as a seller-lessee

For a leaseback that satisfies the requirements of an operating
lease, and the lease payments and the sale price are at fair value,
there has in effect been a normal sale transaction and any profit
or loss is recognised immediately.

If the fair value at the time of a sale and leaseback transaction is
less than the carrying amount of the asset, a loss equal to the
amount of the difference between the carrying amount and fair
value shall be recognised immediately, except that, if the loss is
compensated for by future lease payments at below market
price, it is deferred and amortised in proportion to the lease
payments over the period for which the asset is expected to be
used.

If the sale price is above fair value, the excess over fair value is
deferred and amortised over the period for which the asset is
expected to be used.

FEEFTHERE @

HE @30

EROBEXE (ZF—NF—F—HA)
EREMER 5 G EIEBURRK TS &
MELER - WA FAHEARE A RE
RERoY B B [ S ) g F - [ 7E R B

BMEMRE kMo EAMBERR K
CHEEETE - AR AKLeEEE -

AEBERSETAHEA

AR EHERTABENREEE
EBHRARENEEME - RAEREK
RIEBHERS - W BRI RE -

HMEZRBERSERNARBEENEE
fREE - AR RRESNEIEER
REZHERSBENER @ ERERES
BIRERTENREEEN KB - R
BHEMNFTREREREEREOLH

HWEERRARE  BHAREBENED
RIEEAE & IR R AT K 5



i

For the year ended 31 December 2019 BZE_Z—NF+_A=+—HIEFE

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cCONTINUED)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Effective 1 January 2019, any specific borrowing that remain
outstanding after the related asset is ready for its intended use or
sale is included in the general borrowing pool for calculation of
capitalisation rate on general borrowings. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from
the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises
as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended
to compensate. Specifically, government grants whose primary
condition is that the Group should purchase, construct or
otherwise acquire non-current assets are recognised as deferred
revenue in the consolidated statement of financial position and
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis
over the useful lives of the related assets.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repair and maintenance costs are
expensed in the profit or loss during the period in which they
are incurred.

Leasehold land classified as finance lease commences
amortisation from the time when the land interest becomes
available for its intended use. Amortisation on leasehold land
classified as finance lease and depreciation on other assets is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate cost to the
residual values over the estimated useful lives with annual rates
as follows:

Leasehold land and buildings 2%-5%

Leasehold improvements Over the remaining period
of the lease

Machinery 5%-25%

15%-25%
20%-30%

Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Motor vehicles

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

Gain and loss on disposals are determined by comparing the
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised in the
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #HZE=Z—

3.

NF+ZA=T—RALLFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cCONTINUED)
Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation (including properties under construction
for such purposes).

Effective 1 January 2019, investment properties also include
leased properties which are being recognised as right-of-use
assets upon application of HKFRS 16 and subleased by the Group
under operating leases.

Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at their fair
value, adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued operating
lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the period
in which they arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under
construction are capitalised as part of the carrying amount of the
investment properties under construction.

If a property becomes an investment property because its use
has been changed as evidenced by end of owner-occupation,
any differences between the carrying amount and the fair value
of that item (including the relevant leasehold land under HKFRS
16 or prepaid lease payments under HKAS 17) at the date of
transfer is recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in property revaluation reserve. On the subsequent
sale or retirement of the property, the relevant revaluation
reserve will be transferred directly to retained earnings.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposal.
Effective 1 January 2019, a leased property which is recognised
as a right-of-use asset upon application of HKFRS 16 is
derecognised if the Group as intermediate lessor classifies the
sublease as a finance lease. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in which the
property is derecognised.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Investment properties (Continued)

Transfer from inventories to investment properties carried
at fair value

The Group transfers a property from inventories to investment
properties when there is a change in use to hold the property to
earn rentals or/and for capital appreciation rather than for sale in
the ordinary course of business, which is evidenced by the
inception of an operating lease to another party. Any difference
between the fair value of the property at the date of transfer and
its previous carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, contract costs and intangible
assets other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets, contract costs and intangible assets with finite useful
lives to determine whether there is any indication that these
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets are estimated individually.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In addition, the Group assesses whether there is indication that
corporate assets may be impaired. If such indication exists,
corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating
units, when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can
be identified, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o P A 2 R B

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #HZE=Z—

3.

NF+ZA=T—RALLFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, contract costs and intangible
assets other than goodwill (Continued)

Before the Group recognises an impairment loss for assets
capitalised as contract costs under HKFRS 15, the Group assesses
and recognises any impairment loss on other assets related to
the relevant contracts in accordance with applicable standards.
Then, impairment loss, if any, for assets capitalised as contract
costs is recognised to the extent the carrying amounts exceeds
the remaining amount of consideration that the Group expects
to receive in exchange for related goods or services less the
costs which relate directly to providing those goods or services
that have not been recognised as expenses. The assets
capitalised as contract costs are then included in the carrying
amount of the cash-generating unit to which they belong for the
purpose of evaluating impairment of that cash-generating unit.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, contract costs and intangible
assets other than goodwill (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent
basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the carrying
amount of a group of cash-generating units, including the
carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with the
recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating units. In
allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of cash-
generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced
below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The
amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of
the unit or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a group of cash-
generating units) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating
units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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3.

For the year ended 31 December 2019 BZE_Z—NF+_A=+—HIEFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Inventories represent properties under development and
completed properties held for sale.

Properties under development which are intended to be sold
upon completion of development and properties for sale are
classified as current assets. Except for the leasehold land element
which is measured at cost model in accordance with the
accounting policies of right-of-use assets upon the application of
HKFRS 16, properties under development/properties for sale are
carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is
determined on a specific identification basis including allocation
of the related development expenditure incurred and where
appropriate, borrowing costs capitalised. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for the properties less
estimated cost to completion and costs necessary to make the
sales.

Properties under development for sale are transferred to
properties for sale upon completion.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit
or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income:

the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting
contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 BZE_Z—NF+_A=+—HIEFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value
through profit or loss, except that at the date of initial
application of HKFRS 9/initial recognition of a financial asset the
Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in
fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income if that equity investment is neither held for trading nor
contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the near term; or

on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking;
or

it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset

that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or fair

value through other comprehensive income as measured at fair
value through profit or loss if doing so eliminates or significantly
reduces an accounting mismatch.

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of
a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the
next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 BZE_Z—NF+_A=+—HIEFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3.
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

(Continued)

(i) Equity instruments designated as at fair value through other
comprehensive income
Investments in equity instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income are subsequently measured
at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in
fair value recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve; and are
not subject to impairment assessment. The cumulative
gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss on
disposal of the equity investments, and will be transferred
to retained earnings.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments
are recognised in profit or loss when the Group's right to
receive the dividends is established, unless the dividends
clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the
investment. Dividends are included in the “other income,
other gains and losses” line item in profit or loss.

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss ("ECL") model on financial assets (including trade and
other receivables), and other items (lease receivables, contract
assets and financial guarantee contracts) which are subject to
impairment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that
are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessment are done based on the Group's historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of
future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables,
contract assets and lease receivables. The ECL on these assets are
assessed individually for debtors with impaired credit or related
parties and collectively for the rest using a provision matrix with
appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 BZE_Z—NF+_A=+—HIEFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

() Significant increase in credit risk
In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’'s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

. significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the
debtor;

. existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations;

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

. an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment
of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in
the debtor's ability to meet its debt obligations.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(1)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a debt instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the debt instrument is
determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A
debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk if i)
it has a low risk of default, i) the borrower has a strong
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in
the near term and iii) adverse changes in economic and
business conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its
contractual cash flow obligations.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group
becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment is
considered to be the date of initial recognition for the
purposes of assessing the financial instrument for
impairment. In assessing whether there has been a
significant increase in the credit risk since initial
recognition of financial guarantee contracts, the Group
considers the changes in the risk that the specified debtor
will default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 BZE_Z—NF+_A=+—HIEFE

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(ifi)

(iv)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

(@)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b)  a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e)  the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group's
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit
or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined with
the respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition. For a lease receivable,
the cash flows used for determining the ECL is consistent
with the cash flows used in measuring the lease receivable
in accordance with HKFRS 16 (since 1 January 2019) or
HKAS 17 (prior to 1 January 2019).

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required to
make payments only in the event of a default by the
debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument
that is guaranteed. Accordingly, the expected losses is the
present value of the expected payments to reimburse the
holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that
the Group expects to receive from the holder, the debtor
or any other party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which the
effective interest rate cannot be determined, the Group
will apply a discount rate that reflects the current market
assessment of the time value of money and the risks that
are specific to the cash flows but only if, and to the extent
that, the risks are taken into account by adjusting the
discount rate instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls being
discounted.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for
cases where evidence at the individual instrument level
may not yet be available, the financial instruments are
grouped on the following basis:

. Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group's trade
and other receivables, lease receivables and contract
assets are each assessed as a separate group. Loans
to related parties are assessed for expected credit
losses on an individual basis);

. Past-due status;
. Nature of debtors; and
. External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

For financial guarantee contracts, the loss allowances are
recognised at the higher of the amount of the loss
allowance determined in accordance with HKFRS 9; and
the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amount of income recognised over the
guarantee period.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by recognising the
corresponding adjustment through a loss allowance
account, with the exception of financial guarantee
contracts where the Group recognises an impairment gain
or loss by adjusting their carrying amount.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the sum
of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in
profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which
the Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at fair
value through other comprehensive income, the cumulative gain
or loss previously accumulated in the investments revaluation
reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to
retained earnings.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by the Group are classified as
either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of
a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised
at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Perpetual capital instruments, where there is no contractual
obligation for the Group to deliver cash or another financial asset
to the holders or to exchange financial assets or financial
liabilities with the holders under conditions that are potentially
unfavourable to the Group, are classified as equity instruments
and are initially recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct
issue costs.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities including borrowings and trade and other
payables are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
effective interest method.

Derecognition/Substantial modification of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or have
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group accounts for an exchange with a lender of a financial
liability with substantially different terms as an extinguishment of
the original financial liability and the recognition of a new
financial liability. A substantial modification of the terms of an
existing financial liability or a part of it (whether or not
attributable to the financial difficulty of the Group) is accounted
for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the
recognition of a new financial liability.

The Group considers that the terms are substantially different if
the discounted present value of the cash flows under the new
terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received and
discounted using the original effective interest rate, is at least 10
per cent different from the discounted present value of the
remaining cash flows of the original financial liability.
Accordingly, such exchange of debt instruments or modification
of terms is accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees
incurred are recognised as part of the gain or loss on the
extinguishment. The exchange or modification is considered as
non-substantial modification when such difference is less than 10
per cent.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities

For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities that do
not result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the relevant
financial liabilities will be calculated at the present value of the
modified contractual cash flows discounted at the financial
liabilities” original effective interest rate. Transaction costs or fees
incurred are adjusted to the carrying amount of the modified
financial liabilities and are amortised over the remaining term.
Any adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial liability is
recognised in profit or loss at the date of modification.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date when
derivative contracts are entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting period.
The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as a
hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the
recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge
relationship.

Hedge accounting
The Group designates certain derivatives as hedging instruments
for cash flow hedges.

At the inception of the hedging relationship, the Group
documents the relationship between the hedging instrument
and the hedged item, along with its risk management objectives
and its strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions.
Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing
basis, the Group documents whether the hedging instrument is
highly effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of the
hedged item attributable to the hedged risk.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Hedge accounting (Continued)

Assessment of hedging relationship and effectiveness

For hedge effectiveness assessment, the Group considers
whether the hedging instrument is effective in offsetting
changes in cash flows of the hedged item attributable to the
hedged risk, which is when the hedging relationships meet all of
the following hedge effectiveness requirements:

there is an economic relationship between the hedged item
and the hedging instrument;

the effect of credit risk does not dominate the value
changes that result from that economic relationship; and

the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as
that resulting from the quantity of the hedged item that
the Group actually hedges and the quantity of the
hedging instrument that the entity actually uses to hedge
that quantity of hedged item.

If a hedging relationship ceases to meet the hedge effectiveness
requirement relating to the hedge ratio but the risk management
objective for that designated hedging relationship remains the
same, the Group adjusts the hedge ratio of the hedging
relationship (i.e. rebalances the hedge) so that it meets the
qualifying criteria again.

Cash flow hedges

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives
that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
under the heading of cash flow hedging reserve. The gain or loss
relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in cash flow hedging reserve are reclassified to
profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item affects profit
or loss, in the same line as the recognised hedged item.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Hedge accounting (Continued)

Discontinuation of hedge accounting

The Group discontinues hedge accounting prospectively only
when the hedging relationship (or a part thereof) ceases to meet
the qualifying criteria (after rebalancing, if applicable). This
includes instances when the hedging instrument expires or is
sold, terminated or exercised. Discontinuing hedge accounting
can either affect a hedging relationship in its entirety or only a
part of it (in which case hedge accounting continues for the
remainder of the hedging relationship).

For cash flow hedge, any gain or loss recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity at that time
remains in equity and is recognised when the forecast
transactions is ultimately recognised in profit or loss. When a
forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the gain or
loss accumulated in equity is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at
call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Current and deferred tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred
tax. Tax is recognised in the profit or loss, except to the extent
that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity.
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

In this case the tax is also

Current tax
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period in the countries where the Company’s
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures operate and generate
taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions
taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable
tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions
where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid
to the tax authorities.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Current and deferred tax (Continued)

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences arising
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
Group's consolidated financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting periods and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Current and deferred tax (Continued)

Deferred tax (Continued)

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the end of the reporting periods, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The
presumption is rebutted when the investment property is
depreciable and is held within a business model whose objective
is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment property over time, rather than
through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines
whether the tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use
assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities separately. Temporary differences relating to right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities are not recognised at initial recognition
and over the lease terms due to application of the initial
recognition exemption.

Offsetting

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle
its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Employee benefits

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of the reporting period.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Employee benefits (Continued)

Employee leave entitlements (Continued)

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity or paternity
leaves are not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

Group companies participate in various defined contribution
pension schemes. The schemes are generally funded through
payments to insurance companies or trustee-administered funds.

The Group has no further payment obligations once the
contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised
as employee benefit expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions and are reduced by
contributions forfeited by those employees who leave the
scheme prior to vesting fully in the contributions. Prepaid
contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash
refund or a reduction in the future payments is available.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is
terminated before the normal retirement date, or whenever an
employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these
benefits. The Group recognises termination benefits at the earlier
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits and when it recognises any related restructuring costs.
Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the end of the
reporting period are discounted to present value.

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past
events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future
events not wholly within the control of the Group. It can also be
a present obligation arising from past events that is not
recognised because it is not probable that outflow of economic
resources will be required or the amount of obligation cannot be
measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the
notes to the Group's financial statements unless the possibility of
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote.
When a change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that
outflow is probable, it will then be recognised as a provision.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

Critical accounting judgement

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred taxation arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair value
model, the Directors have reviewed the Group's investment
property portfolios and concluded that the Group's investment
properties located in Hong Kong are not held under a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment properties over
time. Therefore, in measuring the Group's deferred taxation on
investment properties located in Hong Kong, the Directors have
determined that the presumption that the carrying amounts of
investment properties located in Hong Kong are recovered
entirely through sale is not rebutted. As a result, the Group has
not recognised any deferred taxes on changes in fair value of
investment properties located in Hong Kong as the Group is not
subject to any income taxes on the fair value changes of the
investment properties on disposal.

With regards to the Group's investment properties located in
Mainland China, the Directors considered that they are held
under a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in these
investment properties over time. Therefore, the Directors have
determined that the presumption that the carrying amounts of
investment properties located in Mainland China are recovered
entirely through sale is rebutted. As a result, the Group
recognised deferred taxes on changes in fair value of the Group's
investment properties located in Mainland China on the basis
that the entire carrying amounts of these properties are
recovered through use.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

(CONTINUED)

Key estimation uncertainty

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk
of causing uncertainty to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities are discussed below:

Fair value of investment properties

Independent external valuers were engaged to carry out an
independent valuation of the Group's investment property
portfolio as at 31 December 2019. The fair value of each
investment property is individually determined at the end of the
reporting period based on market value assessment, on an
existing use basis. The valuers have relied on the income
capitalisation approach as its primary method, supported by the
direct comparison method. These methodologies are based on
an estimation of future results, a set of assumptions and a
determination of relevant key inputs specific to each property to
reflect its tenancy and cashflow profile. Changes to these
estimation, assumptions and key inputs would result in changes
in the fair values of the Group's investment properties and the
corresponding adjustments to the amount of gain or loss would
be recognised in profit or loss.

The carrying amount of investment properties as at 31
December 2019 was approximately HKS$2,366,668,000 (2018:
HKS$2,256,393,000). More details are set out in Note 15.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

(CONTINUED)

Key estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Construction contracts

The Group recognised profits and losses from construction
contracts, which were derived from the latest available budgets
of the construction contracts with reference to the overall
performance of each construction contract and the
management’'s best estimates and judgements. Estimated
construction income is determined in accordance with the terms
set out in the relevant contracts. Estimated construction costs
which mainly comprise sub-contracting charges and costs of
materials are estimated by the management on the basis of
quotations from time to time provided by the major contractors/
suppliers/vendors involved and the experience of the
management. Because of the nature of the construction industry,
the management regularly reviews the progress of the contracts
and the estimated construction income and costs.

When the actual costs incurred are significantly more or less than
expected, or changes in circumstances which result in revision of
management’s estimates on the percentage of completion, the
effect of such change is recognised prospectively in the profit or
loss in the period of the change.

Deferred taxes
As at 31 December 2019, deferred tax assets of HK$639,144,000
(2018: HK$778,610,000) have been recognised in the Group's
consolidated statement of financial position as set out in Note
30. The realisability of the deferred tax assets mainly depends on
whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary differences
will be available in the future. The Directors determine the profit
projections of the Group for coming years during which the
deferred tax assets are expected to be utilised. In cases where
the actual future profits generated are more or less than
expected, an additional recognition or a reversal of deferred tax
assets may arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss for
the period in which such a recognition or reversal takes place.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

(CONTINUED)

Key estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision of ECL for trade receivables

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL for the trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on debtors’ aging as
groupings of various debtors that have similar loss patterns. The
provision matrix is based on the Group's historical default rates
taking into consideration forward-looking information that is
reasonable and supportable available without undue costs or
effort. At each reporting date, the historical observed default
rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking
information are considered. In addition, trade receivables with
impaired credit or related parties are assessed for ECL
individually.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and the Group's trade receivables are
disclosed in Notes 38 and 19 respectively.

Estimated impairment of inventories
The Group tests regularly whether inventories have suffered any
impairment based on the assessment of net realisable value.
Estimates of net realisable value are based on the most reliable
evidence available at the time the estimates are made, and the
amounts the inventories are expected to realise. Significant
management estimates are required in the estimates. Where the
actual outcome or expectation in future is different from the
original estimates, such differences will impact on the carrying
amounts of inventories and the impairment loss.
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
Revenue
Revenue (represents turnover) comprised the following:

WAR S EER
LN

WA (BME%%) BIEIATIER -

2019 2018

—E-NF —E-N\F

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FET FHET

Sales of properties LESTR= 10,329,101 9,918,725
Revenue from specialised EERESHRA

construction contracts 864,603 941,654
Rental and management fee income REMEZHE R

from investment properties ERBIA 67,727 70,445

11,261,431 10,930,824

For contracts entered into with customers on sales of properties,
the Group's performance does not create an asset with
alternative use to the Group. Taking into consideration of the
relevant contract terms, the legal environment and relevant legal
precedent, the Group concluded that the Group does not have
an enforceable right to payment prior to transfer of the relevant
properties to the customer. Revenue from sales of properties is
therefore recognised at a point in time when the completed
property is transferred to customers, being at the point that the
customer obtains the control of the completed property and the
Group has present right to payment and collection of the
consideration is probable. The Group provides specialised
construction services to customers. Such services are recognised
as a performance obligation satisfied over time as the Group
creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the
asset is created or enhanced. Revenue is recognised for these
construction services based on the stage of completion of the
contract using input method.

The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations as at 31 December 2019 was HK$6,103,674,000 (2018:
HK$8,297,605,000) and is expected to be recognised as revenue
within two years.
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

Operating segments

The chief operating decision maker has been identified as the
executive directors. The executive directors review the Group's
internal financial reports in order to assess performance and
allocate resources. The executive directors have determined the
operating segments based on these reports as follows:

Real estate development: Development and sales of
residential and commercial
properties

Specialised construction:  Design, installation and selling of
curtain walls and aluminum
windows, doors and other
materials

Property investment: Holding of properties to generate
rental income and/or to gain
from the appreciation in
properties’ values in the
long-term

Securities investment: Investment of securities
No operating segments identified by the executive directors have

been aggregated in arriving at the reportable segments of the
Group.
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WA R 2 EE R @)

(CONTINUED)
Operating segments (Continued) R EB (@)
Segment revenue and results TERARFEE
Real estate Specialised Property Securities
development construction investment investment Total
EHERR EXEH NERE BERE Fotl
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
ZE-hEF ZB-N\F ZB-hE ZT-N\F ZB-hF ZF-N\F ZB-hEFE _T-\F ZB-hE ZF-N\F
HK$'000  HKS000  HK$'000  HKS000  HK$'000  HKS000  HK$'000  HKS000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FET FET TiERL FEL FEL FET FET FET TiERL FEL
Revenue /ON
Total segment revenue DR LN 10,329,101 9918725 894,945 1044183 73,379 75613 - — 11,297,425 11038521
Inter-segment revenue AEERA - — (30342 (102529 (5,652) (5,168) — —  (35994)  (107697)
Sales to external customers  ¥{90EF % 10,329,101 9918725 864,603 941654 67,727 70,445 - — 11,261,431 10930824
Results E4
Segment results PHHEE 2,084622 3371789 (11,658) 1609 215,542 191,744 50,646 69121 2,299,152 3634263

Unallocated corporate APMEERT 38
expenses, net (219,917) (208,501)

2,079,235 3425762

Finance income BB 221,744 189019
Finance costs BERA (26,739)  (137524)
Share of results of associates D 1EE &R AIEE (3,761)  (10531)
Share of results of joint Gl -UNSES

ventures (10,380) (3310)
Profit before tax BB AR T 2,260,099 3463416
The accounting policies of the reportable and operating Ky B 2 ' R IR B R 3 AT A A9 AR
segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies % ERHER W DEEEREARADE
described in Note 3. Segment results represent the profit before TERY - BBRA - BB ARS G
tax without allocation of unallocated corporate expenses, finance BEE N T REE A RZEENBRTIRIFNE -
income, finance costs and share of results of associates and joint
ventures.
Inter-segment revenue is charged at prevailing market rates. DE 2 MR A TIEIRITTISERATE °
Finance income, finance costs and share of results of associates BRI ~ AR AN e o (G B R R &
and joint ventures are not included in the measure of segment BERNREERTBEES EEENET

results. o
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WA K2 HER @)

(CONTINUED)
Operating segments (Continued) R o EB (@)
Segment assets and liabilities SEEEREE
Real estate Specialised Property Securities
development construction investment investment Total
ERERR HEER NERE BERE X
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
ZE-NE ZE-N\F ZE-NE ZE-\E ZZ-NE ZE-\F ZE-NE ZT-\F ZE-NE ZE-N\E
HKS000  HKSO00  HKS'000  HKSO00  HKS'000  HKSO00  HK$'000  HKSO00  HK$'000  HKS000
FER TET FER ThER TAR TAT FER TET FER ThER
Assets BE
Segment assets AYEE 40792490 40524343 985,625 1049409 2211748 2027991 1398952 811254 45388815 44412997
Unallocated corporate assets AL EBE 3,572,550 2,839,780
Total assets EEEH 48,961,365 47,252,777
Liabilities afE
Segment liabiltes HHAE 29482200 29061255 640,621 740702 24704 23367 - — 30,147,565 29925324
Unallocated corporate liabilites KA EEEEE 2,547,082 2517002
Total liabilities RfEgHE 32,694,647 32442326
Segment assets consist primarily of interests in associates, DHEEFEDERBENE 2
interests in joint ventures, property, plant and equipment, REERRIZHERZ VE - BE KK
investment properties, inventories, receivables, contract assets, #H REWME F5 EBRFE &4
contract costs and operating cash but exclude items such as BE AR ZEER:  BETEE
bank deposits for corporate use and deferred tax assets. Segment ER¥RBR 2 BRITHFRRBELERIBEE
liabilities comprise all operating liabilities but exclude items such LB - NHEBEREMEEERE

as taxation. BTEERE -




REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

5.

WAR D HBER @

(CONTINUED)
Operating segments (Continued) R EB (@)
Other segment information HEt 7 s&#
Real estate Specialised Property Securities Segment
development construction investment investment total Unallocated Total
RHERE EE4:44 NERE BERE APEE KB #E
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
ZB-NF ZE2-0\F ZB-AF 20\ ZB-NF CT-N\F SR-0F ZT-0\F ZB-0F ZF-\F C%-0F ZF-0\F ZB-0F TN\
HK$'000 HKS'000  HK$'000 HKS'000  HK$'000 HKS000  HK$'000 HKS'000  HK$'000 HKS'000  HK$'000 HKS000  HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx FTEr TEx TEx Tz TExr FEx  TExr Tz Tz FEx  TEr  TEx  TEx
Amounts included in the HEHASD
measure of segment BagHH
profit or loss or segment BE:
assets:
Interests in associates REERRZ
[ 1,123,361 1152277 - - - - - — 1123361 115277 - 1,123361 1152277
Interests in joint ventures ~ WAEAFZ
(35 84,701 97,028 - - - - - - 84701 97028 - — 84701 97028
Capital expenditures BRRR 7,983 3,709 5,094 11814 48 354 - - 13,125 15877 283 340 13,408 16217
Depreciation recognised in -~ AR A B RS
the consolidated EALNE
statement of profit or
loss 19,168 4637 2,623 2143 456 460 - - 22,247 7,240 2,517 1028 24,764 8268
Fair value changes on RENELRE
investment properties 28 (43,850) - - — 151,400 134052 - — 107,550 134052 - — 107,550 134052
Allowance for impairment of ~ FERERE
inventories 86,472 45,284 - - - - - - 86,472 45,284 - - 86,472 45,284
Impairment losses RRREEA
(reversed)/recognised BRET
under expected credit (RERR)/
loss model, net of AEsE
reversal b330 - — (6080 6514 2,248 - - - (3832 6514 - - (3832 6514
Geographical information Hh EE#]

The Group operates its businesses in two main geographical areas:

Hong Kong:

Mainland China
and Macau:

Real estate development, specialised
construction, property investment and
securities investment

Real estate development, specialised

construction and property investment

REBZEZBTEE DN MEMRLE

N FPHE#RR  BX
BE MERER
EHFNE
A 3 FIERER - BREE
KORFT EMERE
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WA K2 HER @)
(CONTINUED)

Operating segments (Continued) Ko EB (8
Geographical information (Continued) HEZF (E)
In presenting geographical information, sales are presented REFIMEERE  HEZ 25 EE
based on the geographical locations of the customers. Total non- PZMBUBEREE - FRDEETE
current assets exclude financial instruments and deferred tax BEUBITARBELEREEE -
assets.
Hong Kong Mainland China and Macau Total
&E B o i % R P okl
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

—E-AF ZT-N\F ZE-NF ZT-)N\F ZEZ-NEFE —T-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET FHET FAET FHET FAET

External sales HIMEE 363,683 548711 10,897,748 10382113 11,261,431 10,930,824
Total non-current assets FERBEELE 2,267,291 2085473 1,570,230 1616737 3,837,521 3,702,210
Information about major customer EFHBEEEFZEH
No revenue from transaction with single external customer is REBWHEE —KFPRMEFTE 2 KA
amounted to 10% or more of the Group's revenue for both BER10%E A L o
years.
3£
6. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 6. AFERA
2019 2018
—E-hE —ZE-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Cost of properties sold (note (i) B & B WA (B EEa) 7,750,378 6,160,075
Cost of specialised construction EERBERR 822,161 869,540
Depreciation e 24,764 8,268
Auditor’s remuneration (i3 Gl 4,200 4,200
Direct operating expenses incurred for BREE S IMA 2 IR EME
investment properties that generated rental ~ E4£Z AR L ERY
income 15,532 14,538
Employee benefit expense EERMNAZ (REES
(including directors’ emoluments) (Note 8) %) (B 5E8) 242,708 232,007
Allowance for impairment of inventories FERERE 86,472 45,284
Net exchange gain [ 5 e 5 (23,109) (5451)
Note: B 5 -
0} Included in cost of properties sold are interest expenses of HK$413,710,000 0} B & Y E R A 81E413,710,000% 7T (=

(2018: HK$368,372,000). T — )\ : 368,372,000 L) ZF B X H -



OTHER INCOME, OTHER GAINS AND 7. HislA -~ Hitlhm R &R
LOSSES
2019 2018
—E-NEF —ZE-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T
Government subsidies BT & B 1,300 2,585
Dividend income g 2 4w 50,703 69,141
Management fee income from an B — KB MER 2 R &
intermediate holding company and ultimate ~ REER AR Z ERE
holding company LN - 7,399
Management fee income from fellow WERRERMEAR 2B
subsidiaries 2 A 11,337 15,919
Fair value changes of other financial liabilities HF & AE AR BEES — (609)
Gain on revaluation of inventories upon FEEHBEREMERY
transfer to investment properties (Note 15) EfHWE (FEE15) — 5623
Others HAth 40,276 26,149
103,616 126,207
EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE 8. EERAXZH
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR T
Wages, salaries and bonus TE& - HaRkits 353,390 318,088
Pension costs — defined contribution RRESKA — EREER
plans (Note 34) FT &) (FFE34) 35,978 32,253
389,368 350,341
Less: Amount capitalised as properties W AE AT A
under development BERIME R (79,209) (60,988)
Less: Amount included in cost of sales W FFABEERARNAZ
&5 (38,210) (39,230)
Less: Amount included in selling and W ETAEREHER
marketing expenses N2 &% (29,241) (18,116)
242,708 232,007
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8. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (continvep) 8. EEFEAN X H @)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEM=
The remuneration of each director for the year ended (E=_E-hF+=-ZA=+—H
31 December 2019 is set out below: IEFE  SEE2MeHIMT
Employer’s
Salaries contribution Share
and Discretionary to pension option
Name of directors EEnE Fees allowances bonuses scheme benefits Total
BRk&E
wE FEREH BETAL BEEXHY BREEA HwEE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER TER FTER FTER TER FTER
Non-executive FHTES
directors
Mr. Li Fuli (note (i) FRALE
(GE) — — — — — —
Ms. He Xiaoli /N NER T — 295 652 57 — 1,004

Executive directors ~ #{TEE

Mr. He Jianbo* ] BIRZ 52 A — 875 1,703 77 — 2,655
Mr. Liu Zeping 2R FEE — 395 815 52 — 1,262
Mr. Chen Xingwu PR S A — 588 1,448 46 — 2,082
Mr. Yang Shangping  #5#FEAE - 1,660 1,256 50 — 2,966
Independent BYKHTES

non-executive

directors
Mr. Selwyn Mar SHRELEE 360 — — — — 360
Mr. Lam Chung Lun,  #RAPEEEA

Billy 350 — — — — 350
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, ZEBHBE %+

Fanny 360 — — — — 360

11,039




EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (conTINUED)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

The remuneration of each director for the year ended

31 December 2018 is set out below:

8. EEEANZH w
EEME |

- N\E+=-A=+—8
ILEE - SEEZMeBmT -

(a)

Employer's
contribution to
Salaries and Discretionary pension  Share option
Name of directors EEnE Fees  allowances bonuses scheme benefits Total
EAREEE
we HekEy BIBTEAL BEHER BERERT k]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHET FET FHET FET FHET FET
Non-executive FHTES
directors
Mr. Li Fuli (note (i) FRALE
(PHEE®) — — — — — —
Mr. Cui Hushan ERlEE
(note (i) GEAD) — — — — — —
Ms. He Xiaoli (note (i) fal/NEx+
(Bt = (i) — 2335 700 106 — 3,141
Executive directors #I{TES
Mr. He Jianbo* fa] 8108 58 4 — 3,774 1,400 165 — 5339
Mr. Liu Zeping 2I81F 4% — 1,189 650 63 — 1,902
Mr. Chen Xingwu FREE T4
(note (iv)) (P V) — 425 450 — — 875
Mr. Yang Shangping #5458 4 — 1,581 1,000 62 — 2,643
Independent BUkHTES
non-executive
directors
Mr. Selwyn Mar SHELE 360 — — — — 360
Mr. Lam Chung Lun,  MRAPEEEAE
Billy 350 — — — — 350
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, ZEBHWS L
Fanny (note (v)) (P#EW) 270 — — — — 270
Ms. Tam Wai Chu, BEKZ LT
Maria (note (vi) R 90 — — — — 90
1,070 9,304 4,200 396 — 14,970

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
for their services in connection with the management of
the affairs of the Company and the Group.

The non-executive directors’ and independent non-
executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for

their services as directors of the Company.

LR TEEHE B REF
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8. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (continvep) 8. EEFEAN X H @)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (a) EEME @

Discretionary bonuses were determined by the HISEABRERE RESTRE

management with regard to the performance of the REAGEEEXBERETE -

directors of the Company and the Group's operating

results.

During the year, no directors of the Company waived or FAN W EEEHEXIRENE

agreed to waive any emoluments (2018: Nil). ERME (ZT—\F : &) -

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group FR - AEEHRERAEANESS

to the directors of the Company as an inducement to join NS ERRSIMAREE 2 82

or as compensation for loss of office (2018: Nil). B ERBEBEE (ZE—N\F

fm) o

The executive director marked “*" above is also considered BECHITES TSR ALE

as chief executive of the Group and his emoluments B 2TBEHE AR EXEED

disclosed above include those for services rendered by him B B iE B K E T BRI M

as the Chief Executive. AR 7% & B & o

Notes: B 5 -

0} Resigned on 15 January 2019 (i) RZZT—AF—A+RBHET

(ii) Resigned on 16 April 2018 (ii) RZZE—NFWA+NBEIE

(i) Re-designated from an executive director to (iif) RZE-—NF+—A=+hnB8
a non-executive director on 29 Novermber 2018 HARITESHTAIENTES

(iv) Appointed on 29 November 2018 (iv) R=ZZ—-—NF+—-—A=+hB8

BEE
v) Appointed on 1 April 2018 v) RZTE—N\FUMA—BEZE

(vi) Resigned on 1 April 2018 (vi) RZZ—)\FWUA—HEHTE



8. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (continvep) 8. EEFEAN X H @)

(b) Five highest-paid individuals (b) EEBREHFMAL
In 2019, five highest-paid individuals in the Group include RZE-—NF TEBEREES
two (2018: three) directors. These directors’ emoluments FMATHBEME(CZE—N
are disclosed in (a) above. Details of the emoluments of F:=ZZ)ARBEE -EFME
the remaining three (2018: two) individuals are as follows: REXQ@EFREE - EH=%5(=
T-NF:MEB) AT 2MEFE
PUNNE
2019 2018
—E-NF AN S
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FERT FHET
Salaries and allowances e KoERL 4,509 2,681
Discretionary bonuses B TEAL 2,530 1,800
Employer’s contributions to BRRSFTEREEHK
pension schemes 227 140
7,266 4621
The emoluments fell within the following bands: MeEEmT :
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-)N\F
HK$2,000,001 — HKS$2,500,000 2,000,0018 L&
2,500,000/ 7T 2 1
HKS$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000 2,500,001/ T E
3,000,0007% 7T 1 1
3 2
During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group FRN AEEHEAZFALX
to these individuals as an inducement to join or as NS ERRSIMAREE 2 2
compensation for loss of office (2018: Nil). B EABBEE(ZT—/)\F :

#) -
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9.

FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS 9. BBWARKZL
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Finance income IR ON
Interest income from bank deposits HRITEFHA B WA 48,263 35,665
Interest income from loans to a non- WER— KB A A8y
controlling shareholder of a subsidiary —HIFERBRRER
Z M BEHA 132,234 153,354
Interest income from loan to an associate WE— KB AR E R
ZFBIA 27,284 —
Interest income from loan to a joint venture  WEL—FRAE R AIER
Z A B A 13,963 —
221,744 189,019
Finance costs B T B AR
Bank borrowings wholly repayable within ARAFRNEBHEEZ
five years RITER 481,514 437,792
Other borrowings wholly repayable within ARAFABHEEREZ
five years Hi B R 314,891 253,579
Interest on lease liabilities HEAEGZHE 3,437 —
799,842 691,371
Less: Amount capitalised as properties under & : A& Z&R{b 77 2 & A
development (note (i) BROMEZ S
(B EEG)) (773,103) (553,847)
26,739 137,524
Note: B 5 -
0} Borrowing costs were capitalised at rates ranging from 2.50% to 6.50% (2018: 0} & BB R 1R F ) R R2.50%F6.50% (=&

2.23% to 6.50%) per annum.

—\&F 1 223%F650%) FIAE AR -




10. EXPECTED CREDIT LOSSES, 10. AHIEEEE » fIREE
NET OF REVERSAL

2019 2018
—B-NF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Impairment losses (reversed)/recognised on BORBFRENEEL
trade receivables and contract assets CREBR),REEE (3,832) 6,514
Details of impairment assessment for the year ended 31 HE_Z-NFT+_A=+—BLFE
December 2019 are set out in Note 38. BB EH M 38
11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 1. FIEBEAX
Hong Kong Profits Tax has been calculated on the estimated BEENER I UARFEFEIREE B 25T
assessable profit for the year derived in Hong Kong at the rate of FERBL G MIE16.5% (ZF— \F : &
16.5% (2018: no Hong Kong Profits Tax expense recognised). TRBBNEH) 2B EHE -
The PRC enterprise income tax has been calculated on the FRSEMSHIOIARFEFERAEFEA
estimated assessable profit for the year derived in Mainland Hh 2 BB R B v A 4R 25% (ZF — )\
China at the rate of 25% (2018: 25%). F25%) 2 HERGFH -
Land appreciation tax is levied at progressive rates ranging from THIREBRIE L EE 2R (B
30% to 60% on the appreciation of land value, being the EWEMGHRBMRANRS H (821
proceeds of sales of properties less deductible expenditures THIARAR  BRREEST L)) RRED
including costs of land and development and construction Z R 30% 2 60% UK °
expenditures.
2019 2018
—E-h#EF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Current tax BVHATR 18
PRC enterprise income tax B EE TSR 377,469 629,088
Hong Kong profits tax BEENEH 1,323 —
Land appreciation tax T HbIE(ET 402,242 843,141
781,034 1,472,229
Deferred tax (Note 30) EIER IR (FFEE30) 126,482 244,044

907,516 1,716,273
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #HZE=Z—

NF+ZA=T—RALLFE

1. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 11.

Tax charge on the Group's profit before tax differs from the
theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted average

FrBFHA XX @
AEBBMBRATEF 2 FEE S - B
BB ARG A T8 % F 2 TR

tax rate applicable to profits of the consolidated entities as KA EMSERSEC ERNT
follows:
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FHT
Profit before tax B 54 Bl g A 2,260,099 3,463,416
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates applicable #%3@E RPN HEBEBEZ S 2
to profits in the respective regions EMB R E BB 601,483 881,373
Land appreciation tax T b ER 402,242 843,141
Deferred tax on undistributed profits KD /)ﬁ/ﬁéﬂZ}ELmE\ — 5,831
Tax effect of land appreciation tax iiﬂziﬁmZW% 2] (100,561) (210,785)
Tax effect of share of results of DB ERREEZ
associates i 940 2,633
Tax effect of share of results of DIEEERREELZ
joint ventures ik 2,595 827
Income not subject to tax BAERBZWA (35,340) (37,364)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes LI w53 101,184 163,424
Utilisation of previously unrecognised AR AER
tax losses W% EE (84,019) (35,256)
Utilisation of previously unrecognised BRAFRAARERZ
temporary differences TR (26,361) —
Tax effect of tax losses/deductible RERMBEBR
temporary differences not recognised AT 2 Fa s =58 45,353 102,449
Tax charge R IE R X2 907,516 1,716,273
The weighted average applicable tax rate was 26.6% (2018: BAZINEFABER2660(ZFE—/N\

25.4%). The year-on-year change is primarily caused by a change
in the relative profitability of the Company’s subsidiaries in the

respective regions.

F 1 254%) o RRILF & )”JEHEA$%
BB A R R AR MR 2 B B R EE
PR FT BN o



12.

EARNINGS PER SHARE — BASIC AND
DILUTED

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit
attributable to equity holders of the Company divided by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the
year.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to
assume exercise of share options granted under the Company’s
share option schemes. Since there was no outstanding share
options during the year, diluted earnings per share is equal to
basic earnings per share.

12. BREFN — EARAKEE

SREART TR D DR A AR
R B SF OB B 17 BAR 2 SR F
BB -

BREERNIRFHRC T ERBM
TR BUARRIT R AR R B
FTEROZAAEAEESNENEEER
et E o HRFEABERRTTEZE
PetE - MEREERNBERERZF
GEICT

2019 2018
—E—-hEF —E-N\F
Weighted average number of BTSRRI
ordinary shares in issue (thousands shares) EHRE S (F %) 3,346,908 3,346,009
Adjustment for share options RIS AR (F %)
(thousands shares) — 1614
Weighted average number of ARstEESRES
ordinary shares for diluted earnings B | 7 i@ P& A
per share (thousands shares) EHREE (FRR) 3,346,908 3,347,623
Profit attributable to equity holders ARNBIRERFEA
of the Company (HK$'000) FEAG & R (FP&T) 942,689 934,964
Basic earnings per share (HK cents) FRREARREF GBI 28.17 27.94
Diluted earings per share (HK cents) FREERR OB 28.17 27.93
13. DIVIDENDS 13. RE

The Directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of
HK8.0 cents (2018: HK8.0 cents) per ordinary share with total

EEZHIRMN KBRS SR EBR0E
I(ZT—N\F 808l HEBWR

amount of HK$267,753,000 (2018: HK$267,753,000). Such dividend
is to be approved by the shareholders at the annual general
meeting of the Company to be held on 28 May 2020. These
consolidated financial statements do not reflect this dividend
payable.

Final dividends in respect of the year ended 31 December 2018
of HK8.0 cents per ordinary share totaling HK$267,753,000 (2018:
final dividends in respect of the year ended 31 December 2017
of HKé.0 cents per ordinary share totaling HK$200,739,000) was
recognised as distribution during the year.

267,753,00056 7T ( —Z— J\£E : 267,753,000
BIT) o ZRBAFBRRAEARANRZE
—EFERATNBRTZREESTK
g HbE - WEREMBHRERANRER
R Lt FEAS AR S, o

REERNEERDEREE T —\F
T+ A=1+—BLEFEZRPAKRETK
T M8.0B Il - 48 58267,753,00075 JT
—E-N\F HE_T—LHF+A
—t—HILEFEZ KRB ETR TR
6.0781ll - 48%8200,739,0005 7T ) °



BE-_Z-NE+-_A=+—HILFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in property, plant and equipment are as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2019

14. Y% - BMERRE

nE  BERRHZEHOT :

Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures
land and Leasehold and Motor
buildings improvements Machinery equipment vehicles Total
HELH HEWE KE KB
ks £1& L 1 &S HEH k]
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FiET FET FiET FiET FET
Year ended 31 December 2019 BHE-Z-h&+=A
=t-ALEE
At 31 December 2018 RZZE-N\F+=A
=+—H 177,013 1,951 5,716 7,199 4,633 196,512
Adjustments upon application of HKFRS 16 & FI& /8 B 15 3R & % 8
FIHRELENRBE 42,933 — — — — 42,933
As at 1 January 2019 (restated) RZZ—NF—A—H
(E7)) 219,946 1,951 5,716 7,199 4,633 239,445
Exchange differences EHER (1,408) (31) (43) (207) (167) (1,856)
Additions RE 56,603 ] 368 5,259 1,139 63,410
Disposals HeE - - (110) (181) (171) (462)
Depreciation e (18,308) (140) (1,697) (3,263) (1,356) (24,764)
Transfer to investment properties BYREREME (12,982) — — — — (12,982)
Closing net book amount FAREHEFE 243,851 1,821 4,234 8,807 4,078 262,791
At 31 December 2019 RZZE-AF+=A
=+—AH
Cost AR 272,306 8,774 11,793 33,841 17,907 344,621
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 25T & &R E (28,455) (6,953) (7,559) (25,034) (13,829) (81,830)
Net book amount REFE 243,851 1,821 4,234 8,807 4,078 262,791
Year ended 31 December 2018 HEZ-Z-N\E+=H
=+—-BLEFEE
Opening net book amount FAREFE 169,939 2453 5,080 7,830 4723 190,025
Exchange differences EHERE (306) (70) (198) (400) (222) (1,196)
Additions NE 8,997 270 2,595 2,606 1,749 16217
Disposals & — — (86) ©7) (93) (266)
Depreciation E (1617) (702) (1,675) (2,750) (1,524) (8,269)
Closing net book amount FREEFE 177,013 1,951 5716 7,199 4633 196,512
At 31 December 2018 RZF—-\&E+=A
=+—A
Cost BRA 187,367 8,774 11,778 30,710 18,155 256,784
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 25T & KIRE (10,354) (6,823) (6,062) (23,511) (13,522) (60,272)

Net book amount

REHE

177,013

7,199

4,633

196,512




14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(CONTINUED)
Note:

At the end of both reporting periods, the Group’s buildings are erected on land
under medium-term and long-term lease in Hong Kong and long-term lease in
Mainland China respectively.

The Group as lessee
Right-of-use assets (including in the property, plant and
equipment)

14. % - BERRE@®

fia -

RBEREHRA  AEERFHRNEERPE
NREBETHARERHEERRSEE 0 FEE -

REBEREBA

RHAEERE (GIAY¥E  MERRKE)

Leasehold land
and buildings

HETHRETF
HKS$'000
FHET
As at 1 January 2019 R-—E-hAE—HA—H
Carrying amount ARHEE 42,933
As at 31 December 2019 R-ZZE—hAE+=A
=+-—8
Carrying amount FREE 75,574
For the year ended 31 December 2019 BE-Z—-h&+=A
=t+t—-BLHFE
Depreciation charge e 16,251
Expense relating to short-term leases and other leases TR e 7B B g i 5 4
with lease terms end within 12 months of the date of AIZE 1650 ERT121E A A
initial application of HKFRS 16 BB EEA R HA T &
B 18,298
Total cash outflow for leases HEZRE R EE 24178
Additions to right-of-use assets FRAEEEZAE 50,002

For both years, the Group leases various offices for its operations.
Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of 1 to 5 years.
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a
wide range of different terms and conditions. In determining the
lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable
period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and
determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.

AEBERMEFEHHEHEZEARAEIA
HEE-FAILHEESVEHRE R
EsFE-HENENEREHBELZEAN
B3R B {1 = B 7 T B R a8
HARZRER  AKEEAANZTE
ERBEANANITZHRE -



)

14.

15.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(CONTINUED)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (including in the property, plant and
equipment) (Continued)

In addition, the Group owns several office buildings. The Group is
the registered owner of these property interests, including the
underlying leasehold lands. Lump sum payments were made
upfront to acquire these property interests. The leasehold land
components of these owned properties are presented separately
only if the payments made can be allocated reliably.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group leases out various properties under operating leases
with rentals payable monthly. The leases run for an initial period
of 1 to 15 years.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of
the lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in the
respective functional currencies of group entities. The lease
contracts do not contain residual value guarantee and/or lessee’s
option to purchase the property at the end of lease term.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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14.

15‘

M- BERRKE@®

AEBERERAA @
EEEEE (G AWK BERKE)
(&)

BN AEBHEBEZERIEET - A
KSERRSNERDBZAMBEEAN &
ERERE L - KBRS RERDR
E—2RXNFE - RFEEMEZH
Er o BB IER I REFRER 5
7 BLH) ©

BEWE
REFUKELHAEH R EHEZ@EDEN
WEREFAEMNES HEDLAE
154F o

A& E &R E % WA SN E R
B ARMEHERSEERZEZY
BREXGE HEAHNBTEEMER
RE/HEBAREIREREGEE DX
ZIEEE -

2019 2018
—E-NF —ZE-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FHT
At Fair Value BERARE

At beginning of the year F9) 2,256,393 1,814,294
Transfer from inventories EEAEE - 306,810
Transfer from property, plant and equipment BB BWE M= L& 9,094 —

Fair value changes on investment properties R IBzRNIER Z I EME
recognised in profit or loss DR EEE 107,550 134,052
Exchange differences &N =% (6,369) 1,237
At end of the year F 2,366,668 2,256,393

During the year, the amount transferred from property, plant and
equipment included the carrying value of the property, plant and
equipment amounted to HK$12,982,000 with the fair value loss of
HK$3,888,000 recognised in profit or loss during the year.

During 2018, the amount transferred from inventories included
the carrying value of the inventories amounted to
HK$301,187,000 with the fair value gain of HK$5,623,000
recognised in profit or loss during the year.

RER BU%E BERIBEESENS
BB IEBRE(E 12,982,000/ 7T 2 W% -
BEREE  ARRFARBRSEBERNA
S (B E5183,888,00078 TC °

RZZE—)N\F ERERETEZCHERE
BRI {E301,187,000/8 T 217 & EQ &
% E)5,623,0008 TR FAFEIBIIER ©



15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (cONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2019, the Group did not pledge any
investment properties as collaterals for bank borrowings (2018:
Nil).

The investment properties were fair-valued at 31 December 2019
by Vigers Appraisal & Consulting Limited and Cushman &
Wakefield Limited, independent valuers. The valuation for
completed investment properties was arrived at by considering
the income capitalisation of the properties or, where appropriate,
by reference to market evidence of transaction prices for similar
properties in the same locations and conditions as direct
comparison.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and
best use of the properties is their current use.

Details of the Group’s investment properties and information
about the fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting
period are as follows:

15. REW = @

RZE-NF+-_A=+—H8 A&H
BEREMECERERRITERZE
Am(ZE—N\F: H®)-

BREWER_FT-NF+_A=+—H
ZASERBI G EEE T E G
BEARARLRBIERITARARERN
HE - BERTIREVENEEDZED
E2WHBBEMEHSEEA B LRI E
AUERRELRUNBERETISERS
ERERILER -

ERAEMEAAER  RERAERER
BRRERR -

RBERLD - AEEREMER AR
EERERMT

Fair value

as at

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 31.12.2019

ARER

—E-hEF

+=A

E—#& E-#& E= =t+—H

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FERT FERT FERT FERT

In Hong Kong UREH 43,000 2,047,000 2,090,000
In Mainland China LA AR B A B 29,248 247,420 276,668
Fair value

as at

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 31.12.2018

NRER

—E-N\F

+=A

F— FER F=& =+—H

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

T T T FHET

In Hong Kong UREH 40,500 1,898,100 1,938,600
In Mainland China 2R H B A 1l 33,211 284,582 317,793
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 15. REYZE @
The following table gives information about how the fair values TREHINAEEREMELARBZE
of these investment properties are determined (in particular, the B OCEZE R/ GERT R AR
valuation techniques and key inputs used), as well as the fair B)  URIBESABBEHARBEFE
value hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are MABEEEREAABEIFEAANRE
categorised (Levels 2 to 3) based on the degree to which the key BRAPHDE(E_REE=H) -

inputs to the fair value measurements is observable.

Investment properties held by

the Group in the consolidated  Fair value Valuation technique(s) and

statement of financial position  hierarchy key input(s) Significant unobservable input(s)

REMBHRRES

AEBZRENE AREER HERTRBARE A\ YE EXFUBEZBANE

Property 1 in Hong Kong Level 3 Income method Reversionary yield, taking into account annual

BEME F= (2018: Direct comparison method unit market rental income and unit market
and income method) value of the comparable properties of 3%

LN t0 3.25% (2018: 3.50%)

(ZE2-N\F  BEREBER  EBRUEER ZRALALBNEZFRE
WAE) frmsEERARELTISEEZ3%E

325% (2B —\F : 350%)
The key inputs are:

BRGASER: Market unit rent, using direct market
comparables and taking into account of
1. Reversionary yield; and similar character, location and sizes, from
EEhEE R HK$45.1/5q.t./ month to HK$64/5q.ft/

month (2018: from HK$48/sq.ft./month to
2. Market unit rent of individual unit HK$100/s5q.ft./month)
EpBEfmmsEiAe mHEENES  FRAEETSLBEEY
BEEEANEE  IERAE -
AEABFARSIETZAET
(ZE-N\5 BAGTHRBETE
1007 7T)



15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 15. REV ¥ @)

Investment properties held by

the Group in the consolidated  Fair value Valuation technique(s) and

statement of financial position hierarchy key input(s) Significant unobservable input(s)

REMBHRRES

AEBZREME AREER RERMRERAARE EXTHEEZBARE

Property 2 in Hong Kong Level 3 Income method Reversionary yield, taking into account annual

BEME E=/ (2018: Direct comparison method unit market rental income and unit market
and income method) value of the comparable properties of

Lo 3.5% 10 3.75% (2018: 3.75%)

(ZZ2-N\F BRUBER  GHRUEX ZRUALBNEZFEE
WAE) frmEBe WA RBRTISEEZ35%

Z375%(ZF—\E : 375%)
The key inputs are:

BREAEES - Market unit rent, using direct market
comparables and taking into account of
1. Reversionlary yield; and similar character, location and sizes, from
EEhEE Rk HK$25/5a.ft/ month to HKS36/sq.ft/

month (2018: from HK$20/sq.ft/month to
HK$40/50.ft./month)

mEEMES  KAEETSEREET
BZERURE  LERAE -

2. Market unit rent of individual unit

EREMmEELES

BEREFARSETEGET
(Z2-N\5: 8ABFTRNELE
407%7T)

Other properties in Hong Kong Level 2 Direct comparison method based on ~ N/A

BEEMYE E-H market observable transactions of i

similar properties and adjust to
reflect the conditions and locations
of the subject property
BERLBZERBUNEZ
THABER ST EHENU
RMZNEZ GHRAE
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (cCONTINUED)

Investment properties held by

15. BREWZE @)

the Group in the consolidated  Fair value Valuation technique(s) and
statement of financial position  hierarchy key input(s) Significant unobservable input(s)
REMBHRR RS
AEBZREWE MREER RERMRERAARE EXTABR2BAHE
Property 3 in Mainland China Level 3 Direct comparison method and Reversionary yield, taking into account annual
elEap k) R income method unit market rental income and unit market
R AV L YN value of the comparable properties of 8%
(2018: 7%)
The key inputs are: ERREX ERMELENECEEE
BREAEER: 58 e AR ERTIZEE 2 8%
(ZF=N\%F: 7%)
1. Reversionary yield; and
EREEE R Market unit rate, taking into account the
recent transaction prices for similar
2. Market unit rate properties adjusted for nature, location
(BRI E A B9 T35 BAL AR and conditions of the property, being
HK$20,994/5q.m. (2018: HK$22,029/5q.m.)
mEEMER  ZERREUNEZEIHZS
B UHNEIME UERMKREL
HE - EFIK0994ET
(Z2-N\¥: 8F7K209%TT)
Property 4 in Mainland China Level 3 Direct comparison method and Reversionary yield, taking into account annual
BRI %4 =4 income method unit market rental income and unit market

ERLBARMAE

The key inputs are:

BRREAHES

1. Reversionary yield; and

ERAEE &

2. Market unit rate

{E Rl L T 5 AL B AR

value of the comparable properties of
6.5% (2018: 6%)

EERRE ERAENBMECFEE
fir 5 & WA R B AL EE 2 6.5%
(ZB-N\F : 6%)

Market unit rate, taking into account the
recent transaction prices for similar
properties adjusted for nature, location
and conditions of the property, being
HK$36,504/sg.m. (2018: HK$44,020/sq.m.)

MEEMER  ZERREUNEZEIHZS
B UatmxstE LB RMRREL
HE - DEFHK65MET

(ZB-N\F: §FHRM4020ET)



15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 15. REV ¥ @)

Investment properties held by

the Group in the consolidated  Fair value Valuation technique(s) and

statement of financial position hierarchy key input(s) Significant unobservable input(s)

REMBHRR RS

AEBZREWE MREER RERMRERAARE EXTABECBARE

Property 5 in Mainland China Level 3 Direct comparison method and Reversionary yield, taking into account annual

BRI %S E=H income method unit market rental income and unit market
ERLBERBRNE value of the comparable properties of

7.5% (2018: 7%)

The key inputs are: ERREX ERVELENECEEE
BRAAZES: frm SR RARBRTISEEL75%

(ZE—N\F :7%)

1. Reversionary yield; and

EEREE R Market unit rate, taking into account the
recent transaction prices for similar
2. Market unit rate properties adjusted for nature, location
BRI BRIk TIS B AL ER and conditions of the property, being

HK$42,588/sq.m. (2018: HK$49,589/5q.m.)
MSEMER  EERAUNEZNERS
B URPEIME  LERMRIEL
BE - AGF K588 T
(ZZ—N\F : §FH£K49589757T)

Property 6 in Mainland China Level 3 Direct comparison method and Reversionary yield, taking into account annual
FEIRM %6 E=H income method unit market rental income and unit market
BERLBERRNE value of the comparable properties of 7%
(2018: N/A)
The key inputs are: ERREX ERIELENECERE
ARBAER fimsHERAR B THEEZ%

(=F-7% : FEA)

1. Reversionary yield; and

EEREE R Market unit rate, taking into account the
recent transaction prices for similar
2. Market unit rate properties adjusted for nature, location
BRI BRI TIS B AL ER and conditions of the property, being

HK$12,280/sq.m. (2018: N/A)
MGEMER  EEEUNEZTHZS
B UHHEZEG 1B RARRIEL
- MEFHK12280BT (TN
FRER)
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 15. REVHE @)

Investment properties held by

the Group in the consolidated  Fair value Valuation technique(s) and

statement of financial position  hierarchy key input(s) Significant unobservable input(s)
REMBHRRES

AEEZREWE AREER HERTRBARE A\ YE EXTABR2BAHE

Other properties in Mainland China  Level 2 Direct comparison method based on  N/A

FEIRME Y5 EH market observable transactions of i F

similar properties and adjust to
reflect the conditions and locations
of the subject property
ERLBEENEUNE 2 T5T
BERHUERBARBRANE

M RLE

Increase in the reversionary yield would result in a decrease in ERREENS  REVMEZALER
the fair value of the investment properties. Increase in the K- ARBERMmisEMEeTIHE
market unit rent or market unit rate would result in an increase UERES BREVEZAREBEBS
in the fair value of the investment properties, and vice versa. R 2 TRER e

In estimating the fair value of the investment properties, the EHFIEREMENRDAER  AEEE
Group uses market observable data to the extent it is available. AR ATIS A B R EE - XEBEME
The management of the Group works closely with the valuers to BEHEGEMEREE  UHIEEE D
establish the appropriate valuation techniques and key inputs to HERN R ERRAZUE -

the model.



16. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 16. REtE NF 2R

(a) Investments (a) ®BE

2019 2018
S —=2-N\%F
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FERT FAET
At beginning of the year E ) 1,152,277 1,218,443
Exchange differences fE =58 (25,155) (55,635)
Share of results of associates DIEE SN T EE (3,761) (10,531)
At end of the year FIR 1,123,361 1,152,277
Details of the Group’s associates at 31 December 2019 and REBRZZE-—NFRZFT—N
2018 are as follow: F+ A=+ —HZzBEEQAF

BT

Proportion of Proportion of

Place of equity voting rights

Principal incorporation interest held held by the

Name of entity activities and operation by the Group Group
=R rEERE FEEEFE

EREE FEXEK A i B RAERLLLE REELH
B BEREFWEREARIF  Real estate Mainland China 50% 40%

(Langfang Wanheng Shengye Property development
Development Co., Ltd) (“Langfang
Wanheng”) (note (i)

BYEEREEHENEERAT EwEZE RN

(TERs &1B 1) (&)
IR AERERNEZARAA Real estate Mainland China 51% 40%
(Beijing Minmetals Vanke Real Estate development
Co., Ltd) (“Beijing Minmetals Vanke")
(note (i)
IR EENEXAR AR EHERRE R A
(MHERETEER) (FFEE)
Note: B 5
0} The companies are sino-foreign equity joint ventures established in (0} ZERARARPE R 2 RN
Mainland China with operating periods of 30 years. The Group AEKENE LEHARF A
accounts for its investments in these companies as associates as it REKBERZWREH EEBB
only exercises significant influence over the investees by minority EFELBRRAOGEAZES
representation in the board of directors. Pursuant to shareholders’ MEBRZ AR ZIRE ARIERE
agreements, the Company has the right to cast 40% of the votes at EARE e RBMEBRERE A2
shareholders’ meetings of Langfang Wanheng, and 40% of the AR BB ERRAEGRHE410%01R
votes at shareholders' meetings of Beijing Minmetals Vanke. ZRURRIERRABESERBREAXR

S HA0%MNIREE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

associates

with HKFRSs.

16. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

(b) Summarised financial information of

For the year ended 31 December 2019 BZE_Z—NF+_A=+—HIEFE

Summarised financial information in respect of each
associate of the Group is set out below. The summarised
financial information below represents amounts shown in
the associates’ financial statements prepared in accordance

All of these associates are accounted for using the equity
method in the consolidated financial statements.

16. RELE N T 2 HEZHE @)
(b) BEANRZHBEERBRE

AEEEBENE 2 HEER
ZHIEMT - NIHBERGR
BEJRBERRNTHERERA
ZEBIRBEEM GRS ER
B -

EZEBE R RBEZER
SZEEEVBERRALR -

Langfang Wanheng BB B e
2019 2018
—E-NF S ANCS
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET FHET
Current assets BB E 2,344,867 2,070,040
Non-current assets EMEEE 2,312 173
Current liabilities nBEaE 2,025,664 1,733,908
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT FHT
Loss for the year KEEEE (7,559) (20,753)
Other comprehensive expense AEEEMPEMX
for the year (7,232) (16,415)
Total comprehensive expense REE2HEMAS B
for the year (14,791) (37,168)




16. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 16. RE;FE N T 2 = |m)

(b) Summarised financial information of (b) BEARAZHMBERBE
associates (Continued) (%)
Langfang Wanheng (Continued) BB E 1B (4E)
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial LM BENBEERBHEER
information to the carrying amount of the interest in RAEMBRERAMBRAZERER
Langfang Wanheng recognised in the consolidated EE 2 H AR

financial statements:

2019 2018
—ZE-h#F AN S
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FERT FHET
Net assets of the associate BrE ez BEFE 321,515 336,305
Proportion of the Group's interest AEBRBHEEZ
in Langfang Wanheng T bl 50% 50%
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest 7N 5 B 1A BB 35 & (B A% 7~
in Langfang Wanheng w2 REE 160,757 168,153
Beijing Minmetals Vanke IREBEEFR
2019 2018
—EB-NF —E-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Current assets mEEE 1,956,008 2,006,853
Non-current assets SEMENE E 1,003 1,036

Current liabilities REAE 69,553 78,233
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 BZE_Z—NF+_A=+—HIEFE

16. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

(b) Summarised financial information of

16. RELE N T 2 HEZHE @)
(b) BEATZHBEERBRE

associates (Continued) (%)
Beijing Minmetals Vanke (Continued) IREEER ()
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHT
Profit/(loss) for the year RERRF,(EB) 37 (303)
Other comprehensive expense AEEEMEZEMX
for the year (42,235) (92,995)
Total comprehensive expense NEERHEMASZ B
for the year (42,198) (93,298)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial
information to the carrying amount of the interest in

EXHBERMERILL R ARES
MREEPBRERAMERZE

Beijing Minmetals Vanke recognised in the consolidated =HARMEE R
financial statements:
2019 2018
—ZE-h#F AN S
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FERT FHET
Net assets of the associate BN Al AEFRE 1,887,458 1,929,656
Proportion of the Group’s interest in AEBRIERTBESR 2
Beijing Minmetals Vanke 7 % Lt 131 51% 51%
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FHT
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest A& E NIt R ABE R
in Beijing Minmetals Vanke IR Az 2 BRE A 962,604 984,124




17. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES
(a)

17. REE QR 2R

Investments (@ RE
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHET
At beginning of the year REF 97,028 99,065
Investments in joint ventures REBRNAIZERE — 5,680
Exchange differences ME W ZEE (1,947) (4,407)
Share of results of joint ventures DR EE R REE (10,380) (3,310)
At end of the year RER 84,701 97,028

Details of the Group's joint ventures as at 31 December

2019 and 2018 are as follow:

AEEBR-_ZE-—NFREZZE—N

F+ZA=+—H2

BE QAR

BT
Place of Proportion of equity
incorporation and interest held by
Name of entity Principal activities operation the Group
rEERE
BEEEH TERH TMREE R PR A 2 e
ERNEREHEREERLA Real estate development Mainland China 33.9%
(Gekuangli Nanjing Property Development Co. Ltd.)
("Gekuangli”) (note (i)
ERNAREHEREERAR (BERM)(ME0) FHEERR B A3t
ARBEFeEHEREERAA Real estate development  Mainland China 39.8%
(Nanjing Kuanglijin Property Development Co. Ltd.)
("Kuanglijin) (note (i)
ERBNEEHERZARAR(BNED(ME)) BHEERR B,
BNZEEHEREBRAF Real estate development  Mainland China 10%

J
(Guangzhou Anhe Real Estate Development Co. Ltd))
(

"Guangzhou Anhe") (note (ii))

EMZARHERZFERARN(EMZAD(MEN)) ErEZRE

REAL




o P A 2 R B

For the year ended 31 December 2019 BZE=T—AF+-A=+—HILFE

17. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

(CONTINUED)
(a) Investments (Continued)
Notes:
(i) The companies are joint ventures established by the Group and

other investors in Mainland China with operating periods of 30
years. The Group accounts for its investments in these companies
as joint ventures as it exercises joint control over the investees
through its voting rights, as unanimous consent is required for the
relevant activities.

(if) During 2018, the Group obtained 10% of equity interest of
Guangzhou Anhe through capital injection. The Group accounts for
this investment as joint venture as it exercises joint control over the
investee through its voting rights, as unanimous consent of all
equity holders is required for the relevant activities.

(b) Summarised financial information of
material joint ventures
Summarised financial information in respect of each of the
Group’s material joint ventures is set out below. The
summarised financial information below represents
amounts shown in the joint ventures’ financial statements
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

All of these joint ventures are accounted for using the
equity method in the consolidated financial statements.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17. REE QA 2 )

(a)

(b)

It

BE@®)

BT

(i) ZERAARNEERPE A EM
BEBERLZBERT EEHA
30F - MR AEE BB EREH
BEFTELRZES (R AREES
BE—RRE)  MEBRZEAT
ZREANRERAERA

(ii) RZFE—N\F AEBBEBRFER

BINEE 10%IRE - AL A]

BB EEHWIRERRITHERR

Vel (B RiERE e AR AT A IR

BEA—BRAE) - E&ﬁ%@lﬂ%é’%&
BEANREREE AR

BERNTFZHMBERBE

AEEREALERAZHBEER
ZINFEWMT - THHBERBRR
B2INEBERRNMBREZ
SERIRBEEWBRE EL R
Bl o



17. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

(CONTINUED)

(b) Summarised financial information of

17. REE DT ZERE @®
(b) EERARAZHBERBE

material joint ventures (Continued) ()
Gekuangli EBEF
2019 2018
—ZE-h#F AN S
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHET
Current assets MENEE 7,752,987 7,750,174
Non-current assets EMENEE 110 121
Current liabilities REBEE 6,536,654 7,642,562
Non-current liabilities EMEBBE 1,116,321 —
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Loss for the year NEEEE (5,345) (2,723)
Other comprehensive expense for AEEEMEZERMX
the year (2,267) (5,219)
Total comprehensive expense for REE2HEMASEE
the year (7,612) (7,942)
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 BZE_Z—NF+_A=+—HIEFE

17. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

(CONTINUED)

(b) Summarised financial information of
material joint ventures (Continued)
Gekuangli (Continued)
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial
information to the carrying amount of the interest in

17. REE QA 2 )

(b) BEQTZHBENYE
()
B ()
LB IS AR B B AR
B BE|MR MR 2 ESRE

Gekuangli recognised in the consolidated financial BHEEROT
statements:
2019 2018
—ZE-h#EF AN
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Net assets of the joint venture AENRCEEFR 100,122 107,733
Proportion of the Group's interest REBRBEEN
in Gekuangli T 2 LE 151 33.9% 33.9%
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Carrying amount of the Group's interest ZN52 B A B HE FI| AL A #E 25
in Gekuangli Z BRMHAE 33,941 36,522
Kuanglijin BF £
2019 2018
—E-h#F —E-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Current assets TMENE E 5,494,762 5,262,914
Non-current assets JEMENE E 481 346
Current liabilities nBEE 4,954,575 4,692,192
Non-current liabilities FRBAE 423,718 433,199




17. REE DR 2= @)
(b) EERARAZHBERBE

17. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

(CONTINUED)
(b) Summarised financial information of

material joint ventures (Continued) ()
Kuanglijin (Continued) BF % (4F)
2019 2018
—ZE-h#F —ZE-)N\F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
TET FHET
Revenue WA 43,243 —
Loss for the year KEFEE (18,212) (5,808)
Other comprehensive expense for AFEEEMEEAS
the year (2,707) (6,702)
Total comprehensive expense for AEEL2HEHAXRE
the year (20,919) (12,510)

AP BHERREERE D AR
B BWMERAMER ZEEERR

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial
information to the carrying amount of the interest in

Kuanglijin recognised in the consolidated financial BHEEROT
statements:
2019 2018
—B-NF —E-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Net assets of the joint venture AENRCEEFE 116,950 137,869
Proportion of the Group's interest AEERENE 2
in Kuanglijin et 39.8% 39.8%
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHT
Carrying amount of the Group's interest N2 B A REF| & B A #E 25
in Kuanglijin Z BRMHAE 46,546 54,872
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(CONTINUED)

17. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—T—AF+-_A=+—HILFE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17. REE QA 2 )

(c) Information of joint venture that is not () ERMSEFRERZEERD
individually material Ci4-¢=
2019 2018
—2-hE  —ENF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET
The Group's share of loss for the year 7<= B & {l AN 4F & 518 (1,320) (75)
The Group’s share of other REERGEMET
comprehensive (expense)/income (%), Wz (101) 29
The Group's share of total ANEEEGEERY B
comprehensive expense (1,421) (46)
18. INVENTORIES 18. #&
2019 2018
—E-hF —ZT-N\F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FEx FHET
Properties under development BRERAYE
— located in Mainland China (a) — 2P B A b (a) 14,314,530 14,457,449
Properties under development BERBPYE
— located in Hong Kong (a) — LR EH () 4,781,647 4,407,395
19,096,177 18,864,844
Properties held for sale FHELEWME
— located in Mainland China — IR B A 5,627,173 6,922,177

24,723,350

25,787,021




18. INVENTORIES (CONTINUED)

18. =& =®)

(a) Properties under development (@) BERPYE
2019 2018
—E-hEF - N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FET
Land use rights T AR 14,759,772 15,248,471
Construction costs FEEERR 4,336,405 3,616,373
19,096,177 18,864,844

Effective from 1 January 2019, the carrying amount of
leasehold lands is measured under HKFRS 16 at cost less
any accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
The residual values are determined as the estimated
disposal value of the leasehold land component. No
depreciation charge is made on the leasehold lands taking
into account the estimated residual values as at 31
December 2019.

As at 31 December 2019, properties under development
with carrying amount of HK$4,946,825,000 (2018:
HK$7,735,867,000) have been pledged as collaterals for
bank borrowings (Note 29 (a)).

BE-ZE-AF-A—-HE ME
THERERERBEEEMBHREE
AIE SRR A BRI RETITE
RAEBEREIEE - SREETE
REEL BB HER
B-KARR_ZE-NF+A
=t BEmfbEeE EHE
ELERTERX

RZE—NAF+—A=+—8"

BR [ 18 54,946,825,000/8 7T (= &
— J\£F 1 7,735,867,00078 7T ) K3 &
FYEBEHRIEARITERZIE
& (B EE29()) ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 BZE=T—AF+-A=+—HILFE

19. PREPAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER 19. AN RIE - EFRHMER
RECEIVABLES E Q]
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHBT T
Trade receivables, net (b) BB IE  FEb 414,923 448,660
Deposits b 55,501 63,390
Prepayments (c) BT FIE (0 880,309 855,178
Prepayments for land cost (d) B AR (d 4,608,941 1,986,073
Loans to a non-controlling shareholder BRF— Zﬁf‘ﬁ%’& Alz—
of a subsidiary (Note 39(b)) BIEERRAR R
(P 5E39(b)) 2,787,988 2,951,037
Amount due from an associate FEU — KB & A BN
(Note 39(b)) (B 5E39(b)) 58,010 837,513
Amounts due from joint ventures JEYE & A FIFRIA
(Note 39(b)) (Fﬁ?ﬁw(b 4,122,198 4,616,224
Loans to an associate ERT—XKBE QR
(Note 39(b)) (B 5E39(b)) 781,425 —
Loan to a joint venture BERT—KEERF
(Note 39(b)) (B 5E39(b)) 116,770 —
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries FEU R R F B A R R IE
(Note 39(b)) (B 5 39(b)) 9,489 —
Others HAth 98,597 110,279
13,934,151 11,868,354
(@)  The carrying amounts of prepayments, trade and other @ TENKIE - B S KHMEWRKIE
receivables are denominated in the following currencies: ZEREETI AT 5 E %5 8R
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHT FHET
HKS BT 143,365 208,236
Renminbi ("RMB") ARE (AR 13,790,706 11,660,029
Macao pataca ("MOP”") RPTEE ([RPI%E D) 80 89

13,934,151 11,868,354




19. PREPAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER

RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

(b)

The aging analysis of trade receivables based on due date
for rental receivables, date of properties delivered to
purchasers and billing date of construction services

FRIE (@)

19. ARFIE - EZREMER

b) BEEHEASIHA VEINAT

EXMEHRE

2 RF A

RERHEN CESRKRALZ

certified is as follows: BRI HITAT -
2019 2018
—E-hF ZZE-N\F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
TR FHET
0 to 90 days 0&90H 128,645 209,399
91 to 180 days 91£180H 110,378 55,922
181 days to 1 year 18B1THE—F 22,961 45833
1 year to 2 years —FEMF 75,072 92,846
Over 2 years MF LA 124,816 96,236
461,872 500,236
Less: Allowance for impairment B BERE (46,949) (51,576)
414,923 448,660

Movements in the allowance for impairment of trade

E FEAGRIAE L 2R E A

receivables are as follows: ZEEIT
2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FAT
At beginning of the year F 1) 51,576 57,711
Exchange differences P& 5 =58 (916) (2,217)

(Reversal of)/allowance for BB (B8, Bt

impairment, net FE (3,711) 5433
Written off bt — (9,351)
At end of the year FIR 46,949 51,576

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables for the year ended 31 December 2019 are set
out in Note 38.

BE_Z—NWF+=-_A=+—8H
HFE BESREMERKEZ
A EF BN E38 -
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19.

20.

PREPAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

() As at 31 December 2019, prepayments include prepaid
taxes and other charges of approximately HK$826,753,000
(2018: HK$687,619,000).

As at 31 December 2019, prepayments for land cost
represent payments to the PRC Bureau of lLand and
Resources for the acquisition of lands in Mainland China
and the amount will be reclassified to inventory upon
issuance of land use rights certificates.

The other items within trade and other receivables do not
contain past due or impaired assets.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting
period is the carrying amount of receivables mentioned above.
The Group does not hold any collateral as security.

19‘

ENARE - EZREAMER

FIE (@)

© RZ-ZE—hF+=-—A=+—8"
ENRBREBENREREME
3 #9826,753,0008 7L (=& — )\
£F 1 687,619,00058 7T ) °

R-ZBE-NAF+-A=+—8"
TEA Ak AN 15 B R R B A b U
BN THEBELZERRE
ZHE MUESBEHRERE L
HiE BREERERRTE

BHREMBEKRAERZ KR
BT BEEAHKEREEE -

RBERLAZEREERRTY D&
WOERIR 2 BREME © AN SR B3 | 35 8 (£ 1]
5 F IR -

CONTRACT ASSETS 20. SHEE
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E—-)N\F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FExT FHET
Construction services R 358,918 310,598
Retention receivables FERIRE S 141,521 143,235
At end of the year REFER 500,439 453,833
As at 1 January 2018, contract assets amounted to approximately RZE-NF-—HA—R GHEEZS

HK$300,060,000.

The contract assets from construction services primarily relate to
the Group's right to consideration for work completed and not
billed because the rights are conditioned on the Group's future
performance. The contract assets are transferred to trade
receivables when the rights become unconditional, typically
upon the issuance of certifications.

%A /5 #9300,060,00078 TT

BERBHNENEETES RAKEL
EERTREBKEZEN(ERREA
R ) LA 7K 55 B O SR R B 40 R 1R - B
RBEHEE) ANEEREMNKAE
RIS (BERBLERAZR) BREE



20.

21.

CONTRACT ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Retention receivables are included in contract assets until the
end of the retention period as the Group’s entitlement to this
final payment is conditional on the Group's fulfillment of its
quality warranty obligation. As at 31 December 2019, retention
receivables with carrying amount of HK$69,766,000 (2018:
HK$91,737,000) are expected to be recovered after twelve
months from the end of the reporting period.

The Group classifies these contract assets as current because the
Group expects to realise them in its normal operating cycle.

20.

BHREEm
FBURESFAANEE  HEZRIEH
HERIF BANEERIZERENTD
RN EEEZEXNEEE2REFTETAIK
- BE_FT—NF+_A=+—8"
BR ™ 869,766,000/ 7T (Z & — \&F -
91,737,0007& 7T) #) FE WUR [E & T8 HA #5 74
HEME+ _@EABKD -

AEBBZSENEESIERRDE
E REARAEEERENAESKE
BHABZEEEZR -

CONTRACT COSTS 21. 8K
2019 2018
—E-hE —T—)\F
HK$’000 HKS'000
FHET FHET
Sales commissions HERE 15,237 12,275

Contract costs relate to the incremental sales commissions paid/
payable to property agents whose selling activities resulted in
customers entering into sale and purchase agreements for the
Group's properties. Contract costs are recognised as part of
selling and marketing expenses in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss in the period in which revenue from the related
property sales is recognised.

BRIRAS REN /Y ERIZHE
BHERS  ZFAENHEELHEE
HEPIVEBASENENEERE D
& BHRATIRN AR EEEMFK
D ERAPREFREBSRANERRHEE
REHFH—E D -
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22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22. FRHEMEZENWREAAE

at the end of the reporting period:

The Group's equity securities investment is measured at fair value

Fair value as at

THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE ATECHMBEE
INCOME
2019 2018
“E-hE B NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHBT
Listed equity securities in Hong Kong REB LM ZBRAFS
At beginning of the year F1 811,254 792,817
Fair value gain recognised in other REM2E KRR ER
comprehensive income Z AR ERE 587,698 18,437
At end of the year Fax 1,398,952 811,254

AEENRRERERANRAEFRER
AV R

ZHBEE — EHBRANE?

RUTBEHHNARE
Valuation
31 December 31 December Fair value technique(s) and
Financial assets 2019 2018 hierarchy key input(s)
—E-hEF —E-N\F ARE fhE R M &
MBEE +tZHA=+t—-HBH +ZA=+—8H &35 FE@WARE
HK$’000 HK$'000
THER TET
Financial assets at fair value 1,398,952 811,254 Level 1 Quoted prices in an
through other comprehensive active market
income — Listed equity
securities
FREMEPEAKRBAAETS E— PR VE BB T 35 #) B

BEAE



22.

23.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME (cONTINUED)

The equity securities investment has been designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income, which, in the
opinion of the Directors, resulting more relevant information for
the Group's financial instruments based on how the Group
manages its equity instruments. Dividend income recognised
during the year related to those investments held at end of the
year is HK$50,703,000 (2018: HK$69,141,000). There is no disposal
or transfer of the cumulative gain or loss within equity during
both years.

22 FRHEMEENWREAAE

SATECHEEE @

BABHEECEEASBBEMEAEU
HEAREHNE MESRAEERAE
EERBEEEERATANTR  HE
FHRBNT S TEEBEER - FRER
HERMFENZERETBNRIK
A £50,703,0008 T (Z T — N\ F .
69,141,000 7T ) ° AW B F E £ =
MENEREB R EIE -

OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS/LIABILITIES 23. HitB B &EE AE
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-)N\F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHERT FHET
Other financial assets Hi & E
Derivatives under hedge accounting HihastT2iiET A
Cash flow hedges e EE
— Interest rate swap (a) — = B (a) 19,771 30,091
Other financial liabilities HEtEsaE
Derivatives under hedge accounting HAHEFT2TEIAR
Cash flow hedges WemEEHH
— Interest rate swap (a) — &= 8 () 25,713 —

(a) Cash flow hedges:
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the
following interest rate swap contracts designated as highly
effective hedging instruments in order to manage the
Group's interest rate exposure in relation to the bank
borrowings on a floating interest rate basis.

(a) REREHH
RBEHR AEEHEAB T
EERBEARE T TAENHN X
EHAKY BUHEEAKENR
EBF R B 2 IRITIE R
B A R L o
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 BZE_Z—NF+_A=+—HIEFE

23. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS/LIABILITIES 23. HB K EE & & @)
(CONTINUED)

(a) Cash flow hedges: (Continued) (a) REREHM™ : 5
The terms of the interest rate swap contracts have been MEEHEONERTEERE
negotiated to match the terms of the respective E - ARESAEEEEHIER
designated hedged items. The major terms of these HGER - ZEEHNEZERTD
contracts are as follows: ™~
31 December 2019 ZE-NFf+ZA=+—H

Other financial assets

HihBiigEE

Notional amount Maturity Swaps

BELHE ZH B 5 5

HK$3,600,000,000 June 2020 From floating rates to fixed interest rates
3,600,000,0007% 7T 202096 A % B A1) 3 2 [ E A

Other financial liabilities

Httft s e s

Notional amount Maturity Swaps

EHTH ZH A =5

HK$1,000,000,000 October 2022 From floating rates to fixed interest rates
1,000,000,0003% 7T 2022108 RS B A1) 3 2 [ 7F Al

During the year, fair value loss of HK$36,033,000 (2018: RAREE - 25 B 536,033,000
HK$45,994,000) have been recognised in other BIT(ZZF— J\HF 1 45,994,000
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity. ) EREMEEBRANER - I

RiEas Rt e



24. CASH AND BANK DEPOSITS, 24, SREIBERBITER

RESTRICTED
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-)N\F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHERT FHET
Restricted cash XEGEE 42,702 201,353
The carrying amounts of restricted cash are denominated in RMB. ZREIFEEAAREIE RZE—N
As at 31 December 2019, the weighted average effective interest F+ZA=+—H NMEFHEREFAF
rate was 0.3% (2018: 0.3%) per annum. K E03% (ZF—N\F 1 03%) °
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting RBERRBEFRZ 2 ESEERRA
period is the carrying amount of cash and bank deposits. Re RBITHERZKMEE -
The restricted cash represents (i) performance deposits for ZRHRSIBENEEBE CBORES
construction projects; and (i) guarantee deposits for the benefit EHEERTRITEAAEBRYWECE
of mortgage loan facilities granted by banks to the purchasers of KIZBERBMEFRHZ BERETR -
the Group's properties.
25. CASH AND BANK DEPOSITS, 25. FERERERVITHER
UNRESTRICTED
2019 2018
—ZE-h#EF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Cash at banks RITIRE 2,856,340 3,242,219
Short-term deposits RETFR 993,666 365,338
Cash on hand FHER® 92 219

Cash and bank deposits He LIRITER 3,850,098 3,607,776
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 BZE_Z—NF+_A=+—HIEFE

25. CASH AND BANK DEPOSITS, 25. TERFRERBITER
UNRESTRICTED (coNTINUED) (%)
As at 31 December 2019, the weighted average effective interest RZE—NF+ZA=+—1H BT
rate of short-term deposits was 2.59% (2018: 2.26%) per annum. R I BRERNEF259% (ZF

— J\4F : 2.26%) °

The carrying amounts of cash and bank deposits are R RBITERZEREBETIATIIEE
denominated in the following currencies: HIER ¢
2019 2018
—E-hF ZZT-N\F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FERT FHET
HKS BT 779,242 545,513
RMB AR¥E 2,981,146 2,735,661
uss ETT 89,195 326,152
MOP EPTHE 515 450
3,850,098 3,607,776
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting RBEHKRBERZ 2 EaEERRA
period is the carrying amount of cash and bank deposits. Re RBITHERZERME -
26. SHARE CAPITAL 26. IR A
2019 2018
—E-hE ZE-N\F
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
R & S8 % 2k G-
‘000 HK$’000 '000 HK$'000
T TER TR FHET
Authorised: ERE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each BREE0NET
E IR 10,000,000 1,000,000 10,000,000 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BEEBITRE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each FREE BT
gl
Balance at beginning of FYHEH
the year 3,346,908 334,691 3,345,027 334,503
Exercise of share options TR RERR#E — — 1,881 188

Balance at end of the year FRRAEER 3,346,908 334,691 3,346,908 334,691




26. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

Share options

On 29 May 2003, the Company adopted a share option scheme
(the “2003 Share Option Scheme”) under which the Directors, at
their discretion, invited any person who has contributed or will
contribute to the Group to subscribe for shares of the Company
at nominal consideration of HK$10 for each lot of options
granted. The exercise price was determined by the Directors, and
would not be less than the highest of: (i) the closing price per
share as stated in the daily quotations sheet of Main Board of the
Stock Exchange on the date of grant of the relevant option; (ii)
the average closing price per share as stated in the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant of the
relevant option; and (iii) the nominal value of the share of the
Company. The 2003 Share Option Scheme had expired on 28
May 2013. On 7 June 2013, the Company adopted a new share
option scheme (the “2013 Share Option Scheme”) with the same
terms under the 2003 Share Option Scheme. Notwithstanding
the expiry of the 2003 Share Option Scheme, the share options
which had been granted during the life of the 2003 Share
Option Scheme shall continue to be valid and exercisable
pursuant to the 2013 Share Option Scheme.

(i)  Details of the share options granted are as follows:
The options are exercisable upon fulfillment of certain
performance targets achieved by the Group and grantees.
These options are exercisable in three tranches: the
maximum percentage of options of each tranche
exercisable within the exercisable periods commencing
from 1 December 2010 to 30 November 2018, from 1
December 2011 to 30 November 2018 and from 1
December 2012 to 30 November 2018 are 30%, 30% and
40% respectively. The fair value of share options in the
three tranches is HK$0.3355 per share. As the exercisable
periods were expired on 30 November 2018, no share
options were outstanding as at 31 December 2019 and 31
December 2018.

26. B (m)
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26. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)
Share options (Continued)
Movements in the above share options are as follows:

26. B (@)
B IS ()
(i) LABREZEBMT

2019 2018
—E-hF ZZT-N\F
Number of Number of
share options share options
BREHE A ER R
‘000 ‘000
F IR F 1%
At beginning of the year F9) — 3,525
Lapsed B — (1,644)
Exercised 21T — (1,881)
At end of the year FR — —

During the year ended 31 December 2018, 1,881,000 share
options were exercised and the weighted average share
price for the year ended 31 December 2018 was HK$1.35.

gz N\F+=ZA=+—H
W& E - B171£1,881,0000% B8 A
R N\F+-_A=+—
B ENEFERERIISET -




27. RESERVES

27.

(G

Employee
Capital ~ share-based  Investments Cash flow
Share  Contributed dempti pensati luati hedging  Revaluation Other Exchange Retained
premium surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve earnings Total
5 EERHGA %% BeH
RAEE  R4B®  REEE ERAMEE  EAEGE  HWEE  ERRE  BtEE  EXEE  REEH E
HKS000 HKS000 HKS 000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS 000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS 000 HKS000 HKS000
FEn FEn FEn FEn FEn FEn FEn FEn FEn FEn FEn
(note () (note (o) (note (c))
(GED) (M) GEG)
Balance as at 1 January 2018 RZB-N\F-A-Rz&H 4213883 515336 769 1183 135080 76085 4359 (311449) (460) 3565549 8018174
Issue of shares BRkH 1289 - - 631 - - - - - - 638
Redlassfication of employee share option EEERERNENHR
benefits - - - (552) - - - - - 550 -
Fair value gain of financial assets ot far value ~ BAEM2EREER A B 82
thiough other comprehensive income SHEAEREL DR BUE - - - - 18437 - - - - - 18437
Fair value loss on hedging instumentsin~—— RETEROEITAZ
cash flow hedges DLEEE - - - - - (45,994) - - - - (459%4)
Curtency translation acjustments EREE - - - - - - - - (692483) - (692483
2017 final dividend paid TR-F-tERERS - - - - - - - - - (200739) 200739)
Profit for the year FEEFH - - - - - - - - - 934964 934964
Balnceasat 31 Decenter 2018 RoF-NFHoAZt-Azés  anm o S5 % - oms 091 49 BIAY M1 4ms smer
Fair value gain of financial assets ot far value ~ BBEM 2EREER A B8
thiough other comprehensive income SBAEMEL . AL ENE - - - - 587,698 - - - - - 587,698
Fair velue loss on hedging instuments i~ BATRERHETAL
cash flow hedges RAEER - - - - - (36,033) - - - - (36,033)
Currency translation adjustments 355 - - - - - - - - (402,048) - (402,048)
(Gain on partil disposal of a subsidiary HER-FHBATBHEEL
e - - - - - - - 1,584 - - 1,584
2018 fial dividend paid EH-F-NERERE - - - - - - - - - ensy) (267,753)
Profitfor the year T - - - - - - - - - 942,689 942,689
Balanceas at 31 December 2019 RoE-AEtZAZt-RuEH  asm s1s3% 769 - (594 4359 (09GN (14153 497S2 685915
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27. RESERVES (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(@]

Contributed surplus mainly represents the excess of the fair value of shares
in Minmetals Land Investments Limited acquired by the Company over the
nominal value of the new shares of the Company issued pursuant to the
share exchange agreement.

Under the Companies Act of Bermuda, contributed surplus is distributable
to shareholders, subject to the condition that the Company cannot declare
or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of contributed surplus if (i) it
is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they
become due, or (i) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less
than the aggregate of its liabilities, issued share capital and share premium
account.

Other reserve represents the differences between the amount by which non-
controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of consideration paid or
received when the Group acquired or disposed of partial interests in
existing subsidiaries.

As stipulated by regulations in Mainland China, the Company’s subsidiaries
established and operated in Mainland China are required to appropriate a
portion of their after-tax profit (after offsetting prior year losses) to the
statutory reserves at the rate of 10%. The appropriation as at 31 December
2019, amounting to approximately HK$999,927,000 (2018: HK$871,613,000),
was included in retained earnings at 31 December 2019.

28. PERPETUAL CAPITAL INSTRUMENTS

27. @B @

FRE

(a)

(b)

(@]

EHBHE ZHEADQ TR KEMNmetals
Land Investments Limited i& 15 2 2 £ (BB H
ARABBRDZRIBBRITIRD 2K
NEEZZE -

REBFREQRREL  BEHRASKAHIIK TR
R BETHERTARBTEEIRIIKE
BB sk R B A AR ¢ (VAR A R BB SR
R KRR RESEIREE - AR
AEEZAZREEHEMERNEAE B
BT R (B B 2 A o

HibBEFERESRESEELALE
WERHEREHBERTNMOERED
NREWRHRENRIABEZRNEE -

FE AR OIRE - AR R E AL
R&BEZWEBARBEGTDBREEER (£
ST FHEIER)BALEHE XA
0% - R=ZE—NF+=—A=+—H BH#
TR #9 5999,927,0008 T (ZF — N\ &F -
871,613,000 L) ' ERIEE=-_ZT— L&
TZA=+—BRREBERZRN -

28. KAEAXRTIH

2019 2018

—E-hEF —E-N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHT

Perpetual loan (note (a)) KA ER (@) 2,234,464 2,285,029
Perpetual securities (note (b)) KAESH (H3EDb)) 1,569,183 1,569,260
3,803,647 3,854,289




28. PERPETUAL CAPITAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Notes:

(@)

(b)

On 28 December 2017, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (the
"Borrower”), a fellow subsidiary and a bank (the “Bank”) have entered into
an entrustment loan agreement (the “Perpetual Loan Agreement”),
pursuant to which the fellow subsidiary shall entrust the Bank to lend
RMB2,000 million (the “Perpetual Loan”) to the Borrower. The Perpetual
Loan bears interest at the benchmark interest rate for loans over five years
as quoted by the People’s Bank of China per annum. Interest payments on
the Perpetual Loan are paid annually in arrears from 28 December 2017
and can be deferred at the discretion of the Borrower. Neither the fellow
subsidiary nor the Bank could request for repayment of the principal and
accrued interest save and except for when the Borrower elects to repay the
principal and accrued interest at its sole discretion, or in the event of
liquidation. Under the Perpetual Loan Agreement, no guarantee of any kind
is required to be given by any member of the Group to either the fellow
subsidiary or the Bank for the Perpetual Loan. As the Group has the right to
defer the repayment of the principal and accrued interest at its sole
discretion, it has no direct or indirect contractual financial obligation to pay
cash or other financial asset in respect of the Perpetual Loan, thus, the
instrument is therefore classified as equity in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

On 17 May 2018 (“Issue Date"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
(the “Issuer”) issued USS denominated senior perpetual capital securities
(the “Perpetual Securities”) with an aggregate principal amount of
US$200,000,000. The Perpetual Securities were issued at par value with
initial distribution rate of 7.00% per annum. The Perpetual Securities were
recorded as equity, after netting off related issuance costs of approximately
US$1,800,000.

The Perpetual Securities confer to the holders a right to receive distribution
at the applicable distribution rate from the Issue Date semi-annually in
arrears in equal instalments on 17 May and 17 November of each year,
commencing on 17 November 2018, and may be deferred at the discretion
of the Issuer unless compulsory distribution payment events (including
distributions to shareholders of the Company) have occurred. The
distribution rate shall be (i) in respect of the period from, and including, the
Issue Date to, but excluding 17 May 2021 (the “First Call Date"), at 7.00%
per annum and (i) in respect of the periods (A) from and including the
First Call Date to, but excluding the immediately following reset date and
(B) from, and including, each reset date falling after the First Call Date to,
but excluding, the immediately following reset date, the sum of (a) the
initial spread of 4.338%, (b) the treasury rate and (c) 5% per annum. A reset
date is defined as each of the First Call Date and each day falling on the
expiry of every three calendar years after the First Call Date.

As the Group has the right to defer the repayment of the principal and
accrued interest at its sole discretion, it has no direct or indirect contractual
financial obligation to pay cash or other financial asset in respect of the
Perpetual Securities, thus, the Perpetual Securities are therefore classified as
equity in the consolidated statement of financial position.

28. KAEXRTEA @)
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29. BORROWINGS 29. 18
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Non-current FEMED
Bank borrowings, secured (a) RITIER - BERQ) 2,730,917 10,729,286
Bank borrowings, unsecured (a) RITER - BER ) 3,464,076 —
Guaranteed bonds, unsecured (b) ERES - EEF D) 3,296,288 3,309,986
9,491,281 14,039,272
Current Vi)
Bank borrowings, secured (a) IRITIER > BHEF@) 6,788,084 809,936
Bank borrowings, unsecured (a) RITER - EEF@Q) 293,542 205,429
Loans from a non-controlling shareholder of ~ —RHIB R Al — & IEIE
a subsidiary, unsecured (Note 39(b)) RARER 2 ER - |
(P 5E39(b)) 114,995 —
Loan from a fellow subsidiary, unsecured —ZXERNBERAFZ
(Note 39(b)) B EIEE
(M4 3E39(b) 39,071 —
Other borrowing, unsecured H b fEs - i 26,931 —
7,262,623 1,015,365
16,753,904 15,054,637
(a) Banking facilities (a) SRITRALE
The Group's aggregate banking facilities, including RZE-—NAFE+ZA=+—H"
bank borrowings, as at 31 December 2019 amounted REBEZRITRE 25 (BIERTT
to approximately HK$19,460,138,000 (2018: HK$22,355,858,000), & 3 #9 £19,460,138,0005% 7T (=
of which approximately HK$6,126,702,000 (2018: = — \F 1 22,355,858000%7T) °
HK$10,557,662,000) was unutilised. As at 31 December 2019, HAPRE)ARE 4 56,126,702,000
the collaterals for the banking facilities are as follows: BT (ZF—/)\F 1 10,557,662,000

BL) R-_FT—-—NAF+=-A
=t—B AEEERERIF

RITMEZEAROT ¢
(i) Properties under development with carrying amounts of (i) BR E (B 474,946,825,00078 JT
approximately HK$4,946,825,000 (2018: HK$7,735,867,000); —F— \%F : 7,735867,000

BT ZERTYE



29. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)
(@) Banking facilities (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

100% equity interest in a subsidiary; and

Corporate guarantees given by the Company.

(b) Guaranteed bonds

0]

On 26 April 2013, the Group issued the guaranteed
bonds (“2013 Guaranteed Bonds") with a principal
amount of US$225,000,000 and US$125,000,000
bearing interest at the coupon rate of 550% and
6.50%, per annum respectively, the 2013 Guaranteed
Bonds of US$125,000,000 will be matured on 26
April 2023. The 2013 Guaranteed Bonds with a
principal amount of US$225,000,000 were matured
on 26 April 2018 and repaid accordingly. The 2013
Guaranteed Bonds were guaranteed by the
Company and have the benefit of a keep well deed
from China Minmetals Corporation, the ultimate
controlling shareholder of the Company. Upon the
occurrence of a change of control triggering event,
the bondholders will have the right, at the
bondholders’ option, to require the Group to
redeem all, but not some only, of the outstanding
2013 Guaranteed Bonds at 101% of their principal
amounts, together with accrued interest. If the
Group would be obliged to pay additional tax
amounts in respect of the 2013 Guaranteed Bonds
as a result of any change in, or amendment to,
specified tax laws or regulations, all outstanding
2013 Guaranteed Bonds may be redeemed at the
Group's option, in whole but not in part, at their
principal amounts together with interest accrued up
to but excluding the redemption date.

The Group may at its option redeem the 2013
Guaranteed Bonds at any time, in whole but not in
part, at a Make Whole Price as of, and accrued and
unpaid interest, if any, to (but excluding), the
redemption date.

29. & & @
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29. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)
(b) Guaranteed bonds (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

(Continued)

“Make Whole Price” means with respect to the 2013
Guaranteed Bonds at any redemption date, the
greater of (1) the present value of the principal
amount of the 2013 Guaranteed Bonds, plus all
required remaining scheduled interest payments due
on the 2013 Guaranteed Bonds from the optional
redemption date to the maturity date (but
excluding accrued and unpaid interest to the option
redemption date), computed using a discount rate,
which the rate per annum equal to the semi-annual
equivalent yield in maturity of the comparable
treasury issue, plus 0.50 per cent, and (2) the
principal amount of the 2013 Guaranteed Bonds.

Early redemption options are regarded as embedded
derivatives not closely related to the host debt
instrument. The Directors consider that the fair value
of the above early redemption options is
insignificant on initial recognition and as at 31
December 2019 and 2018.

The effective interest rates of the 2013 Guaranteed
Bonds at the end of the reporting period were
6.73% for US$125,000,000 as at 31 December 2019
and 2018.

On 18 September 2018, the Group issued the
guaranteed bonds (“2018 Guaranteed Bonds”) with a
principal amount of US$300,000,000 bearing interest
at the coupon rate of 6.40% per annum, the 2018
Guaranteed Bonds will be matured on 18
September 2021. The 2018 Guaranteed Bonds were
guaranteed by the Company and have the benefit of
a keep well deed from China Minmetals Corporation,
the ultimate controlling shareholder of the
Company. Upon the occurrence of a change of
control triggering event, the bondholders will have
the right, at the bondholders’ option, to require the
Group to redeem all, but not some only, of the
outstanding 2018 Guaranteed Bonds at 101% of
their principal amounts, together with accrued
interest. If the Group would be obliged to pay
additional tax amounts in respect of the 2018
Guaranteed Bonds as a result of any change in, or
amendment to, specified tax laws or regulations, all
outstanding 2018 Guaranteed Bonds may be
redeemed at the Group's option, in whole but not in
part, at their principal amounts together with
interest accrued up to but excluding the
redemption date.

The effective interest rates of the 2018 Guaranteed
Bonds were 6.53% as at 31 December 2019 and
2018.
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29. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 29. fER @)

(c)  The maturity of the Group's borrowings is as follows: (c) AEBERIBHBERAT :
2019 2018
—E-hF —ZZT-N\F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
TR FHET
Bank borrowings HITER
Within one year —F RN 7,081,626 1,015,365
In more than one year but —FEMF
not more than two years 286,894 8,067,776
In more than two years but MEZEREF
not more than five years 5,908,099 2,661,510
13,276,619 11,744,651
Guaranteed bonds BRES
Within one year —FR — —
In more than one year but —FEMF
not more than two years 2,329,477 —
In more than two years but WMEBERF
not more than five years 966,811 3,309,986

3,296,288 3,309,986
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29. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 29. &K (#0)

(d) Bank borrowings totaling HK$13,220,803,000 (2018: (d) 13,220,803,000/87C (=& — )\ F :
HK$11,744,651,000) are on floating interest rate basis. The 11,744,651,0007 7T ) 2 $R17 {8 %
effective interest rates at the end of the reporting period FEAEEE  c RMEHKBE 2
were as follows: BERMEET :

2019 2018
—B-NF —E-)N\F
HK$ RMB HK$ RMB
BT AR BT ARE
Non-current R B
Bank borrowings RITHE R 4.46% 5.19% 4.21% 5.09%
Current T ED
Bank borrowings RITHE R 4.76% 6.80% 3.77% 5.23%
Loans from a non- —RMBERAR—%
controlling shareholder IR 2 B
of a subsidiary — 6.00% — —
Loan from a fellow —RARWBAEZ
subsidiary B - 6.00% — —
Other borrowing HMER - 6.00% — —

(e) The fair values of borrowings approximate their carrying (e) ERZARBEHEEREMBEMES -

amounts. The fair values are determined based on RABEEEIRESREET °

discounted cash flows.



29. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

29. fER @)

(f)  The carrying amounts of the Group's borrowings are (f) AEBERZEREIUATIE
denominated in the following currencies: BEBIER -
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FExT FAET
HKS BT 12,816,183 10,591,671
RMB AREE 641,433 1,152,980
uss eV 3,296,288 3,309,986
16,753,904 15,054,637
30. DEFERRED TAX 30. EEBIE
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Deferred tax assets FIERRIBE E 639,144 778,610
Deferred tax liabilities BRERIEBE (134,818) (133,288)
504,326 645,322
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30. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 BZE_Z—NF+_A=+—HIEFE

30. JEER H @)
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the
year are as follows:

FRECHEEERABENEFHNT

Deferred tax assets BEEHBEEE
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR FHET
Tax losses MIEEE
At beginning of the year F1 38,002 2,598
Exchange differences VE R =% (624) (1,382)
Recognised in the profit or loss PRI R (7,247) 36,786
At end of the year Fx 30,131 38,002
Temporary difference on accruals and contract JEFTERA RGN EEZ
liabilities i I £ 7R
At beginning of the year F9 740,608 1,093,981
Exchange differences &5 ZEE (14,205) (38,848)
Recognised in the profit or loss RiE R R (117,390) (314,525)
At end of the year FR 609,013 740,608




30. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

30. EFEBIE (@)

Deferred tax liabilities EEBEEE
2019 2018
—ZE-h#EF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Fair value gain D ERE
At beginning of the year F9) 1,043 3,037
Exchange differences EHER (315) (1,448)
Recognised in the profit or loss RIBEHER 2,516 (546)
At end of the year FR 3,244 1,043
Accelerated tax depreciation IRBIBITE
At beginning of the year FH 18,353 20,082
Recognised in the profit or loss RIBEER 7,079 (1,729)
At end of the year Fx 25,432 18,353
Undistributed retained earnings RO IRIREB BF
At beginning of the year F4 113,892 145,312
Recognised in the profit or loss RIBEER (7,750) (31,420)
At end of the year F 5 106,142 113,892

Deferred tax liabilities of HK$124,252,000 (2018: HK$73,488,000)
have not been recognised in respect of temporary difference
associated with undistributed retained earnings of certain
subsidiaries, as the Directors currently intend not to distribute the
retained earnings outside Mainland China in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried forward
to the extent that realisation of the related tax benefits through
future taxable profits is probable. Due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams, as at 31 December 2019, the Group had
unrecognised tax losses in Hong Kong of approximately
HKS$919,542,000 (2018: HK$820,196,000), which can be carried
forward against future taxable income and have no expiry date,
and unrecognised tax losses in Mainland China of approximately
HKS$274,975,000 (2018: HK$520,425,000) which will expire at
various dates up to and including 2024.

PEFERIE B {8 124,252,0008 70 (ZF—
F 173,488,000 0) WAL E THIB A
B2 ARDIRIRB BN G BRERE2E
HER e DERESFEBTESNIRE
RAGREE B 5k R B i B A

AR SEEERZEEHREEETI
BTSSR A 0] pe B B AR SR FE R
%IJ@IEZ'F%%FE %EA*XE%U;‘RE’JT
AIFEAEIM - R T E-NETF A=+
S $EIEA§,%T,.E.$§;L/&£E%5EWE%
B 2 RIER I BB A 291 9542000
BT (ZZ— /\4F : 820,196000787T)

WEREFE - MAEFBERES 2 RER
RIS 18 49 527497500058 T (Z & —

F 15204250008 70) * REEZZ E$
(BIERZE) L2 TR BEARIES -
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30. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED) 30.
Deferred tax liabilities (Continued)
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has deductible
temporary differences of HK$186,464,000 (2018: HK$266,692,000)
that have not been recognised as deferred tax assets as it is not
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iE 7E B I8 ()
EEHEEE @)

RERER  AEB M AERBELR
TH & FE /Y 7] 3008 R B 2= B8 5186,464,000
BT (ZZ— )\ : 266,692,000/ 7T)
E AT AP 6EA R s F a & A
FE e B 2= AR S o

31. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 31. EZ RHEMENKE
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-)N\F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHT T
Trade, bills and contract B EERED
payables (b) J& 15 5RIE (b) 1,234,045 1,986,284
Retention payables ERES 44,635 52,158
Accrued construction costs, other ERrELBR - e
accruals and other payables &AM EMFIE 6,904,027 5,471,033
Rental deposits received B ZES 17,288 18,247
Amounts due to a fellow subsidiary R —RERME R A
(Note 39(b)) I (i EE39(b)) 1,372,132 2,004,416
Amounts due to non-controlling FERT M B A R JEIZE AR IR R
shareholders of subsidiaries (Note 39(b)) FRIE (M 7E39(0)) 394,732 184,721
Amounts due to associates FE A B & X B SRR
(Note 39(b)) (PR 5E39(b)) 940,026 965,979

10,906,885

10,682,838




31. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (conTINUED)

(@) The carrying amounts of trade and other payables are

(b)

denominated in the following currencies:

31. ESZ R EMENKE @

(@) BHRHEMENREZEREETD

AT EEIE

2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHT FHET

HKS BT 284,082 248,372
RMB AR 10,554,586 10,363,307
uss ETT 54,110 57,118
MOP SELPT 14,107 14,041
10,906,885 10,682,838

The aging analysis of trade, bills and contract payables of

the Group based on invoice date is as follows:

(b) AEEES RBEREHNEMNK
BEERBEZBMZREDTOT

2019 2018
—E-NF —T-N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FER FHET

0 to 90 days 0Z90H 721,419 1,360,582
91 to 180 days 91E180H 120,425 324,248
181 days to 1 year 18IRE—4F 148,018 152,413
1 year to 2 years —FEMF 170,998 68,971
Over 2 years A A 73,185 80,070
1,234,045 1,986,284
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32. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 32. BHEE

2019 2018
—E-nE  —T-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Sales of properties HEME 4,553,520 6,119,742
As at 1 January 2018, contract liabilities amounted to RZE-N\F—A—RH &6HEEZ2

approximately HK$10,375,641,000. BH A #910,375,641,00078 7T °
The Group receives the considerations in advance from sales of AEERABPHEMFEBRRNRE - 78
properties to customers. The advance receipts result in contract WHRIBEYRERENAE  EEFPI

liabilities being recognised until the customer obtains control of SETER Y ER S o

the completed property.

During the year, HK$5,078,766,000 of revenue recognised relates RARFEE - BERIAS078,766,0007 7T
to brought-forward contract liabilities. BREESERANEOEE -
33. LEASE LIABILITIES 33. HEAE
2019
—E-hF
HK$’000
FET
Lease liabilities payable HEBE
Within one year —F R 16,598
Within a period of more than one year —FEMF
but not more than two years 28,093
Within a period of more than two years MEZRF
but not more than five years 43,649
88,340
Less: Amount due for settlement with 12 B mEBBEEETZR2EAR
months shown under current liabilities Rtz &% (16,598)

Amount due for settlement after 12 months ~ JERBIBEIE ~ 21218 A%
shown under non-current liabilities JEit 2 & %8 71,742




34. PENSION OBLIGATIONS

The Group participates in a defined contribution pension scheme
and a Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF") scheme for the eligible
employees in Hong Kong. Before 1 December 2000, a defined
contribution pension scheme was provided to certain eligible
employees employed by the Group. The Group ceased the
contributions since 1 December 2000, upon introduction of the
MPF scheme.

Under the MPF scheme, the Company and each of the Hong
Kong subsidiaries of the Company make monthly contributions
to the MPF at 5% of the employees’ cash income as defined
under the MPF legislation. Contributions by both the Company/
Hong Kong subsidiaries and their employees are subject to a
maximum of HK$1,500 per month per employee and thereafter
contributions are voluntary. The Group's contributions to the
pension scheme and MPF scheme are expensed as incurred.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Mainland China, the
Group contributes to a state-sponsored retirement plan for its
employees in Mainland China as determined by the local
government. The Group is required to contribute to the plan at a
rate ranging from 7% to 12% of the basic salary of Mainland
China employees in addition to contributions by employees at a
rate ranging from 7% to 12% of the basic salary as specified by
the local government, and the Group has no further obligations
for the actual payment of the pensions or post-retirement
benefits beyond the annual contributions made.

34. RkE ST

AEERERARERERS2EERMH
REREFE LB EATES ([BRTE
)8 - —TEEFEL_A—-HZ
Al AEBRERBRRAZETRAERER
RHt—IAEREHFRAEAE - N3lE
BESAER AREE_FTETHF
TZA—BECELABEHR-

BIFRESHE AR REARFEE
BB ARATRIREERERES A
BlEHEZRESWAZSRIEL BESH
e RNRR,/ EEHMBRANEEEZ
FRAMK R ABBMIEE1,5008TT -
BRI eE EIMABARELE - K
SEERSHE BB EHZRN
EERHSE -

RBFE A OERRE  AEELE
TEAMESREMBEFRERERE
BRIRET BIVEE K - BRIE B RIRM
BT 2 MEREEARF 2 HKT%E12%
Sh ARBERRPEANMESR 27%E
NREAFE A BT - BRZES
FHRIN - NRE W EE A ERER
KRERERAKREBEMZEE -
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

35. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED

For the year ended 31 December 2019 BZE_Z—NF+_A=+—HIEFE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35. MEREREBRME

(a) Reconciliation of profit before tax to cash generated from (a) B G L EEKEER
operations: K
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT T
Profit before tax B 5% BT A 2,260,099 3,463,416
Interest income FMEHA (221,744) (189,019)
Interest expense B 26,739 137,524
Depreciation ne 24,764 8,268
Fair value changes on investment REMERNREEE
properties (107,550) (134,052)
Gain on revaluation of inventories upon FEEREIREYEE 2
transfer to investment properties EHWEE — (5,623)
Loss on revaluation of property, plant ~ #)% « lE RREEHHEZE
and equipment upon transfer to WEMFER 2 EGHEE
investment properties 3,888 —
Impairment losses (reversed)/recognised FBHA{E B EIBHE AT
under expected credit loss model, net  JE{E (E1#),JBIE
of reversal E518 - kD (3,832) 6,514
Allowance for impairment of GFERERE
inventories 86,472 45,284
Fair value changes of other financial HiMBaEz A ARE
liabilities o) — 609
Share of results of associates PN (=B /NI ¥ 3,761 10,531
Share of results of joint ventures DIEBENRIELE 10,380 3,310
Operating profit before working EEESFEAIZ
capital changes il 2,082,977 3,346,762
Increase in inventories EAe:-Pill (703,554) (1,394,387)
Increase in prepayment, trade and FERHIE - BESRHEM
other receivables JiE W R TR 48 N (549,359) (347,652)
Increase in contract assets BHEEEM (56,536) (340,287)
Increase in contract costs A KR AN IS N (2,962) (12,275)
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 & L4t [l - FRIEIE A0 800,245 2,804,707
Decrease in contract liabilities and AHEBEREEYER L
deferred revenue (1,433,600) (3,781,172)
Decrease in other financial liabilities HmB % e @R — (42,569)
Decrease in other liabilities Hua &R (223) —
Decrease in cash and bank deposits, PR B8 & RIRITFE R
restricted e 154,245 393,731
Exchange adjustments 0E W P& (119,058) (44,205)
Cash generated from operations CEERMEER® 172,175 582,653




35. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities

35. REBEEREBRMT @
(b) BMETHELEEE YR

Non-cash changes

FRLEH

1 January Financing cash Exchanges New Other 31 December

2019 flows (i) adjustments leases changes (i) 2019

—¥-0E HE —g-1E

-A-H REREG ERAE HHE E#286) +-A=+-8

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TER THT THET TER THT THET

Guaranteed bonds BERES 3,309,986 — (13,698) - - 3,296,288

Bank and other loans RITREMER 11,744,651 1,733,020 (16,785) - (3.270) 13,457,616
Amounts due to a fellow ER-RAZNE

subsidiary NEFE 1,977,945 (561,955) (43,858) - - 1372132

Amounts due to associates JEfBE R AHE 965,979 (4,818) (21,135) - - 940,026
Amounts due to non-controlling ~ FE(H B A1k

shareholders of subsidiaries BREE 184,721 214,052 (4,041) - — 394,732

Lease liabilities HEAE 42,933 (5,880) (2,152) 50,002 3,437 88,340

18,226,215 1,374,419 (101,669) 50,002 167 19,549,134

Non-cash changes
¥H48Y

1 January Financing cash Exchanges Other 31 December

2018 flows (i) adjustments changes (i) 2018

—I-N\F —3-N\F

-A-8 HERETEN BT HbE8H  +TZA=T-H

HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000

FEL TR TET FEL TR

Guaranteed bonds BERES 2722770 578910 8306 - 3309986

Bank loans RITER 12,02545 (302803) (5,809) 27818 11,744,651

Amounts due to a fellow subsidiary ER-FRZNBAANE 3310162 (1,179969) (152248) - 1977945

18058377 (903,862) (149,751) 27818 17,032,582

(i)

The cash flows from bank loans and other borrowings
make up the net amount of proceeds from
borrowings and repayments borrowings in the
consolidated statement of cash flows.

() KERTERREMERZ
ReneBRATRERT
AR RARERERZ
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35.

36.

37.

NF+ZA=T—RALLFE

NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities (Continued)
(i) Other changes include amortisation of front-end fee
of interest-bearing bank borrowings and interest on
lease liabilities.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEES

As at 31 December 2019, guarantees given to banks for mortgage
facilities granted to certain purchasers of the Group’s properties
amounted to HK$2,580,145,000 (2018: HK$7,538,082,000). Such
guarantees will terminate upon the earlier of (i) the issuance of
the property ownership certificate which will generally be
available within one year after the purchasers take the possession
of the relevant properties; or (i) the repayment of mortgage loans
by the purchasers. After taking into account the net realisable
value of the related properties and the low default rate, the
Directors consider that the fair value of the financial guarantee
contracts at initial recognition and subsequently at the end of
each reporting period is not significant.

COMMITMENTS

(@) The Group had property development related expenditure
commitments as follows:

35.

36.

37.

RERERERWE @

METBMELAEEZHEK

(%)

(i) HEFHBEBRITER
AmERZBELHERE
ZHE -

tﬁ#ﬁ
—ZE-hhF+-_A=+—H8 BET
$E%¥E%Zﬂz%ﬂﬂﬁﬁﬁ & T IRTT
Z ¥E1R3%2,580,145,00058 T (ZF — N\
F 1 7,538,082,000/8 70) - 2 EHERBE R
THRPEEERIL  VEEMEMAB
BHRE(RREREEREMEE —F
NER) : () EREMNIZBK - ZEE
ZEMENERFEARBEOLEX &
ERBMBEREVIEEARBES R
FEHRNARBELTERK -

(b)

AIE
@ AEEEMEBEHEBENRER
SOEEMT

2019 2018
—E-hF — )\
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHT
Contracted but not provided for BETREREE

Expenditure in respect of acquisition BT HERAERE

of land use rights X 2,498,928 1,823,363
Expenditure in respect of properties BRERPMERS

under development 3,610,082 2,540,179

6,109,010

4,363,542




37. COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

(0

The Group had future aggregate minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases as follows:

(b)

37. A¥E @)

AEBRBERMAZE Z AR
HEEHENRREN 2 &EH
B RBEmT

2018
—E-N\F
HK$'000
FET

Not later than one year —F A
Later than one year but not later than —FREAFA
five years

The Group leases out investment properties under
operating leases which generally run for initial periods of
one to fifteen years. None of the leases includes
contingent rentals.

Minimum lease payments receivable on leases are as
follows:

12,364

46,570

58,934

AEERBENIRP-—ETHF
ZEEHERBREDE - ALY
WEBEHAREE

e 2 RAKFEE N RAERE T -

2019

—E-NF

HK$’000

FERT

Within one year —F A 80,741
In the second year F_4F 59,873
In the third year FE=AF 38,612
In the fourth year Ejusges 24,084
In the fifth year EFRF 11,675
After five years hF & 50,908

265,893
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37. COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED)
(@] (Continued)
The Group had future aggregate minimum lease receipts
under non-cancellable operating leases as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37. A¥E @)

(@

(%)
AEBRBEIAIHELERER
ARz REHRSEBENT

38. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND
MANAGEMENT

(a) Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk, cash flow
interest-rate risk, fair value interest-rate risk and equity
securities price risk for financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income), credit risk and liquidity risk.
These risks are managed by the Group's financial
management policies and practices as described below to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's financial
performance.

2018

—E-N\F

HK$'000

FHET

Not later than one year —F R 84,011
Later than one year but not later than —FREAFA

five years 137,358

Later than five years AFE 57,623

278,992

38. KEBEERER

(a)

MEREREE

AEB 2B RHEZEEWH
R - TG E R (BREIMNER R
ReRnEMERRE QAENE
R IA RSB B E b 2 E R E R D
REFEZHBEEZ BAES
EBRRER)  EERREADES
B AEEERTRYBKERE
BRMERERLFRE  AE
EREEHAEEMBRAZE
ERFEE -



38. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a)

(i)

Market risk

Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial
transactions and recognised assets and liabilities.
Majority of the subsidiaries of the Group operates in
Mainland China, with most of their transactions
denominated in RMB, functional currency of the
respective group entities. The Group is exposed to
foreign exchange risk arising from the exposure of
RMB against USS. It has not hedged its foreign
exchange rate risk.

In addition, the conversion of RMB into foreign
currencies is subject to the exchange rate, and rules
and regulations of foreign exchange control
promulgated by the PRC government.

At 31 December 2019, if RMB had weakened/
strengthened by 5% against USS with all other
variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year
would have been HK$2,945,000 (2018: HK$10,000)
higher/lower mainly as a result of foreign exchange
gains/losses on translation of assets and liabilities
denominated in a currency that is different from the
functional currency of the Group's entities.

Cash flow interest-rate risk

The Group's cash flow interest-rate risk arises from
the fluctuation of the prevailing market interest rate
on restricted and unrestricted bank deposits, loans
to a non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary and
borrowings issued at variable rates. Other than the
concentration of interest rate risk related to the
movements in Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate
and the loan interest published by the People’s Bank
of China, the Group has no significant concentration
of interest rate risk.

38. UHKEREZRREE m

(a) Bi%
(i)

2B E & (@)

15 /E B

HNE LB
AREEL S REOEREE
REEHRELINERR -
REBALHHBA LR
B R 48 - A EB AT 5 B
AR (HBEREENY
B M) o RE AT
ZHNERBR KA AR KR
ST o AN B 5 R E AN
W IE R R o

BEAN  ARBEHBBINER
5 o B8 P 3 AT 2R A 2 EE R
PA R SN I AR Rl B 0K AR P
MR -

R-ZE—AFE+-A=1+—
B WARBELEETLRE
FHES% » T FTA E S S
Brg  AIRFEEZRIE
i ) FE 38 00, IRk 422,945,000
BT (ZZF— )\ 1 10,0007
T0) W EBRPNIBE N
TRREEERIGEEE Y
BB ECEEMELZIE
HlEs B e

ReRENRER
AEBZBRSRENXER
RAXREIFZRIRITE
FoBERXRT —RWBRAZ
— BB R RIZF BT
KB ZERZERITI5F
KR - BREFBRITRZE
HRERFEARRITAME
ERA 2B E @SS A
KRR AEEHEEX
SRR o
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38. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND 38. KEAKREZERERE @
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(a) Financial risk factors (Continued) (a) BIBEREZE @
(i)  Market risk (Continued) (i) THEE(E)

Cash flow interest-rate risk (Continued)

The Group maintains a close relationship and
communicates regularly with its finance providers to
explore financing alternatives to monitor and
mitigate interest-rate risk. The Group has entered
into interest rate swaps to hedge against its
exposures to changes in cash flows of its certain
interest payments of borrowings (see Note 23).

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for non-
derivative instruments at the end of the reporting
period. No sensitivity analysis has been presented
for bank balances as the Directors consider that the
fluctuation in interest rates on bank balances is
minimal.

If interest rates on HK dollar-denominated
borrowings had been 100 basis points higher/lower
with all other variables held constant, (i) post-tax
profit for the year ended 31 December 2019 would
have been Nil (2018: HK$668,000) lower/higher in
respect of the finance cost charged to the profit or
loss; and (ii) properties under development would
have increased/decreased by approximately
HKS$107,490,000 (2018: HKS$88,220,000) for finance
cost capitalised into properties under development.

If interest rates on RMB-denominated borrowings
had been 100 basis points higher/lower with all
other variables held constant, (i) post-tax profit for
the year ended 31 December 2019 would have
been HK$883,000 (2018: HK$941,000) lower/higher in
respect of the finance cost charged to the profit or
loss; and (ii) properties under development would
have increased/decreased by approximately
HK$2,152,000 (2018: HKS$7,707,000) for finance cost
capitalised into properties under development.

RenENXmRE (&)

AEEEARERHEERES
EUIREL KT ER - M
BE TR - ABE RO EE A
K o NREBC AT LA X
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38. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a)

(i)

Market risk (Continued)

Cash flow interest-rate risk (Continued)

If interest rates on loans to a non-controlling
shareholder of a subsidiary had been 100 basis points
higher/lower and all other variables were held
constant, the Group's post-tax profit would have
increased/decreased by approximately HK$20,910,000
(2018: HK$22,133,000) for the year ended 31
December 2019.

Fair value interest-rate risk

The Group's fair value interest rate risk relates
primarily to the guaranteed bonds issued at fixed
rate.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of
the financial assets and financial liabilities recorded
at amortised cost in the consolidated statement of
financial position approximate their respective fair
values at the end of each reporting period.

Equity securities price risk

The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk
because of investments held by the Group and
carried at fair value on the consolidated statement
of financial position. The Group's equity securities
price risk is concentrated on equity instruments
operating in property development industry sector
quoted in the Stock Exchange. The Group will
consider hedging the risk exposure should the need
arise.

If the market value of the equity securities held by
the Group increased or decreased by 10% and all
other variables were held constant, the Group's
equity would increase or decrease by approximately
HK$139,895,000 (2018: HK$81,125,000) as at 31
December 2019.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a)

(ii)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group's credit risk primarily arises from deposits
with banks, trade and other receivables, contract
assets and guarantees provided in respect of
mortgage facilities (Note 36).

The credit risk on deposits with banks is limited
because the counterparties are banks with sound
credit ratings assigned by credit-rating agencies.

In respect of trade and other receivables and
contract assets, individual credit evaluations are
performed for those debtors with impaired credit or
related parties. These evaluations focus on the
customer’s financial position, past history of making
payments and take into account information specific
to the customer as well as pertaining to the
economic environment in which the customer
operates. For the rest which consist of a number of
customers with common risk characteristics, the
Group uses aging to assess the impairment.
Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from
customers. Monitoring procedures have been
implemented to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the
Group reviews the recoverable amount of each
individual trade and other receivables at the end of
the reporting period to ensure adequate provision
for impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

38. UHKEREZRREE m

(a) Financial risk factors (Continued) (a) BMEREBREZE @
(i)  Credit risk and impairment assessment (i) 1EEE LR BEFE (E)
(Continued)
The following table provides information about the TREHRBBNZHFEHE
exposure to credit risk for trade receivables which EBBORALHREERAE)
are assessed based on provision matrix as at 31 NESEWZE (R =
December 2019 and 2018 within lifetime ECL (not —NEZE-NF+_A
credit impaired). Debtors with impaired credit or =+ — BERBEEERFTG)
related parties with gross carrying amounts of ERARBZER -HR=Z
HK$348,710,000 as at 31 December 2019 (2018: —NE+ZA=+—BKEA
HK$432,972,000) were assessed individually. 42 %8 /348,710,00078 7T (=
ZT— )\ : 432,972,000/ 7T)
BB B3R RE 2 EIGRIE
Sk A T BB EIT AT A o
Gross carrying amount FRE&EE
2019 2018
—EB-NE ZZE-N\F
Average Trade Average Trade
loss rate  receivables loss rate  receivables
g5 EK B 5K
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER FET
Current (not past due) BOER (R H) 0.00% 104,204 0.00% 43,471
1 to 90 days past due #H1ZE90R 0.00% 3,508 0.00% 10,445
91 days to 1 year past due BHI9IBE1F 5.00% 389 5.00% 6,809
1 year to 2 years past due  BHI1FZE2F 10.00% 3,351 10.00% 4,864
Over 2 years past due BHEE2EF 46.00% 1,710 32.00% 1,675
113,162 67,264

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on
historical observed default rates over the expected
life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-

AERHRRXTDIREBEEBAR
BEHFHRREBEMER
ERRMGE > WIRBATL

looking information that is available without undue TRCA K2 A RN Al 1S AT
cost or effort. The estimated loss rates for trade EMERMEL TR - B HE
receivables with over 2 years past due range from B2FEME Z R IEM S

30% to 100% with the average loss rate of 46%. The
grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure relevant information about specific debtors is
updated.

FHEBREN T30%E100%
FHEBRE H46% c BILE
CTHERZSE - UHER
BHERNEEESANER
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38. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a)

(ii)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the
Group reversed, net of provision, HK$204,000 (2018:
provided HK$735,000) and HK$121,000 (2018:
provided HKS$1,081,000) impairment allowance for
trade receivables and contract assets respectively,
based on the provision matrix. Net reversal of
impairment allowance of HK$3,507,000 (2018:
impairment allowance HK$4,698,000) were made on
debtors with impaired credit due to the collection of
the debtors.

The credit risk on other receivables is limited
because most of the counterparties are related
parties with sound credit.

The Group has arranged bank financing for certain
purchasers of property units and provided
guarantees to secure obligations of such purchasers
for repayments. If a purchaser defaults on the
payment of its mortgage during the term of the
guarantee, the Group is able to retain the property
sales proceeds received from the purchasers and sell
the property to recover any amounts paid by the
Group to the bank. The management considers the
credit risk exposure to financial guarantees provided
to property purchasers is limited because the
facilities are secured by the properties and the
market price of the properties is higher than the
guaranteed amounts. In this regard, the Directors
consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly
reduced.

The Group has concentration of credit risk on loans
to a non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary, but
the exposure is considered limited as the
counterparties are at a good financial position.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a)

(ii)

(iii)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

The Group has no significant concentration of credit
risk on trade and other receivables and contract
assets, with exposure spread over a number of
customers.

The Group has concentration of credit risk on liquid
funds which are deposited with several banks, which
are mainly State-owned banks and with high credit
ratings in Mainland China and Hong Kong.

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies
maintaining sufficient cash and the availability of
funding through an adequate amount of credit
facilities. Management aims to maintain flexibility in
funding by keeping credit lines available.
Management monitors the rolling forecasts of the
Group's liquidity reserve (comprising undrawn
borrowing facilities (Note 29(a)) and cash and bank
balances (Note 25) on the basis of expected cash
flow.

The table below analyses the Group's financial
liabilities at amortised cost into relevant maturity
groupings based on the remaining period at the
end of the reporting period to the contractual
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table
are the contractual undiscounted cash flows
(including both principal and interest). To the extent
that interest flows are at variable-rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at
the end of each reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 BZE_Z—NF+_A=+—HIEFE

38. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND

MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(a)

38. UHKEREZEREE m

Financial risk factors (Continued) (a) BIBEREZE @
(iii)  Liquidity risk (Continued) (iii) FEEZEL (F)
In addition, the following table details the Group's gEoh - TRFMASEE B E
liquidity analysis for its derivative financial METBIEZRE NS
instruments. The tables have been drawn up based Mo ZRTIBIE T A%
on the undiscounted contractual net cash (inflows) HEHTETARTREY
and outflows on derivative instruments that settle on Be R A) RE L FERT
a net basis. When the amount payable is not fixed, o WARMEEEMNERE - B
the amount disclosed has been determined by FRSESL2EREHRR
reference to the projected interest rates as B 2 Wz Hh 43 P BRI TR HR A
illustrated by the yield curves existing at the end of REFT BAREBERRE
the reporting period. The liquidity analysis for the WEREEMOTETAR S
Group's derivative financial instruments are prepared MEZFEREMEmSBLE -
based on the contractual maturities as the EARAEE 2 TEMB TR
management consider that the contractual ZmBMEA T TIRES 48]
maturities are essential for an understanding of the fRimE -
timing of the cash flows of derivatives.
Weighted Total
average Within ~ Between 1 Between 2 Over  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate Tyear and2years and 5 years Syears  cash flows amount
ERY FRERS
ERil% -Eh  -IRE WEEE  BENL  GESE Faf
HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§000
TR TR TR TR TR TR
As at 31 December 2019 Ho%-1E
tZf=1-H
Non-derivative financil abiltes 374 3%E%E
Borrowings B3t S00% TN 305 720782 — 18206236 16,753,904
Trade and other payables EARAMENTE 6,147,791 - - — 6L 6N
Amounts due to a felow sbsidiary R -FRZHED A 1372132 - - - M 13
Amounts due to non-controling ~ ERHEAFHAR
shareholders of subsidaies RRiE 30732 - - - W W
Amounts due to associaes ERBELAHNE 940,026 - - - o006 %4002
Finandal quarantee contract HEERAY 2,580,145 - - — 2580145 -
RIS M — WHR DS
Dervatves — net setflement DESRE
Interest rate swaps fl=Es (12,449) 9,850 913 - 6,614 5,942




38. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

38. UHKEREZRREE m

(a) Financial risk factors (Continued) (a) BMEERREZE @
(iii)  Liquidity risk (Continued) (i) 7B % B ()
Weighted Total
average Within -~ Between 1 Between 2 Over undiscounted Carrying
interest rate Tyear and2years and 5 years 5years  cash flows amount
T RURRE
ERAE -5 —EWME  WERE  RFENE RELE FEE

HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000
TEL  TET TR TET TR TERL

As at 31 December 2018 R-B-N%
+=A=t-8
Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ 3E5T4 B/ & &
Borrowings a7 475% 1722375 8604451 6471035 — 16797861 15054637
Trade and other payables 25 REMEMHE 5713407 - - — 5713407 5713407
Amounts due to a fellow ER-FRAZNBAT
subsidiary ber] 2004416 - - - 2004416 2004416
Amounts due to non-controlling  FE( B B2 BIFEFE AR
shareholders of subsidiaries RFEHE 184,721 - - - 184,721 184,721
Amounts due to associates R E A RFUE 965979 — — — 965,979 965,979
Financial guarantee contracts BBERAD 7,538,082 — — — 7538082 —
18,128,980 8604451 6,471,035 — 33204466 23,923,160
Derivatives — net settlement T TH — F4E
Interest rate swaps ki (30937) (11359) 12,698 — (29,598) 30,091

The amounts included above for financial guarantee
contracts are the maximum amounts the Group
could be required to settle under the arrangement
for the full guaranteed amount if that amount is
claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee. Based
on expectations at the end of the reporting period,
the Group considers that it is more likely than not
that no amount will be payable under the
arrangement. However, this estimate is subject to
change depending on the probability of the
counterparty claiming under the guarantee which is
a function of the likelihood that the financial
receivables held by the counterparty which are
guaranteed suffer credit losses.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(iii)  Liquidity risk (Continued)
The amounts included above for variable interest
rate instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities
are subject to change if changes in variable interest
rates differ to those estimates of interest rates
determined at the end of the reporting period.

Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The total equity and borrowings of the Group represents
the capital structure of the Group. In order to maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is
calculated as net debt divided by total equity. Net debt is
calculated as total borrowings (including current and non-
current borrowings as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position) less cash and bank
deposits.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(b) Capital risk management (Continued)

(c)

The gearing ratios as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 are
as follows:

38. UHKEREZRREE m

(b) EXERERE @)

RZB-NFR=_F-NFt=
A=+—HZB@ELETMT:

2019 2018

—ZE-h#F ZT-N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Total borrowings BB 16,753,904 15,054,637

Less: Cash and bank deposits A Be RIRITER (3,892,800) (3,809,129)

Net debt B F5E 12,861,104 11,245,508

Total equity e 16,266,718 14,810,451

Gearing ratio BELE 79% 76%
Fair value estimation (0 2DREMF

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at
amortised cost approximate their fair values. The fair values
are estimated using generally accepted pricing models
based on discounted cash flows.

The financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income represent equity securities listed in
Hong Kong. As at 31 December 2019, equity securities
amounting to HK$1,398,952,000(2018: HK$811,254,000) are
measured at fair value and based on quoted market prices
of an active market (Level 1) at the end of the reporting
period.

EERBRBHNAGTT 2N
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38. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND 38. I ERBEEZERERE @

MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(c) Fair value estimation (Continued) () AREMF @
Other financial assets and liabilities represent interest rate HtUBEERBEREEAS
swap contracts designated as highly effective hedging EERHHRITAENFERERE
instruments in order to manage the Group's interest rate B HEHENEEREASEFEHA
exposure in relation to the bank borrowings on a floating ERITERZFERR - R=F
interest rate basis. As at 31 December 2019, fair value of —NFE+ZRA=+—H " B
other financial assets and liabilities amounting to BEERBBEZAREDNA
HK$19,771,000 (2018: HK$30,091,000) and HK$25,713,000 19,771,000 T (ZF — N\ F :
(2018: Nil) are measured at the present value of future 30,091,000 7€) &% 25,713,000 JT
cash flows estimated based on the applicable yield curves ZE-NEFE &) HEDNERER
derived from quoted interest rates at the end of the HRAW SRR (BHREARMAR
reporting period and contracted interest rate discounted at ARG RIEIRMZERSH
a rate that reflects the credit risk of various counterparties FEERBHOITHEENBENEG L
and categorised in Level 2. FMEDERE_E)BHARRK

RenfEtREdsE -

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 39. BBt AR5

The Group itself is part of a larger group of companies under REBAFATFEABESEEEGR AR
China Minmetals Corporation (“China Minmetals”), which is ([ RE]) (%A E B H B BT
controlled by the PRC government. Apart from the transactions ET—RAEBRRMNEKIT D - RER
with the parent company and its subsidiaries which have been EUBHRREMNEMEROEI QT
disclosed in other notes to the consolidated financial statements, MEMBARETNRZ SN - KEBJS
the Group also conducts businesses with entities directly or FAIEH 7% 312 8 A BT B 4 sk
indirectly owned or controlled, jointly controlled or significantly BRI IES - HEES X ERATE
influenced by the PRC government (‘government-related MEE(BRAEEACEDETERT
entities”) in the ordinary course of business. The Directors ReBERA BASEEAZZEEE
consider those entities other than the China Minmetals and its THEBZSME  ZSEE(BF
subsidiaries are independent third parties as far as the Group's FEREMNB RTINS RBIE=R -
business transactions with them are concerned. Apart from the Fr T3 (a) 2 X Z 9 - AN B R B E b IR
transactions in below (a), the Group also conducts business with IR ST HT - REBENEEAM
other government-related entities. In establishing its pricing BB EEELRT S E BB REL
strategies and approval process for transactions with other WBERWESRE RS AR MAERE
government related entities, the Group does not differentiate ¥ - AKBRA  BEARE  BRE
whether the counter-party is a government-related entity or not. S BWMEAREETZZHEEHTRE
The Group is of the opinion that it has provided, in the best of EHRE o

its knowledge, adequate and appropriate disclosure of related
party transactions in the consolidated financial statements.

The Group has entered into various transactions, including sales, REED AN A RT3
purchases, borrowings and other operating expenses with other FINEZIERS (BIEHEE  BE - ERK
government-related entities during the year in which the HiEEBR) MEERR BEY
Directors are of the opinion that it is impracticable to ascertain TR RZEZX SRS R EE M T
the identity of the counterparties and accordingly whether the ML ETTNER -

counterparties are government-related entities.

-



39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(CONTINUED)

Other than disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had the following material transactions
and balances with related parties, which were carried out in the
ordinary and normal course of business of the Group:

(a) Transactions with related parties

39. BBt R )

BarA MR E i)y P EEE S -
AEBEBBINAEEAR R —KRE
BHETZEAR S REHNT

(a) HEBRLIZXS

2019 2018
—E-NF —ZE-N\F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
TER FHET
Construction costs to fellow subsidiaries for 45 FRI XM B AR E @E
real estate development projects ERRER ZBEKAK
(note (ii)) (B & i) 1,195,094 1,668,055
Management fee income from fellow BIEELNENGE S
subsidiaries (note (iii)) BERBEWA (M (i) 11,337 15919
Rental and management fee income from MR XM B A R IAE S &
fellow subsidiaries (note (iv)) EREBWA (K @) 10,650 8,137
Rental expense to a fellow subsidiary BT XAZRMBARZHE
(note (v)) X (M V) — 3,235
Expenses relating to short-term leases toa AT — KA ZXWB AR ZHE
fellow subsidiary (note (v)) HHEXH (M5 v) 2,880 -
Interest expenses on lease liabilities with a M —XKE RBRFZF2
fellow subsidiary (note (v)) MEEEN LS (M V) 127 —
Management fee income from an WR—KERERATRE
intermediate holding company and BRERRAZEBREBHA
ultimate holding company (note (vi)) (B =E i) - 7,399
Loan interest expenses to fellow subsidiaries [ [F XM B AR 2 B
(note (vii) LB s H (BTEE (vil) 15,358 114,380
Loan interest expenses to a non-controlling M — KM B AR Z — % IEHE
shareholder of a subsidiary (note (vii)) MR AR R X 4 2 EFRF B X
(M EE (viD) 28,066 —
Interest income from a non-controlling WEB—RMB AR Z— %Ik
shareholder of a subsidiary (note (x)) PRI R 2 B S MA
(P& () 132,234 153,354
Interest income from a fellow subsidiary W — KA R B R F 2 F
(note (xii)) BHRA (HEEE (xii) 30,175 6,443
Interest income from an associate B — B & A A2 FLEIR
(note (xiii)) A (BHEE (i) 27,284 —
Interest income from a joint venture WEB—RAERFZFER
(note (xiii)) A (BFEE (i) 13,963 —
Property management expenses to a fellow #F—KEZWB AR ZY)
subsidiary (note (xvi)) XEBRBX L
(PR EE (v 13,264




39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(CONTINUED)
(b) Balances with related parties

—NE+ZA=t—RLFE

39.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ok T BV 255 A B

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #HZE_Z

BB SRS @)
(b) EERFEERS 2 4Leh

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Specialised construction costs payable EN—RREIRME AR Z
to a fellow subsidiary (note (i) FEFERA (KT () 39,316 49,326
Contract payable to fellow subsidiaries  FEfI R R B A R 2 Fih
for real estate development projects EZREIAEBAHNIEA
(note (i) G EAD) 253,987 86,649
Management fee receivable from fellow [EU[E X B AR 2 &2
subsidiaries (note (iii) BUA (MTEE (i) 9,489 —
Lease liabilities with a fellow subsidiary BE—XKRRHNBARZ
(note (v)) HEEE T V) 10,067 —
Amounts due to a fellow subsidiary R —RERME R A
(note (viii)) RIB (B 3 (viil) 1,372,132 2,004,416
Amounts due to non-controlling FEATHIE A R JEIE AR IR R
shareholders of subsidiaries RIE (M (1)
(note (ix)) 394,732 184,721
Amounts due to associates (note (ix))  JE{TEE & A R FIE
(M 3T (ix) 940,026 965,979
Loans to a non-controlling shareholder EXF—FKMB AT Z—
of a subsidiary (note (x)) B IEIEARAR R (PR EE (%) 2,787,988 2,951,037
Amount due from an associate FEU — KB & A B RUR
(note (xi)) (M 3E (x0) 58,010 837,513
Amounts due from joint ventures Bl EERAIRIE
(note (xi)) (B EE (xi)) 4,122,198 4,616,224
Current deposits placed in a fellow FER—KRARMEAQF
subsidiary (note (xii)) 2B BB (M 5T (xi) 1,362,320 1,114,720
Loans to an associate (note (xiii)) BERT K& QA
(HH3E (xiii)) 781,425 —
Loan to a joint venture (note (xiii)) BERT—REERAA
(M 3E (i) 116,770 —
Loans from a non-controlling KE—KMBRR—H
shareholder of a subsidiary FERBR ZER
(note (xiv)) (M 3E (xiv) 114,995 —
Loan from a fellow subsidiary KE—RREAZRMBARZ
(note (xv)) B (M (xv) 39,071 —
Perpetual loan with a fellow subsidiary B8 —KR RZHEAG Z
(Note 28(a)) KAE (M5 28(a)) 2,234,464 2,285,029




39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(CONTINUED)
(b) Balances with related parties (Continued)

Notes:

0]

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(xi)

Specialised construction costs to a fellow subsidiary of the Company
were based on terms mutually agreed by both parties.

Construction costs to fellow subsidiaries for real estate development
projects were based on terms mutually agreed by both parties.

Management fee income and receivables from fellow subsidiaries of
the Company was based on the terms in the agreements entered
into between the parties involved.

Rental and management fee income received from fellow
subsidiaries of the Company were based on the terms in the
agreements entered into between the parties involved.

During the year, the Group entered into a new lease agreement for
the use of the office with a fellow subsidiary for three years. The
Group has recognised an addition of right-of-use asset and lease
liability of HK$11,109,000 and HK$11,109,000 respectively upon the
lease commencement date.

Management fee income from an intermediate holding company
and ultimate holding company were based on the terms in the
agreements entered into between the parties involved.

Loan interest expenses to fellow subsidiaries and a non-controlling
shareholder of a subsidiary were based on terms in the agreements
entered into between both parties.

The amounts due to a fellow subsidiary are unsecured, interest free
and repayable on demand.

The amounts due to non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries and
associates are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

The loans to a non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary is
unsecured, bearing interest at the benchmark interest rate for a
one-year loan quoted by the People’s Bank of China per annum
and repayable on demand.

The amounts due from an associate and joint ventures are
unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

30. BEEA RS @)
(b) EERFEES &L eh (@)

BT

0]

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(xi)

BTIARA-—RARMBRARZE
FERERATIERETT KRB EZ
RAREEE »

BEMEZRBELTRRKELD
B2 BERARTYIRE T XRBE 2
1RREETE -

FERARBRAMBERATNZERE
WATIRB BRI AT LZ R
W& 2 1R E

A A ) B B X AR AR &
ERBUATIRBEBRII NI AT
N B HEZGRETE

FR - AEEE-RRARMEARE
ETAB=F2HAZHERS K
SERBERBE  DRIERT
11,109,0005% 7T % 11,109,000 7T Z {&#
PREERMAEEE-

RAR R —FHEBERA R KR
TR AR E R BRATIRES
BART 4075 P AT S % i a8 2 1R
e

7] [F) % B /8B 2 B e — SR P B 2 =) 9
ERBERI N 2ERFEZH TR
BRI LS A &
REE °

N —REZRME AR AR ERL
B RARERMEE -

B 25 R SE R IR SR B 2
AZREDBIESR - %8 RARE
S -

—RMBARZ —BIERER
ERREIER ARPEARRT
Aoz —FHERZ EEFN K
B RARERERE -

Y —RBERRREE AT ZK
RTVEER - B RAREREE -




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A A A R Mtk

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE

—E-AF+TZRA=t+—HLFE

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

(c)

39. BBt AR )

(b) Balances with related parties (Continued) (b) EEEEEERS 246k (@)

Notes: (Continued) B s - (48D

(xi)  The interest rate of the current deposits placed in a fellow subsidiary xi) BFER-—RRARMBARZEHT
ranges from 0.46% to 1.50% per annum. FIRBE R FHFE046%ZE 1.50%5T 2. ©

(xiii)  The interest rates of the loans to an associate and a joint venture i) BRTF-REERAFTNLEERAFZ
were 7.0% and 6.0% per annum, respectively. The loans are FEHMED B BH7.0%K60% EXE
unsecured and repayable on demand. EIEARERERER -

(xiv)  The loans from a non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary are xiv) RE—RWEBRRZ —BIEERR
unsecured, bearing interest at 6.0% per annum and repayable on RZERAREER  FHER6ON
demand. RABERER -

(xv)  The loan from a fellow subsidiary is unsecured, bearing interest at x)  KE—RRARMBRARIZERAE
6.0% per annum and repayable within one year. IR FREROBRBR—FA

fBE -

(xvi)  The property management expenses to a fellow subsidiary were i) M—RKRARMBRAZN2WEE
based on the terms in the agreements entered into between the BERTS S H TYIRE B BT 4V 5 Fral
parties involved. S E R EREE ©

Key management compensation () EEBEBAEZHM

2019 2018
—2-7F  —F-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Salaries and short-term FekEBEERF

employee benefits 10,757 14,574

Pension costs — defined RIKEKAR — EREMK
contribution plans B 282 396




40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 40. T EME R TF1E

SUBSIDIARIES
(a) List of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2019: (a) A=ZZE—hhE+=-_A=+—8"
FEMBRARINEK :
Percentage of equity interest
RABRE AN
2019 218
ZE-NF ZE-\F
Place of Particulars of issued Directly  Indirectly Directly Indirectly
incorporation/ share capital/ paid up ~ held by the  held by the  held by the  held by the
Name of subsidiary operation capital (note (i)~ Company ~ Company  Company ~ Company Principal activity
iR/ BRORE/BERK B B B B
il KT S #E(WEG) ARARE A0ARE ADRARE ALARE FEER
IREREREREEBRLE  Mainknd China RMB2,338,120000 - 51 - 51 Real estate development
(Beijing Wanhu Property
Development Co, Ltd)
(‘Beijing Wanhu')
(notes (i)
TRESFHERERRAT AR AR%23381200007 - 51 - 5 BHERR
(EREM]) (W)
Best Pearl Development Limited Hong Kong HKS1,000 - 100 - 100 Property investment
1,000 shares with
no par value
BRERERAR B 10007 - 100 - 0 ERE
000K ER(E
BREEZEEREHERZARDT  Mainland China RMB778013,150 - 100 - 100 Real estate development
(Boluo County Bihua Property
Development Company Limited
‘Boluo County Bihua')
(note i) & (v)
BREEZERHEREARLA  TEAL ARET78013,1507 - 100 — 00 FHELR

(MBREE ) (M ko)



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o BV 285 A B

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—T—AF+-_A=+—HILFE

40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 40. TEMBAFFHE @
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
(a) List of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2019: (@) R=Z=—hF+=ZA=+—8"
(Continued) TEWEQRIK : (8)

Percentage of equity interest

RAERE AN
2019 2018
2-nf ZE-N\E
Place of Particulars of issued Directly  Indirectly Directly Indirectly
incorporation/ share capital/ paid up  held by the  held by the  held by the  held by the
Name of subsidiary operation capital (note (i)~ Company ~ Company ~ Company ~ Company Principal activity
iR/ BRORE/BERE B (4 BiH i
il KT EXibY (W) AREFE A0IRE ARARE FLARE IERK
IREHEZ I RNARAT Mainland China RIB6,001,000,000 - 100 - 100 Provision of management
(Minmetals Shengshi Guangye service and investment
(Beijing) Co, Ltd) holding
IRALRX(ERERAR  REAAY AB6,001,0000007 - 100 - 00 REEERERRARR
Bright Circle Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 - 100 Property investment
10000 shares with
no par value
BRERAT 3 100007 - 100 - 0 NERE
1000REEE
EREREFERAT Mainland China 556,600,000 - 7 - 71 Real estate development
(Dragon Construction (Nanjing)
Properties Co, Ltd) (note (ii)
ER (AR ERARLA hERY 66000007 - n - 7 BHELE
(&)
Eastrend (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong HKS2 2 shares with - 100 - 100 Property investment
no par value
RE(BR)ERAR (30 Py - 100 - 00 NERE

hEEE



40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 40. T EM B D B FE @)
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

(a) List of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2019: (@) R=ZZE—hhF+=ZA=+—8"
(Continued) FEMBRANEK : (B)

Percentage of equity interest

RABRE AN
2019 218
ZE-NF ZE-\F
Place of Particulars of issued Directly  Indirectly Directly Indirectly
incorporation/ share capital/ paid up ~ held by the  held by the  held by the  held by the
Name of subsidiary operation capital (note (i)~ Company ~ Company  Company ~ Company Principal activity
iR/ BRORE/BERK B B B B
il KT S #E(WEG) ARARE A0ARE ADRARE ALARE FEER
BUTREEWEREEBRAT  Mainland China RMB520,000,000 - 100 - 100 Real estate development
(Foshan Kuangsheng Property
Development Co, Ltd) (note (i)
BUTRERHEREERAT  PEND ARH5200000007C - 100 - 0 EHELE
(HtzEa)
Excel Capital Global Ltd British Virgin Islands USS1 1 share of 100 - 100 —  fund raising
USS1 each
Bxcel Capital Global Ltd RERRES b 100 - 100 - K%
shaE %
Expand Lead Limited British Virgin Islands USS1 1 share of 100 - 100 —  Fund raising
USS1 each
AHERAF ZBRLES Bl 100 - 100 - %
ShEE %L
Great Way Properties Limited Hong Kong/Mainland HKS2 2 shares with - 100 - 100 Property investment
China no par value
BEERERAA BR/PEAY 2Tk - 100 - 0 NERE

EafE



A A A R Mtk

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—T—AF+-_A=+—HILFE

40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

(a) List of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2019:
(Continued)

£

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

40. TEMBAFFHE @

(a)

Percentage of equity interest

RZZ-NAF+-A=+t—8H"
TEMBRRALIR : (&)

Property Development Nanjing
(o, Ltd) (note (i)
RiERRARAA (i)

PER AR 1000000007

RABRE AN
2019 218
ZE-NE ZE3-N\F
Place of Particulars of issued Directly  Indirectly Directly Indirectly
incorporation/ share capital/ paid up  held by the  held by the  held by the  held by the
Name of subsidiary operation capital (note (i)~ Company ~ Company ~ Company ~ Company Principal activity
AL/ BRORE/BERK E#A B B [
il KT EXuny #E(WEG) ARARE A0AKE ADRARE ALARE FEER
EMTRERWEREEBAT  Mainlnd China RMB120,000,000 - 100 - 100 Real estate development
(Guangzhou Kuangyue Property
Development Co, Ltd) (note (i)
BNTRERHEREERAT PEMY ARE1200000007C - 100 - 0 EHELE
(&)
HEPESAEEERLE Hunan  Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 100 - 100 Real estate development
Zhongrun Chengzhen Real Estate
(o, Ltd) (note (i)
AT RAAERARAR hERY ARH100000007T - 100 - 0 BHELE
(&)
BRAERRARDF Kuangin  Mainland China AMB100,000,000 - 100 - 100 Real estate development

FHERR



40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 40. T EM B D B FE @)
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

(a) List of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2019: (@) R=ZZE—hhF+=ZA=+—8"
(Continued) FEMBRANEK : (B)

Percentage of equity interest

RABRE AN
2019 218
ZE-NF ZE-\F
Place of Particulars of issued Directly  Indirectly Directly Indirectly
incorporation/ share capital/ paid up ~ held by the  held by the  held by the  held by the
Name of subsidiary operation capital (note (i)~ Company ~ Company  Company ~ Company Principal activity
iR/ BRORE/BERK B (A BiH B
il KT EXibY #E(WRG) AREKE ALAKE ALARE FLTRE TERH
BEHERRERAT Mainland China RMB100,000,000 - 100 - 100 Real estate development
(Kuangmei Property
Development Nanjing Co, Ltd)
(note (i)
BRHERRARLA (KM +EAL ARH1000000007T - 100 - 0 EREER
BhRt EXEHEREERAT  Mainland China 15555000000 - 50 - 50 Real estate development
(Langfang Kuangshi Jiye
Property Development Co, Ltd.
*Kuangshi Jiye") (notes (i) & (iv)
BIREERRHERSERLT TEAAY 55000000% 7T - 50 - 0 FHERR
(T2 % ) (Bt Raw)
Linkcheer Limited Hong Kong HKS2 2 shares with - 100 - 100 Property investment
no par value
ERERLA B R - 100 - 100 MER3
ERE
Luck Achieve Limited British Virgin Islands/ US$2 2 shares of - 100 - 100 Securities Investment
Hong Kong USS1 each
EEERAA ABRABE/FR PEL e - 100 - 0 EHRE

ShREEIETL



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ok T BV 255 A B

(Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—T—AF+-_A=+—HILFE

40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
(a)

List of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2019:

40. TEMBAFFHE @

(a)

R-E—-AF+-_RA=+—81"

TEWMBRRGIRK : (B)

Percentage of equity interest

RABRE AN
2019 218
ZE-NE ZE-\F
Place of Particulars of issued Directly  Indirectly Directly Indirectly
incorporation/ share capital/ paid up  held by the  held by the  held by the  held by the
Name of subsidiary operation capital (note (i)~ Company ~ Company ~ Company ~ Company Principal activity
iR/ BRORE/BERK B (4 B [
il KT EXiY #E(WEG) ARARE A0AKE ADRARE ALARE FEER
Massive Leader Limited Hong Kong HKS1 1 share with - 100 - 100 Real estate development
no par value
ERARLH B 1T - 100 - 0 BHELE
EHE
Minmetals Condo (Hong Kong) Hong Kong HKST 1 share with - 100 - 100 Design and installation of
Engineering Company Limited no par value curtain walls
LERA(ER) IRERAR &R 18T - 100 — 100 RAREEERE
ERE
Minmetals Land Capital Limited British Virgin Islands USS10 10 shares 100 - 100 —  Fund raising
of USS1 each
IRRRETBRAT ABRAER 10£710% 100 - 100 - %%
SREEIET
Minmetals Land Investments Limited  British Virgin Islands/ 155990 99 shares of 100 - 100 — Investment holding
Hong Kong USS10 each
Minmetals Land Investments Limited ~ XBRZ S/ B% 990X TR 100 - 100 - REER
BREEIET
TRERREER IR Mainland China RMBA071 652952 - 100 - 100 Provision of management
AR (Minmetals Land senvice and investment
Investment Management holding
(Beijing) Co, Ltd)
LEERREEE (bR) hERD ARE407 6529507 - 100 - 00 REERRBERAE

BRAA

2



40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

(a) List of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2019:

(Continued)

40. TEMBATFHE @

(a) RZZE—-—NAE+-_RA=+—8"
TEMBRARSIR : (&)

Percentage of equity interest

RABREEAL
2019 218
ZE-1f —3-N\F
Place of Particulars of issued Directly  Indirectly Directly Indirectly
incorporation/ share capital/ paid up ~ held by the  held by the  held by the  held by the
Name of subsidiary operation capital (note (i)~ Company ~ Company  Company ~ Company Principal activity
iR/ BRORE/BERK B B B B
il kR S #E(WEG) ARARE A0ARE ADRARE ALARE FEER
RRER(REEZNARELE  Mainland China RMB380,000,000 - 100 - 100 Real estate development
FRER L E (Minmetals Land
(Hunan) Jiahe Risheng Real
Estate Development Co, Ltd.
"Jiahe Risheng’) (note (i)
IRRR (WA EANRARME TEND AR 3800000007 - 100 - 0 EHERE
REERAR(ERAZ])
(KizEam)
ABUEGREREERAT  Mainland China RMB280,000,000 - 100 - 100 Real estate development
(Minmetals Land (Wuhan)
Development Co, Ltd) (note (i)
IREREPEERAD  PEMD AR 2800000007 - 100 - 0 EHEXE
(KizEam)
IBERENEEER Mainland China US5100,000,000 - 100 - 100 Real estate development
BT (Minmetals Land
(Yingkou) Hengfu Properties
(o, Ltd) (note (i)
hERR(BN)ERER hERY 10000000057 - 100 - 0 BEHELR

BRAE (W)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

£

SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

(Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—T—AF+-_A=+—HILFE

40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

(a) List of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2019:

40. TEMBAFFHE @

(a) RZZE—-AE+-RA=+—8"
TEMBRRALIR : (&)

Percentage of equity interest
RABRE AN
2019 218
ZE-NE ZE-\F

(B EE ] (B3 & )

Place of Particulars of issued Directly  Indirectly Directly Indirectly
incorporation/ share capital/ paid up  held by the  held by the  held by the  held by the
Name of subsidiary operation capital (note (i)~ Company ~ Company ~ Company ~ Company Principal activity
AL/ BRORE/BERK E#A B B B
il kR EXuny #E(WEG) ARARE A0AKE ADRARE ALARE FEER
RRHERRERAT Mainland China RMB94:800,000 - 98.88 - 9888 Real estate development
(Minmetals Property
Development Nanjing Co, Ltd)
(note (i)
IRHERRARAR (Ham) ERD AR 948000007 - 98.88 - B FHELR
TREE (RR)EEHE Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 100 - 100 Real estate development
BRAE (Minmetals Real Estate
(Tianjin) Binhaixinqu Co, Ltd)
(note (i)
IREX(RR)REHE hERY ARE100000007T - 100 - 00 FHELR
BRAR (W)
BEMEERERDE Kuangii  Mainland China RMBI 400,000,000 - 100 - 100 Real estate development
Properties (Nanjing) Co, Ltd.
*Kuangji Properties’)
(note (i) & (vi)
BEE (FR) ERAT hENY ARE14000000007 - 100 - 00 EHEYE



40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 40. T EM B D B FE @)
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

(a) List of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2019: (@) R=ZZE—hhF+=ZA=+—8"
(Continued) FEMBRANEK : (B)

Percentage of equity interest

RABRE AN
2019 218
ZE-NF ZF-N\F
Place of Particulars of issued Directly  Indirectly Directly Indirectly
incorporation/ share capital/ paid up ~ held by the  held by the  held by the  held by the
Name of subsidiary operation capital (note (i)~ Company ~ Company  Company ~ Company Principal activity
iR/ BRORE/BERK B B B B
il KT S #E(WEG) ARARE A0ARE ADRARE ALARE FEER
Tt E(@R)ARAA Kuangshi - Mainland China RVB30,000,000 - 100 - 100 Real estate development
Properties (Nanjing) Co, Ltd.)
(note (ii)
Bt (BR)ARAA hERY ARH500000007T - 100 - 0 EHELE
(HtzEa)
BEERERERLEEBRLE  Mainknd China RMB600,000,000 - 100 - 100 Real estate development
(Hunan Kuangdai Property
Development Co, Ltd) (note (i)
HRBRELERZARLA  PEAD ARH6000000007C - 100 - 0 EHELE
(HtzEa)
BESERRERDF Kuangg  Mainland China RMB100,000,000 - 100 - 100 Real estate development
Property Development Nanjing
Co, Ltd) (note (i)
BEREBRARLAGEN) PEAD AR 1000000007 - 100 - 0 EHELE
ONFEM Finance Limited British Virgin Islands/ 551,000 100 - 100 — Provision of financing for
Hong Kong 1,000 shares of group companies
USS1 each
ONFEM Finance Limited ZBRAES 10005710008 100 - 100 —- REEATR{RE

/B EREEIXT




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o BV 285 A B

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—T—AF+-_A=+—HILFE

40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 40. TEMBAFFHE @
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
(a) List of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2019: (@) R=Z=—hF+=ZA=+—8"
(Continued) TEWEQRIK : (8)

Percentage of equity interest

RABRE AN
2019 2018
ZE-hE ZE-\F
Place of Particulars of issued Directly  Indirectly Directly Indirectly
incorporation/ share capital/ paid up  held by the  held by the  held by the  held by the
Name of subsidiary operation capital (note (i)~ Company ~ Company ~ Company ~ Company Principal activity
AL/ BRfRE/ARRA B (4 BfH [
il KT EXiY #E(WRG) AREKE ALAKE ALARE FLTRE IERH
Oriental Dragon Construction Hong Kong/ Hong HK$10,000 - n - 71 Investment holding
Limited Kong and 10,000 shares with
Mainland China no par value
RPERERLT ER/BAR 1000077210000 - n - 1 RESRK
PR EHE
RBEMESBRERLA  Mainland China 158,500,000 - 100 - 100 Design and installation of
(Minmetals Condo (Shanghal) curtain walls and
Construction Co, Ltd. aluminum windows
(note i)
LEEA(LE)ERERAR  hEAY 8500000% 70 - 100 - 00 FFRREBERER
GiE0)
Texion Development Limited Hong Kong HKS50,000,000 - 100 - 100 Property investment
50,000,000 shares with
no par value
LTEBERAT Bt 50000000787 - 100 - 00 NERE
50000000R EEE
Top Gain Properties Limited Hong Kong/Mainland HKS2 - 100 - 100 Property investment
China 2 shares with
no par value
EREZERLT EA/ AR 2ETIR - 100 - 0 NERE

ERE



40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 40. T EM B D B FE @)
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

(a) List of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2019: (@) R=ZZE—hhF+=ZA=+—8"
(Continued) FEMBRANEK : (B)

Percentage of equity interest

RABRE AN
2019 2018
ZE-NE %-)\F
Place of Particulars of issued Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
incorporation/ share capital/ paid up  held by the  held by the  held by the  held by the
Name of subsidiary operation capital (note () ~ Company ~ Company ~ Company  Company Principal activity
iR/ BRORE/BERK B B B ]
il KT S FENEG) AREHF ALNARE AAAKE KLARE IEER
Virtyre Limited Hong Kong HKS20 - 100 - 100 Property investment
2 shares with
no par value
Virtyre Liited &t WETLIR - 100 - 100 NERS
ERE
REBBRHERRERLAA  Mainland China RMB350,000,000 - 100 - 100 Real estate development
(Wuhan Runling Property
Development Co, Ltd)
(note (i)
REFERUERYARLT  HEAY AR$3500000007C - 100 - 00 FHELR
(HtzEa)
BNBEEHERLEBLAT  Mainknd China RMBI 000,000,000 - 51 - 100 Real estate development
(Guangzhou Kuangrong Property
Development Co, Ltd)
('Guangzhou Kuangrong’)
(note (v)
EMBEXEHEREERAT  TEAL AR1,0000000007 - 51 - 00 FHELR
(MBS (BzEw)
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, EZRALRINTZAKENRE
in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the NAFTEZEAEENEERE
results or assets of the Group. To give details of other E-BEZRR/EITEMMER
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors, result in AFE HEBRITEK -

particulars of excessive length.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019

BE-_Z-NE+-_A=+—HILFE

40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

List of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2019:
(Continued)

(a)

Notes:

0]

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated. None of
the subsidiaries had any loan capital in issue at any time during the
year ended 31 December 2019.

These are foreign investment enterprises established in Mainland
China with operating periods ranging from 15 years to 40 years.

These are sino-foreign equity joint ventures established in Mainland
China with operating periods ranging from 20 years to 30 years.

Although the Group owns 50% equity interest in Kuangshi Jiye, it
has control over Kuangshi Jiye by holding 60% of the voting power
over the board of directors of Kuangshi Jiye, which require simple
majority votes of the directors on making decision on relevant
activities.

During the vyear, the Group has received capital injection of
RMB490,000,000 from a non-controlling shareholder, reducing its

equity interest of Guangzhou Kuangrong to 51%.
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40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

40. TEMBATFHE @

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries (b) EEEXRFERREERD
that have material non-controlling interests k2EMBRARIZFE
The table below shows details of non-wholly owned THRENWAEEBAFEREZER
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non- fRRERm BB AR &
controlling interests: 15 :
Place of
incorporation
and principal Proportion of equity interest held by  Profit/(loss) allocated to non- Accumulated
Name of subsidiary place of business non-controlling interests controlling interests non-controlling interests
EMRILR FERRRERME BFERRRES
WEARER TEERBEY RAEEEDL ARZER/ (FR) R FERRRER
As at As at As at As at
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
R=Z-1% RZF-N\F R=Z-1% RZF-N\F
+=ZA=t+-B +ZA=t+-H —E-NF ~“2-)\f +ZA=Zt+-B TtZA=t+-H
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
TiER TR TiER TR
Kuangshi Jiye Mainland China 50% 50% 726 5786 404,062 412375
- qug-3 HER,
Beijing Wanhu Mainland China 49% 49% 191,962 622498 2,282,849 2,141,026
EREH HER,
Guangzhou Kuangrong Mainland China 49% N/A - - 545,403 -
EMNER PR TER
Individually immaterial subsidiaries with
non-controlling interests (1,883) (467) 36,912 35,053
BB IEERBRERNMER
FEAMBERR
190,805 6273817 3,269,226 2,588454

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the
Company’s subsidiaries that has material non-controlling
interests is set out below. The summarised financial
information below represents amounts before intragroup
eliminations.

AR ASEEEEEANFEBRK
Rigm 2B ARz M ER Y
ZHIWMT - U THEERBE
RREE N HAT 2 S5



40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 BZE_Z—NF+_A=+—HIEFE

40. TEMBAFFHE @

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries BEEEARFERRRERN
that have material non-controlling interests FE2ENMB LR ZFHE @)
(Continued)

Kuangshi Jiye Vi -
2019 2018
—E-h#F —E-N\F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHExT FHET
Current assets mENEE 1,681,338 2,404,316
Non-current assets EMEBNEE 25,733 27,031
Current liabilities nBEaE 898,947 1,606,598
Total equity e B 808,124 824,749
2019 2018
—ZE-h#F AN S
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Revenue A 39,277 —
Expenses X (37,825) 11,571
Profit for the year I [Z i A 1,452 11,571
Other comprehensive expense for NEFEHEMEMAEZ
the year (18,077) (39,629)
Total comprehensive expense for RFEE2HEMAS B
the year (16,625) (28,058)
Net cash outflow from LEEHEER G
operating activities ipE 2 (831,301) (135,231)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from REEHELERS
investing activities WA (i) # 58 687,546 (427,911)
Net cash inflow from BEESEAR S
financing activities MAFRE 146,090 530,508
Net cash inflow/(outflow) RenA/ Oni) #5E 2,335 (32,634)




40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 40. T EMWE QX TFHE @

SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries (b) EEEXRFERREERD
that have material non-controlling interests FE2ENMB LR ZFHE @
(Continued)

Beijing Wanhu It REH
2019 2018
—E-h#EF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FER FHET
Current assets MENEE 6,605,133 6,930,645
Non-current assets SEMBNE E 269,360 293,355
Current liabilities mEBBaE 2,215,618 2,854,560
Total equity R iR 4,658,875 4,369,440
2019 2018
—E-NF ZT-N\F
HK$'000 HKS'000
FET FHET
Revenue WA 416,086 3,169,193
Expenses 53 (24,326) (1,898,789)
Profit for the year ENCSER 391,760 1,270,404
Other comprehensive expense for AFEEHEMEEMAX
the year (102,325) (1,753,006)
Total comprehensive income/ AEE2EWE
(expense) for the year (X)) #®B%5E 289,435 (482,602)
Dividends paid to non-controlling RN P e
interests of Beijing Wanhu w2 RE — 718,297
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from EREBELRS
operating activities CRE),/mAF58 (290,619) 93,680
Net cash inflow from REEZHEERS
investing activities MAEEE 309,092 1,348,603
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from MEGHEARS
financing activities WA O F 5 54,164 (1,607,016)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) BEmA/CRE) F8E 72,637 (164,733)




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE—T—AF+-_A=+—HILFE

40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 40. TEME L TFEE @

SUBSIDIARIES (cONTINUED)

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries (b) EEEXRFERREERD
that have material non-controlling interests FE2ENMB LR ZFHE @)
(Continued)

Guangzhou Kuangrong B 5

2019

—Z-hF

HK$’000

FET

Current assets MENE E 1,469,264
Non-current assets FmBEE 249
Current liabilities nBEE 356,445
Total equity e 1,113,068
2019

—E-h#EF

HK$’000

FHExT
Loss for the year REEEE (3,309)
Other comprehensive income for the year RNEZEM2ENE 56
Total comprehensive expense for the year REERHEMASEE (3,253)
Net cash outflow from operating activities LEEBEERSRLFE (1,314,596)
Net cash outflow from investing activities KREFEERSRLFE (260)
Net cash inflow from financing activities MEETHELARSRAFAE 1,340,451

Net cash inflow WEmAFEE 25,595




41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

(a) Statement of financial position of the

41. D\ 2 B AR R K e R
=
(@) AQTZEBEARR

Company
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAET
ASSETS EE
Non-current asset ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries REB AR ZRE 826,693 861,105
Current assets MENEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries NGRS 18,091,680 17,634,666
Other receivables H th e Uk 5008 6,579 6,795
Cash and bank deposits, unrestricted TR #1238 & K IE1T
T 542,401 450,189
18,640,660 18,091,650
Total assets BEBERE 19,467,353 18,952,755
EQUITY R
Share capital [N 334,691 334,691
Reserves G 5,129,905 5,390,074
Total equity e 4a e 5,464,596 5,724,765
LIABILITIES aE
Current liabilities mEEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries AR ENGIE 13,935,710 13,158,676
Accruals and other payables FERTRIA SR H M0 FE S 5K IE 67,047 69,314
Total liabilities BERT 14,002,757 13,227,990
Total equity and liabilities Bk AEES 19,467,353 18,952,755
Net current assets MEEEFE 4,637,903 4,863,660
Total assets less current liabilities BERERLDARG 5,464,596 5,724,765
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 BZE_Z—NF+_A=+—HIEFE

(CONTINUED)

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

(b) Statement of reserves of the Company

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

41. D\ 2 B AR R K e R

R (@)

(b) AT zREEHR=E

Employee
Capital share-based
Share Contributed redemption  compensation Retained
premium surplus reserve reserve earnings Total
BROEE gt BORE ERAEES RERA an
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR TR
(Note 27(a)
(MzE27()
Balance at 1 January 2018 RZF-\F—-A-AR
pd 33 4,273,883 491,773 769 1,183 35,927 4,803,535
Issue of shares BIIRH 1,289 - - (631) - 658
Reclassification of employee share EERRERNENHE
option benefits — — — (552) 552 —
2017 final dividend paid IHZF-tFRERE - - - - (200,739) (200,739)
Profit for the year FWEF - - - - 786,620 786,620
Balance at 31 December 2018 RZE-NEF
TZA=t-RzE&R 4205172 491,773 769 - 622,360 5,390,074
2018 final dividend paid YR-Z2-NEREKE — — — — (267,753) (267,753)
Profit for the year FREH — — — — 7,584 7,584
Balance at 31 December 2019 RZB-hF
+ZAZ+-Rz&H 4,275,172 491,773 362,191 5,129,905




42, EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
The outbreak of coronavirus in the early 2020 (“COVID-19
Outbreak”) had posed certain impacts on the overall economy in
Hong Kong and the Mainland China. A series of precautionary
and control measures have been and continued to be
implemented and inevitably has been affecting the Group's
business and operation to some extent.

The Directors had a preliminary assessment as follows:

—  the stringent preventive measures currently adopted has
had negative impact on the Group's property sales in
February and March 2020;

— the future valuation of the Group's investment properties
may be subject to fluctuation due to challenging rental
revision amid the COVID-19 Outbreak.

The overall financial effect cannot be reliably and quantitatively
estimated at this moment. However, the Group continues to pay
attention to the development of the COVID-19 Outbreak and
evaluate the impact on the Group.

42, [{HEHEEER
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS

s

In this Annual Report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following expressions shall have the following meanings:

EAFEHA  BXEZBMREIN > THFABEBATEE

2013 Share Option Scheme”
[T —=FBERETE

“23rd Metallurgical”
[AE=1+=)A

"AGM"
[RBFAE]

"Album Enterprises”

[EHDE]

"ASP"
[P EE]

"Beijing Vanke”
[HER&ERH

"Beijing Wanhu”
b &l

“Board”

[EEg]

“Brightway Asset”
[HBEE]

"Bye-laws”

[RAVNCT R

"CG Code”
[(EERSFE

“China”, "Mainland China” or “PRC"
[F B sk [ A B A it

“China Minmetals”

[ B i |

“CMCL"

[ AR ]
“CMN"
[AEA e’

“CMNH"
(AR ek

the share option scheme of the Company adopted on 7 June 2013

ARBR-ZT-—=ZFRNALARNZBREZ

The 23rd Metallurgical Construction Group Co., Ltd. of Minmetals
IBE-_+tZREREEBRAA

annual general meeting of the Company for 2020

KRR ZE-_TFERRAFRS

Album Enterprises Limited

EHRERBRAF]

average selling price

FHEE

Beijing Vanke Co., Ltd.
IRENECEARAQF

Beijing Wanhu Property Development Co., Ltd.
ItREREERERRAR

the board of directors of the Company

RRBIZEEE

Brightway Asset Management Limited
HEEEEEERAA

the Bye-laws of the Company
PN/ Do

the Corporate Governance Code
EEARTE

the People’s Republic of China
EEARFEME

China Minmetals Corporation

TEABEEEARAA

China Minmetals Corporation Limited

REAERNDARRA A

China Minmetals Non-Ferrous Metals Company Limited

IEAEEBROHARAR

China Minmetals Non-Ferrous Holding Company Limited

IEAESBERARAR
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“Company” or “Minmetals Land”

[RRAR SR E]

“Condo Hong Kong”
[ A&

"Condo Macau”
[ B FORFS |

“Condo Shanghai”
[3m A0 & ]

“Director(s)”

[E%]

"GFA"
[fei2Emia

"Group”
[A&EHE]

“Hanten”

ME 8]

"HKS"

el

“Hong Kong” or "HKSAR”
(&%

“Hunan Kuangdai”

[

“Jiahe Risheng”
[=AE ]

“June Glory”
[June Glory]J

“Kuangshi Jiye"
[t B2 |

“Listing Rules”

[EmAR R

“Massive Leader”
[t ]

Minmetals Land Limited

hEMERRAT

Minmetals Condo (Hong Kong) Engineering Company Limited
ARmRAN(FE) TRERAF

Minmetals Condo (Macau) Engineering Company Limited

R M CRPT) TIZARA A

Minmetals Condo (Shanghai) Construction Co., Ltd.
AERM (L8 EELER AR

director(s) of the Company

ARBIZE=R

gross floor area

AR A

the Company and its subsidiaries

ARBREMERE

Hanten Investment Limited

EBEBEREERAR

Hong Kong dollars

BT

The Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
PEEFBRRTTHE

Hunan Kuangdai Property Development Co., Ltd.
MEERENEREBRAR

Minmetals Land (Hunan) Jiahe Risheng Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.
AEZFZCHE) EMEREHEREER QA

June Glory International Limited
June Glory International Limited

Langfang Kuangshi Jiye Property Development Co., Ltd.
BhREEEEFEEREARAA

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited
ERBMERIMABRARES LHHRE

Massive Leader Limited

RIRER AT

hEMERRAT —T-NFFR
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS

i) 3

“Minmetals Cheerglory” Minmetals Cheerglory Limited

[HREhRSR ABERBRAF

“Minmetals Finance” Minmetals Finance Co., Limited

[ RRER 75 ) IREEMBEREEAF

“Minmetals HK" China Minmetals H.K. (Holdings) Limited

(&8 R PEAREBERERAR

“Minmetals Land Beijing” Minmetals Land Investment Management (Beijing) Co., Ltd.

[RfEERIE R IBEERREERE L) BARAT

“Minmetals Land Holdings” Minmetals Land Holdings Co., Ltd.

[0 3, 2 2 I hEMERERER LA

“Minmetals Land Wuhan” Minmetals Land (Wuhan) Development Co., Ltd.

[ 27 3th 2 0% | AR E (BE) HEERAF

“Minmetals Properties Service Minmetals Properties Service (Guangdong) Co., Ltd.
Guangdong’ IBMERS (BR)BRAF

(AR ERGER]

“Minmetals Properties Service Hunan” Minmetals Properties Service (Hunan) Co., Ltd.

[ BRG] ABMERS Cf) BRAF]

“Minmetals Properties Service Minmetals Properties Service (Nanjing) Co., Ltd.
Nanjing” AEMERSE (AR) BRAA

(AR ERB AR

“Minmetals Properties Service Minmetals Properties Service (Yingkou) Co., Ltd.
Yingkou” IBYMERS (E0)BRAF

[ERYERBEEQ]

“Minmetals Real Estate” Minmetals Real Estate Co., Ltd.

[(AREX] IBEXBRAF

“Minmetals Zhidi” Minmetals Zhidi Corporate Management Consultancy (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.

[ R b IBEMEEERERACRI) BRAF

“MLI" Minmetals Land Investments Limited

[MLI Minmetals Land Investments Limited

“MLIML" Minmetals Land Investment Management Limited

[RAREERRE IBEERREEEBRAF

“Model Code” the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers

EeEasuEll ITHETAEFETEFRHNRESTA

“‘NAV” net asset value

[&EFE] BEFE
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"OFL" ONFEM Finance Limited

[OFL] ONFEM Finance Limited

"RMB” Renminbi

[AR# ] AR

"SFO” Securities and Futures Ordinance

[7& % kBB A& BH K HAE G

“Shareholder(s)” the shareholder(s) of the Company

e RAF 2R

“Share(s)” the ordinary share(s) of par value HK$0.1 each of the Company
[ A&7 ] AARBREEIB T EBR

“sa.ft.” square feet

[F R 2R

“sq.m.” square metres

“Stock Exchange” The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

[ Bk 22 B | BEABARSMARAT

“Texion” Texion Development Limited

[{7T] TEEREBRA A

"Uss” United States dollars

[T ETT

“Wuhan Runling” Wuhan Runling Property Development Co., Ltd.
[E 2 HE ] REHEEMWERZEAR AR

“Yingkou Industrial Park” Minmetals (Yingkou) Industrial Park Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.
[EOEXE hE(EN)EXEERBRAA

“Zhongrun Chengzhen” Hunan Zhongrun Chengzhen Real Estate Co., Ltd.
[ H o o A HEP EMEEEFRAT

"%" per cent

[% ] EXuld

L.
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ABOUT CHINA MINMETALS CORPORATION

3R 7% v ] o 4 T A PR ]

Founded in 1950, China Minmetals is one of the largest State-owned
conglomerates that operates globally with core business in exploration,
mining, smelting, processing and trading for metals and minerals,
finance, real estate, and mining and metallurgic technology. China
Minmetals achieved the total revenue of approximately RMB600.0
billion for 2019 and was ranked 112 among the US Fortune world top
500 enterprises in 2019.

China Minmetals has, in recent years, actively participated in
commercial estate development, construction and installation business
after it has a footing on the residential development and industrial
estate business. Accordingly, it has equipped with considerable
resources in this respect. Excluding real estate development projects of
Minmetals Land, China Minmetals has a total gross floor area of
approximately 3.87 million square metres for residential and industrial
estate development in the Pan Bohai Rim region and the eastern and
central part of China. Furthermore, it has an industrial site of 30 square
kilometres in Yingkou City of Liaoning Province.

China Minmetals through its Hong Kong subsidiary, Minmetals HK,
holds approximately 61.88% equity interest in Minmetals Land. Upon
the approval of inclusion of property development and operation to
the core business of China Minmetals by the State-owned Assets
Supervision and Administration Commission of the State Council, China
Minmetals announced its intention to transform Minmetals Land into its
sole listed real estate flagship. Through gradual asset injection and
consolidation of its real estate resources, China Minmetals aims at the
listing of its real estate business and turning Minmetals Land eventually
into a leading real estate development corporation which creates
better returns to its Shareholders, employees and the society.

PROJECTS UNDER DEVELOPMENT OF
CHINA MINMETALS

FEAER—AEZERT  2UEBREE
mEBE RAX - AE NI -E5 Uke
B BHE - BARHRAXE  BITRHMEL
BHALEACEER . —T—LEF FETA
BEIRE S A%56000E T AR 15X
CBAE )Y FEFE2019t 50058 (2511267 -

MER TERABEAEEHEN I EMEA
i BREEEENRBATEEE &
RTLENHERELR - Eh - PRABEERY
SR - ERME KPR IE R
BEELRBERL - EFBR OB ENERE
EMEBERZ PEABEMNIJRAEEEER
B EITEF K - B AR ABEEE
BEOMBEANF A RE T ELRHEE -

FRAREBEREECHBEAR — B8R
B E AR E$)61.88% M - BlEEE A4
EEBEEREZE e EPEAEEIEE
FEGE AER—BEEEKE  FEA
BEAEHMUARABEAEEEEFHKE—
TR BBERSTE  BAETEMESR
R BERMEEFNER I &KRBE0RE
WEITEKS—REBRF INZENNE
FEHELHE  ARE BIMUHSRIEES
BIE -

FEAEERRERPIEE

Attributable Total gross
Province/City land area floor area  Usage
&2/ FEfE L EE THBAREEE AR
(sq.m.) (sq.m.)
(F5X) (FHX)
Beijing 341,176 103,616 Residential and Commercial
Sl (B TS
Yingkou City, Liaoning Province 6,780,000 N/A" Industrial
BELEOM TEA I
445,055 453,565 Residential and Commercial
EERME
Shenyang City and Jinzhou City, Liaoning Province 186,737 449,771 Residential and Commercial
RERBGTRBMT TEREE
Tianjin 896,050 1,079,299 Residential and Commercial
RE FEREE
Changsha City, Xiangtan City and Zhuzhou City, Hunan Province 629,093 1,061,969 Residential and Commercial
MEa R T OMED RN FEREE
Shantou City, Guangdong Province 84,224 81,600  Residential and Commercial
BERE W EEREE
Xining City, Qinghai Province 185,332 174400  Residential and Commercial
EBERED (B TS
Taian City, Shandong Province 352,692 470,211 Residential and Commercial
WEREHRRZN TEREE
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AR ERRAE]

M0  MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

BAENERDBERBER T ARPBEREAE T/ &
18th Floor, China Minmetals Tower, 79 Chatham Road South,
Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong

B 5 Tel: 2613 6363

{EH Fax:25819823

EH Email : info@minmetalsland.com

#BHE Website : www.minmetalsland.com
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